
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Jennifer Cunningham, Chair 
Shaun Carey, Vice-Chair 
Cortney Young, Treasurer 
Adam Kramer, Secretary 
Carol Chaplin, Trustee  
Joel Grace, Trustee  
Richard Jay, Trustee 
Kitty Jung, Trustee  
Art Sperber, Trustee 

 

 

PRESIDENT/CEO 
  Daren Griffin, A.A.E. 

 
CHIEF LEGAL COUNSEL 

Jenn Ewan 
    

BOARD CLERK 
Lori Corkery 

 
AGENDA 

Board of Trustees Regular Meeting  
Thursday, June 12, 2025 | 9:00 AM 

Reno-Tahoe International Airport, Reno, NV 
Administrative Offices, Second Floor  

 
Notice of Public Meeting  
Meetings are open to the public and notice is given pursuant to NRS 241.020. 
 
This meeting will be livestreamed and may be viewed by the public at the following link:  
Watch on Zoom:  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82275583396  
Listen by Phone:  Dial 1-669-900-6833  
Webinar ID:         822 7558 3396 
 
Accommodations 
Members of the public who require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to notify 
the Clerk by email at lcorkery@renoairport.com or by phone at (775) 328-6402. Translated materials and 
translation services are available upon request at no charge.   
   
Public Comment 
Anyone wishing to make public comment may do by the one of the following methods:  
1) In person at the Board meeting 
2) By emailing comments to lcorkery@renoairport.com by 4:00 p.m. on the day before the meeting.  

Comments submitted will be given to the Board for review and included with the minutes of this meeting.   
3) Virtually by Zoom.  You must have a computer or device with a working microphone.  Use the information 

above to log into the Zoom meeting and use the “Chat” feature to submit a request to speak. When the 
Chair calls for public comment, your microphone will be turned on and you will be addressed to speak.   

Public comment is limited to three (3) minutes per person. No action may be taken on a matter raised under 
general public comment. 
 
Posting 
This agenda has been posted at the following locations: 
1. RTAA Admin Offices, 2001 E. Plumb   
2. www.renoairport.com        3. https://notice.nv.gov/  
 
Supporting Materials 
Supporting documentation for this agenda is available at www.renoairport.com, and will be available for 
review at the Board meeting.  Please contact the Board Clerk at lcorkery@renoairport.com, or (775) 328-6402 
for further information. 
 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-241.html
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82275583396
mailto:lcorkery@renoairport.com
mailto:lcorkery@renoairport.com
https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/public-meeting-information/agendas-minutes
https://notice.nv.gov/
https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/public-meeting-information/agendas-minutes
mailto:lcorkery@renoairport.com


 
RTAA Board of Trustees – June 12, 2025  Pg. 2 

 
1.  INTRODUCTORY ITEMS  
 
1.1  Pledge of Allegiance  
1.2  Roll Call  
 
2.  PUBLIC COMMENT   
 
3.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA (For Possible Action)   
 
4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES   

 
4.1  April 23, 2025, Board of Trustees budget workshop  
4.1  May 22, 2025, Board of Trustees meeting 
 
5. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT  
 
6.  BOARD MEMBER REPORTS AND UPDATES 
   
7.   RECOGNITIONS AND ITEMS OF SPECIAL INTEREST  
 
7.1  RSCVA Future Partners  
 
7.2  Chairman’s Outstanding Service Award: Mike Williams, A.A.E, C.A.E.  
 
7.3  Retirement Recognition: Tina Iftiger   
  
7.4  Outgoing Trustees Recognition: Richard Jay, Art Sperber  
 
7.5    Outgoing Chair Recognition: Jennifer Cunningham  
 
8.   CONSENT ITEMS (All consent items may be approved together with a single motion, be 

taken out of order, and/or be heard and discussed individually.) 
  
8.1  Board Memo No. 06/2025-25 (For Possible Action): Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute a Construction Contract for the O Block Utility Extension Project at the Reno-
Stead Airport, with Titan Electrical Contracting, Inc., accepting the Base Bid in the amount 
of $775,276  

 
8.2  Board Memo No. 06/2025-26 (For Possible Action): Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute a Construction Contract for the Concourse Development Project – New Gen 
A&B Common Use Enabling Project at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, with Q&D 
Construction, including the Base Bid and Bid Alternate BA1, in the amount of $781,264, 
and authorize an Owner’s Contingency in the amount of $50,000   

 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – June 12, 2025  Pg. 3 

8.3  Board Memo No. 06/2025-27 (For Possible Action): Authorization for the President/CEO 
to execute Amendment #2 to the Professional Services Agreement for Construction 
Management Services for the Reno-Tahoe International Airport New Gen A&B Project 
with Construction Materials Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $20,500, for the Common Use 
Enabling Project, increasing the total contract amount from $699,997 to $720,497 

 
8.4  Board Memo No. 06/2025-28 (For Possible Action): Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute Amendment #5 to the Professional Services Agreement for consultant services 
for the design of the Reno-Tahoe International Airport New Gen A&B Project with Gensler 
Architecture, Design & Planning, P.C., in the amount of $6,100, for the Common Use 
Enabling Project Construction Administration Services, increasing the total contract 
amount from $47,027,802 to $47,033,902 

 
8.5  Board Memo No. 06/2025-29 (For Possible Action): Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute Amendment #3 to the Professional Services Agreement for Program 
Management Support Services (PMSS) for the Consolidated Rental Car Center (ConRAC) 
/ Ground Transportation Center (GTC) projects at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, 
with Jacobs in the amount of $207,000, increasing the total contract amount from $415,000 
to $622,000   

 
8.6  Board Memo No. 06/2025-30 (For Possible Action): Authorization for the President/CEO to 

execute Amendment #2 to the Professional Services Agreement with Barich, Inc. for 
Information Technology Owner Liaison in the amount of $656,000 for a duration of one (1) 
year  

 
9.  INFORMATION / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEMS  
 
9.1 Board Memo No. 06/2025-31 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

adoption of updates to the RNO Rules and Regulations, which govern conduct and 
operations at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, and authorization for the 
President/CEO to make future amendments to the RNO Rules and Regulations  

 
9.2  Board Memo No. 06/2025-32 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

authorization for the President/CEO to execute a three-year collective bargaining 
agreement between the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority and the Airport Authority Police 
Officers’ Protective Association for July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2028  

 
9.3  Board Memo No. 06/2025-33 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

adoption of Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Fiscal Year 2025-26 Property, Liability and 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Program and approval of premiums thereof in the 
amount not to exceed $1,437,099  

 
9.4  Board Memo No. 06/2025-34 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

authorization to execute a multi-year Professional Services Agreement for Construction 
Manager at Risk Pre-construction Services with McCarthy Building Companies, Inc. for  



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – June 12, 2025  Pg. 4 

 the New Gen A&B Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport in the not-to-exceed 
amount of $2,004,500, and authorize a time and materials investigation allowance of 
$458,500 

 
9.5  Board Memo No. 06/2025-35 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

approval of submittal of Trustee names to the Reno-Sparks Convention and Visitors 
Authority for appointment to serve the remainder of Mr. Jay’s term, set to expire June 30, 
2026  

 
9.6  Board Memo No. 06/2025-36 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and potential 

approval of the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Board of Trustees 
meeting calendar  

 
9.7  Board Memo No. 06/2025-37 (For Possible Action): Review and discussion of 

President/CEO Daren Griffin’s performance for Fiscal Year 2024-25 and possible action on 
discretionary bonus for Fiscal Year 2024-25 and salary adjustment for Fiscal Year 2025-26   

 
10.  TRUSTEE COMMENTS AND REQUESTS  
 
11.  UPCOMING RTAA MEETINGS  
 

DATE MEETING  
06/26/25  Special Board Meeting  
07/08/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
07/10/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
08/12/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
08/14/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
09/09/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
09/11/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 

 
12.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
13.  ADJOURNMENT  
 
  
 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Jennifer Cunningham, Chair 
Shaun Carey, Vice-Chair 
Cortney Young, Treasurer 
Adam Kramer, Secretary 
Carol Chaplin, Trustee  
Joel Grace, Trustee  
Richard Jay, Trustee 
Kitty Jung, Trustee  
Art Sperber, Trustee 

 

 

PRESIDENT/CEO 
  Daren Griffin, A.A.E. 

 
CHIEF LEGAL COUNSEL 

Jenn Ewan 
    

BOARD CLERK 
Lori Corkery 

 
MINUTES 

Board of Trustees Budget Workshop 
Wednesday, April 23, 2025 | 9:00 AM 

Reno-Tahoe International Airport, Reno, NV 
Administrative Offices, Second Floor  

 
 
 
1.  INTRODUCTORY ITEMS  
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.  Renee Miller was invited to lead the Pledge.   
 
Trustees Present:  Shaun Carey 

Carol Chaplin  
Jennifer Cunningham 
Joel Grace 
Richard Jay (virtual) 
Kitty Jung 
Adam Kramer (virtual) 
Art Sperber 
Cortney Young  

 
Trustees Absent:  None  
  
2.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
There were no comments from the public.  
 
3.  INFORMATION / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEMS  
 
3.1  Board Workshop on the Preliminary Budget of the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority for 

the Fiscal Year Beginning July 1, 2025 (FY 2025-26) (Non-Action Item)  
  
 This item was presented by Renee Miller, Budget Manager.   
 
3.2  New Gen A&B Design Review (Non-Action Item) 
 
 This item was presented by Amanda Twitchell, Sr. Project Manager.   



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – April 23, 2025  Pg. 2 

4.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
There were no comments from the public.  
 
5.  ADJOURNMENT  
  
The meeting was adjourned at 11:58 a.m.  



BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Jennifer Cunningham, Chair 
Shaun Carey, Vice-Chair 
Cortney Young, Treasurer 
Adam Kramer, Secretary 
Carol Chaplin, Trustee  
Joel Grace, Trustee  
Richard Jay, Trustee 
Kitty Jung, Trustee  
Art Sperber, Trustee 

PRESIDENT/CEO 
  Daren Griffin, A.A.E. 

CHIEF LEGAL COUNSEL 
Jenn Ewan 

BOARD CLERK 
Lori Corkery 

MINUTES 
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 

Thursday, May 22, 2025 | 9:00 AM 
Reno Stead Airport  

4895 Texas Ave, Reno, NV 89506 

1. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. by Chair Cunningham.  Tom Hall was invited to 
lead the Pledge.   

Trustees Present:  Shaun Carey 
Carol Chaplin  
Jennifer Cunningham 
Joel Grace 
Richard Jay 
Kitty Jung 
Adam Kramer 
Art Sperber 
Cortney Young  

Trustees Absent:  None 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT

There were no comments from the public. 

3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA (For Possible Action)

3.1  April 10, 2025, Board of Trustees meeting 

Motion: Move to approve the agenda as presented 
Moved by: Adam Kramer  
Seconded by: Art Sperber  
Aye: Trustees Carey, Chaplin, Cunningham, Grace, Jay, Jung, Kramer, Sperber, Young 
Result: Passed unanimously  



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – May 22, 2025  Pg. 2 

4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES   
 
4.1  April 10, 2025, Board of Trustees meeting 
 
There being no corrections, the Minutes from April 10, 2025, were approved as presented. 
 
5. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT  
 
CEO Griffin delivered his monthly report to the Board.   
 
6.  BOARD MEMBER REPORTS AND UPDATES 
   
There were no comments from the Trustees.   
 
7.   RECOGNITIONS AND ITEMS OF SPECIAL INTEREST  
 
7.1  Aviation education opportunities at Reno Stead Airport  
 
Tom Hall, President of the Gillemot Foundation, outlined the ideas and available opportunities 
for aviation education at the Stead Airport.   
 
7.2  Carol Chaplin’s outgoing Trustee recognition   
 
CEO Griffin presented the recognition of outgoing Trustee, Carol Chaplin.     
 
8.   CONSENT ITEMS (All consent items may be approved together with a single motion, be 

taken out of order, and/or be heard and discussed individually.) 
 
Motion: Move Items 8.1 through 8.7 as presented 
Moved by: Adam Kramer  
Seconded by: Joel Grace  
Aye: Trustees Carey, Chaplin, Cunningham, Grace, Jay, Jung, Kramer, Sperber, Young 
Result: Passed unanimously  
 
8.1  Board Memo No. 05/2025-14 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute a Construction Contract for the General Aviation East Apron and Taxilane 
Reconstruction Project at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, with Granite Construction 
Inc., accepting the Base Bids in the amount of $8,515,515 and authorize adjustment of 
Airport Improvement Program cost allocation line items to maximize awarded Airport 
Improvement Program grant on the project, as well as an Owner’s Contingency in the 
amount of $400,000, pending acceptance of a Federal Aviation Administration’s Airport 
Improvement Program grant 

 
8.2  Board Memo No. 05/2025-15 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute a Professional Service Agreement for Construction Management Services for the 
General Aviation East Apron and Taxilane Reconstruction Project at Reno-Tahoe 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – May 22, 2025  Pg. 3 

International Airport with Construction Materials Engineering Inc. in the amount of 
$378,515, pending acceptance of a Federal Aviation Administration’s Airport Improvement 
Program grant 

 
8.3  Board Memo No. 05/2025-16 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute a Construction Contract for the Concourse Development Project – New Gen 
A&B Enabling Project at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, with Q&D Construction, 
including the Base Bid and Bid Alternate BA1, in the amount of $572,868, and authorize 
an Owner’s Contingency in the amount of $100,000 

 
8.4  Board Memo No. 05/2025-17 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute a Construction Contract for the Concourse Development Project – Early 
Equipment – New Gen A&B at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, with Nelson 
Electric, including the Base Bid and Bid Alternates BA1-4, in the amount of $6,012,400, 
and authorize an Owner’s Contingency in the amount of $200,000   

 
8.5  Board Memo No. 05/2025-18 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute Amendment #4 to the Professional Services Agreement for consultant services 
for the design of the Reno-Tahoe International Airport New Gen A&B Project with Gensler 
Architecture, Design & Planning, P.C., in the amount of $33,725, for the Enabling and 
Early Equipment Projects Construction Administration Services, increasing the total 
contract amount from $46,994,077 to $47,027,802   

 
8.6  Board Memo No. 05/2025-19 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to execute Amendment #1 to the Professional Services Agreement for Construction 
Management Services for the Reno-Tahoe International Airport New Gen A&B Project 
with Construction Materials Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $68,175, for the Enabling and 
Early Equipment Projects, increasing the total contract amount from $631,822 to $699,997 

 
8.7  Board Memo No. 05/2025-20 (For Possible Action):  Authorization for the President/CEO 

to approve and ratify Change Order #2 to the Equipment Contract for a Class IV Vehicle 
for the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority’s Airport Rescue and Fire Fighting Department, with 
Rosenbauer Minnesota, LLC, for a net increase of $6,300 and a total cost of $1,124,656   

 
9.  INFORMATION / POSSIBLE ACTION ITEMS  
 
9.1  Public Hearing on adoption of the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority’s Fiscal Year 2025-

26 Budget (July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026)  (Non-Action Item) 
 
Chair Cunningham opened the public hearing at 10:01 and called for public comment.  Hearing 
none, the public hearing was closed at 10:01.  
 
9.2  Board Memo No. 05/2025-21 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and possible 

adoption of the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority’s Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget (July 1, 2025 
through June 30, 2026)  

 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – May 22, 2025  Pg. 4 

This item was presented by Renee Miller, Budget Manager, and was first heard by the Finance & 
Business Development Committee on May 20, 2025. After discussion, the Board took the 
following action:  

 
Motion: Move that the Board of Trustees adopts the budget of the Reno-Tahoe Airport 
Authority for Fiscal Year 2025-26 as presented 
Moved by: Cortney Young  
Seconded by: Art Sperber  
Aye: Trustees Carey, Chaplin, Cunningham, Grace, Jay, Jung, Kramer, Sperber, Young 
Vote: Passed unanimously 
 
9.3  Board Memo No. 05/2025-22 (For Possible Action): Review, discussion and possible 

adoption of Resolution No. 573 Amending Resolution No. 571, Establishing the Airport 
Rates and Charges for Fiscal Year 2025-26 Pursuant to the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority 
Budget for Fiscal Year 2025-26   

 
This item was presented by Renee Miller, Budget Manager, and was first heard by the Finance & 
Business Development Committee on May 20, 2025. After discussion, the Board took the 
following action:  

 
Motion: Move to adopt Resolution No. 573 amending Resolution No. 571 establishing the 
Airport Rates and Charges for Fiscal Year 2025-26 pursuant to the RTAA’s proposed Budget for 
Fiscal Year 2025-26 
Moved by: Joel Grace 
Seconded by: Art Sperber 
Aye: Trustees Carey, Chaplin, Cunningham, Grace, Jay, Jung, Kramer, Sperber, Young 
Vote: Passed unanimously 
 
9.4  Board Memo No. 05/2025-23 (For Possible Action):  Review, discussion and possible 

authorization for the President/CEO to execute a Professional Service Agreement for 
Consultant Services for the Reno-Stead Airport Master Plan project with Ardurra Group, 
Inc., in the amount of $1,926,752   

 
This item was presented by Jed Hammer, Airport Planner, and was first heard by the Planning & 
Construction Committee on May 20, 2025. After discussion, the Board took the following action:  

 
Motion: Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Professional Service Agreement for 
Consultant Services for the Reno-Stead Airport Master Plan with Ardurra Group, Inc., in the 
amount of $1,926,752 
Moved by: Art Sperber 
Seconded by: Shaun Carey 
Aye: Trustees Carey, Chaplin, Cunningham, Grace, Jay, Jung, Kramer, Sperber, Young 
Vote: Passed unanimously 
 
 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – May 22, 2025  Pg. 5 

9.5  Board Memo No. 05/2025-24 (For Possible Action):  Review, discussion and possible 
approval of Resolution No. 572 - A resolution to authorize the President/CEO to execute 
the updated Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) policies on Equal Opportunity 
Initiatives (EOI), Complaint and Investigation Procedures, Disability Accommodation, and 
Pregnancy Accommodation policy and procedures  

 
This item was presented by Jenn Ewan, Chief Legal Counsel, and was first heard by the Finance 
& Business Development Committee on May 20, 2025. After discussion, the Board took the 
following action:  

 
Motion: Move to approve Resolution No. 572, authorizing the President/CEO to execute the 
updated Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) policies on Equal Opportunity Initiatives (EOI), 
Complaint and Investigation Procedures, Disability Accommodation, and Pregnancy 
Accommodation policies and procedures, with the following amendment: Change “Airport 
Authority of Washoe County” to Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority” in paragraph 1.  
Moved by: Cortney Young 
Seconded by: Shaun Carey 
Aye: Trustees Carey, Chaplin, Cunningham, Grace, Jay, Jung, Kramer, Sperber, Young 
Vote: Passed unanimously 
 
9.6  HQ Design Update (Non-Action Item)   
 
Bryce Juzek, Project Manager, and Hillary Andren-Wise with RS&H, presented an update on the 
HQ project design.   
 
(Trustee Kramer left the meeting at 10:45 a.m.) 
 
10.  TRUSTEE COMMENTS AND REQUESTS  
 
11.  UPCOMING RTAA MEETINGS  
 

DATE MEETING  
06/10/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
06/12/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
06/26/25  Special Board Meeting  
07/08/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
07/10/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 
08/12/25 Finance & Business Development Committee Meeting 

Planning & Construction Committee Meeting 
08/14/25 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 

 
There was no discussion on this item.   
 
 



 
RTAA Board of Trustees – May 22, 2025  Pg. 6 

12.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 
There were no comments from the public.   
 
13.  ADJOURNMENT  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:15 a.m.  
 



 
 
 

President/CEO Report 
To: All Board Members  
From: Daren Griffin, President/CEO  
Date:   June 2025   

  
AIR SERVICE DEVELOPMENT 
 
Airline Meetings  
   
Staff is preparing to attend ACI’s Jumpstart Air Service Development Conference during the first half of 
June. We have pre-arranged one-on-one meetings with 9 airlines including, American, Alaska, Breeze, 
JetBlue, JSX, Sun Country, Southwest, Spirit, and Volaris. Discussions will be centered on the 
performance of existing routes serving RNO and exploring potential new flight opportunities.  
 
Community Outreach 
 
Staff conducted Air Service 101’s with Peppermill Resort Hotel, Grand Sierra Resort, and the Nugget 
Casino Resort at the beginning of May. This initiative allows local business entities the chance to learn 
about how air service development works, the factors considered when expanding routes, and how the 
business community can play a role in sustaining air service. 
 
Staff also had the chance to present to the Reno-Sparks Chamber of Commerce Leadership Class of 2025 
in mid May. This opportunity allowed Air Service Development the chance to educate our community’s 
emerging business leaders on the purpose and impact of air service, highlighting its vital role in regional 
connectivity and its ability to foster collaboration across multiple industries.  
 
April 2025 RNO Passengers  
 
RNO served 370,758 passengers in April 2025, an increase of 1.8% versus the same period last year. In 
April 2025, RNO was served by nine airlines to 20 non-stop destinations. The total seat capacity increased 
5.2% and flights increased 7.2% when compared to April 2024. 
 

   



Page 2 of 7 
 

 
Alaska Airlines (AS) 

• AS announced that it will upgrade its non-stop once daily seasonal service from RNO to San Diego 
(SAN) to a year-round service beginning October 4, 2025. This flight will be upgraded again to a 
double daily service beginning October 26, 2025.  

Delta Air Lines (DL)  
• Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Minneapolis (MSP) returns June 9 and continues through 

September 8.  
JetBlue (B6) 

Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to New York City (JFK) returns June 12 and continues through 
September 2. 

JSX Airlines (XE) 
• XE announced that it is adding new seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Las Vegas (LAS) and 

Carlsbad (CLD) beginning June 19, 2025, through September 1, 2025. Both routes will operate four 
times a week.  

Southwest (WN) 
• Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Dallas-Love (DAL) returns June 7 and continues through 

September 28. 
• Seasonal non-stop service from RNO to Chicago-Midway (MDW) returns June 5 and continues 

through September 29.  
 
 

 



Page 3 of 7 
 

 

 
 
April 2025 RNO Cargo  
 
RNO handled 6,584,600 pounds of air cargo in April 2025, a decrease of 23.3% when compared to April 
2024.    
 



Page 4 of 7 
 

 

  
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
Properties 
 
Terminal Beautification Project 
Staff continued to work through various beautification projects aimed at improving the overall passenger 
experience throughout the terminal. Some of the larger efforts, including new paint in the pre-security 
area as well as retiling the skybridge, are currently underway. Collaboration with internal and external 
partners to uphold design and operational standards will remain a priority with both short-term updates 
and longer-term improvements aligned with the MoreRNO capital program. 
 
New Air Cargo Facility 
Staff is coordinating with the airlines and a ground service equipment repair company on plans for their 
late summer relocation to the new air cargo facility. Staff recently completed a building appraisal to 
inform fair market rental rates for the new leases, some of which will come to the Board in the coming 
months.   
 
RTS Land Development 
 
Dermody Properties Phase I Development  
The Dermody team advised that the major components of the first building have been completed. NV 
Energy is scheduled for the power install the first part of June 2025 and an easement for fiber has been 
executed for service to the building. Tholl fence has ordered the material for the perimeter fence 
installation. Also happening in June is the floor sealing and caulking of the concrete slabs. 
 
The utility work along Moya Blvd and the railroad crossing continues and is expected to be completed this 
month. The sidewalk on the area south of the railroad crossing is complete with landscaping to be 
completed by the end of the month. The work on Moya Blvd is scheduled for completion in July 2025.   
 
Dermody Properties Phase II Development  
Our FAA ADO office determined that no further environmental process would be required for the 
buildings proposed on Phase II but did indicate that a Categorical Exclusion (CatEx) would be required for 
the portion of Moya Boulevard that will extend from Phase I to access Phase II. Staff advised the 
Dermody team of the decision on April 30, 2025, so the Dermody team is now preparing the required 
documentation.  
 
 
 



Page 5 of 7 
 

 
OPERATIONS & PUBLIC SAFETY 
 

Department Event 04/2025 04/2024 04/2023 

Joint Actions Aircraft Alerts: ARFF, Ops, Police, Aircom 0 1 2 
 Medicals: ARFF, Ops, Police, Aircom 10 14 25 
Operations Inspections 71 139 123 
 Wildlife Incidents 12 8 4 
Police TSA Checkpoint Incidents 7 13 27 
 Case Numbers Requested 16 7 14 
Terminal Ops Alarm Responses 46 45 87 
 Inspections: Vehicle, Delivery, Employee  889 925 1085 
Compliance Badge Actions 1532 1021 929 
ARFF Inspections: Fuelers 0 0/0 9/0 
Landside Public Parking – Total Revenue $1,848,991.19 $1,667,123.00 $1,454,357.00 
 Public Parking – Total Transactions  36,900 40,055 37,519 
 Public Parking – Average $ Per Transaction $50.11 $41.62 $38.76 
 Shuttle & Bus Trips Through GT 9,039 8,763 8,268 
 Transportation Network Company Trips 39,385 32,048 14,674 
 Taxi Trips Through GT 4,254 4,085 5,538 
 Reservations – Total Transactions 575   
 Reservations – Average $ Per Transaction $93.62   

 
 
PLANNING & INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
Airport Sustainability Advisory Committee 
The Airport Sustainability Advisory Committee (ASAC) will convene on Thursday, June 26 at 3:30 PM for 
the second quarter meeting. Normally held on the third Thursday of each third month, the June meeting 
has slid a week to account for the Juneteenth Holiday. 
 
For more project updates, please refer to the Monthly Project Status Reports which are posted with 
Planning & Construction Committee meetings agendas.  Click HERE to view those agendas.   
 
PEOPLE, CULTURE AND EQUITY 
 
Time frame: 05/01/25 – 05/21/25 
 
Open Positions 6 
New Starts 3 
Resignations/Terminations* 3 
Promotions 3 
*Termination refers to an employee leaving under 
any circumstances, good or bad.  

 
On May 8th the RTAA participated in the Biggest Business Expo & Career Fair at the Reno-Sparks 
Convention Center, drawing a record-breaking 7,400 attendees. This free event showcased 596 local 
companies and featured a Career Fair with 148 businesses actively hiring, making it one of the largest 
networking and employment events in the region. 
 
The Culture Club sponsored an organization-wide Cinco De Mayo event. Day and swing shift employees 
were invited to enjoy tacos, jarritos, and “good vibes” at the old ATS offices (cargo). There was a 

https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/public-meetings/


Page 6 of 7 
 

 
separate celebration for the graveyard shift in the River Room, and “todos lo pasamos bien” (a good time 
was had by all!).  
 
In a continuing effort to support a “performance culture,” People Operations has instituted employee self-
appraisals as part of the performance review program. All CSP and Management employees are now 
required to complete a self-appraisal that is merged the manager’s appraisal for the annual review. In the 
first phase of this program upgrade, quarterly check-in meetings were implemented in FY 23/24. People 
Operations conducted training on this new system for all CSP and Management employees in conjunction 
with “Successful is Success: A Guide to RTAA’s Performance Evaluation Framework.” 
 
MARKETING & PUBLIC AFFAIRS 
 
Marketing and Advertising 
 
Notable metrics from April 16 – May 15 include:  
• We're seeing excellent engagement on paid search (Google) for the parking ad campaign. The niche 

nature of parking-related searches supports strong engagement and indicates we’re reaching users 
who are actively looking for this information. For example, the keyword “reno airport parking” had an 
impressive 50% click-through rate.  

• Paid media (Google) search and display ads, along with paid Meta ads all exceeded KPIs for 
impressions, reflecting sustained visibility across campaigns. In fact, the Remarketing Priority Markets 
campaign had a 61% increase in impressions p/p. 
 

Social Media:  
We continued to see strong organic growth this period, driven by a combination of boosted posts and 
compelling content. We saw a 104% increase in reach, a 131% increase in saves and a 235% increase in 
average video watch time (due to Rideshare promotion messaging). Special thanks to our Airport Duty 
Managers for taking us out on the ramp in the early hours to capture the “May the 4th Be with You” 
image. 

  
 
Website:  
Overall site traffic declined this period, driven by a 20% drop in organic and a 10% decrease in paid 
search. Organic declines were tied to lower branded search volume post–spring break. As summer 
approaches, we expect this to rebound in line with last year’s trends. Flights and Departures pages drove 
the most organic sessions this period, totaling 16K, a 36% increase. 
 
Newsletter:  
The May Parking & Seasonal Flights newsletter performed well overall, demonstrating strong engagement 
metrics and an open rate of 18% (new industry benchmark updated to 16%-23% as recommended by 
our Agency of Record). Click engagements within the email were primarily driven by rideshare voucher 
promotion content, representing 58% of all clicks, highlighting audience interest in value-driven content. 



Page 7 of 7 
 

 
72% of recipients read the email in full. The team will be focusing on increasing open rates by testing 
subject line text in the next several months.  
 
Media and Public Outreach  
Public Affairs & Marketing team organized the New Gen A&B Community Outreach Event, which was well-
attended by media, local officials and community members. Additionally, the team managed a news cycle 
around Memorial Day Weekend travel, by providing passengers with tips and resources for a smooth 
travel experience. 
 
Government Affairs 
The Nevada Legislature ended Sine Die on Monday June 2nd just before midnight. Over 1,100 pieces of 
legislation were introduced, and we will know in the coming days how many actually become law. 
Governor Lombardo has 10 days (not including Sundays) to sign or veto the bills. If he does neither, each 
bill becomes law as if he signed it. Last session, Governor Lombardo vetoed over 70 bills sent to his desk 
by the legislature. This session will likely see a similar number of vetoes. So while the session is over, the 
complete impact is still undetermined. AB100, which would create the Nevada Aerospace Commission, is 
awaiting the Governor’s signature.  
 
Art & Community 
 
The Art Advisory Committee (AAC) jurors have selected three semifinalists and one alternate for the Loop 
Road public art commission. Staff is supporting the artists on their final site-specific proposal 
presentations, set for June 23, with pre-proposal meeting information and FAQ documents. The AAC will 
select a finalist in July for Board approval in August. 
 
RNO is again a host location for Artown 2025! Five performances will take place at the ski statue: 

• July 1 at 6:00 p.m. - Sierra High Notes 
• July 2 at 6:00 p.m. - Tintabulations Handbell Ensemble 
• July 7 at 10:00 a.m. - Reno Youth Jazz Orchestra 
• July 10 at 10:00 a.m. - Violinist Juliette Leong 
• July 17 at noon - The Note-ables 

 
Honor Flight Nevada took off on their second trip to Washington D.C. on June 5 and returned on the 8th. 
The next four-day visit is planned for September. 
 
Staff engaged with several community members at the New Gen Outreach Event on May 22. Through a 
comprehensive slide presentation, stakeholders learned about the vision of art in the new concourses and 
the goals of the airport’s 1% funding initiative.  
 
Dinner and an awards presentation to celebrate the 60 participating airport artists and 98 works 
submitted to the 17th annual Employee Art Show took place the evening of June 11 at Timber Ridge 
Restaurant. $3,450 in prize money, funded by the National Arts Program, was distributed to 17 winners 
from throughout the airport family. The depARTures Gallery show will run through August 4. 
 

https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sine%20die
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11982/Text


 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-25 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorization for the President/CEO to execute a Construction Contract for the O 

Block Utility Extension Project at the Reno-Stead Airport, with Titan Electrical 
Contracting, Inc., accepting the Base Bid in the amount of $775,276 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Financial Stewardship 
Customer Experience 
General Aviation 
 
BACKGROUND 
Reno-Stead Airport (RTS) has long been recognized as a valuable revenue-generating asset. This 
was formally acknowledged with the adoption of Board Resolution 504 in May 2011, which 
established a policy supporting the economic potential of development at RTS. 
 
While the RTAA has made progress in developing vacant land at RTS, new hangar development 
continues to lag despite growing demand at both RTS and Reno-Tahoe International Airport. 
Notably, the last new hangar constructed at RTS was in 2008. Today, both airports face waitlists 
for hangar space, underscoring the critical need for new facilities. 
 
In 2007, an FAA grant-funded project supported hangar development by constructing taxilanes 
and hangar pads on the southwest side of RTS—an area known as the O Block. This approximately 
20-acre site is bordered by Army Aviation Drive to the south and west, Taxiway Alpha to the 
north, and undeveloped land to the east. 
 
Since 2007, the RTAA has actively marketed the O Block through standard channels and issued 
five (5) separate Requests for Proposals (RFP) or Qualifications (RFQ) between 2007 and 2021 to 
solicit private development. However, no new hangar construction has resulted. The most 
consistent feedback from prospective developers is that the financial return on hangar projects is 
generally low—and nearly unviable at O Block due to the lack of utility infrastructure. 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
To address this barrier and unlock the development potential of the O Block, the RTAA is 
advancing the O Block Utility Extension Project. This project aims to extend critical utilities to 
the site to make it more viable for future hangar construction and help meet growing general 
aviation demand. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The O Block Utility Extension Project is intended to facilitate the development of general aviation 
hangars within the O Block area. A key obstacle to development has been the significant upfront 
cost of extending gas and electrical utilities to the site. While staff had been evaluating solutions 
to address this issue, O Block Hangar Project, LLC. expressed interest in leading the hangar 
development—contingent upon the airport’s commitment to extending utility services. 
 
Staff have worked closely with O Block Hangar Project, LLC. to ensure the utility extension aligns 
with the planned hangar layout and development needs. This project will support the first phase of 
construction, located on the northern portion of the O Block, while also being designed to 
accommodate future phases through accessible utility tie-in points as the area continues to develop 
in future phases. 
 
The scope of the O Block Utility Extension Project includes three primary components necessary 
to facilitate development: 
 

• Gas Line Extension: 
o Construction of approximately 3,000 linear feet of new gas line to serve the 

development area. 
 

• Electrical Power Extension: 
o Installation of approximately 2,250 linear feet of electrical conduit and cabling to 

provide power to the site. 
 

• Gate Access Installation: 
o Construction of a controlled-access gate at Army Aviation Drive to support secure 

entry to the new hangar area. 
 
The O Block Utility Extension Project was publicly advertised on May 8, 2025, at the following 
locations: Reno Gazette Journal (RGJ), RTAA’s website, and Nevada Government eMarketplace 
(NGEM). The bid opening occurred on May 29, 2025, with two bids being received from the 
following contractor:  
  

Table 1 – Bid Tabulation 

Scope Engineer's 
Estimate 

Granite 
Construction Titan Electric 

Base Bid $596,170 $1,296,296 $775,276 

  
 The lowest responsive and responsible bidder was determined to be Titan Electrical Contracting, 
Inc., with a base bid of $775,276.  



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 
The contract provides duration of 120 calendar days for construction of the Basis of Award.  The 
following is the estimated schedule shown in Table 2 – Preliminary Schedule:  
  

Table 2 – Preliminary Schedule 
  

Activity  Date  
Board Approval  June 12, 2025  
Notice to Proceed  July 7, 2025 
O Block Utility Extension Project July 7 – November 3, 2025  

  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The costs associated with the O Block Utility Extension Project—including the construction 
contract, construction management services, NV Energy fees, and RTAA administrative 
expenses—will be funded through the RTAA Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 
2024–25. These costs will be reimbursed to RTAA by the future hangar owners, each of whom 
will pay a pro rata share of the total construction costs upon the purchase of their respective hangars 
as a requirement of the ground lease to be executed for their hangar leasehold with the RTAA. 
 
The overall anticipated budget for the O Block Utility Extension Project (including construction, 
construction management, NV Energy Fees, and other direct costs) is estimated at $979,574 and a 
breakdown is provided below in Table 3 – Project Estimate at Completion:  
 

 Table 3 – Project Estimate at Completion  
Contract 

Administration  
(RTAA)  

Construction 
Management  

(TBD)  

    Construction  
  (Titan)  

Other  
Direct  
Costs *  

NV Energy 
Fees 

Estimate At 
Completion  

$0 $38,000 $775,276  $25,000 $141,298  $979,574  
 
 * Other Direct Costs include but are not limited to technology work, administrative costs, 
advertising, printing, permits and miscellaneous fees.  
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Construction Contract for the O Block Utility 
Extension Project at the Reno-Stead Airport, with Titan Electrical Contracting, Inc., accepting the 
Base Bid in the amount of $775,276.” 
 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06-2025-26 

 

   
 

In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025  
 
Subject:  Authorization for the President/CEO to execute a Construction Contract for the 

Concourse Development Project – New Gen A&B Common Use Enabling Project at 
the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, with Q&D Construction, including the Base Bid 
and Bid Alternate BA1, in the amount of $781,264, and authorize an Owner’s 
Contingency in the amount of $50,000 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommend that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Customer Experience 
 
BACKGROUND 
The New Gen A&B Common Use Enabling Project was previously a part of the larger New Gen 
A&B Project with a Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) delivery method by Holder/Q&D 
Joint Venture (HQD).  In an effort to stay on schedule while a new CMAR was selected, the RTAA 
packaged the New Gen A&B Common Use Enabling Project with a traditional Design/Bid/Build 
delivery method separately from the larger Concourse Development Project. 
 
DISCUSSION 
The Common Use Enabling scope of work was identified as a critical scope to expedite in order 
to execute a smooth transition into the construction of New Gen A&B.  The project will convert 
eight (8) existing Signatory Airline Gates to Common Use Gates so that they are capable of serving 
any of our Airlines.  This allows maximum flexibility during construction.  In addition, the project 
will run redundant fiber to Concourse B in anticipation of the impact to the existing fiber run when 
construction begins. 
 
Additional items in the scope of work include, but is not limited to:  

• Demolition of existing gate back walls and associated power/date infrastructure 
• Installation of conduit and power/data infrastructure 
• Installation of new, owner furnished, Gate Information Display (GID) monitors 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 

   
 

• Modification of existing gate millwork inserts 
• Coordination and support for the installation of owner furnished Common Use 

Equipment 
 

Construction Documents for the project were publicly advertised on May 12, 2025, at the 
following locations: Reno Gazette Journal (RGJ), RTAA’s website, and Nevada Government 
eMarketplace (NGEM). A pre-bid was held on May 19, 2025, with two contractors in 
attendance.  The bid opening occurred on May 29, 2025, with one contractor submitting a 
bid.  Bid results are shown below in Table 1 – Bid Tabulation below: 
 

Table 1 – Bid Tabulation 

Bidder Base Bid 

Q&D Construction $781,264 

Engineer’s Estimate $500,000 

 
The low, responsive, and responsible bidder is Q&D Construction in the amount of $781,264. 
The bids were reviewed for conformance with the bid requirements by RTAA staff and the 
design team, with the recommendation to award the construction contract to Q&D 
Construction.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The construction of the New Gen A&B Common Use Enabling Project will be funded by RTAA 
issued Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) Bonds.  Below is a summary of the costs to date 
associated with the construction of this project: 
 

Table 2 – Updated Construction Cost Summary 

Description Cost Company 

Construction Management Services 
(CM) $20,500 Construction Materials Engineers, 

Inc. (CME) 

Construction Administration Services 
(CA) $6,100 Gensler 

Construction Contract $781,264 Q&D Construction 

Owner’s Contingency $50,000 RTAA 

Total $857,864 - 

 
The CM and CA services professional service agreements are seeking authorization under separate 
actions. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 

   
 

Table 3 – Updated New Gen A&B Estimate at Completion 

Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - $138,000,000 

A/E Design   Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $46,884,417 

Pre-Construction Services  Holder Q&D, a Joint Venture $2,745,000 

Pre-Construction Services  McCarthy Builidng Companies, Inc. $2,463,000 

Construction Admin (Estimated) Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $14,401,356 

Construction Management (Estimated) Construction Materials Engineering $15,806,037 

PMO / SMEs  Multiple $29,096,794 

Miscellaneous Other  Art / FF&E / Moving $9,176,750 

Owner’s Contingency TBD $17,426,646 

Hard Costs - $512,000,000 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – Long Lead 
Equipment ACCO & Cupertino $10,993,418 

S. RON Apron Expansion Q&D Construction $8,134,000 

Concourse Enabling Packages Q&D Construction $572,868 

Concourse – Long Lead Equipment Nelson Electric $6,012,400 

Concourse Common Use Enabling Q&D Construction $781,264 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – 
(Estimated) Clark/Sullivan $57,506,050 

New Gen A&B – (Estimated) TBD $428,000,000 

Total Estimate at Completion - $650,000,000 

 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION  
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Construction Contract for the Concourse 
Development Project – New Gen A&B Common Use Enabling Project at the Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport, with Q&D Construction, including the Base Bid and Bid Alternate BA1, in 
the amount of $781,264, and authorize an Owner’s Contingency in the amount of $50,000.” 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06-2025-27 

 

   
 

In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025  
 
Subject: Authorization for the President/CEO to execute Amendment #2 to the Professional 

Services Agreement for Construction Management Services for the Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport New Gen A&B Project with Construction Materials Engineers, Inc. 
in the amount of $20,500, for the Common Use Enabling Project, increasing the total 
contract amount from $699,997 to $720,497 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
BACKGROUND 
In June of 2023, a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) was executed with Gensler 
Architecture, Design & Planning, P.C. (Gensler) to begin design on the New Gen A & B project.  
The project scope included two replacement concourses, a new Central Utility Plant (CUP), and 
the South Remain Overnight (S. RON) Apron Expansion.  The design of the S. RON was 
completed in April 2024 and the CUP was completed November 2024.  The design of the 
concourses is scheduled to be completed in August 2025.  As we transition from design into 
construction, we have a need to bring on Construction Management (CM) Services. 
 
The base contract to provide CM services was awarded to Construction Materials Engineers, Inc. 
(CME) in November 2024 for the South Remain Overnight Apron Expansion (S. RON) project. 
 
In May 2025, Amendment #1 was executed with CME in the amount of $68,175.  The scope of 
work included CM services for the Concourse Enabling Project (access doors relocations and 
stairs) and the Concourse Early Equipment Project. 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 

   
 

DISCUSSION 
The Common Use Enabling scope of work was identified as a critical scope to expedite in order 
to execute a smooth transition into the construction of New Gen A&B.  The project will convert 
eight (8) existing Signatory Airline Gates to Common Use Gates so that they are capable of serving 
any of our Airlines.  This allows maximum flexibility during construction.  In addition, the project 
will run redundant fiber to Concourse B in anticipation of the impact to the existing fiber run when 
construction begins. 
 
In order to implement the construction of our projects, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) 
is retaining CME to provide CM services. These services augment RTAA staffing for specialized 
technical services and seasonal construction periods. CM services are industry standards and are 
required by FAA regulations to ensure proper administration, inspection, and quality assurance for 
federally funded construction projects. 
 
The services and corresponding fee are based on the duration of construction and the scope to 
provide CM services for the Enabling and Early Equipment Projects. The services consist of 
owner’s representation, construction management, project administration, quality assurance, 
construction inspection, materials testing, contract administration, tenant coordination, 
Disadvantage Business Enterprise (DBE) compliance, certified payroll and apprenticeship 
conformance reviews. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
It is anticipated that the CM Services will be funded by RTAA issued Alternative Minimum Tax 
(AMT) Bonds.  Below is a summary of the contract costs to date and the associated funding 
sources: 
 

Table 1 – Updated Contract Amount Summary 

Description Cost Funding Source 

South Remain Overnight (S. RON) CM 
Services (Base Construction Contract) $631,822 AMT Bonds 

Enabling and Early Equipment Projects 
(Amendment #1) $68,175 AMT Bonds 

Common Use Enabling Project 
(Amendment #2) $20,500 AMT Bonds 

Total $720,497 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 

   
 

Table 2 – Updated New Gen A&B Estimate at Completion 

Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - $138,000,000 

A/E Design   Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $46,884,417 

Pre-Construction Services  Holder Q&D, a Joint Venture $2,745,000 

Pre-Construction Services  McCarthy Building Companies, Inc. $2,463,000 

Construction Admin (Estimated) Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $14,401,356 

Construction Management (Estimated) Construction Materials Engineering $15,806,037 

PMO / SMEs  Multiple $29,096,794 

Miscellaneous Other  Art / FF&E / Moving $9,176,750 

Owner’s Contingency TBD $17,426,646 

Hard Costs - $512,000,000 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – Long Lead 
Equipment ACCO & Cupertino $10,993,418 

S. RON Apron Expansion Q&D Construction $8,134,000 

Concourse Enabling Packages Q&D Construction $572,868 

Concourse – Long Lead Equipment Nelson Electric $6,012,400 

Concourse Common Use Enabling Q&D Construction $781,264 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – 
(Estimated) Clark/Sullivan $57,506,050 

New Gen A&B – (Estimated) TBD $428,000,000 

Total Estimate at Completion - $650,000,000 

 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION  
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute Amendment #2 to the Professional Services 
Agreement for Construction Management Services for the Reno-Tahoe International Airport New 
Gen A&B Project with Construction Materials Engineers, Inc. in the amount of $20,500, for the 
Common Use Enabling Project, increasing the total contract amount from $699,997 to $720,497.” 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06-2025-28 

 

   
 

In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025  
 
Subject: Authorization for the President/CEO to execute Amendment #5 to the Professional 

Services Agreement for consultant services for the design of the Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport New Gen A&B Project with Gensler Architecture, Design & 
Planning, P.C., in the amount of $6,100, for the Common Use Enabling Project 
Construction Administration Services, increasing the total contract amount from 
$47,027,802 to $47,033,902 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
BACKGROUND 
Constructed in 1981, the two existing Terminal Concourses at Reno-Tahoe International Airport 
(RNO) are undersized, aging, and in need of significant investment. In December of 2020, a 
Professional Services Agreement (PSA) in the amount of $2,029,611 for consultant services was 
executed with Mead & Hunt for the development of the RNO Concourse Redevelopment Detailed 
Planning Study 
 
In October of 2022, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) Board of Trustees approved the 
Preferred Alternative for the Concourse Redevelopment project, presented as part of the RNO 
Concourse Redevelopment Detailed Planning Study. This Concourse Redevelopment Planning 
Study was further developed into a BODR that was completed in early February 2023.   
 
In June of 2023, a PSA was executed with Gensler Architecture, Design & Planning, P.C. (Gensler) 
in the amount of the $17,994,409.  The scope of work included the following Task Orders:  

• Task Order #1 – New Gen A&B – 30% Design 
• Task Order #2 – South Remain Overnight (S. RON) - 100% Design 
• Task Order #3 – Central Utility Plant (CUP) - 100% Design 



Page 2 of 4 
 

 

   
 

• Task Order #4 – Geotech & Survey 
 
In July of 2024, Amendment #1 to the PSA with Gensler for design services was executed in the 
amount of $15,973,628.  The scope of work included the following Task Orders: 

• Task Order #5 – New Gen A – 100% Design 
• Task Order #6 – Miscellaneous Supplemental Services 

o S. RON Glycol/Deicing Storage 
o New Gen A&B NEPA Support Services 
o New Gen A&B New MDF Design 
o New Gen A&B Phasing Analysis 
o CUP Geothermal Well Field Complete Analysis and Subsequent Design 
o Geotech & Survey Additional Services 

 
In October of 2024, Amendment #2 to the PSA with Gensler for design services was executed in 
the amount of $12,916,380. The amendment progressed the design of Concourse B through 100% 
to align with the Concourse A design delivery. The scope of work included the following Task 
Orders:  

• Task Order #7 – New Gen B – 100% Design 
 
In November of 2024, Amendment #3 was executed in the amount of $109,660. The amendment 
was the first scope of Construction Administration (CA) Services. The scope of work included the 
following Task Orders:  

• Task Order #8 – S. RON – CA Services 
 
In May of 2025, Amendment #4 was executed in the amount of $33,725. The scope of work 
included the following Task Orders: 

• Task Order #13 – Enabling and Early Equipment Projects – CA Services 
 
DISCUSSION 
The Common Use Enabling scope of work was identified as a critical scope to expedite in order 
to execute a smooth transition into the construction of New Gen A&B.  The project will convert 
eight (8) existing Signatory Airline Gates to Common Use Gates so that they are capable of serving 
any of our Airlines.  This allows maximum flexibility during construction.  In addition, the project 
will run redundant fiber to Concourse B in anticipation of the impact to the existing fiber run when 
construction begins. 
 
To execute the construction phase, Gensler and their subconsultants will need to perform CA 
services.  The CA Services include, but are not limited to, respond to Requests for Information 
(RFI), review of submittals, and attendance at construction meetings. The scope of work includes 
the following Task Orders:  

• Task Order #14 – Common Use Enabling Project – CA Services 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The RTAA is authorized to collect $24,543,200 under PFC Application No. 16. The remaining 
balance is anticipated to be covered by Bipartisan Infrastructure Law – Airport Terminals Program 
(ATP) Grants, Passenger Facility Charge fees (PFC), RTAA issued Alternative Minimum Tax 



Page 3 of 4 
 

 

   
 

(AMT) Bonds. Below is a summary of the contract costs to date and the associated funding 
sources: 

Table 1 – Updated Contract Amount Summary 
Description Task 

Order 
Cost Funding Source 

Original Contract - $17,994,409 PFC & AMT Bonds 

Amendment #1 - $15,973,628 ATP, PFC, & AMT Bonds 

Amendment #2 - $12,916,380 PFC & AMT Bonds 

Amendment #3 - $109,660 AMT Bonds 

Amendment #4 - $33,725 AMT Bonds 

Amendment #5 – Common Use Enabling 
Project CA Services 

14 $6,100 AMT Bonds 

Total - $47,033,902  

 
Table 2 – Updated New Gen A&B Estimate at Completion 

Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - $138,000,000 

A/E Design   Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $46,884,417 

Pre-Construction Services  Holder Q&D, a Joint Venture $2,745,000 

Pre-Construction Services  McCarthy Building Companies, Inc. $2,463,000 

Construction Admin (Estimated) Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $14,401,356 

Construction Management (Estimated) Construction Materials Engineering $15,806,037 

PMO / SMEs  Multiple $29,096,794 

Miscellaneous Other  Art / FF&E / Moving $9,176,750 

Owner’s Contingency TBD $17,426,646 

Hard Costs - $512,000,000 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – Long Lead 
Equipment ACCO & Cupertino $10,993,418 

S. RON Apron Expansion Q&D Construction $8,134,000 

Concourse Enabling Packages Q&D Construction $572,868 

Concourse – Long Lead Equipment Nelson Electric $6,012,400 



Page 4 of 4 
 

 

   
 

Concourse Common Use Enabling Q&D Construction $781,264 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – (Estimated) Clark/Sullivan $57,506,050 

New Gen A&B – (Estimated) TBD $428,000,000 

Total Estimate at Completion - $650,000,000 

 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION  
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute Amendment #5 to the Professional Services 
Agreement for consultant services for the design of the Reno-Tahoe International Airport New 
Gen A&B Project with Gensler Architecture, Design & Planning, P.C., in the amount of $6,100, 
for the Common Use Enabling Project Construction Administration Services, increasing the total 
contract amount from $47,027,802 to $47,033,902.” 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-29 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorization for the President/CEO to execute Amendment #3 to the Professional 

Services Agreement for Program Management Support Services (PMSS) for the 
Consolidated Rental Car Center (ConRAC) / Ground Transportation Center (GTC) 
projects at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, with Jacobs in the amount of 
$207,000, increasing the total contract amount from $415,000 to $622,000 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Facilities for the Future  
Financial Stewardship 
Customer Experience 
 
BACKGROUND 
The MoreRNO Consolidated Rental Car Center (ConRAC) and Ground Transportation Center 
(GTC) projects are critical infrastructure developments aimed at enhancing airport efficiency and 
customer experience. The Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) has been implementing these 
projects through a structured Program Management Support Services (PMSS) and Construction 
Management (CM) framework, ensuring alignment with strategic goals and regulatory 
compliance. Jacobs has been providing essential program and construction management services 
for the ConRAC and GTC projects under an existing Professional Services Agreement. To 
maintain project momentum and ensure continued oversight, an amendment to the existing 
agreement is necessary to cover additional scope and time requirements. 
 
In May 2024, a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) was executed with Jacobs for $70,000 to 
provide PPP Program Management services for the Ground Transportation Center (GTC) project 
to assist the existing RTAA GTC Project Manager. In October 2024, Amendment #1 was approved 
for an additional $175,000 to continue the PPP Project Management Services for GTC through the 
end of calendar year 2024. Since that time, the original RTAA GTC Project Manager has resigned, 
requiring additional Project Management Services for the GTC enabling projects through the end 
of June 2025. This position has not been filled at this time, and the need for continued PM support 
will continue until such time that it is.  
 
The amount of GTC enabling projects that RTAA will be occupying are either being completed or 
are proceeding through construction, necessitating the PMSS role to ensure RTAA is receiving the 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
projects as required under the PPP contract. These individual projects within the PPP include 
Building 13, Building 12, TNC Lot, circulation paths both vehicular and pedestrian, Taxi Lot, 
Pedestrian Walkway from the Terminal to the GTC, public roadways, landscaping on loop road, 
Gate 155 Roadway, Gate 155, and the first-floor garage area of the GTC. 
 
DISCUSSION 

The proposed Amendment #3 extends Jacobs’ contract to provide ongoing PMSS services, 
including: 

1. Project Oversight: Managing day-to-day operations, ensuring adherence to project 
milestones, budgets, and stakeholder expectations. 

2. Regulatory Compliance: Maintaining alignment with federal, state, and local regulations, 
including permit approvals and environmental considerations. 

3. Risk Management: Identifying and mitigating potential delays or cost overruns through 
proactive planning and intervention strategies. 

4. Stakeholder Coordination: Engaging with ConRAC Solutions (CS), and regulatory 
agencies to ensure seamless integration of services. 

5. Contract Administration: Reviewing contractor performance, validating deliverables, 
and ensuring compliance with contractual obligations. 

6. Owner’s Representation: Acting as an extension of RTAA staff to ensure project 
alignment with organizational objectives. 

7. Preconstruction Management: Overseeing design progression, scope definition, and 
value engineering efforts to maintain project budget and schedule. 

8. Contract Administration: Reviewing and managing contractor agreements, ensuring 
compliance with contractual obligations. 

9. Tenant Coordination: Collaborating with airport tenants to address operational impacts 
and facilitate seamless integration of project elements. 

10. Scheduling and Phasing Analysis: Assessing construction schedules to minimize 
disruption to airport operations. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The Program Budget for the MoreRNO GTC PMSS services, requested, herein, was approved by 
Finance during the budget approval process and will be paid for out of O&M funds. 
 
The proposed cost for Amendment #3 services fits in overall as follows: 
 

Agreements Cost 
Original Professional Services Agreement (PSA) $70,000  
PSA Amendment #1 $175,000  
PSA Amendment #2 $170,000  
PSA Amendment #3 $207,000  
TOTAL $622,000  

 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 

“Authorization for the President/CEO to execute Amendment #3 to the Professional Services 
Agreement for Program Management Support Services (PMSS) for the Consolidated Rental Car 
Center (ConRAC) / Ground Transportation Center (GTC) projects at the Reno-Tahoe International 
Airport, with Jacobs in the amount of $207,000, increasing the total contract amount from 
$415,000 to $622,000.” 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-30 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 
 
Subject:  Authorization for the President/CEO to execute Amendment #2 to the Professional 

Services Agreement with Barich, Inc. for Information Technology Owner Liaison in 
the amount of $656,000 for a duration of one (1) year 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Customer Experience 
 
BACKGROUND 
In September 2024 the Reno-Tahoe Authority (RTAA) Board of Trustees authorized the first year 
of a six-year contract for information-technology (IT) liaison review services that will span both 
the design and construction phases of the MoreRNO capital program, concentrating on the 
concourses (New Gen A&B), including the new Central Utility Plant (CUP), and the Police Station 
and Administrative Offices (HQ) . 
 
The success of these projects must include a robust, integrated IT environment that unifies special 
systems, cybersecurity, data management, and other low-voltage infrastructure elements across 
every project component. To that end, the projects will each require comprehensive IT design and 
construction support covering communication networks, structured cabling, security and access-
control systems, passenger-processing technologies, and critical operational platforms. 
 
Approving Amendment 2 to the existing agreement with Barich, Inc. preserves continuity of IT 
oversight into year two of the six-year term, ensuring that all solutions are robust, scalable, and 
genuinely future-proof—qualities essential to meeting the airport’s long-range strategic objectives. 
Approval of this amendment is essential to maintaining the integrity and efficiency of our IT 
infrastructure throughout the MoreRNO program. 
 
  



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
DISCUSSION 
The proposed amendment extends Barich, Inc.’s engagement through the conclusion of the 
design phases into Construction Administration for the projects and adds a supplemental scope 
that includes comprehensive testing, commissioning, and operational-readiness (ORAT) services 
for low-voltage, special-systems, and information-technology asset associated with the projects. 
These services include: Factory Acceptance Testing, Site Acceptance Testing, integrated ORAT 
trials, and post-occupancy verification. Barich will verify that cabling, network infrastructure, 
public-address, surveillance, and related systems meet RTAA specifications. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The proposed time-and-materials contract for information-technology services will employ a not-
to-exceed fee structure under which professional fees and expenses for the balance of the 2026 
fiscal year are estimated at $656,000. These services will be funded by RTAA issued Alternative 
Minimum Tax (AMT) Bonds. The original fiscal year 2025 agreement was authorized in the 
amount of $471,685. 

 
Amendment No. 1, executed in October 2024, removed all Ground Transportation Center scope 
from the agreement because that project will be delivered through a public-private partnership 
(P3), under which comparable services will be provided through that contract. This modification 
reduced Fiscal Year 2025 professional fees and expenses by approximately $58,710, generating 
an estimated $230,000 in savings over the contract term and thereby adjusting the program’s 
projected fees and expenses as set forth in the table below. 
 

Table 1 – Original Fee & Expenses + Amendment 1 Revisions 

 
 

Amendment No. 2 adds a supplemental scope encompassing the testing, commissioning, and 
operational-readiness (ORAT) requirements for all information-technology, special-systems, and 
low-voltage installations associated with the projects. Incorporating these services—together 
with approximately $111,000 in unspent Fiscal Year 2025 fees—yields the revised schedule of 
anticipated professional fees and expenses set forth in the accompanying table and is projected to 
generate contract-term savings of roughly $48,510.45 when measured against the agreement’s 
original not-to-exceed amount. 
 

FY Year Fees & Expenses Revised by Amendment #1 Contract
FY25 471,685.00$                      412,974.55$                                          Original Contract + Amendment #1
Fy26 672,000.00$                      604,800.00$                                          
FY27 523,200.00$                      470,900.00$                                          
FY28 523,200.00$                      470,900.00$                                          
FY29 523,200.00$                      523,200.00$                                          
FY30 261,000.00$                      261,000.00$                                          
Total 2,974,285.00$                2,743,774.55$                                   



Page 3 of 4 
 

 
Table 2 – Original & Revised Fee & Expenses + Amendment 2

 
 

Each year’s fees will be reviewed 30 days prior to the contract's completion, allowing for 
adjustments or termination by RTAA as necessary. The RTAA retains the option to extend, adjust, 
or terminate services on an annual basis. Any necessary adjustments will be reflected in the 
subsequent board action items that are brought before the trustees on an annual basis.  
 

Table 3 – Overall New Gen A&B Program Costs 
Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - $138,000,000 

A/E Design   Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $46,884,417 

Pre-Construction Services  Holder Q&D, a Joint Venture $2,745,000 

Pre-Construction Services  McCarthy Building Companies, Inc. $2,463,000 

Construction Admin (Estimated) Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $14,401,356 

Construction Management (Estimated) Construction Materials Engineering $15,806,037 

PMO / SMEs  Multiple $29,096,794 

Miscellaneous Other  Art / FF&E / Moving $9,176,750 

Owner’s Contingency TBD $17,426,646 

Hard Costs - $512,000,000 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – Long Lead 
Equipment 

ACCO & Cupertino $10,993,418 

S. RON Apron Expansion Q&D Construction $8,134,000 

Concourse Enabling Packages Q&D Construction $572,868 

Concourse – Long Lead Equipment Nelson Electric $6,012,400 

Concourse Common Use Enabling Q&D Construction $781,264 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – (Estimated) Clark/Sullivan $57,506,050 

New Gen A&B – (Estimated) TBD $428,000,000 

Total Estimate at Completion - $650,000,000 

FY Year Fees & Expenses Revised by 
Amendment #1

Additional 
Services Fee

Combined Unspent New Total with Cx Contract

FY25 471,685.00$            412,974.55$             -$                      412,974.55$            (111,000.00)$   301,974.55$          Original + Amendment #1
FY26 672,000.00$            604,800.00$             74,000.00$       678,800.00$            22,800.00$       656,000.00$          Amendment #2
FY27 523,200.00$            470,900.00$             110,000.00$    580,900.00$            57,700.00$       523,200.00$          
FY28 523,200.00$            470,900.00$             110,000.00$    580,900.00$            30,500.00$       550,400.00$          
FY29 523,200.00$            523,200.00$             110,000.00$    633,200.00$            -$                      633,200.00$          
FY30 261,000.00$            261,000.00$             -$                      261,000.00$            -$                      261,000.00$          
Total 2,974,285.00$     2,743,774.55$      404,000.00$  3,147,774.55$     111,000.00$  2,925,774.55$    



Page 4 of 4 
 

 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
"Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a Professional Service Agreement with Barich, 
Inc. for Information Technology Owner Liaison during the Design & Construction phases of the 
MoreRNO program, in an amount not to exceed $656,000 for a period of one (1) year." 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-31 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 
 
Subject:  Adoption of updates to the RNO Rules and Regulations, which govern conduct and 

operations at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport, and authorization for the 
President/CEO to make future amendments to the RNO Rules and Regulations 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
 
BACKGROUND 
To ensure safe and efficient operations at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO), the Reno-
Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) maintains and enforces a comprehensive set of rules and 
regulations, known as the RNO Rules and Regulations (Rules and Regs). The Rules and Regs 
cover a wide range of topics, including expressive activities, airside driving, security, personal 
conduct, aircraft operations, parking, ground transportation operations, and passenger airline gate 
use. The Rules and Regs apply to all tenants, employees, and users of RNO. 
 
Maintaining governing documents such as the Rules and Regs is a standard practice across the 
airport industry and helps ensure compliance with regulatory obligations. The RTAA’s enabling 
legislation provides for the broad authority of the Board to adopt regulations for RNO, such as the 
Rules and Regs. Various iterations of the Rules and Regs have been in effect since shortly after 
the creation of the RTAA, with the RTAA completing the most recent overhaul in 2018. 
 
Beginning in early 2023, a broad cross-section of RTAA employees formed the RTAA’s Rules 
and Regulations Committee (Committee), to begin discussing updates to the Rules and Regs. A 
top goal of the Committee was to provide a more meaningful ability for RTAA Staff to enforce 
the Rules and Regs, while ensuring enforcement is as consistent among the different categories of 
rules as possible. After preparing a draft update of the Rules and Regs, RTAA Staff began a robust 
outreach effort to affected stakeholders.  
 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
RTAA Staff presented an overview of the proposed updates at the September 25, 2024 Quarterly 
Tenant Meeting, the October 16, 2024 Station Managers Meeting, the Airline Airport Affairs 
Committee Meeting on January 16, 2025, and the February 10, 2025 CEO Users Working Group 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
Meeting. Additionally, all RTAA employees have received notice of the updates and an 
opportunity to participate in a virtual presentation regarding the updates, which was recorded and 
made available on the RTAA Employee HUB. 
 
RTAA Staff provided a draft copy of the updated Rules and Regs to all the aforementioned groups, 
and RTAA Staff actively solicited feedback. Where possible, RTAA Staff made changes to 
accommodate stakeholder concerns and where the RTAA could not accommodate changes, RTAA 
Staff engaged with stakeholders to explain why. 
 
If approved by the Board, RTAA Staff will provide sixty days’ advanced notice of the updates to 
the Signatory Airlines serving RNO, as required by the Airline-Airport Use and Lease Agreements, 
with a targeted effective date of August 15, 2025. Prior to that date, RTAA Staff will provide 
notice to tenants and employees through all-tenant bulletins to increase awareness of the updates 
and provide links to access the Rules and Regs. A copy of the Rules and Regs will also be publicly 
available on the renoairport.com website.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Proposed Updates 
 
A complete copy of the updated Rules and Regs is included as Attachment A and a redline 
comparison showing the changes to the existing Rules and Regs is included as Attachment B. 
Some of the highlights of the update include: 
 
Overhaul of Enforcement Provisions – Section 10 
One of the primary objectives of RTAA Staff in overhauling the Rules and Regs was to provide a 
more meaningful ability for the RTAA to enforce the Rules and Regs consistently and equitably. 
Previously, enforcement provisions were found throughout the document with a variety of 
penalties, but now enforcement is largely consolidated into one section with more uniform 
penalties. The update to the Rules and Regs designates certain classes of RTAA employees as 
Regulation Observers. Regulation Observers are tasked with enforcing the Rules and Regs. The 
goal of the enforcement provisions is to ensure a safe and efficient operating environment at RNO, 
not to arbitrarily punish. For RTAA employees covered under a collective bargaining agreement 
(CBA) or that exclusively fall under the RTAA’s Civil Service Plan (CSP) all enforcement will 
continue to be carried out in accordance with their CBA or the CSP as applicable. 
 
Depending on the type of violation, breaking the Rules and Regulations can lead to serious 
consequences—such as losing your access badge or being banned from RTAA property. 
Violations are classified into two categories: “Violations” and “Major Violations”. These can 
apply to both individuals and groups (including organizations, businesses, etc.). 
 
For standard Violations, there’s a system of progressive penalties, which means the consequences 
get more serious with repeated or continued offenses. However, for Major Violations, the penalty 
is immediate and severe—it’s the same as the most serious penalty given for regular Violations. 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
The RTAA reserves the ability to place violators on a “Crucial Compliance Period” in lieu of 
enforcing the most severe penalties. All violators have appeal rights that may be exercised prior to 
the imposition of a penalty.  
 
Regulations on Personal Conduct – Sections 1.15, 1.19, 1.20, 1.23, and 1.24 
The update to the Rules and Regs adds a variety of new rules related to personal conduct at RNO 
that are intended to provide a means for Regulation Observers to address forms of undesirable acts 
without a criminal arrest. Some examples of these behaviors include public urination, harassment 
of others, creating unreasonable noise, and engaging in sexual acts. Additionally, to enhance the 
safety of RNO there are newly added prohibitions on lodging and loitering, and additional 
prohibitions on the use of various types of motorized vehicles in pedestrian areas. 
 
Overhaul of Expressive Activities Rules – Section 2 
The RTAA has long maintained content neutral restrictions on exercise of freedoms of speech, 
assembly, or religion, through activities such as lawful picketing, leafleting, protesting, or 
proselytizing (collectively Expressive Activities). The restrictions on Expressive Activities only 
regulate the time, place and manner, with a goal to facilitate lawful Expressive Activities while 
also ensuring the safe and continuous operation of RNO for its intended purpose. Of note, the 
update will allow for Expressive Activities within designated portions of the pre-security terminal 
for up to two people and a single brochure rack.  
 
Airside Driving and Operations – Section 6 
RTAA Staff have overhauled the Airside Driving and Operations section of the Rules and Regs, 
with key changes including additional requirements for vehicle accident reporting, prohibitions on 
distracted and impaired driving, clarification of the right of way of aircraft and emergency vehicles, 
and a prohibition on driving under passenger loading bridges in all but limited circumstances. 
 
Authorization for President/CEO to make future amendments 
 
Typically, updates to a document such as the Rules and Regs would fall within the Board’s general 
grant of authority to the President/CEO to carry on the business of RNO. In this instance, given 
the scope of changes to the Rules and Regs, and to preempt legal challenges of the validity of the 
updates, RTAA Staff believe it is appropriate to bring this action before the Board. If the proposed 
motion below is adopted by the Board, there will be a clear grant of authority to the President/CEO 
moving forward to amend the Rules and Regs, which will similarly preempt legal challenges to 
the validity of future amendments.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact associated with this action. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to adopt the proposed updates to the RNO Rules and Regulations and authorize the 
President/CEO or his or her designee to make future amendments to the RNO Rules and 
Regulations without further authorization from the Board of Trustees.” 



DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 

Effective X 

Attachment A



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

 

 
INTRODUCTION   
 
Under its enabling legislation, Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Act, Chapter 474, Statutes of Nevada 
1977, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) has broad powers to establish and operate airports 
within Washoe County. RTAA’s power to regulate activity on airport facilities is to be broadly 
construed and is not limited to items specifically enumerated in the Airport Authority Act. Among 
the RTAA’s enumerated powers are the power to establish regulations governing vehicular traffic 
in public areas, parking, loading zones, and ground transportation. 
 
The duly adopted Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO) Rules and Regulations express the 
policy of the RTAA and are intended to ensure safe and efficient operations at RNO. These Rules 
and Regulations apply to the RTAA staff, Airport tenants and their employees, persons conducting 
business on the Airport, and the general public utilizing the Airport’s facilities. All persons using 
the Airport shall be obligated to be familiar with all applicable laws and shall be deemed to have 
knowledge of such applicable laws. 
 
In the event of any conflict among requirements, unless prohibited by superseding applicable law, 
the more restrictive requirement shall apply, and the judgment of the RTAA President/CEO shall 
be final. In the event that an interpretation of any provision of these rules is required, the 
President/CEO or their designee, shall render such an interpretation, and their determination shall 
be considered as the final authority on the matter. 
 
The words “shall,” “will” and “must” in this manual are used to indicate a mandatory, required 
procedure to be followed by all concerned. All words have their ordinary meaning unless 
specifically defined herein. 
 
It is not possible to cover all situations that may arise at the Airport; therefore, the RNO Rules and 
Regulations shall be used in conjunction with all applicable state, local and federal rules and 
regulations, as well as the application of best practice. Safety is, and always will be, the primary 
consideration in the operation of RNO. The intent of the RNO Rules and Regulations is to be as 
inclusive as possible; however, there may be areas that are covered by additional internal policies 
that are not included here; please check with the appropriate RTAA department for further 
guidance. If unsure where to go or whom to ask, start with Aircom at (775) 328-6600. 
 
The RTAA reserves the right to modify the RNO Rules and Regulations at any time. This document 
replaces all applicable previously issued rules and regulations. 
 
REFERENCES 
(Applicable to these Rules and Regulations) 
 
RTAA/RNO 
 

•  RNO Airport Certification Manual (ACM) 
•  RNO Airport Emergency Plan (AEP) 
•  RNO Airport Layout Plan (ALP) 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

 

•  RNO Airport Security Program (ASP) 
•   RNO Safety Management System Manual 
•  RNO Snow and Ice Control Plan 
•  RNO Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
•  RNO Tarmac Delay Plan 
•  RNO Wildlife Hazard Management Plan (WHMP) 
•  RTAA Safety Plan 
•  RTAA Control of Infectious and Communicable Diseases Policy 
• Letters of Agreement between the RTAA and other Agencies 

 
LOCAL/STATE/FEDERAL 
 

• 14 CFR Part 77—Safe, Efficient Use, and Preservation of the Navigable Airspace 
• 14 CFR Part 139—Certification of Airports 
• 49 CFR Parts 171-177—Handling and Storage of Hazardous Materials 
• 49 CFR Part 1540 Civil Aviation Security 
• 49 CFR Part 1542 Airport Security 
• Aeronautical Information Manual (AIM) 
• FAA JO7930 Series –Notice to Airmen Manual 
• FAA Advisory Circulars (emphasis on the 150 Series) 
• Nevada Revised Statues (NRS) 
• NFPA 403—Standard for Aircraft Rescue and Fire-Fighting Services at Airports 
• NFPA 407—Standard for Aircraft Fuel Servicing 
• NFPA 414—Standard for Aircraft Rescue and Fire-Fighting Vehicles 
• Uniform Fire Codes 
 
 

VERSION HISTORY 
 
This version of the RNO Rules and Regulations adopted effective X. 
Previous Updates: 
July 2023 
January 2021 

 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
SECTION 1  GENERAL PROVISIONS ................................................................................. 1 

1.1  ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY ......................................................................... 1 
1.2  OPERATIONAL LINES OF SUCCESSION ................................................................. 1 
1.3  ASSURANCES............................................................................................................... 2 
1.4  OPERATIONAL AREAS ............................................................................................... 2 
1.5  LOST AND FOUND ...................................................................................................... 4 
1.6  COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES ....................................................................................... 4 
1.7  ANIMALS ...................................................................................................................... 4 
1.8  FIREARMS..................................................................................................................... 4 
1.9  EXPLOSIVES AND FLAMMABLE MATERIAL ........................................................ 5 
1.10  BARBEQUES (BBQs) ............................................................................................... 5 
1.11  WILDLIFE HAZARD MANAGEMENT ...................................................................... 5 
1.12  SMOKING POLICY .................................................................................................. 6 
1.13  DESIGNATED SMOKING AREAS .......................................................................... 6 
1.14  ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES ......................................................................................... 6 
1.15  ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION AND SANITATION ......................................... 6 
1.16  STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION ....................................................... 7 
1.17 AOA CONSTRUCTION AND TENANT RAMP CONSTRUCTION .......................... 7 
1.18  EMERGENCY CONDITIONS .................................................................................. 8 
1.19  PERSONAL CONDUCT ............................................................................................ 9 
1.20  PERSONAL CONVEYANCES .................................................................................. 9 
1.21  PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC ......................................................................................... 10 
1.22  AUTHORITY’S RIGHT TO ENTER, INSPECT AND MAKE REPAIRS ................. 10 
1.23  NO LODGING...........................................................................................................11 
1.24  NO LOITERING .......................................................................................................11 
1.25  MEDIA/PRESS..........................................................................................................11 
1.26 MoreRNO Program ....................................................................................................... 12 

SECTION 2  EXPRESSIVE ACTIVITIES ............................................................................ 12 
2.1  OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE ...................................................................................... 12 
2.3  EXPRESSIVE ACTIVITY GUIDELINES .................................................................. 13 

SECTION 3  AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS ............................................................................. 14 
3.1  GENERAL AERONAUTICAL POLICY ..................................................................... 14 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

 

3.2  PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC ............................................................................................. 15 
3.3  GATE USAGE/ASSIGNMENTS ................................................................................. 16 
3.4  TERMINAL AND TRANSIENT RAMP PROCEDURES .......................................... 16 
3.5  SAFETY ENVELOPES ................................................................................................ 16 
3.6  PUSH BACK OPERATIONS ....................................................................................... 17 
3.7  DISABLED AIRCRAFT .............................................................................................. 17 
3.8  RTAA-OWNED AIRCRAFT STORAGE HANGARS ................................................ 18 
3.9.  AIRCRAFT DEICING ................................................................................................. 19 
3.10  FOREIGN OBJECT DEBRIS (FOD) ....................................................................... 20 
3.11 ENGINE RUN REQUESTS AND LOCATIONS ........................................................ 20 
3.12 PRE-FLIGHT ENGINE RUN-UP PROCEDURES ..................................................... 21 
3.13 HELICOPTER OPERATIONS ..................................................................................... 21 
3.14 EQUIPMENT AND MOTOR VEHICLE PARKING IN THE AOA ........................... 21 
3.15 DANGEROUS ARTICLES .......................................................................................... 22 
3.16 LAVATORY CARTS ..................................................................................................... 22 
3.17 UNMANNED AERIAL VEHICLES/DRONES/ROBOTS .......................................... 22 
3.18 NON-COMMERCIAL FLYING CLUBS .................................................................... 23 
3.19 NON-COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT STORAGE HANGARS ..................................... 23 

SECTION 4  FUEL HANDLING ........................................................................................... 25 
4.1  FUEL HANDLING OVERVIEW ................................................................................. 25 
4.2  RULES FOR AIRCRAFT FUEL AND FUELING OPERATIONS ............................. 25 
4.3  SUPERVISOR TRAINING .......................................................................................... 27 
4.4  PERSONNEL TRAINING ........................................................................................... 27 
4.5.  FUELERS AND FUEL FACILITIES INSPECTIONS ................................................ 28 
4.6  FUEL SPILLS ............................................................................................................... 28 
4.7  NON-COMMERCIAL SELF-FUELING ..................................................................... 29 
4.8 OPERATION OF FUEL TRUCKS ............................................................................... 31 

SECTION 5  GROUND EQUIPMENT FUELING OPERATIONS ...................................... 31 
5.1  GENERAL GROUND EQUIPMENT FUELING RULES .......................................... 31 
5.2  PERSONNEL TRAINING ........................................................................................... 33 
5.3  STORAGE AREAS ...................................................................................................... 33 
5.4  FUELING EQUIPMENT INSPECTIONS ................................................................... 33 
5.5  FUEL SPILLS ............................................................................................................... 34 

SECTION 6  AIRSIDE VEHICLE AND GROUND SERVICE EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS
 34 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

 

6.1  GENERAL .................................................................................................................... 34 
6.2  AUTHORITY OF RTAA AIRPORT OPERATIONS AND AIRPORT POLICE ......... 34 
6.3  VEHICLE OPERATIONS DIRECTLY RELATED TO AVIATION ACTIVITIES ..... 35 
6.4  UNAUTHORIZED SIGNS, SIGNALS OR MARKINGS ........................................... 35 
6.5  AIRFIELD LICENSE, PERMIT AND SAFETY REQUIREMENTS ......................... 35 
6.6. MOVEMENT AREA RULES ...................................................................................... 38 
6.7  NON-MOVEMENT AREA RULES ............................................................................ 41 
6.8 VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES ..................................................................................... 47 

SECTION 7 AIRPORT SECURITY............................................................................................. 48 
7.1  SECURITY OVERVIEW ............................................................................................. 48 
7.2  COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................. 48 
7.3  RNO SECURITY ACCESS BADGES ......................................................................... 49 
7.4  AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES .................................................................................. 51 
7.5 BADGE-HOLDER’S RESPONSIBILITIES................................................................ 52 
7.6  ACCESS CONTROL PROCEDURES ......................................................................... 53 
7.7  ESCORTING PROCEDURES ..................................................................................... 53 
7.8  PROHIBITED ITEMS .................................................................................................. 54 
7.9  SECURITY VIOLATION PENALTIES ....................................................................... 55 

SECTION 8  FIRE SAFETY AND INSPECTIONS .............................................................. 56 
8.1  FIRE INSPECTIONS ................................................................................................... 56 
8.2  COMMON FIRE SAFETY HAZARDS ....................................................................... 57 
8.3.  FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS ................................................................................. 58 
8.4  COMPLIANCE AND REPAIRS .................................................................................. 58 
8.5  HANDLING AND STORING OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES AND MATERIALS
 59 
8.6  STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT ...................................................................................... 59 

SECTION 9  LANDSIDE OPERATIONS ............................................................................. 60 
9.1  LANDSIDE POLICY ................................................................................................... 60 
9.2 – PARKING AT RNO ......................................................................................................... 60 
9.3 – GROUND TRANSPORTATION .................................................................................. 65 
9.4 – LANDSIDE RULE ENFORCEMENT ........................................................................ 66 

SECTION 10  ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................................. 67 
10.1 ENFORCEMENT INTRODUCTION .......................................................................... 67 
10.2  VIOLATIONS ............................................................................................................... 67 
10.3 VIOLATION PENALTIES ........................................................................................... 68 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

 

10.3 PROCESS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS .......................... 70 
10.4 CITATIONS APPEAL PROCESS ................................................................................ 71 
10.5  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ......................................................................... 72 

SECTION 11  DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................. 73 
 
APPENDICES 
 
APPENDIX A – RTAA Organizational Chart 
APPENDIX B – CBP Map/FIS Envelope 
APPENDIX C – RTAA Lost and Found Policy and Procedures 
APPENDIX D – RNO Area Map  
APPENDIX E – RNO Gate Rules and Procedures 
APPENDIX F – RTAA Snow and Ice Control Plan 
APPENDIX G – RNO Idle Thrust Areas 
APPENDIX H –LOV Appeal Form 
APPENDIX I – Final Appeal Form 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 1 of 79 

SECTION 1  GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
1.1  ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY 
 
RNO is owned and operated by the RTAA and is operated under the following organizational 
policy: 
 
Board of Trustees  
 
The RTAA Board of Trustees is responsible for the strategic direction of RNO. It has the final 
responsibility for all decisions regarding financing, long range planning, and establishing policy. 
As described in the Introduction section, the Nevada Legislature has given authority to the RTAA 
Board of Trustees to adopt regulations, including these RNO Rules and Regulations governing the 
operation of RNO and the conduct of those utilizing RNO, including employees, tenants, and 
members of the traveling public. 
 
President/CEO 
 
The President/CEO is responsible to the Board of Trustees for safe and efficient operations and 
financial management of RNO. The Board of Trustees have delegated authority to the 
President/CEO to take such action as may be necessary for the protection and safeguarding of the 
public at RNO and for regulating activity at RNO. The President/CEO shall also have emergency 
powers to suspend temporarily or restrict any or all operations when the interest of public safety 
warrants it. 
 
The President/CEO shall be responsible for maintaining the Airport Certification Manual including 
the Snow, Emergency, and Wildlife Hazard Management Plans and Safety Management Systems 
Manual as required by 14 CFR Part 139 and the ASP as required by 49 CFR Part 1542.  
 
RTAA Staff    
 
RTAA staff are responsible for the various day-to-day functions of RNO and, as defined by 
applicable rules, regulations, policies and job descriptions, acts in their official capacity as agents 
for the RTAA.  
 
Appendix A contains an organization chart. 
 
1.2  OPERATIONAL LINES OF SUCCESSION    
 
The following personnel are delegated the authority for planning, direction, supervision, and 
conduct of all RNO operations: 
 

• President/CEO  
• Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer  
• Director of Airport Operations  
• Manager of Airport Operations   



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 2 of 79 

• Airport Duty Manager 
 
Whenever any person(s) designated above, or an authorized designee, is unable to perform their 
functions, the person next below on the list shall immediately assume the additional duties and 
responsibilities. 
 
After normal work hours (i.e., nights, weekends, holidays) the on-duty Airport Duty Manager is 
the senior representative of RTAA management and is responsible, either directly or indirectly, for 
the safe and efficient operation of RNO.  
 
1.3  ASSURANCES 
 
Access, Entry and Use of the Airport 
 
Any permission granted by the RTAA, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication or 
otherwise, to any person to enter or to use the Airport or any part thereof, is conditioned upon 
compliance with the RNO Rules and Regulations, policies, standard procedures and directives.   
 
The RTAA operates under the authority of Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 474, as amended. All 
applicable Federal and State laws and regulations and the laws and regulations of any other legal 
authority having jurisdiction, as now in effect or as they may from time to time be amended, are 
hereby incorporated as part of the RNO Rules and Regulations as though fully set forth herein. 
 
The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and the Transportation Security Administrations 
(TSA) have issued Federal Aviation Regulation (FAR) Part 139 and Transportation Security 
Regulations (TSR) Parts 1540 and 1542 respectively. Those regulations require RTAA 
management to establish operational and safety procedures and institute certain security measures 
to meet FAA and TSA requirements for airport certification. 
 
The exercise of the privilege of using the Airport or any part thereof shall constitute the agreement 
of the person using the Airport to comply fully with the RNO Rules and Regulations.  
 
1.4  OPERATIONAL AREAS 
 
Public Protection  
 
This Section outlines the means for the protection against inadvertent or unauthorized entry of 
persons or animals into any area where Aircraft operate, for protection from hazardous cargo and 
fuel, and for control of crowds to minimize personal injury and property damage on the Airport.  
 
Perimeter Fencing  
 
Critical sections of the Airport boundary shall be bordered with a fence that provides a significant 
deterrent to inadvertent unauthorized entry into the AOA. No Motor Vehicle, piece of equipment, 
or object which may allow ease in access over any AOA fencing may be left within four (4) feet 
either side of the security fence.  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 3 of 79 

Perimeter Gates  
 
The perimeter fence shall include gates at strategic places. The gates will be kept closed and locked 
at all times except during authorized use. Gates shall be inspected periodically in accordance with 
the procedures in the ASP. No perimeter gate may be left unattended when open or in the operation 
of opening or closing. The last authorized individual accessing a gate is responsible for that gate 
until it has been verifiably secured. ASSA CLIQ locks will provide the RTAA with information 
related to individuals that gained access and will provide access control. 
 
Restricted Areas  
 
All areas restricted or prohibited from the public shall be posted with appropriate placards or signs 
per the ASP. 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to enter a Restricted Area, except employees of the RTAA, the 
airlines, and tenants whose duties require their presence in specific areas; person(s) authorized by 
RTAA management; persons under escort by an authorized Airport employee/tenant; and/or 
passengers under appropriate supervision entering the Apron area for the purpose of enplaning or 
deplaning. All authorized persons in the Restricted Area will display on their outermost clothing 
above the waist an approved identification credential (i.e. RNO Security Access Badge). 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere, hinder, obstruct, resist, or threaten any LEO, Airport 
Duty Manager, ARFF, or persons charged with security.   
 
U.S. Customs and Border Protection 
 
The U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) at Reno-Tahoe International Airport occupies the 
building designated as the Federal Inspection Station (FIS) located on the Ramp between the north 
concourse and the air cargo areas to the north (see Appendix B). During times when CBP is 
processing an international Aircraft, the FIS Envelope extends out from the FIS onto the Ramp 
surrounding the international Aircraft. During processing activities, vehicle roadways are blocked, 
signage is posted, and alternate traffic patterns direct foot and vehicular traffic around the FIS 
Envelope on the designated roadways (see Appendix B). Ramp roadways are to be used as the only 
means to circumnavigate the area. Be advised that the FIS Envelope may extend out to encompass 
the entire Ramp (November Ramp) and will vary in special circumstances when multiple Aircraft 
are present. Unauthorized individuals are not permitted inside the area either on foot or inside a 
Motor Vehicle. CBP may impose monetary fines independent of and in addition to any RTAA 
violation penalties. 
  
Individuals holding an RNO Security Access Badge may only enter the FIS envelope (building 
and Ramp) if they are authorized by virtue of a CBP Seal on their badge and only when:  
 

• Directly involved in the handling or servicing of an international Aircraft  
• Direct authorization has been given by CBP staff and/or the Port Director 

  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 4 of 79 

1.5  LOST AND FOUND 
 
The RTAA has adopted Policy Number 100-030 and Board Resolution 531 which establish the 
policy and procedures for lost and found property at RNO. A copy of the RTAA’s Lost and Found 
Policy and Procedures for Reno-Tahoe International Airport are included as Appendix C.  
 
All RTAA tenants have an obligation to secure and protect any lost property found on their 
leasehold. 
 
No person shall abandon any personal property on the Airport. Any person that violates this rule 
shall be obligated to reimburse the RTAA for all costs and expenses incurred in disposing of such 
abandoned property, including attorneys’ fees. 
 
1.6  COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES 
 
It is prohibited for any person, either for themselves or for any other person, to use RNO for any 
commercial purpose and to transact any business, or to use RNO for any purpose other than to use 
the facilities as a member of the general public, without first having obtained the permission of the 
RTAA and/or securing the appropriate contract to conduct such activity.   
 
1.7  ANIMALS 
 
No person may bring an animal into the Airport except: 
 

• an animal to be or that has been transported by air; 
• a service animal used by person with a disability in accordance with ADA standards 

and code of federal regulations; 
• an animal which remains inside a Motor Vehicle at all times; 
• an animal used for law enforcement purposes; or 
• animals authorized by the President/CEO or designee for special events. 

 
All animals permitted by this section must be restrained by a leash or confined and completely 
under control. 
 
No person will permit, either willfully or through failure to exercise due care or control, any animal 
to urinate or defecate on the sidewalks of the Airport or within any Airport building. 
 
Animal relief areas are located on the exterior ends of the terminal building north of baggage claim, 
south of the ticket counters and one post security on the central connector concourse. 
 
1.8  FIREARMS  
 
The manufacture or importation of dangerous weapons or the carrying of a concealed weapon by 
a private citizen without a permit issued by a sheriff are subject to all penalties under NRS 202.350. 
Individuals, both private and public, accessing RNO will comply with 49 CFR Parts 1542 and 
1544, as well as all other applicable rules and regulations pertaining to the carriage of firearms, 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 5 of 79 

explosives, and flammable materials. Federal, state and local peace officers or officials will comply 
with applicable laws, ordinances, and regulations concerning weapon carriage in commercial 
Aircraft and at RNO. 
 
1.9  EXPLOSIVES AND FLAMMABLE MATERIAL 
 
Open flame or any flame-producing device or other source of ignition shall not be permitted in 
any hangar or other structure except where a hot work permit is issued and in locations approved 
by the RTAA. Aircom shall be notified a minimum of one hour prior to any activity utilizing any 
open flame at RNO.  
 
1.10  BARBEQUES (BBQs) 
 
Use of Barbeques (BBQs) is prohibited upon any area of the terminal, air cargo, and customs Ramp 
without written approval of the RTAA.  
 
Use of BBQs is permitted only in designated BBQ areas. 
 
The use of BBQs is permitted in those areas as depicted in Appendix D. 
 
The RTAA must be notified at 775-328-6500 prior to the use of any BBQ equipment. Such notice 
must give the location of the BBQ activity. The RTAA may approve or deny the use of the BBQ. 
 
1.11  WILDLIFE HAZARD MANAGEMENT 
 
As part of its safety efforts, the RTAA has implemented and maintains a Wildlife Hazard 
Management Plan (“WHMP”) according to Title 14 Code of Federal Regulations, Part 139.337(f) 
to address potential wildlife hazards at RNO and the surrounding areas. The most current version 
of the WHMP is included in the ACM. In addition to addressing general wildlife hazards, this 
WHMP presents specific protocols for monitoring and responding to unforeseen wildlife hazards 
that may arise. 
 
It is important to note that Part 139.337(a) underscores the need for a flexible plan that can be 
quickly adapted to changing circumstances. In some rare cases, immediate actions may be 
necessary that are not addressed in the WHMP to ensure the safety of Airport patrons. The WHMP 
provides the RTAA with the discretion and capability to respond to these situations, while 
providing guidance for compliance with federal, state and municipal laws.  
 
All tenants and users of RNO should report the presence of animals and birds in the AOA to 
Aircom.  
 
No person other than those authorized by the RTAA will hunt, pursue, trap, catch, injure or kill 
any animal at the Airport. 
 
No person will feed or do any other act to encourage the congregation of birds or other animals at 
the Airport. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 6 of 79 

1.12  SMOKING POLICY 
 
Smoking, including electronic or e-cigarettes, is strictly prohibited in the entire AOA including: 
 

• the terminal and customs’ Ramp 
• the air cargo Ramp 

 
Smoking, including the use of smokeless tobacco and e-cigarettes, is prohibited within the AOA  
except as stated below. This includes inside the terminal, the areas of the RTAA fire station and 
the Airport Vassar Annex (AVA). 
 
Smoking, including e-cigarettes, is prohibited upon or within any Motor Vehicle operating or 
parked within the AOA. Other RTAA, agency, or company policies may further restrict smoking 
within Motor Vehicles under their control.  
 
1.13  DESIGNATED SMOKING AREAS 
 
Smoking or the use of e-cigarettes or similar vaping products is only permitted in those designated 
areas of the Airport as indicated by signage. Smoking or the use of e-cigarettes or similar vaping 
products outside of the designated areas is prohibited.  
 
FBOs may designate smoking areas upon their leasehold. The location of the designated smoking 
area shall not be in violation of any other law, regulation or code. Smoking is prohibited outside 
of designated areas.  
 
1.14  ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES 
 
No person may drink any alcoholic beverages on any part of the Airport except in places properly 
designated. 
 
Any person who becomes drunk, disorderly, obscene, indecent, commits any unlawful act, or 
causes a nuisance at RNO, shall be subject to immediate expulsion from RNO premises and/or 
taken into custody.  
 
1.15  ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION AND SANITATION  
 
No person will conduct activities in such a manner as to cause littering or environmental pollution. 
 
No person will dispose of garbage, papers, refuse or other forms of trash, including cigarettes, 
cigars and matches, except in receptacles provided for such purpose. 
 
No person will dispose of any fill or building materials or any other discarded waste materials on 
RTAA property except as approved in writing by the RTAA. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 7 of 79 

No liquids will be placed in storm drains or the sanitary sewer system at the Airport, which will 
damage such drains or system or will result in environmental pollution passing through such drains 
or system. 
 
No person will use a comfort station, restroom, toilet or lavatory facility at the Airport other than 
in a manner consistent with its intended use. Public urination or defecation is strictly prohibited. 
 
Any solid or liquid material spilled at the Airport will immediately be cleaned up by the person 
responsible for such spillage and reported immediately to the RTAA. 
 
The disposal of chemicals, paints, oils or other products must be discarded in accordance with all 
applicable state, local, county and federal laws and regulations. 
 
No tenant, lessee, concessionaire, licensee, permittee or agent thereof doing business on the Airport 
may keep uncovered trash containers adjacent to sidewalks or roads in a public area of the Airport. 
 
1.16  STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION 
 
Pursuant to the 1972 Federal Water Pollution Protection Act (Clean Water Act) as amended in 
1987, 40 CFR, Chapter 1, Part 122 – EPA Administered Permit Programs: The National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) and the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection 
(NDEP) Storm Water General Permit requirement, the RTAA has prepared a Storm Water Pollution 
Plan and Implementation Handbook which is under separate cover and available from the RTAA 
Planning Department. All tenants and users of RNO shall comply with the requirements of the 
Storm Water Pollution Plan and Implementation Handbook. 
 
1.17 AOA CONSTRUCTION AND TENANT RAMP CONSTRUCTION  
 
Generally, the RTAA will perform all AOA construction work including design, initial contracting, 
inspection, and supervision. Tenants must receive the approval of the RTAA through a Tenant 
Improvement Permit process prior to commencing any construction work on tenant controlled 
ramp, including design, construction, repair, inspection and supervision. All AOA and tenant Ramp 
construction shall be coordinated through RTAA Airside Operations to avoid disruption of Airport 
facilities, utilities, or operations. All AOA and tenant Ramp construction will be in accordance 
with FAA Advisory Circulars and all applicable portions of these RNO Rules and Regulations.   
 
All rules and regulations in these RNO Rules and Regulations and applicable federal, state, and 
local regulations shall apply. All construction areas will be marked by barriers through the course 
of construction activities and all lighting must be approved by Airport Duty Managers during hours 
of darkness to avoid any interference with airfield operations. Equipment routes in the AOA must 
be approved by RTAA Airside Operations before construction begins. All AOA and tenant 
construction activities affecting safety or that may disrupt the operation of any Airport facility will 
be determined and discussed at the mandatory pre-construction meeting and/or the periodic 
construction meetings. All affected departments will participate in pre and periodic construction 
meetings. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 8 of 79 

The on-duty Airport Duty Manager will monitor all work performed, haul routes, access control, 
escorting, and on-site safety supervision within the AOA or on tenant Ramp areas for compliance 
with safety rules and regulations. The on-duty Airport Duty Manager will stop any work that is a 
hazard to aeronautical activity. If the review indicates that the hazard was caused by a contractor’s 
willful or negligent violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations, the contractor shall be liable for 
any and all delay penalties included in the contract. 
 
1.18  EMERGENCY CONDITIONS 
 
Emergency Plan  
 
RTAA Staff, tenants and customers shall comply with the Airport Emergency Plan (AEP) and/or 
instructions issued by the RTAA incident command staff during an emergency. 
 
A copy of the AEP is available for review by authorized users at: 
https://www.renoairport.com/employees/restricted-tenant-documents/ 
 
The AEP will provide guidelines for emergency procedures, including, but not limited to: 
 

• The provision of emergency medical care for casualties; 
• The marshalling, transportation, and care of ambulatory  accident survivors; 
• The removal of disabled Aircraft; 
• Emergency alarm systems; 
• Coordination of Airport and Air Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) functions relating to 

emergency actions. 
 

Terminal staff and tenants shall annually familiarize themselves with the Terminal Evacuation Plan 
in the AEP and be prepared to assist others during an evacuation. 
 
Tenants and Airport users shall comply with airfield closures, restrictions, or constraints 
implemented by RTAA Airside Operations or Incident Command based on safety or security 
conditions. 
 
Tenants and Airport users shall comply with AEP procedures for notifying the facilities, agencies 
and personnel who have responsibilities under the AEP of the location of an accident, the number 
of persons involved in that accident, or any other information necessary to carry out their 
responsibilities as soon as that information is available. 
 
National Emergency 
 
During the time of war or national emergency, the provisions of any and all agreements, licenses, 
permits, and other contractual documents between the RTAA and tenants, contractors and other 
third-party entities shall be subordinate to the rights of the United States of America to operate the 
Airport or any part thereof. Such rights shall supersede any provision of any agreements, licenses, 
permits and other contractual documents that are inconsistent with the operations of the Airport by 
the United States of America.   

https://www.renoairport.com/employees/restricted-tenant-documents/


 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 9 of 79 

1.19  PERSONAL CONDUCT 
 
Compliance with Signs 
 
All persons will observe and obey all RTAA posted signs, fences, and barricades.  
 
Sign placement, removal and procedures associated with tenant, concessionaire and air carrier sign 
usage will be governed by the RTAA’s policies, standard procedures and directives, or as set forth 
in a written contract, permit or other form of written authorization. 
 
Use and Enjoyment of Airport Premises 
 
No person, except for LEOs or RTAA staff, by conduct or by congregating with others, may 
prevent any other person from lawful use and enjoyment of the Airport or prevent any other person 
from lawful passage from place to place or through entrances, exits or passageways on the Airport. 
 
It is unlawful for any person to remain in or on any public area, place or facility at the Airport in 
such a manner inconsistent with the normal or customary use of such area, place or facility by 
persons or Motor Vehicles entitled to such passage or use. 
 
Disruptive Behaviors 
 
No person shall engage in behaviors that are disruptive to the safe and enjoyable experience of 
passengers or the operation of RTAA tenants. The RTAA, in its sole discretion, may remove any 
person from RTAA for engaging in disruptive behaviors. A non-inclusive of list of disruptive 
behaviors include: 
 

• Harassing or verbally accosting others 
• Engaging in or threatening violent acts 
• Creating unreasonable levels of noise, including through the projection of speech, 

music, or other forms of media 
• Engaging in unwanted physical or verbal contact 
• Engaging in lewd conduct, including sexual acts 

 
1.20  PERSONAL CONVEYANCES 
 
No person other than authorized RTAA employees on authorized RTAA equipment shall ride or 
operate any form of motorized conveyance, including, but not limited to a Motorcycle, moped, 
hoverboard, scooter, or onewheel, or any form of human-powered vehicle, including but not 
limited to a tricycle, skateboard, or roller-skates, while on the front curbs and/or sidewalks in front 
of the Airport terminal, while in the Airport terminal, or the AOA except within an FBO area when 
authorized by the FBO. Notwithstanding the foregoing, wheelchairs or other forms of conveyance 
designed to assist those with disabilities may be used anywhere on RTAA property. 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 10 of 79 

1.21  PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC 
 
All pedestrians are required to use designated crosswalks when going across roadways located on 
RTAA property. Any crossing of roadways on foot outside of a designated crosswalk is a violation 
of these Rules and Regulations. 
 
1.22  AUTHORITY’S RIGHT TO ENTER, INSPECT AND MAKE REPAIRS 
 
The RTAA and its authorized officers, employees, agents, contractors, subcontractors and other 
representatives shall have the right (at such times as may be reasonable under the circumstances 
and with as little interruption of permitted use as is reasonably practicable) to enter upon and in 
the leasehold of any tenant of the RTAA (Leased Premises) for the following purposes: 
 

• To inspect the Leased Premises to determine compliance with the terms and conditions 
of a lease, license, agreement or permit, and with Authority’s directives issued in 
connection herewith; 

• To make repairs to the premises. 
• To gain access to the mechanical, electrical, utility and structural systems of the Airport 

for the purpose of maintaining and repairing such systems. 
• At the discretion of the RTAA or upon a directive from the FAA or TSA, to install or 

permit installation on, in, at, under, around or about the leased premises of equipment, 
facilities and devices necessary for the safe, secure, efficient operations of the airfield 
and Airport. 

• To conduct inspections relevant to Airport and airfield operations and/or to install, 
inspect, remove, replace, adjust, repair, maintain or otherwise service any FAA, TSA 
or RTAA equipment, facilities or devices on, in, at, under, around or in the vicinity of 
the leased premises. 

 
Tenants shall not obstruct or hinder any of the foregoing actions or installation(s) and shall hold 
RTAA harmless from and against any liability or claim relating thereto, connected therewith or 
arising therefrom. 
 
If RTAA notifies a tenant or lessee of a maintenance requirement that constitutes an actual or 
apparent violation of any federal, state or local health or safety law including without limitation 
any health or safety requirement of Authority, lessee shall have twenty-four (24) hours from receipt 
of RTAA’s notice within which to perform or to begin duly diligent efforts to perform the necessary 
maintenance. Lessee shall comply with RTAA’s policies and procedures for review, modification 
and approval of tenant improvement projects, including without limitation submittal of a Tenant 
Improvement Permit and other documentation as required, and as such policies, procedures and 
required form(s) shall be amended from time to time. 
 
Nothing in this section shall limit any other right of RTAA hereunder or obligate RTAA to 
undertake any inspection, installation, removal, adjustment, repair, handling or other activity 
except as otherwise expressly provided herein. The provision for reasonableness shall not apply in 
the event of an actual, threatened or perceived emergency, the determination of which shall be at 
RTAA’s discretion.  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 11 of 79 

1.23  NO LODGING 
 
Due to the physical limitations of the RNO terminal and property, the need to facilitate movement 
of passengers through the terminal and otherwise conduct operations without impediment, as well 
as concern for the general safety, security and welfare of the traveling public, no person shall sleep 
in, or remain on, the premises of RNO for the purpose of lodging, except in the following limited 
circumstances: 
 

• the person has arrived at, is in transit through, or will be departing from, the airport as 
an airline passenger within twenty-four (24) hours, as evidenced by a valid travel 
itinerary, ticket, or boarding pass matching the person’s valid identification. 

• the person is awaiting the arrival of an airline passenger due to arrive within four (4) 
hours or the arrival of an airline passenger on a flight that has been unexpectedly 
delayed or cancelled and the passenger is expected to arrive within four (4) hours, as 
evidenced by flight information verifiable with the airlines. Behavior warranting a brief 
investigative detainment to determine whether an individual is violating this section 
shall include, but not be limited to, sleeping in/on RTAA property and/or loitering in/on 
airport property. Notwithstanding this prohibition on lodging, the CEO or their 
designee may declare an emergency and allow temporary lodging in case of severe 
weather or other conditions which are beyond the control of the RTAA and causing 
disruption to airport activity.  

 
1.24  NO LOITERING  
 
Due to the physical limitations of the airport terminal and property as well as concern for the 
general safety, security, and welfare of the traveling public, no person in or about RNO who is 
unable to give a satisfactory explanation of his or her presence, shall be allowed to loiter in or 
about any airport property. Satisfactory explanations for loitering, as determined in the reasonable 
discretion of RTAA personnel, shall be supported by verifiable evidence that the person in 
question: 
 

• is working at RNO; 
• is engaging in permitted commerce at RNO; 
• is conducting an activity for which a permit has been issued under these RNO Rules 

and Regulations; 
• is departing from RNO as a ticketed airline passenger; 
• is arriving at RNO as a ticketed airline passenger; or, 
• is waiting for, or escorting an individual engaged in the activities enumerated in this 

subsection. 
 
1.25  MEDIA/PRESS 
 
The RTAA’s Public Information Officer (PIO) oversees all media requests, relations, and 
procedures for the RTAA.  
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 12 of 79 

News Filming 
 
Accredited members of the media may film, videotape or photograph publicly accessible areas, 
providing that this action does not interfere with passenger traffic, airport operations, vehicle 
traffic, or the business of any of the RTAA’s airlines or other tenants. Notification to the PIO is 
required prior to arriving at the airport. All accredited media members must park in the areas 
designated by the RTAA for media staging, as they may change from time to time. 
 
Other Filming 
 
Anyone other than accredited members of the media wishing to film at RNO must first obtain a 
film permit from the RTAA. To obtain a film permit, contact the RTAA’s PIO at 844-766-4636.  
 
1.26 MoreRNO Program 
 
The RTAA is undertaking a multi-year infrastructure program which collectively is referred to as 
the “MoreRNO Program”, and includes construction of a ground transportation center, police and 
administrative headquarters, and reconstruction of the existing terminal concourses. During the 
MoreRNO Program, particularly during reconstruction of the terminal concourses, there will be 
significant impacts to operations at RNO. Consistent with the reservation of rights described in the 
Introduction Section, the RTAA reserves the right to amend, suspend, or otherwise modify the 
RNO Rules and Regulations as the RTAA deems necessary in its sole and absolute discretion to 
ensure safe and efficient operations throughout the course of the MoreRNO Program.  
 
SECTION 2  EXPRESSIVE ACTIVITIES 
 
2.1  OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE 
 
The RTAA has established the rules as set forth in this Section 2 for expressive activities, including 
the exercise of freedoms of speech, assembly, or religion, through activities such as lawful 
picketing, leafleting, protesting, or proselytizing (collectively “Expressive Activities”). These 
guidelines are intended to ensure the safety, security, and operational requirements of RTAA are 
not compromised. These guidelines are content neutral and only regulate the time, place, and 
manner of Expressive Activities. The RTAA’s goal is to facilitate lawful Expressive Activities to 
the extent they do not interfere with the flow of passengers, Aircraft, Motor Vehicles, or other 
business operations. Illegal or unsafe Expressive Activities, or Expressive Activities that 
compromise aviation security are not permitted. 
 
These Expressive Activity guidelines are designed to: 
 

• Ensure the free and orderly flow of pedestrian traffic into and through the terminal in 
the Airport and of the vehicular traffic outside the terminal 

• Protect persons using the Airport from repeated communications or encounters that 
might be perceived as harassment or intimidation 

• Protect travelers from being an unwilling captive audience 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 13 of 79 

• Maintain security by restricting the activities allowed hereunder to public-use, non-
secured areas and by implementing additional restrictions where necessitated by 
increased security threats 

• Accommodate the requests of persons and groups to engage in such activities by 
providing designated areas at the Airport  

• Protect the integrity of the RTAA’s contractual relationships with concessionaires and 
lessees at the Airport. 

 
2.3  EXPRESSIVE ACTIVITY GUIDELINES 
 
Prior to the exercise of Expressive Activities, individuals or groups wishing to engage in such 
activities must first apply to the RTAA for the issuance of a Free Speech Activity Permit 
(“Permit”), using the RTAA’s application form. A copy of any material proposed for distribution 
at the Airport solely for informational purposes and not for exercising any judgment on its contents 
shall be attached to the application. A separate Permit is required for each Expressive Activities 
event. The Permit application form can be found at: https://www.renoairport.com/airport-
authority/operations-safety/rules-and-regulations. The Permit application must be submitted to the 
RTAA via email to freespeech@renoairport.com. 
 
Following receipt of a complete application, the RTAA will endeavor to promptly review the 
application, and if approved, issue a Permit. If a Permit is denied, the RTAA will provide a written 
reason for the denial. Any applicant who is denied a Permit or whose Permit has been revoked may 
appeal in writing to the President/CEO by means of a letter stating the grounds therefore. Appeal 
letters must be submitted to the RTAA via email to freespeech@renoairport.com. The 
President/CEO, in writing, shall grant, deny, reinstate, or refuse to reinstate such Permit and such 
decision shall constitute the final decision of the RTAA. 
 
Expressive Activities are limited to the locations approved by the RTAA and are subject to the 
following time and manner requirements: 
  

• Expressive Activities are limited to four hours per Permit. 
• Expressive Activities may only take place within the RTAA’s approved locations. The 

approved locations are those locations the RTAA has determined that Expressive 
Activities may occur without interference to the flow of passengers, Aircraft, Motor 
Vehicles, or other business operations. 

• Expressive Activities within any indoor space are limited to two people and a single 
brochure rack. 

• Expressive Activities at any outdoor space immediately adjacent to the terminal 
building are limited to ten people and a single brochure rack. 

• Expressive Activities involving more than ten people are limited to areas the RTAA 
determines will not interfere with passengers, Motor Vehicles, Aircraft or other 
business operations on RTAA property. 

• Expressive Activities may not interfere with passengers, Motor Vehicles, Aircraft or 
other business operations on RTAA property.  

• Express Activities may not include any physical contact with a person without their 
express prior consent. 

https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/operations-safety/rules-and-regulations
https://www.renoairport.com/airport-authority/operations-safety/rules-and-regulations


 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 14 of 79 

• Expressive Activities may not cause safety or security problems. 
• Use of any sound reproduction device, including bullhorns, microphones, speakers, and 

the like, inside the terminal is prohibited. Prior approval is required by the Chief 
Operations and Public Safety Officer or their designee for use of sound reproduction 
devices outside of the terminal building.  

• No person engaged in Expressive Activities may conduct speeches, sing, chant, shout, 
dance, display signs, placards or posters, or perform any other activity that would be 
considered disruptive to or interfere with the use of the Airport.  

• Any form of commercial activity or the solicitation of money/donations of any form 
are strictly prohibited.  

• Material that is indecent or sexually explicit, portrays graphic violence, is directed to 
inciting or producing imminent lawless action or is likely to incite or produce such 
action or violates any federal, state or local law or regulation is strictly prohibited. 

• No person engaged in Expressive Activities may distribute materials unsolicited and 
distribution of materials may only come after the person engaged in Expressive 
Activities is first approached by a user of the Airport. 

• RTAA logos, insignia, badges or other media shall not be displayed. 
 
The RTAA will issue Permits on a first come, first serve basis.  
 
Any activity which violates these rules will result in the revocation of any active Permit and may 
be grounds for the RTAA to deny future applications for a Permit by the violator. 
 
The Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer or their designee and the Chief of Airport Police 
are authorized to coordinate monitoring and enforcement of the provisions of this section on behalf 
of the President/CEO. The RTAA Police Department may direct disbursement of any gathering 
found to be in violation of this section. 
 
Issuance of a Permit does not constitute or imply the endorsement of the RTAA, its Board of 
Trustees or staff. 
 
SECTION 3  AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS 
 
3.1  GENERAL AERONAUTICAL POLICY 
 
All aeronautical activities shall be conducted in conformity with the current provisions of the FAA 
and the laws of the State of Nevada and are hereby declared to be in effect. The President/CEO 
has delegated the on-duty Airport Duty Manager the responsibility to monitor and ensure 
compliance with all RTAA rules, regulations, and directives governing aeronautical activities.   
 
During emergency situations, the on-duty Airport Duty Manager may authorize deviations from 
these RNO Rules and Regulations in the interest of safety or security of personnel and/or property.  
  
In emergency conditions requiring immediate action for the protection of life or property, the 
RTAA may deviate from any requirements of Sub-part D of 14 CFR Part 139, to the extent 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 15 of 79 

practicable. The requirements of this section do not apply to Nevada Air National Guard (NANG) 
operations within NANG’s leasehold.  
  
The President/CEO may, through the RNO FAA Air Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) and/or 
appropriate Notice-To-Airmen (NOTAM), suspend or restrict any or all operations whenever it is 
deemed in the interest of safety.  
 
The following personnel are authorized to issue NOTAMs:  
 

• President/CEO 
• Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer 
• Director of Airport Operations 
• Manager of Airport Operations  
• Airport Duty Managers   

 
The President/CEO shall have the authority to take action to safeguard the public. Every pilot, 
mechanic, or other person employed at RNO shall cooperate with the President/CEO and/or his or 
her designee(s) in the enforcement of these RNO Rules and Regulations and see that all persons 
use care and caution to prevent injury to persons and property. 
 
The use of RNO for conducting a Commercial Aeronautical Activity is restricted to those persons 
who have obtained an appropriate agreement from the RTAA. Persons without proper 
authorization, or who are in default of the terms of an agreement with the RTAA, shall not operate 
on the premises of RNO or carry on any business of any nature. The provisions of this paragraph 
are not intended to preclude an Aircraft owner or fulltime mechanic on the owner’s payroll from 
working on the owner’s private Aircraft. 
 
Aircraft owners, pilots, or their agents shall be responsible for the removal of wrecked, disabled 
or otherwise abandoned Aircraft within RNO boundaries as described in the Airport Emergency 
Plan. Aircraft wrecked or disabled on any Runway, Runway Safety Area, Taxiway or taxiway 
safety area must be removed immediately or after National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB) 
or FAA release, if required. Failure to comply with this ruling will constitute authority for the 
President/CEO or an authorized designee, to have the Aircraft removed at the owner’s or operator’s 
expense and without liability for damages that result in the course of the removal. 
 
3.2  PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC 
 
Pedestrian traffic in the AOA is prohibited except when required to service an Aircraft within an 
Aircraft safety envelope or to assist with an Aircraft on power/push back. 
 
Permitted Pedestrian traffic in the AOA shall comply with the following: 
 

• FBO or airline employees requiring Pedestrian access to a gate area on the terminal 
Ramp shall use an access route designated by Chief Operations and Public Safety 
Officer or their designee. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 16 of 79 

• FBO shall be responsible for Pedestrian traffic within their respective FBO area and 
shall not allow any unauthorized persons to enter any other areas of the AOA. 

 
Pedestrian traffic upon any Aircraft Movement Area requires prior approval and coordination with 
the on-duty Airport Duty Manager. 
 
3.3  GATE USAGE/ASSIGNMENTS 
 
All terminal gate positions have an associated passenger “hold-room” inside the terminal building. 
The use of terminal gate positions and associated passenger hold-rooms is governed by the Gate 
Rules and Procedures included as Appendix E. The RTAA ultimately maintains control over all 
gate positions and hold-rooms.  
 
The parking spot for U.S. Customs (N-1) is for clearing Customs only. Aircraft shall not be left on 
the Customs parking spot after Customs clearance. Exceptions may be granted at the discretion of 
the Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer or his or her designee. 
 
Incorrectly parked Aircraft or Aircraft parked without permission may be required to move at the 
on-duty Airport Duty Manager’s request.  
 
3.4  TERMINAL AND TRANSIENT RAMP PROCEDURES 
 
Non-passenger air carrier Aircraft are prohibited on the terminal Ramp with the following 
exceptions:  
 

• Aircraft requiring U.S. Customs clearance will utilize the parking spot assigned by CBP 
and/or the  

• Aircraft delivering parts/tools/mechanics to an airline with an Aircraft mechanical 
problem, subject first to the on-duty Airport Duty Manager’s authorization with prior 
notice. 

• On a case-by-case basis, the Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer or their 
designee may permit NANG C-130 or other military Aircraft to park on the North or 
South Transient Ramp (See Appendix D). 

• Other Charter/FBO Aircraft that require the use of the North or South Terminal Ramps 
(See Appendix D), after receiving approval from Airport Duty Manager and after 
providing all appropriate paperwork. 

 
3.5  SAFETY ENVELOPES 
 
Safety envelope lines shall be painted around each terminal gate position. Aircraft must park within 
these lines to provide proper clearance from adjacent gate positions and ground support equipment. 
Taxiing Aircraft may not cross these lines while entering or exiting the gate position. If an Aircraft 
is larger than the safety envelope, the Airport Duty Manager may approve the Aircraft on that gate 
if the adjacent gate users have been notified and there is enough clearance between Aircraft.  
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 17 of 79 

3.6  PUSH BACK OPERATIONS 
 
All Aircraft entering/exiting the terminal Ramp must use the yellow taxi/gate lead-in lines. Aircraft 
are not authorized to pass another Aircraft anywhere on the terminal Ramp area. 
 
The tug Driver (push back operation) and ground marshaller are responsible for the correct 
movement and alignment of the Aircraft. 
 
The Aircraft pilot/mechanic must advise FAA ATC Ground Control (121.9 MHz) at the actual time 
the Aircraft is ready to push back. 
 
On Gates B-10, B-11, C-11 and C-12, clearance and direction will be given by ground control as 
to direction of alignment of the Aircraft on Taxiway Alpha. On all other gates, ground control will 
simply advise of other known traffic in the area. 
 
Any Aircraft departing a gate at the terminal may be positioned at a 45-degree angle to the roadway 
so that the Aircraft does not interfere with marked driving lanes. Aircraft taxiing out will 
immediately transition to the taxi guidance line to reduce interference with the driving lanes. 
 
Aircraft departing a gate on the south side of the south concourse should be positioned as follows: 
 

• Push backs from gates B-1, B-3, B-5 and B-7 shall be in a north/south alignment with 
the tail of the Aircraft pointed south. 

• The Aircraft shall be pushed into the adjacent “S” gate far enough to allow other 
Aircraft to enter/exit the south Ramp. 

• If the adjacent “S” gate is occupied, push backs will be in an east/west alignment on 
taxi lane centerline. 

 
All ground crew members working a push back operation are encouraged to wear protective 
goggles and hearing protection. 
 
Power back operations will be done only upon approval from the on-duty Airport Duty Manager. 
Power back operations will be approved by the RTAA only after a formal written request has been 
made and after the Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer or their designee determines that 
the operation may be accomplished in a safe manner.  
 
3.7  DISABLED AIRCRAFT 
 
The removal of disabled Aircraft from the Runway/Taxiway shall be the responsibility of the 
owner/operator. As soon as possible after release by proper authorities, the owner/operator shall 
remove disabled Aircraft from the AOA, Runway and Taxiway, shall place such disabled Aircraft 
in an area as may be designated by the RTAA, and shall store such disabled Aircraft only upon 
such terms and conditions as established by the RTAA. In the event an owner/operator shall fail to 
remove a disabled Aircraft within sixty (60) minutes, RTAA may, but shall not be obligated to, 
cause the removal of disabled Aircraft at the expense of owner/operator, and the owner/operator 
hereby indemnifies and holds RTAA harmless from any claims or damages which may result from 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 18 of 79 

the disabled Aircraft or its removal. Owner/operator shall pay RTAA, upon receipt of invoice, all 
costs incurred for such removal, clean-up and repair of the AOA. 
 
3.8  RTAA-OWNED AIRCRAFT STORAGE HANGARS 
 
Use of any hangar requires a lease, permit or other rental agreement available through the RTAA 
Airport Economic Development Department and approved by the President/CEO.  
 
The RTAA fully intends to adhere to the FAA’s update to the policy on the Non-Aeronautical Use 
of Airport Hangars under the RTAA of Title 49 of the United States Code, Subtitle VII, part B, 
chapter 471, section 47122(a) effective July 1, 2017. 
 
Hangars are to be used exclusively for storage of Aircraft. Ancillary equipment and personal 
property stored in the hangar shall not impede the use of the Aircraft. Furthermore, it is RTAA’s 
goal that flyable Aircraft occupy storage hangars and non-flyable Aircraft are parked outdoors in 
RTAA-approved locations or in maintenance hangars. 
 
Permissible uses include: 
 

• Storing an active Aircraft listed on the lease, permit or rental agreement; 
• Sheltering Aircraft for minor maintenance, repair, or refurbishment, but not indefinitely 

storing non-operational Aircraft; 
• Constructing amateur-built or kit-built Aircraft provided that activities are conducted 

safely and in accordance with rules found elsewhere in this document; 
• Storing Aircraft handling equipment, e.g., tow bar, glider tow equipment, workbenches, 

and tools and materials used to service, maintain, repair or outfit Aircraft; items related 
to ancillary or incidental uses that do not affect the hangars’ primary use; 

• Parking a Motor Vehicle in the hangar while the Aircraft usually stored in that hangar 
is flying. 

 
Nothing shall be suspended, either temporarily or permanently, from hangar ceilings, roofs, doors, 
or walls without prior written approval of RTAA. 
 
No painting of any type is permitted in RTAA-owned hangars unless there is a properly permitted 
and installed paint facility/booth or locker. 
 
Fueling/de-fueling is not permitted inside a hangar. 
 
Open flames are not permitted inside a hangar. Gas heating devices may only be used when the 
hangar is properly vented and only when the tenant is present in the hangar.  
 
Tenants shall not sub-lease, share or permit Aircraft not listed on the lease, permit, or rental 
agreement to use their hangar without the written permission of the President/CEO. 
 
Tenants shall keep Taxiways, taxilanes, Drive Lanes and common use areas clear of their personal 
property, trash, and FOD. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 19 of 79 

No Commercial Aeronautical Activity is permitted in the hangar without an appropriate agreement 
from the RTAA.  
 
Aircraft maintenance may only be performed in authorized areas consistent with lease terms. All 
petroleum, oil, and lubrications must be properly stored and disposed of in containers designed for 
such uses, according to lease terms. Any FOD resulting from Aircraft maintenance shall be the 
responsibility of the owner and contractors engaged in the activity.   
 
Tenants shall have fire extinguishers as required by their lease available and annually inspected. 
 
3.9.  AIRCRAFT DEICING 
 
Aircraft deicing may only be performed by authorized service providers in approved designated 
locations. 
 
Only propylene glycol-based fluids shall be used for Aircraft deicing at the Airport. No other 
products are permitted.  
 
Aircraft deicing fluid totes shall not to be stored at any Aircraft gate area or concourse storage 
area.   
 
All deicing fluid totes must be properly labeled with manufacture’s information and an additional 
label identifying the deicing product user (airline/cargo/ground service provider). Non-conforming 
deicing fluid totes will be considered abandoned property and subject to disposal.   
 
Deicing equipment shall be maintained to prevent leaking of fluids while the equipment is not in 
use. 
 
To the extent possible, deicing fluid shall be captured or recovered prior to run off into drainages. 
Refer to the RTAA Snow and Ice Control plan, included as Appendix F, or contact RTAA 
Operations by calling Aircom at (775) 328-6600. 
 
Spills of any type or size (e.g., deicing fluid, fuel, oil, hydraulic fluid, lavatory waste) must be 
reported immediately to the RTAA Operations Department by calling Aircom at (775) 328-6600. 
Spills must be contained and cleaned up by the responsible party in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations.  
 
The disposal of unused or “out-of-spec” deicing fluids from deicing equipment or totes is the 
responsibility of the deicing operator (airline/cargo/ground service provider) and must be handled 
in accordance with all federal, state, and local laws and regulations. Please contact RTAA’s 
Environmental Department at (775) 328-6467 for assistance with disposal.   
 
To dispose of deicing fluids at the RTAA’s Central Disposal Facility (CDF), deicing operators must 
contact the RTAA’s Operations or Environmental departments to receive approval. Disposal of 
deicing fluids without authorization will result in the loss of disposal privileges and may result in 
regulatory violations and fines. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 20 of 79 

The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) promulgated deicing fluid effluent limitations 
guidelines (ELGs) under the Clean Water Act (CWA) for airport deicing operations. The rule 
establishes that each operator (airline/cargo/ground service provider) applying deicing fluid shall 
submit a monthly report detailing the type and amount of fluid applied. EPA specifies that failure 
to meet any of the requirements of the ELGs is an enforceable violation of federal regulations. 
Additionally, failure to timely report deicing fluid usage is a general rule violation, and the RTAA 
will treat such violation as a Group Violation subject to enforcement in accordance with Section 
10. 
 
3.10  FOREIGN OBJECT DEBRIS (FOD) 
 
No person shall enter the Movement Area to chase FOD. Anyone needing assistance to retrieve or 
remove FOD, must contact RTAA Airside Operations by calling Aircom at (775) 328-6600. 
  
No person shall throw or deposit upon any surface glass bottles, glass, nails, tacks, wire, cans, or 
any other substance likely to injure any person, Aircraft, or Motor Vehicle upon such surface. 
 
Any person who drops or permits to be dropped or thrown upon any surface any destructive or 
injurious material shall immediately remove the same or cause it to be removed. 
 
Any person removing a wrecked or damaged Motor Vehicle or Aircraft from the AOA shall remove 
any glass or other injurious substance dropped upon the surface from such Motor Vehicle or 
Aircraft. 
 
No person shall transport waste materials and garbage within the AOA without first securing and 
covering such materials so as to ensure littering does not occur. 
 
When wind conditions warrant, RTAA Airport Operations may issue high wind warnings. Airside 
staff and tenants shall ensure doors, jet bridges, FOD containers, etc. are secured. 
 
3.11 ENGINE RUN REQUESTS AND LOCATIONS     
 
Engine run operations are subject to the following procedures: 
 

• Air carrier representatives will notify the Airport Duty Manager one hour prior to the 
proposed engine run. This notification will include information as to the reason for the 
run-up, number of engines, and percent of throttle, starting time, and the duration of 
the run-up. 

• Idle Thrust: Engine runs for maintenance may be done on the terminal Ramp (including 
concourse gates), north and south transient Ramps, as well as on the cargo Ramp (See 
Appendix G) at idle thrust only after advising ground control. 

• Above Idle Thrust: Jet Aircraft engine runs above idle thrust are prohibited between 
2200 and 0630, Monday through Friday, and between 2200 and 0800 on Saturday and 
Sunday. Under unusual circumstances, the on-duty Airport Duty Manager may approve 
engine runs. However, under no circumstances shall engine runs above idle thrust occur 
between 0200 and 0600 daily. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 21 of 79 

• Engine run-ups will take place on the north TWY C loop between TWY D and the 
threshold for RWY 17L (See Appendix G) or as directed by the on-duty Airport Duty 
Manager. Engine runs will be conducted with the Aircraft’s nose facing either north or 
south from this location. East/West oriented engine runs are not available. 

• Maintain close communications with the ATCT and Aircom prior to any Aircraft 
movement or run-up. The Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer or their designee 
must determine if the maintenance crew taxiing the Aircraft is locally based.  

• “Follow Me” services will be provided by RTAA Airport Operations for all Aircraft 
needing an engine run that are being taxied by non-locally based maintenance crews. 

 
All run-ups will be completed within a 30-minute period. 
 
All Aircraft operators will reduce power or cease engine run-up as when so directed by the on-
duty Airport Duty Manager, in the event that such run-up creates a hazard or generates complaints 
from the surrounding communities. 
 
3.12 PRE-FLIGHT ENGINE RUN-UP PROCEDURES 
 
Engine run-ups for Aircraft preparing for flight will normally be performed in the run-up area for 
the Runway to be utilized and with the Aircraft facing in the same direction as the Runway heading 
(160 degrees, etc.). If an Aircraft is making an intersection departure, the Aircraft should attempt 
to turn on the Taxiway so as to direct the prop wash away from other Aircraft/Taxiways/Runways.  
 
3.13 HELICOPTER OPERATIONS 
 
Helicopters shall be authorized to take off and land at the following locations only:  
 

• General Aviation Ramps with approval of tenant or Chief Operations and Public Safety 
Officer or their designee  

• General Aviation Office Building (GAOB) Ramp, restricted to rotor spans of 40 feet or 
less.  

• All active Runways. 
• Taxiways 75 feet or greater in width for light helicopters (8,000 lbs. or less), excluding 

UH-1.  
 
Hover taxiing across infield areas is prohibited.  
 
Wheel equipped helicopters should ground taxi. 
 
3.14 EQUIPMENT AND MOTOR VEHICLE PARKING IN THE AOA 
 
Motor Vehicles and equipment used in the conduct of flight operations will be parked and/or stored 
in areas approved for such parking and storage, unless specifically authorized in writing by the 
RTAA to be temporarily parked or stored elsewhere. The AOA will not be used for Motor Vehicle, 
watercraft, recreational equipment, or trailer storage. For any Motor Vehicle or equipment found 
to be obstructing the operations of the RTAA or another tenant of RTAA or approved operator that 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 22 of 79 

is not immediately removed upon RTAA’s request, such Motor Vehicle or equipment will be 
removed and stored at the owner’s expense.   
 
3.15 DANGEROUS ARTICLES 
 
No person shall, without prior permission, keep, transport, handle or store at, in or upon the Airport 
any cargo of explosives or other dangerous articles which are barred from loading in or for 
transportation by civil Aircraft under Title 49 CFR. Any waiver of such regulations or part by the 
FAA or by any other competent authority shall not constitute or be construed to constitute a waiver 
of this rule or an implied permission to keep, transport, handle or store such explosives or other 
dangerous articles at, in or upon the Airport. Advance written notice of at least 24 hours shall be 
given to the President/CEO to permit full investigation and clearance for any operation requiring 
a waiver of this rule. 
 
This advance written notice shall include the designated, qualified personnel handling the article, 
the proposed area for storage of the article, the routes for transport to be utilized within the Airport 
boundaries, and a statement that ensures that Title 49 CFR has been complied with. This written 
notice will be approved in writing by the President/CEO or an authorized designee and retained 
for at least six months.  
 
Handling and Storing  
 
No person may offer, and no person may knowingly accept, any dangerous article for shipment at 
the Airport unless the shipment is handled and stored in full compliance with the provisions of 
Title 49 CFR, Parts 171-178. 
 
Designated Personnel  
 
Any person engaged in the transportation of dangerous articles shall have authorized and 
responsible personnel designated at the Airport for the receiving and handling of such shipments 
in compliance with the prescribed regulations. 
 
3.16 LAVATORY CARTS 
 
All lavatory cart operators shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, 
regulations and rules concerning the handling of lavatory waste. Liquid or solid waste material 
spilled on the Airport shall be immediately reported to Aircom and removed by the airline/agent 
that caused the spill. Aircom and the Environmental Program Manager will be immediately 
advised of the spill and the corrective action being taken.  
 
3.17 UNMANNED AERIAL VEHICLES/DRONES/ROBOTS 
 
No one shall operate an unmanned or robotic vehicle on Airport property without the written 
consent of the President/CEO or their designee. Unmanned or robotic vehicle activities must 
otherwise comply with all Federal, State and local laws, regulation, and policies. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 23 of 79 

3.18 NON-COMMERCIAL FLYING CLUBS 
 
A flying club shall be a not-for-profit entity (corporation, association, limited liability company or 
partnership) organized for the express purpose of providing its members with Aircraft for their 
personal use and enjoyment only. Each member shall be a bona fide part owner of the Aircraft in 
common or stockholder of the corporation or member of the entity.  
 
The ownership of Aircraft shall be vested in the name of the flying club (or owned equally by all 
of its members). Flying club members may lease Aircraft back to the club for the club’s use. The 
property rights of the Aircraft shall be equal and no part of the net earnings of the club will inure 
to the benefit of any club member in any manner.  
 
The club may not derive greater revenue from the use of its Aircraft than the amount necessary for 
the actual cost of operation, maintenance and replacement of its Aircraft and facilities. The club 
shall keep current a complete list of the club’s membership on file with the RTAA. A record of 
club finances shall be made available to the RTAA upon request. 
 
The club’s Aircraft shall not be used by other than bona fide members and by no one for hire, 
charter, or air taxi. The club shall not conduct rental operations to non-members. Student 
instruction may be given in club Aircraft by one club member to another club member, providing 
no compensation takes place. Such member instructors may be compensated by credit against 
payment of dues or flight time. Otherwise, flight instruction shall be given by an authorized flight 
school operator with a current Commercial Aeronautical Operating Agreement with the RTAA. 
Such instruction by an authorized flight school operator may be conducted in club Aircraft. 
 
Aircraft maintenance performed by the club shall be limited to only that maintenance that does not 
require an FAA approved mechanic. All other maintenance performed at the Airport shall be 
provided by an authorized maintenance and repair operator in compliance with the Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport General Aviation Commercial Minimum Standards (GAMS), or by a member 
who is a properly certificated mechanic, providing no compensation takes place. Such member 
mechanics may be compensated by credit against payment of dues or flight time. Maintenance 
may be performed at another airport by a locally based FAA approved mechanic with a current 
agreement to provide such services with the RTAA.  
 
All flying clubs and their members are prohibited from leasing or selling any goods or services 
whatsoever to any person or firm other than a member of such club at the Airport except that said 
flying club may sell or exchange its capital equipment. 
 
In the event the club fails to comply with these conditions, the RTAA will notify the club in writing 
of such violations. The club shall have 30 days to correct such violations. If the club fails to correct 
the violations, the RTAA may terminate the club’s agreement.  
 
3.19 NON-COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT STORAGE HANGARS 
 
Non-commercial Aircraft storage may be provided by an individual or an organization. An 
organization to develop non-commercial Aircraft storage must be a corporation, association, 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 24 of 79 

limited liability company or partnership. The organization shall be organized for the express 
purpose of providing its members with Aircraft storage for their personal use or incidental business 
use only. The ownership of Aircraft stored at the hangar must be vested in the name of the 
individual, shareholders/partners/members, as applicable. The individual or organization must 
have a lease with the RTAA for each such hangar. 
 
The individual or organization may not derive greater revenue from the storage of their/its Aircraft 
than the amount necessary for the actual cost of operation, maintenance and refurbishment of the 
premises. If an organization, it must keep current a complete list of its 
shareholders/partners/members and based Aircraft with the RTAA. The individual or organization 
must provide the RTAA with a certificate evidencing the minimum insurance requirements 
required by their/its lease. 
 
The Aircraft will not be used by other than bona fide owners or their employees for their personal 
use or incidental business use only. It is acknowledged that:  
 

• Aircraft may be “owned” by a separate entity established to own and operate the 
Aircraft, and  

• The individual or organization may contract with a third-party management company 
to operate their Aircraft on their behalf.  
 

If a management company serves more than one individual or organization, then such management 
company shall have a current Commercial Aeronautical Operating Agreement as required by the 
GAMS.  
 
The Aircraft will not be used for compensation, barter, charter, or air taxi. It is acknowledged that 
an individual or organization’s Aircraft may be listed on a Charter company’s FAA Part 135 
Charter Certificate to offset the cost of ownership (some in conjunction with a third-party 
management company as mentioned above). The Aircraft may not be used for compensation, 
barter, charter, or air taxi to or from Reno-Tahoe International Airport but may be ferried under 
FAA Part 91 for such activity elsewhere.  
 
Flight instruction may be given in an Aircraft on file with the Airport RTAA as long as the student 
is a shareholder/partner/member or an employee of a shareholder/partner/member. Otherwise, 
flight instruction must be given by an authorized flight school operator as defined in the GAMS, 
with a current agreement with the RTAA to provide such services. No parking or storage may be 
provided for any Aircraft that is not on file with the RTAA.  
 
The individual or organization may conduct maintenance or repair on their Aircraft as long it is 
done by a qualified mechanic employee of the Aircraft owner or an authorized service provider 
with an appropriate agreement from the RTAA.   
 
The individual or organization shareholder/ partners/members may dispense fuel or lubricants into 
their own Aircraft under permit from the RTAA and as long it is done by an employee of the 
Aircraft owner. See Section 4.7 Non-Commercial Self-Fueling. 
  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 25 of 79 

The individual or organization is prohibited from subleasing or selling any goods or services 
whatsoever to any person or firm except that the individual or organization and its 
shareholders/partners/members may sell or exchange their Aircraft and/or ground handling 
equipment. The authorized selling of such Aircraft shall not be used as a subterfuge for conducting 
commercial Aircraft sales. 
 
All documents required by the individual or organization’s lease shall be furnished to the RTAA 
in accordance with such lease requirements. 
 
SECTION 4  FUEL HANDLING 
 
4.1  FUEL HANDLING OVERVIEW 
 
This section provides rules for safely storing, dispensing, and handling fuel at RNO and prevention 
and control of fuel spills. (Additional information on fire prevention during Fueling operations is 
contained in FAA Advisory Circular 150/5230-4b and NFPA Code 407 current edition).  
 
NFPA Code 407 is the adopted fire code for RNO in all fuel handling situations. Any unsafe 
Fueling operation will be immediately terminated at the direction of ARFF, Aircom, or Airport 
Duty Manager. NFPA Code 407 and Advisory Circular 150/5230-4b will be complied with in all 
fuel operations.   
 
The provisions of NFPA Code 407, as it may be amended, control where these rules and NFPA 
Code 407 may be inconsistent. The following rules are called out for convenience, but no greater 
weight should be given to them for that reason. 
 
4.2  RULES FOR AIRCRAFT FUEL AND FUELING OPERATIONS 
 
The following rules for safe fuel handling will be followed by Fueling agents and personnel who 
handle fuel at RNO: 
 
Fueling Prohibitions 
 
Aircraft being fueled shall be positioned so that Aircraft fuel system vents or fuel tank openings 
are not closer than 25 feet to any terminal building, hangar, service building, or enclosed passenger 
concourse other than a loading walkway. 
 
Fueling Areas 
 
Fueling shall be conducted outdoors and at least 50 feet from any hangar or building and 50 feet 
from any combustion and ventilation air-intake to any boiler, heater, or incinerator room. 
 
Open Flames 
 
Open flames and ignition sources including matches, cigarette lighters, flare pots fuses or similar 
open flames, welding/cutting, abrasive grinding, brazing, soldering and other applications 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 26 of 79 

involving open torches or arc welders, exposed flame and radiant heaters using flammable or 
combustible liquids and burning of solid refuse or fuel is prohibited on the terminal Ramp. 
 
Fire Extinguishers 
 
During Fueling of any Aircraft, extinguishers shall be available and used in accordance with 
Internal Fire Code (IFC) and NFPA Code 407. All personnel involved with Fueling or defueling 
operations shall be qualified and properly trained to use all fire extinguishers. 
 
Electrical Operations   
 
During Fueling for any Aircraft, no person shall operate any cellphone, radio transmitter or 
receiver or switch the transmitter or receiver on or off during Fueling unless said radio transmitter 
or receiver is designed specifically for such environment and complies with NFPA Code 407.  
 
No person shall operate Aircraft electrical systems or switch Aircraft electrical appliances on or 
off during Fueling, nor shall any person use any material or equipment which is likely to cause a 
spark or ignition within 50 feet. 
 
Radar Operations   
 
Surveillance radar equipment in Aircraft shall not be operated within 300 feet of any Fueling or 
other operation in which Flammable Liquids, vapors or mist could be present. 
 
Passenger Occupancy 
 
Where Fueling takes place with passengers on board away from the terminal building, and 
stairways are not provided, such as during inclement weather (diversions), all slides shall be armed 
and the ARFF shall be notified to respond in standby position in the vicinity of the Fueling with at 
least one vehicle. 
 
Fuel Attendants  
 
The Driver, operator, or attendant of any Fueler shall be with the vehicle at all times while the 
vehicle is Fueling or refueling an Aircraft, and whenever the vehicle is staged on the Terminal 
Ramp, North Transient Ramp, or South Transient Ramp, as marked on Appendix D, awaiting the 
arrival of an Aircraft. 
 
An individual on fire watch shall have no more than two vehicles or Aircraft simultaneously under 
Fueling and must be within 75 feet of any operation under the individual’s surveillance. 
 
Vehicle Positioning  
 
Fuelers shall be positioned so the vehicle can be safely driven away in the event of spill or fire. No 
more than one Fueler shall be positioned on each wing of an Aircraft. When high-capacity Aircraft 
are refueled, additional Fuelers shall not be parked or positioned within 100 feet of the Aircraft 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 27 of 79 

served and then only in areas approved by the President/CEO. No Fueler shall be left unattended 
in Aircraft parking areas. 
 
Parking Areas 
 
Fueler vehicles shall not park at RNO except in areas designated by the President/CEO or her 
designated representative. Fueler vehicles must park at least 10 feet apart and a minimum of 50 
feet from the nearest building.   
       
No Fueler shall be parked on any area of the AOA except in those areas the RTAA specifically 
designates, or if parked on the leasehold of an FBO, in such area as to comply with NFPA 
requirements for parking.  
 
Vehicle Markings 
 
Each Fueler shall be conspicuously marked on all four sides of the vehicle with the word’s 
flammable, non-smoking, and type of fuel in letters of contrasting color at least three inches high, 
and a DOT-UN number placard. Each vehicle will also have the wording “Emergency Shut Off” 
and other appropriate operating instructions at the location(s) of emergency operating devices in 
letters at least two inches high. 
 
Fuel Grade  
 
Each fuel storage tank and Fueler shall be conspicuously marked with the identification of the type 
of grade of fuel being stored or handled. 
 
4.3  SUPERVISOR TRAINING 
 
At least one supervisor with each Fueling agent shall complete an aviation fuel training course in 
fire safety that covers the following areas: 
 

• Grounding and bonding 
• Public Protection 
• Control of access to storage areas 
• Fire safety in fuel farm and storage areas 
• NFPA 407 

 
4.4  PERSONNEL TRAINING 
 
Persons engaged in Aircraft Fueling shall be instructed and trained by the supervisor, trained in 
accordance with Section 4.3 in the proper operation of the Fueler they are authorized to operate, 
and in the proper procedures for compliance with the RNO Rules and Regulations. ARFF may 
check any Fueling operation at any time for compliance by personnel. Each tenant Fueling agent 
will certify to the RTAA each year that all their Fueling personnel have received at least the training 
specified in Section 4.3.    
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 28 of 79 

4.5.  FUELERS AND FUEL FACILITIES INSPECTIONS 
 
All Fuelers and fuel facilities new to RNO must be inspected by ARFF before being placed into 
service. 
 
All Fuelers, fuel facilities and Fueling stations located at RNO are subject to inspection on a 
quarterly basis (four times yearly). Fire safety inspections of all Fuelers, fuel facilities and Fueling 
stations shall be accomplished with the use of the refueling vehicle inspection form. Fueling 
facilities, Fuelers, and Fueling operations will be subject to guidelines set forth in Chapter 20 
Section 2006 of the IFC and NFPA Code 407.  
 
All Fuelers must be maintained in an operational and safe condition, and must be regularly 
inspected by the owner of the Fueler. No Fueler vehicles out of service more than 60 days is 
permitted at RNO and if not removed, may be removed by the RTAA at the Operator’s expense.  
 
4.6  FUEL SPILLS 
 
Every spill will be treated as a potential fire source and the spilled fuel must be removed by the 
responsible agency by one of the methods detailed below. Aircom must be notified immediately 
of all fuel spills ARFF directions shall be followed by all personnel involved in a fuel spill 
situation. Because fuel spills are of an unpredictable nature, each event will be handled differently. 
Due to environmental concerns, all fuel spills regardless of size, require immediate clean-up.   
 
Persons engaged in Aircraft Fueling shall exercise care to prevent fuel spillage. In the event of fuel 
spillage involving Aircraft, engines may not be started until the spill area has been properly cleaned 
and the area is released by ARFF. Spill cleanup shall be a responsibility of the causing agent. Costs 
to the RTAA will be charged to the airline or agent responsible for the spill. 
 
Large spills of over 25 gallons or of a continuing nature normally require handling by ARFF. 
Anyone in the spill hazard area should leave at once. Only general guidance can be given, but the 
following procedures should be considered for the period following the alerting of ARFF. 

• It may be necessary to evacuate the Aircraft if the spill is such as to pose a serious fire 
hazard to the Aircraft and/or its occupants.  

• Do not permit anyone to walk through the liquid area of the fuel spill.  
• If any person has been sprayed with fuel or has had their clothing soaked with fuel, 

they should go to a place of refuge, remove their clothing, and wash their body. 
Emergency shower and eye wash facilities are located on the commercial Ramp under 
the north and south connector concourse. 

• All Fuelers and other mobile equipment should be left “as is” until the spilled fuel is 
removed or made safe by ARFF. “Shutting down” equipment or moving vehicles may 
provide a source of ignition even though no fire immediately results from the spillage. 

• Idle Aircraft, automobiles, or spark-producing equipment in the area should not be 
started until the spilled fuel is removed or made safe. If a vehicle engine is running at 
the time of the spill, it should be driven from the hazard area unless the hazard to 
personnel is too severe. Fuelers should not be moved until a check is made that any 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 29 of 79 

fuel hose which may have been in use or connected between the vehicle and the Aircraft 
is safely stowed.            

• If any Aircraft engine is operating at the time of the spill, move the Aircraft from the 
hazard area, unless air currents set up by the operating power plants would aggravate 
the extent or the nature of the existing vapor hazard.   

• If circumstances dictate that operating internal combustion engine equipment should 
be “shut down” within a spill area which has not ignited, engine speeds should be 
reduced to “idle” prior to cutting ignition in order to prevent backfire. 

• The volatility of the fuel may be a major factor in the initial severity of the hazard 
created by the spill. Aviation gasoline and other low flash point fuels at normal 
temperature and pressures will give off vapors which are capable of forming ignitable 
mixtures with the air near the surface of the liquid, whereas this condition does not 
normally exist with kerosene fuels, except where ambient temperatures are in the 100 
degree F range and the liquid has been heated to a similar temperature.  

• If fuel-contaminated water enters sewers, ARFF or the on-duty Airport Duty Manager 
will determine if large volumes of water should immediately be introduced to flush 
such sewers to dilute, to the maximum possible extent, the Flammable Liquid content 
of the sewer. Normal operations involving ignition sources will be prohibited on surface 
areas adjacent to open drains or manholes from which flammable vapor may issue, until 
it can be determined that no flammable vapor/air mixture is present in the proximity. 

 
4.7  NON-COMMERCIAL SELF-FUELING 
 
Any person or entity engaged in non-commercial self-Fueling shall also comply with Section 4.6 
of the RNO Rules and Regulations. All persons that fuel their own Aircraft by themselves or by 
using their own employees shall comply with the RNO Rules and Regulations, all applicable 
RTAA directives, and NFPA Code 407. 
 
Only those persons authorized by the President/CEO or designee, via a current self-Fueling permit, 
or those who have a verified status of an airport fuel provider may dispense fuel into a public or 
private Aircraft. 
 
The following procedures do not allow for or apply to commercial Fueling, where someone other 
than the actual operator of the Aircraft is providing a Fueling service of any kind. The 
owner/operator may be assisted by another person during the self-refueling process so long as the 
other party is not compensated in any manner for assistance or supplies.  
 
A method of self-dispensing Class I Flammable Liquids into a privately owned Aircraft is 
allowable under applicable codes. This method requires the utilization of D.O.T. approved portable 
safety container and only by those persons authorized by the President/CEO or designee that hold 
a current self-Fueling permit. 
 
The RTAA will continue to enforce the following safety precautions upon individuals who elect to 
self-fuel their Aircraft utilizing:  
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 30 of 79 

• Safety container(s) shall be of an approved type and shall be designed and constructed 
in accordance with nationally recognized standards and be D.O.T. approved. 
Transportation of Class I Flammable Liquids shall not exceed a total quantity of 50 US 
gallons or exceed the gross vehicle weight of the transport vehicle.  

• Safety container(s) shall be adequately secured during transport and smoking will not 
be allowed inside of, or within 50 feet of, the transport vehicle.  

• Dispensing shall not be performed where the public is invited or where there is unusual 
exposure to life and property.  

• Dispensing will not be permitted within 25 feet of any building, any combustible 
material, or any storage of Class I, II or III flammable or combustible liquids, and shall 
be at least 25 feet from any opening in a building, property line, street, alley or public 
way. 

• Dispensing may be gravity-fed using 5-gallon safety containers, with other full or 
empty containers stored at least 15 feet from the dispensing area, or with a refuel 
vehicle/tank and pump unit that meets the requirements in Section 4.5. 

• Smoking, open flame or other sources of ignition shall be prohibited within 50 feet of 
the dispensing area.  

• Empty Flammable Liquid safety containers shall be treated as if they were full, until 
they are purged of flammable vapors by an approved method. 

• An approved portable fire extinguisher, having a minimum classification of 40-B, shall 
be provided and maintained within 50 feet of the operation for the extinguishment of 
fires. 

• An approved means shall be provided to control and recover spilled fuel, such as an 
approved absorbent material. All such material shall be promptly and thoroughly 
cleaned up by the person Fueling. All contaminated absorbent material will be 
considered hazardous waste and must be disposed of in accordance with Local, State 
and Federal laws, and none shall be left on Airport property. 

• Fuel dispensing vehicles shall be approved by the RTAA and shall contain safety 
fixtures and filtration systems to ensure the quality of the fuel dispensed. The vehicle 
shall not exceed 1,000 gallons of storage for each type of fuel. 

• The parking area for the dispensing vehicle must include adequate fuel spill prevention 
features and containment capabilities, together with an approved fuel Spill Prevention 
Countermeasures and Control Plan (SPCC) plan, in accordance with the Airport 
Certification Manual (ACM) and the approved Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) 

• Vehicles transporting fuels shall not be parked inside hangars. 
 
No person conducting self-Fueling shall bring into RNO or store any type of fuel at RNO without 
the written permission of the President/CEO or their designee. No person conducting self-Fueling 
shall store fuel in excess of 10 gallons in a D.O.T. approved portable safety container at RNO. 
 
Fueling shall not occur while thunderstorm activity is within three (3) miles of the Airport (as 
verified by the on-duty Airport Duty Manager). 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 31 of 79 

Any request to fuel Aircraft by means other than those outlined above, or by means other than 
from specifically designed, inspected, and permitted Aircraft Fueler vehicles, must be submitted 
in writing to the President/CEO for review and approval. 
 
4.8 OPERATION OF FUEL TRUCKS  
 
All persons operating as Fuelers in the AOA shall have completed and passed the training required 
by FAR Part 139.321, prior to operating a Fuel Truck on the AOA. 
 
Aircraft Fuelers shall conform to the latest edition of IFC and NFPA Code 407 and Advisory 
Circulars.  
 
No person shall leave a Fuel Truck unattended, except when parked in areas designated for that 
purpose or approved by RTAA Airport Operations. 
 
No person shall park a Fuel Truck closer than ten (10) feet from another Fuel Truck or closer than 
fifty (50) feet from any building or Aircraft not being fueled or defueled. 
 
No person shall conduct Fueling operations inside hangars or enclosed buildings. 
 
No person shall stage a Fuel Truck in or around an Aircraft safety envelope earlier than fifteen (15) 
minutes prior to the actual arrival time of the Aircraft to be fueled and Fuel Trucks shall be removed 
promptly upon completion of the Fueling. 
 
Fuel Trucks shall be positioned during Fueling operations with a clear path to permit rapid removal 
in the event of an emergency, minimizing the need for reverse and to facilitate egress upon 
completion of Fueling. 
 
No person shall operate a fuel truck in reverse, unless he/she has verified the route of travel is free 
of obstacles and a ground spotter is employed and within visual contact during the maneuver at all 
times. 
 
Fuel Trucks shall be removed from the Aircraft safety envelope as soon as servicing is completed. 
 
No person shall drive a Fuel Truck under any portion of the terminal building or a passenger 
loading bridge. Fuel Trucks are authorized on the outer VSR only. Any deviation must be approved 
by RTAA Airport Operations.   
 
No passenger Aircraft Fueling is permitted on either the North Ramp (N1-N4) or the South Ramp 
(S1-S4) remote parking spots except as authorized by RTAA Airport Operations. 
 
SECTION 5  GROUND EQUIPMENT FUELING OPERATIONS 
 
5.1  GENERAL GROUND EQUIPMENT FUELING RULES 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 32 of 79 

The following rules for safe diesel-only Fueling of ground equipment will be followed by Fueling 
agents and personnel who handle fuel at RNO: 
 
Fueling Prohibitions 
 
No ground equipment shall be refueled or have fuel drained while an engine on said ground 
equipment is running or is being heated or while the ground equipment is in an enclosed area. No 
gasoline may be used for refueling ground equipment except at the fuel farm. 
 
Permitted Refueling Operations 
 
Fueling with diesel-only fuel of Operator’s ground service equipment shall be by contract with an 
authorized Airport fuel provider holding an agreement with the RTAA, or using an approved Fuel 
Truck properly registered in the name of the Operator and licensed, or using an approved mobile 
fuel cart for such purposes and certified by ARFF as to its safety, operated by qualified, trained, 
and licensed (as necessary) personnel of Operator, only at locations and under conditions as 
approved by the RTAA. 
 
Refueling Areas 
 
Open refueling for ground equipment shall be handled no less than 50 feet from the nearest 
building.  
  
Fire Extinguishers 
 
Adequate fire extinguishers shall be carried on all Fueling equipment, in accordance with NFPA 
Code 407, and must be within reach of personnel during fuel servicing operations. Fuel attendants 
shall be trained in the use of the available fire extinguishing equipment they might be expected to 
use. 
 
Electrical Operations   
 
During Fueling for any ground equipment, no person shall operate any cellphone, radio transmitter 
or receiver or switch the transmitter or receiver on or off during Fueling unless said radio 
transmitter or receiver is designed specifically for such environment and complies with NFPA 
Code 407.  
 
No person shall operate systems or switch electrical appliances on or off during Fueling, nor shall 
any person use any material or equipment which is likely to cause a spark or ignition within fifty 
(50) feet. 
 
Fueling shall not occur while thunderstorm activity is within three (3) miles of the Airport (as 
verified by the Airport Duty Manager). 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 33 of 79 

Parking Areas 
 
Fuelers shall not park at RNO except in areas designated by the President/CEO. Fuelers must park 
at least 10 feet apart and a minimum of 50 feet from the nearest building.   
       
No Fueler shall be parked on any area of the AOA except in RTAA-designated areas. Fuelers out 
of service more than 60 days will be removed from RNO and, if not so removed by the Operator, 
shall be removed by the RTAA at the Operator’s expense. 
  
Equipment Markings 
 
Each Fueler shall be conspicuously marked on all four sides of the vehicle with the words 
flammable, non-smoking, and type of fuel in letters of contrasting color at least three inches high, 
and a DOT-UN number placard. Each vehicle will also have the wording “Emergency Shut Off” 
and other appropriate operating instructions at the location(s) of emergency operating devices in 
letters at least two inches high. 
 
Equipment Conditions 
 
Fueling equipment shall meet all applicable FAA, National Fire Protection and Federal Oil 
Pollution Prevention regulations and specifications, and shall be maintained in a safe, sound, and 
non-leaking condition. The Fueling equipment shall be equipped with adequate and appropriate 
filling devices, emergency fuel shut-off and grounding/bonding cables. 
 
Fuel Grade  
 
Diesel fuel only for ground equipment unless refueled at the fuel farm. Each fuel storage tank and 
Fueling equipment shall be conspicuously marked with the identification of diesel fuel being stored 
or handled. 
 
5.2  PERSONNEL TRAINING 
 
Each Fueling agent must be qualified, trained, and licensed (as necessary) personnel of the 
Operator or of the Operator’s authorized Airport fuel provider holding an agreement with the 
RTAA. ARFF may check any refueling operation at any time for compliance by personnel.       
 
5.3  STORAGE AREAS 
 
Storage areas shall only be at locations and under conditions as approved by the RTAA. 
 
5.4  FUELING EQUIPMENT INSPECTIONS 
 
A regular inspection of the Fueling equipment shall be conducted daily and a written record of 
these inspections shall be kept on file with the Operator for one year and shall be available for 
review by the RTAA upon request. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 34 of 79 

5.5  FUEL SPILLS 
 
Any spill during ground handler equipment Fueling shall be handled in accordance with Section 
4.6. 
  
Operator is responsible for the control, containment, and clean-up of all fuel spills and fuel 
absorbent materials. Reporting and documentation of any spill incident is an RTAA requirement 
and all spills must be immediately reported to Aircom (775) 328-6600.  
 
SECTION 6  AIRSIDE VEHICLE AND GROUND SERVICE 
EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS  
 
6.1  GENERAL 
 
The RNO Rules and Regulations shall govern the control of personnel and Motor Vehicles in the 
AOA at RNO, except the area leased by the Nevada Air National Guard. The RNO Rules and 
Regulations do not supersede NRS 484A-484E Traffic Laws but address the unique driving 
environment in the AOA. 
 
6.2  AUTHORITY OF RTAA AIRPORT OPERATIONS AND AIRPORT 
POLICE 
 
It is the duty of RTAA Airport Operations and RTAA Police Department to enforce all Airside rules 
and regulations. RTAA Airport Operations and RTAA Police Department may divert from these 
Airside rules and regulations as needed to enforce any portion or part of these Airside rules and 
regulations. No person shall fail or refuse to comply with any lawful order or direction of any 
RTAA Police Officer or RTAA Airport Duty Manager while he/she is performing their duties in 
the enforcement of these regulations. 
 
In order to handle emergency situations and to safeguard or serve the best interest of the public, 
the President/CEO or designee, may suspend enforcement of all or portions of these Airside rules 
and regulations. Such suspension shall be effective for only so long as the President/CEO or 
designee orders and following such suspension of regulations, or any operation that was 
suspended, shall go back into full force and effect. 
 
RTAA Airport Operations and Airport Police are hereby authorized to direct all safety by voice, 
hand, or signal in the event of an emergency, or to expedite traffic, or to safeguard Pedestrians. 
RTAA Airport Operations and Airport Police may direct traffic as conditions may require, 
notwithstanding the provisions of the traffic laws set forth herein. 
 
ARFF, when at the scene of a fire, medical, or Aircraft incident or accident may direct or assist in 
directing traffic at the scene or in the immediate vicinity.  
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 35 of 79 

6.3  VEHICLE OPERATIONS DIRECTLY RELATED TO AVIATION 
ACTIVITIES 
 
No person shall operate, or cause to be operated, any Motor Vehicle within the AOA unless the 
motor vehicle operation is required by, and directly related to, an aviation activity on the Airport, 
a business of the RTAA, a tenant or authorized sub-tenant of the RTAA, or a person or entity 
otherwise engaged in an activity authorized by the RTAA. 
 
6.4  UNAUTHORIZED SIGNS, SIGNALS OR MARKINGS  
 
No person shall place or display in the AOA, any unauthorized sign, signal, marking or device 
which resembles or imitates an official traffic control device or signal, or which attempts to direct 
the movement of traffic unless approved and coordinated with RTAA Airport Operations. 
 
This section does not prohibit the display in or on leasehold property giving useful directional 
information and of a type that cannot be mistaken for official traffic control devices. 
 
6.5  AIRFIELD LICENSE, PERMIT AND SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 
 
Driving in the AOA at RNO is a privilege that may be suspended or revoked by the President/CEO 
or their representative. Suspension or revocation of driving privileges shall be in accordance with 
Section 10 of the RNO Rules and Regulations.    
 
Driver Requirements  
 
All Airport employees operating a Motor Vehicle in the AOA must meet the following 
requirements to obtain or renew AOA driving privileges: 
 

• Must possess a valid Driver’s License; 
• Must possess a valid RNO Security Access Badge with AOA driving privileges. 

Driving and escort privileges are indicated by an endorsement depicted on the RNO 
Security Access Badge as shown below. Non-Movement Area Drivers must have an 
“N” endorsement on their badge; Movement Area Drivers an “A” endorsement. 

• Must successfully complete relevant training modules administered by the RTAA as set 
forth in the Non-Movement Area Driver’s Training Program and/or the Movement Area 
Driver’s Training Program  

 
Specific for Movement Area Drivers: 
 

• Must successfully complete all applicable training modules set forth in the Movement 
Area Drivers Training Program which can be found on Renoairport.com website or 
provided by RTAA Airport Operations. The tests consist of questions based upon the 
RNO Rules and Regulations and applicable FAA Regulations including a practical 
driving test administered by an Airport Duty Manager. 

 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 36 of 79 

• The RTAA Airport Duty Manager has the sole discretion to judge the proficiency of a 
Movement Area driver on all items listed in the Movement Area Driver Training 
Program. A driver that fails the written driving test or practical driving test must wait a 
minimum of 24 hours before re-testing.  

 
Exemptions to Driver Requirements  
 
The following persons, while meeting the qualifications set forth, shall be exempt from the Non-
Movement Area Driver’s requirements as noted below: 
 

• Members of the U.S. Military/National Guard while on duty and while operating on 
the flight line of the Air National Guard Base and in Non-Movement Areas of the AOA 
only. 

• Persons under direct escort by an individual with an “E” on their badge and meeting 
the license and permit requirements of this section for the appropriate area being 
accessed.  

• FAA Aviation Safety Inspectors on official business. 
• Persons operating emergency and non-airport emergency vehicles responding to 

Aircraft, facility, or medical emergencies, once authorized by RTAA Airport Operations 
and in coordination with ATCT. 

• Persons operating private Motor Vehicles exclusively in an FBO/GA designated area.  
This does not include perimeter roads connecting different FBO properties.  

 
Vehicle Requirements  
 
All Motor Vehicles operating in the AOA that are permanently assigned to operate at RNO must 
pass a vehicle inspection, be issued an vehicle permit and have the sticker attached to the rear of 
the vehicle, behind the Driver on the bumper or just above where a bumper would be where it is 
not obscured by other signs or other parts of the vehicle. 
 
Any airline or tenant adding or replacing a Motor Vehicle, i.e. tugs or belt loaders, to their inventory 
must also pass a vehicle inspection performed by RTAA Airport Operations, must obtain an orange 
vehicle permit, and attach the orange vehicle permit as noted above, before they are permitted to 
drive or park the piece of equipment on the AOA. 
 
Contact RTAA Airport Operations to schedule a vehicle inspection.  
 
Vehicle Permits 
 
Once a Motor Vehicle has passed the vehicle inspection and has received the orange vehicle permit, 
that vehicle must be maintained in the same condition as the time of inspection; i.e. headlight(s) 
operational, inflated tires, no fluid leaks, etc. 
 
No Motor Vehicle or other equipment shall be operated within the AOA unless the Motor Vehicle 
or equipment is in safe operating condition and repaired in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
specifications and accepted industry standards. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 37 of 79 

No Motor Vehicle shall be altered from the original manufacturer’s standards. At a minimum, all 
Motor Vehicles and other equipment shall be equipped with the safety equipment and devices 
specified in this section and all other applicable codes. 
 
Trailers, semi-trailers, and carts shall not be permitted on the AOA unless they are equipped with 
reflector buttons and proper brakes so that neither Aircraft propeller/Jet Blast nor wind will cause 
them to become free rolling when disengaged from a towing vehicle. 
 
Positive locking couplings are required on all towed equipment. 
 
Lights and Reflectors For Vehicles and Other Ground Service Equipment 
 
The following are minimum safety lights, warning lights, and reflector requirements. 
Headlights/lights required for Motor Vehicles by this section shall be of enough illumination to 
ensure safe operations during Night hours and low visibility. Motor Vehicle headlights must be 
operational prior to Night and remain operational until after Night.  
 

• All Motor Vehicles operated within the AOA except Motor Vehicles designated for only 
one headlight, shall be equipped with two (2) functioning headlights and one or more 
taillights and brake lights. Tow tugs and other specialized Ramp units that are 
manufactured with taillights only need not be specially equipped with brake lights. 
Headlights and taillights must be illuminated while operating at Night. 
 

• All Motor Vehicles, other than emergency vehicles operating on the Movement Area of 
the AOA shall display an overhead amber flashing and rotating light at all times. During 
the daylight hours, a large International orange and white checkered flag (minimum 36 
in x 36 in) may be substituted for an amber flashing light. 

 
• Baggage and cargo carts shall be equipped with reflectors or reflective tape installed or 

placed in such a manner as to be visible from the front, sides, and rear of the cart (amber 
color on the front and front sides, red on the rear and rear sides). Reflectors shall be 
standard truck type; reflective tape shall have an area of not less than sixteen (16) 
square inches with a minimum width of two (2) inches. 

 
Brake Requirements for Motor Vehicles and Ground Service Equipment  
 
Motor Vehicles operating within the AOA shall be equipped with a properly functioning brake 
system in accordance with generally recognized industry standards for that type of vehicle. 
 
Baggage carts, cargo carts, and other equipment requiring a tow vehicle shall be equipped with 
properly functioning independent brake systems. 
 
Vehicle Windows and Mirrors 
 
Motor Vehicles operating within the AOA shall be equipped with at least one mirror adjusted to 
give the operator a clear view behind the vehicle for a distance of at least two hundred (200) linear 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 38 of 79 

feet and peripheral view of 180 degrees. Tugs, carts, belt loaders, or power units being towed need 
not be equipped with a mirror. 
 
Windows, including windshields of Motor Vehicles or other equipment, shall be free of cracks, 
blisters, discoloration, signs, stickers, or other defects or materials that block or cause distortion 
of the Operator’s vision. 
 
Vehicle Marking Standards 
 
Motor Vehicles and all ground service equipment operating within the AOA shall be properly 
marked with the company/agency name/logo displayed on both sides of the vehicle. For visibility 
the company/agency name/logo must be a minimum of ten (10) inches in height. Magnetized signs 
are acceptable. 
 
Aircraft Fuelers shall conform to the latest edition of IFC and NFPA Code 407 labeling 
requirements. 
 
Vehicle Maintenance 
 
No person shall service, paint, overhaul, or otherwise maintain a Motor Vehicle or other equipment 
within the AOA except in an area approved for that use by RTAA Airport Operations and the 
Airport Economic Development Department. Immediate emergency repairs required to move a 
stalled Motor Vehicle or other equipment are permitted. 
 
No Aircraft or Motor Vehicle maintenance will be authorized on Aircraft parking spots N1 – N5 
(North Ramp) or S1 – S5 (South Ramp) except as authorized by RTAA Airport Operations. 
 
6.6. MOVEMENT AREA RULES  
 
Movement Area Drivers and Motor Vehicles must also abide by all rules set for in 6.X Non-
Movement Area Rules.   
 
Movement Area Driver Conduct 
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle in the Movement Area without meeting all the 
requirements of the AOA License, Permit, and Safety Requirements and have legitimate business 
in those areas.   
 
All Driver Conduct Rules set forth in 6.9 Non-MOVEMENT area are applicable to Movement 
Area Drivers. 
 
At NO time is it permitted to cross the Movement Area Boundary Line without the following: 
 

• Explicit permission for clearance on designated surface by ATCT via VHF two-way 
radio on frequency 121.9 MHz “Ground”; 

• Movement Area Driving Permit and Licensing requirements; 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 39 of 79 

• The “A” driving endorsement on the RNO Security Access Badge unless under escort 
by someone who has both the “A” and “E” (for escort) endorsements on their badge.     

 
Any unpermitted entry into the Movement Area, including accidental entrance, constitutes a 
“Surface Incident” and must be reported to RTAA Airport Operations immediately.   
 
A Surface Incident will result in penalties set forth in Section 10 of this document.   
 
Non- Movement Area Drivers shall act in accordance with the guidelines set forth in the RNO 
Non-Movement Area Driving Program in conjunction with the RNO Rules and Regulations set 
forth in this document at all times or be subject to penalties set forth in Section 10.  
 
Airport Familiarization  
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle adjacent to, on, or across any Aircraft Movement Area 
until the Airside Driver has successfully passed the License and Permit Requirements, has the 
Movement Area endorsement “N” on their RNO Security Access Badge, and demonstrates 
proficiency to the satisfaction of an Airport Duty Manager in the following topics and skills: 
 

• Airport layout, including identification of Runways and Taxiways 
• Runway and Taxiway markings, signage, and lighting  
• Effective communication on a VHF two- way radio with the ATCT and use the 

International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) aviation alphabet (below) and proper 
aviation phraseology and etiquette 

• Runway Incursions and surface incidents and their prevention 
• All material contained in the RNO Movement Area Drivers Handbook and Training 

Program.   
• Working knowledge of the Letters of Agreement between the ATCT and RTAA; 

Coordination and Control Procedures LOA and Runway Safety Areas LOA.  
 

Light Gun Signals  
 
Movement Area Drivers must understand the following Radio Failure procedures and the meaning 
of traffic control light-gun signals to communicate with the ATCT. 
 
In the event of a radio failure, after the Motor Vehicle has been cleared onto the movement area 
and a cell phone is available, contact Aircom at 775-328-6600. 
 
In the event of a radio failure, after the Motor Vehicle has been cleared into the Movement Area, 
and there is no cell phone available, the Driver should pull over with the Motor Vehicle facing the 
ATCT and flash the headlights. The movement of the Motor Vehicle will be controlled by the 
ATCT using a portable “light-gun,” a directional spotlight that can be illuminated in red, white, or 
green, as desired, or the ATCT may call RTAA Airport Operations to escort the Motor Vehicle out 
of the Movement Area. 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 40 of 79 

Radio Communication with Air Traffic Control Tower 
 
Movement Area Drivers must request clearance from the ATCT prior to entering Runways, 
Taxiways, or safety areas. While in these areas, the Movement Area Driver must monitor FAA 
tower frequencies 121.9 MHz “Ground” or 118.7 MHz “Tower.” 
 
All Motor Vehicles operating on Taxiways, runways, or safety areas must be equipped with a 
functioning VHF two-way radio.  
 
Movement Area Drivers will be trained by their respective department using the Movement Area 
Driver Training Handbook and Program. Drivers will be tested by an Airport Duty Manager during 
their practical driving test on the proper language and sequence of steps to communicate with the 
ATCT. For examples of proper communication, please refer to the Movement Area Driver Training 
Program.  
 
Vehicle/Pedestrian Deviations  
 
Vehicle/Pedestrian Deviation (V/PD’s) can also be known as Runway Incursions or Surface 
Incidents  
 
A V/PD is defined as any entry or movement on the movement area by a Motor Vehicle (including 
Aircraft operated by non-pilots) or Pedestrian that has not been authorized by air traffic control. If 
you commit or observe a potential V/PD you must immediately report this to Aircom at 775-328-
6600. Failure to do so is a violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations subject to enforcement 
consistent with the terms of Section 10. 
 
All organizations, companies and agencies with employees who hold or intend to hold Airside 
driving privileges on either movement and Non-Movement Areas, are encouraged to provide 
additional orientation and annual training on safe driving practices, and specifically educate 
Drivers on Runway/ Taxiway Vehicle Pedestrian Deviations (VPD) and safe driving practices, to 
reinforce training received by the RTAA.  
 
Aircraft Tow and Brake Ride  
 
Runway towing is a very precise operation and one that can be hazardous if you aren't following 
the proper taxiing procedures. There are many moving parts and ever-changing conditions that you 
have to account for at all times. 
 
Utilize the appropriate Aircraft tug, test the Aircraft brake system, utilize appropriate checklist to 
prepare Aircraft to be transported, ensure qualified operators are in place, operate at a slow and 
steady speed, park Aircraft efficiently, utilize the proper parking equipment (chocks), maintain 
good communication with tug Driver and ATCT.  
 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 41 of 79 

Distracted Driving  
 
Distracted driving on an airfield can have serious consequences and should be avoided. Some 
common distractions include using a cell phone, eating food, adjusting music and talking with 
passengers. All airfield Drivers should have the airfield and its surroundings as their primary focus 
when driving. 
 
Movement Area Vehicle Requirements  
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle in the Movement Area without prior approval from RTAA 
Airport Operations. The Driver must meet all the requirements of the AOA License and Permit 
Requirements and have legitimate business in those areas. The Motor Vehicle must meet all of the 
requirements specified in 6.33 SAFETY STANDARDS FOR MOTOR VEHICLES AND 
GROUND SERVICE EQUIPMENT. In addition, the Motor Vehicle must be equipped with a 
functioning VHF two way-radio and have a mounted yellow beacon or must be escorted by RTAA 
Airport Operations or designee. 
 
All Motor Vehicles accessing the Movement Area must have a current copy of the Airport Diagram 
and a copy of the Light Gun signals in their Motor Vehicle. It is the responsibility of the Motor 
Vehicle operator to ensure a copy of each items resides in the Motor Vehicle as part of the daily 
user check.  
 
Movement Area Drivers shall act in accordance with the guidelines set forth in the RNO Movement 
Area Driving Program in conjunction with the RNO Rules and Regulations set forth in this 
document at all times or be subject to Notice of Violation and respective action as set forth in 
Section 10 Enforcement.  
 
6.7  NON-MOVEMENT AREA RULES  
 
Non-Movement Area Driver Conduct 
 
Speed Limit 
 

• No Motor Vehicle shall exceed the maximum speed limit of fifteen (15) miles per hour 
in the Non-Movement Area, or in the proximity of where Aircraft are parked, stored or 
taxing. 

• The maximum speed limit on all other areas of the AOA shall be twenty-five (25) miles 
per hour. 

• Drivers are responsible to operate at a slower speed when conditions warrant.  
• Aircraft under tow shall not be towed at a speed of more than five (5) miles per hour 

or that of a brisk walk. 
 
 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 42 of 79 

Vehicle Accidents In the AOA 
 
Any Motor Vehicle Driver involved in or witness to an accident on the AOA resulting in damage 
to any Motor Vehicle, Aircraft, or other property driven, occupied, or attended by any person, or 
which involved a person must: 
 

• Report any accident resulting in bodily injury, fire, or a hazardous material spill directly 
to Aircom Emergency Hotline 775-328-6999. Provide the location, number of Motor 
Vehicles involved, type of accident and nature of injuries. Remain at the scene of the 
accident until RTAA Airport Operations and/or Airport Police Officers arrive, and you 
are released from the scene. 

• Report any non-injury accident to Aircom at 775-328-6600 provide the location, type 
of accident, and number of Motor Vehicles involved. Remain at the scene of the 
accident until RTAA Airport Operations and/or Airport Police Officers arrive, and you 
are released from the scene. 

• Render reasonable assistance to any injured. 
• Present RNO Security Access Badge and a valid Driver’s License upon request to any 

Airport Police Officer or Airport Duty Manager investigating the accident. 
 
Right of Way To Aircraft  
 
A taxiing Aircraft, an Aircraft under tow, or Aircraft during push-back from a gate or hard stand 
always has the Right-of-Way over Motor Vehicles. Any Motor Vehicle Driver interfering with an 
Aircraft (moving or non-moving) is in violation of these RNO Rules and Regulations and subject 
to the enforcement provisions of Section 10. 
 
Emergency Vehicles  
 
Airside Drivers shall give way to all ARFF, Airport Police, and/or RTAA Airport Operations 
vehicles with flashing red, red/blue, blue/white, or yellow overhead lights. 
 
Reckless or Careless Driving/Operations  
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle within the AOA in a reckless or careless manner. A 
reckless or careless manner is one that intentionally or through negligence threatens the life or 
safety of any person or threatens damage or destruction to property. 
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle or other equipment within the AOA while under the 
influence of alcohol or any other drug that impairs or may impair the operator’s physical abilities 
(“intoxicants”). 
 
Any person observed driving on the AOA in a reckless or careless manner or under the influence 
of intoxicants is in violation of these RNO Rules and Regulations and will be subject to the 
enforcement provisions of Section 10. 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 43 of 79 

Driving In the Aircraft Safety Envelope  
 
No Motor Vehicle shall pass under any portion of an Aircraft or operate within the marked Aircraft 
safety envelope at any designated air carrier gate when occupied by an Aircraft except for Motor 
Vehicles engaged in servicing an Aircraft or Emergency Response vehicles as deemed necessary 
when responding to an emergency.  
 
Vehicle Service Roads (VSR) 
 
In the AOA designated Vehicle Service Roads (VSR) are delineated by white paint. All airfield 
Drivers must remain in the designated VSR around the concourses. The VSR’s provide wingtip 
clearance from parked and taxiing Aircraft. Airside Drivers must remain in the VSR until adjacent 
to the appropriate Aircraft parking gate or hardstand parking area. 
 
Driving through an empty Aircraft envelope is not permitted. 
 
The perimeter VSRs are limited to Motor Vehicles with a maximum gross weight of 18,000 lbs. 
per axle or “street legal” loading, whichever is less. 
 
Carts, Pallets, and Igloos 
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle towing more than four (4) carts in a single train. 
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle towing more than three (3) loaded pallets or igloos or 
more than five (5) empty pallets or igloos. 
 
Unauthorized Riding  
 
No person shall ride on any Motor Vehicle or upon any portion of the vehicle not designed or 
intended for use by passengers. 
 
No luggage, freight or equipment shall ride on any Motor Vehicle or upon any portion of the Motor 
Vehicle not designed or intended for said use.  
 
Brake Set  
 
All Fuel Truck vehicle operators shall set emergency brakes and shut off the ignition before leaving 
the vehicle. When the vehicle engine is running, wheel chocks must be placed before leaving the 
vehicle.  
 
Brakes on other towable equipment must be set whenever disengaged from the tow vehicle. 
 
Restricted Parking  
 

• No parking within 4 feet of a perimeter fence. This shall be strictly enforced.  
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 44 of 79 

• No person shall park or leave unattended a Motor Vehicle or other equipment on the 
AOA that interferes with the use of a facility by others or that prevents the safe 
movement or passage of Aircraft, emergency vehicles, or other Motor Vehicles or 
equipment. 

 
• No person shall park or leave unattended a Motor Vehicle or other equipment in a 

manner that may interfere with or prevent a Fueler’s immediate egress from an Aircraft 
or any location in the event of an emergency. 

 
• No person shall park or leave unattended a Motor Vehicle or other equipment with the 

engine running, unless it is placed in the parking gear with emergency brake engaged.   
 

• No person shall park or leave unattended a Motor Vehicle or other equipment within 
fifteen(15) feet of a fire hydrant or in such a manner as to prohibit a fire vehicle from 
reaching the fire hydrant. 

 
• No Motor Vehicles or equipment other than tow tugs and gasoline powered auxiliary 

engines shall be parked or operated within a hangar. 
 

• No person shall park in areas except in such places and for such periods of time as may 
be prescribed or permitted by RTAA Airport Operations. 

 
• Parking and storage of non-aeronautical vehicles and equipment must be in compliance 

with applicable terms and agreements approved by the RTAA. 
 

• Parking spots located Airside behind baggage claim are restricted to RTAA vehicles 
only, unless specifically assigned by the RTAA. Violators will be sited and the RTAA 
reserves the right to have the vehicle removed.    

 
Use of Reverse – Backing Up Operations  
 
A Motor Vehicle that is not equipped with an operator’s seat providing 360-degree field of view 
shall not be operated in reverse, unless the operator has verified their route of travel is free of 
obstacles and a ground spotter is employed and within visual contact during the maneuver at all 
times. The back-up alarm shall be tested and verified as operational prior to use of the vehicle by 
the operator for the first time in any shift and immediately prior to attempting a backing maneuver. 
 
Ground Loading and Unloading of Passenger Aircraft  
 
No person shall operate a Motor Vehicle between a parked Aircraft and its passengers while 
Aircraft is engaged in ground loading or unloading of passengers. 
 
All requests for ground loading must be approved by RTAA Airport Operations.  
 
If loading or unloading of passengers is approved on a remote parking spot, the Airline is 
responsible for providing adequate crossing guards for foot traffic crossing the Vehicle Service 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 45 of 79 

Roads and adequate support to ensure the overall safety and security of the passengers transitioning 
between the Terminal and Aircraft.  
 
Staging of Ground Service Equipment 
 
Ground service equipment, including carts, belt loaders, ground power units, and tugs, shall not be 
staged in or around an Aircraft safety envelope earlier than fifteen (15) minutes prior to the actual 
arrival time of the Aircraft to be serviced and shall be removed promptly after Aircraft departure. 
Storing or otherwise parking ground service equipment in the safety envelope is strictly prohibited 
when there is no active Aircraft operation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Airline’s may store 
ground service equipment at an Airline’s preferential use gate, provided there are no other Airlines 
scheduled to use that gate during any period ground service equipment is stored at the gate.  
 
Clearances  
 
No person/Driver shall park vehicles, tugs, carts or any other service equipment any closer than 4 
feet from the terminal or concourse buildings. 
 
Passenger Loading Bridge Clearance  
 
No person/Driver shall operate a vehicle or combination of vehicles and/or equipment under any 
portion of a passenger loading bridge (PLB) at any time, except for Emergency Response Vehicles, 
Airport Police, RTAA Airport Operations vehicles, or authorized RTAA snow removal equipment.  
Driving under a PLB is not permitted and shall be strictly enforced. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
if there are no alternative means of ingress/egress due to a Motor Vehicle or other equipment 
blocking a clear route of travel, and a Motor Vehicle has a height that does not exceed the clearance 
of a PLB, the Motor Vehicle may travel under the PLB. 
 
Breezeway Clearance  
 
Any Driver operating a vehicle accessing a breezeway under either concourse, is responsible for 
ensuring proper vehicle clearance prior to entering the breezeway.  
 
Failure to Clear  
 
Any Driver of a vehicle that fails to clear and hits and/or damages either a PLB or breezeway under 
either concourse, will be issued a Notice of Violation, the Driver may have their driving privileges 
suspended and/or revoked in accordance with the enforcement provisions of Section 10, and the 
signatory agency will be responsible for associated cost of any/all repairs.  
 
Vehicle Gate Security  
 
When entering or exiting a SIDA gate at RNO, it is the responsibility of the Airside Driver to 
ensure that the gate is closed behind them prior to leaving. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 46 of 79 

It is the responsibility of the Airside Driver to ensure that no unauthorized vehicle or person gains 
access to the AOA while the gate is open. 
 
Use of Motorized and Non-Motorized Devices In the AOA 
 
Motorcycles, mopeds, bicycles, ebikes, scooters, skateboards, and other devices other than 
permitted vehicles approved by the RTAA license and permit process, are prohibited on the AOA.  
 
RTAA staff specifically trained and authorized to use alternative transportation devices, either 
powered or non-powered, are exempt.   
 
No person shall ride or otherwise operate a Motorcycle, moped, bicycle, ebike, skateboard, scooter, 
ebike or other transport vehicles or devices intended to move people or cargo, whether motorized 
or human powered within the AOA except with the prior approval of RTAA Airport Operations.  
 
Driving Over a Fire Hose  
 
A vehicle shall not be driven over any unprotected fire department hose used at any fire, Aircraft 
incident, or alarm of fire or during practice runs without the consent of the ARFF official in 
command. 
 
Foreign Object Debris (FOD) 
 
It is the responsibility of all Airside Drivers to remove FOD when driving on the VSR in and 
around the terminal and cargo Ramps. If you see FOD in an area you are not authorized to enter, 
call Aircom at 775-328-6600. 
 
Motor Must Be Shut Off When Supply Tank Is Being Fueled  
 
No person shall leave the engine of a Motor Vehicle or motorized equipment running while the 
supply tank of the equipment is being filled with fuel. 
 
HAZMAT Spills  
 
Both the fuel provider and Aircraft ground handler are responsible for the control, containment, 
and clean-up of all fuel spills and fuel absorbent materials.  
Non-fuel related HAZMAT spills such as blue juice, glycol, and hydraulic fluid, the respective 
airline or ground handler is responsible for the containment of the spill and the associated clean-
up.  
 
Reporting and documentation of any HAZMAT spill incident is an RTAA requirement, and must 
be immediately reported to Aircom (775) 328-6600. 
 
Any HAZMAT spill that enters the storm drain system will be the responsibility of the entity 
causing the spill. Contaminants shall be removed immediately. Aircom and the Environmental 
Program Manager shall be immediately advised of the spill and the corrective action being taken.  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 47 of 79 

The RTAA reserves the right to require an environmental or hazardous waste disposal professional 
to remediate the spill.  
 
Storage of Motor Vehicles and Ground Service Equipment  
 
Motor Vehicles and other Ground Service Equipment shall not be stored on the AOA except in 
areas designated by RTAA Airport Economic Development or RTAA Airport Operations. Vehicles 
and equipment stored in designated areas must be in good operating condition so they may be 
moved without delay upon request.  
 
Any Motor Vehicle found to be out of useful service for more than 7 days may be removed from 
the AOA. Motor Vehicles and other equipment determined to be abandoned by RTAA may be 
removed from the AOA by the RTAA at any time and any costs borne by the RTAA for the removal 
may be billed to the owner. 
 
Vehicles stored in designated parking areas shall be moved for pavement maintenance purposes 
upon request from RTAA Airport Operations or RTAA Airport Economic Development. 
 
Fixed Base Operator Responsibilities and Liabilities  
 
All rules and regulations under Section 6 -Vehicle Operations and Ground Service Equipment in 
the AOA, shall apply to FBO Motor Vehicles operating on all FBO areas. Each FBO is responsible 
for ensuring that every Driver of a Motor Vehicle upon their leasehold is familiar and complies 
with this regulation. Motor Vehicles of hangar tenants and any other Motor Vehicles entering an 
FBO’s area must be properly insured and registered and be operated by a licensed Driver; proof of 
this must be provided on request. 
 
Any Motor Vehicle operating within an FBO area is the direct responsibility of the FBO, and the 
FBO shall be liable for all injury or death to persons or damage or destruction of property caused 
by the Motor Vehicle. 
 
6.8 VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES  
 
The following matrix classifies Airside driving offenses on the AOA into categories. The RTAA 
reserves the right to assign violation level to any violation not listed. Investigations, assigned 
penalties, and the appeal process are further explained in Section 10.  
 
The RTAA will not be held liable for any impact upon employment status resulting from 
suspension or revocation of AOA driving privileges. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 48 of 79 

Airside Driving Violations Matrix 
This list is not all inclusive.  

VIOLATIONS 
Driving over the speed limit 

 

Failure to obey directions of an Airport Duty Manager, RTAA Police Officer, ARFF, RTAA Airport 
Operations Specialist or an authorized flagman 

Failure to meet insurance requirements 

Failure to secure load 

Failure to use Vehicle Service Road 

Improper Parking 

Speeding 

Careless Driving 

MAJOR VIOLATIONS 
Driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs 

 Runway Incursion 

Failure to yield to an Aircraft 

Vehicle/Pedestrian Deviation 

 
SECTION 7 AIRPORT SECURITY 
 
7.1  SECURITY OVERVIEW  
 
RTAA’s Security Rules provide for the safety and security of persons and property traveling 
through the Airport. The Security Rules also work to ensure RTAA’s compliance with all legally 
mandated requirements pertaining to the Airport. Many Security Rules covered in this section are 
mandated by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security by and through the Transportation 
Security Administration (TSA). Failure to comply with Security Rules, the Airport Security 
Program, and all applicable federal regulations may result in enforcement action by RTAA and 
potential federal civil penalties.  
  
For purposes of this section, Restricted Areas refers to the Secured Area, the Security Identification 
Display Area, the Sterile Area and the Airport Operations Area. 
 
7.2  COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
Federal Security Regulations 
 
All persons in possession of, or applying for, an RNO Security Access Badge, and those with 
authority to authorize the application for possession of RNO Security Access Badges must comply 
with federal Transportation Security Regulations found in 49 CFR 1520 “Protection of Sensitive 
Security Information”, 49 CFR 1540 “Civil Aviation Security-General Rules” and 49 CFR 1542 
“Airport Security”.  These regulations shall be considered as part of the Security Rules. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 49 of 79 

Eligibility 
 
Eligibility for an RNO Security Access Badge will be determined by vetting applicant and existing 
badge-holders’ criminal history against TSA’s list of disqualifying crimes (49 CFR 1542.209). 
Applicants and existing badge-holders will also be subject to ongoing Security Threat Assessments 
and criminal history reviews to determine continued eligibility to possess an RNO Security Access 
Badge. In the interest of security, the RTAA has discretion to deny or revoke an RNO Security 
Access Badge at any time by written notice and explanation to the applicant or badge-holder. If 
the RTAA determines that the applicant’s or badge-holder’s past or present behavior poses a current 
or potential threat to Airport security or public safety, the RTAA may, in its sole discretion, deny 
or revoke an RNO Security Access Badge. The badge-holder or applicant may appeal such 
decisions by following the process set forth in Section 10.  
  
Security Violation Enforcement 
 
Persons who are in violation of Security Rules shall be subject to enforcement and penalties as set 
forth in Section 10. The Airport Security Coordinator and/or the Rules and Regulations Committee 
reserve the right to exercise reasonable discretion in determining the class of Security Violation 
and enforcement action prescribed, based on the circumstances. 
  
Suspended or Revoked Access 
 
Any person whose RNO Security Access Badge access privileges have been suspended or revoked, 
as provided in this section, is prohibited from accessing the Restricted Area (Secured 
Area/SIDA/Sterile Area/AOA) with the intent to work at the Airport. Violators of the Security 
Rules may be subject to a civil fine from TSA and arrest for criminal trespass.  
 
7.3  RNO SECURITY ACCESS BADGES  
 
An RNO Security Access Badge is required to work in Restricted Areas of the Airport. No person 
or Motor Vehicle may access or be in any Restricted Area of the Airport unless they are in strict 
compliance with Security Rules. RNO Security Access Badge use, other than for business purposes 
and while on duty, must be approved by the badge holder’s Supervisor/Manager.  
 
Types of RNO Security Access Badges 
 
RNO has five (5) types of Security Access Badges that are issued to individuals who work at the 
Airport and whose need for access to Restricted Areas has been verified by an Authorized 
Signatory (see 7.4). The RNO Security Access Badges are:   
  

• SIDA Full (Green): Allows access in all areas of the Airport - including the Aircraft safety 
envelope.  

• SIDA Limited (Blue): Allows access in all areas of the Airport - excluding the Aircraft 
safety envelope.  

• Cargo SIDA (Gray): Allows access to cargo areas only  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 50 of 79 

• Sterile Area (Orange): Allows access to sterile area (concourses past security screening) 
only.  

• AOA ID: Allows access to specific area of the AOA in which their company or FBO is 
located.  

  
RTAA may assign other colors to designate individuals working on special, short-term projects.  
 
RNO Security Access Badge Application Requirements 
 
Applicants for an RNO Security Access Badge must: 
 

• Provide a completed RNO Security Access Badge application signed by an Authorized 
Signatory (see 7.4). 

• Produce TSA-required specific forms of identification that verify an individual’s identity 
and work authorization.  (See RNO website for list of acceptable IDs) 

• Submit to and pass a fingerprint-based criminal background check (not required for AOA 
ID) 

• Submit to and pass an identity-based TSA security threat assessment 
• Successfully complete security training specific to their badge type delivered via 

interactive employee training system 
 
Approved Identification Not Issued By RNO 
 
In addition to RNO Security Access Badges, RNO also recognizes the following credentials to 
allow individuals to be unescorted in some Restricted Areas of the airport: 
 
Aircraft Operator Issued Security Badges 
 
Security badges issued and controlled by passenger Aircraft Operators with an approved Aircraft 
Operator Standard Security Program, under 49 CFR 1544 or 49 CFR 1546, are authorized to be in 
the Secured Area/SIDA under the following conditions: 
 

• Aircraft operator crew identification media issued to flight crewmembers, cabin 
crewmembers and loadmasters of Aircraft operators is recognized as an approved 
media for unescorted access in the Secured Area/SIDA with the following 
requirements: 
 
o Access is limited to the immediate vicinity of the Aircraft to which flight crew or 

cabin crew is assigned; the Aircraft operator’s operations office or the equivalent; 
and points in-between.   

o All flight and cabin crewmembers must be in uniform and wear an Aircraft operator 
issued identification medium, readily visible above waist level. Such ID must be 
worn by the crewmember to which it was issued.   

o Escort authority is not extended to any crewmembers possessing only an Aircraft 
operator identification media 

 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 51 of 79 

• Ramp ID media issued to transient mechanics is recognized as an approved media for 
unescorted access in the Secured Area/SIDA with the following requirements:  
 
o Access is limited to the immediate vicinity of the Aircraft; the Aircraft operator’s 

operations office or the equivalent; and points in-between.  
o All Aircraft mechanics must wear an Aircraft operator issued identification 

medium, readily visible above waist level. Such ID must be worn by the mechanic 
to which it was issued.   

o Escort authority is not extended to any Aircraft mechanic possessing only an 
Aircraft operator identification media. 
 

• Foreign Air Carrier Flight or Crew Member identification media regulated under 49 CFR 
1546 is recognized as an approved media for unescorted access in the Secured Area/SIDA 
with the following requirements: 
 

o Access is limited to the immediate vicinity of the Aircraft to which flight or crew 
members are assigned and the foreign air carrier’s operations office or the 
equivalent. Access is NOT permitted between the operation office or equivalent and 
the Aircraft.  

o Foreign flight and crew members must access the Sterile Area through the TSA 
screening checkpoint if originating at RNO. Crewmembers on an inbound 
international flight that will be departing domestically on a “quick-turn” flight do 
not need to exit the SIDA or Sterile Area to be screened through a TSA screening 
checkpoint if they have not left the SIDA or Sterile Area before re-boarding the 
Aircraft.  

o Foreign flight and crew members must be in uniform and wear an air carrier issued 
identification medium, readily visible above waist level. Such ID must be worn by 
the crewmember to which it was issued.   

o Escort Authority is not extended to any flight crewmembers possessing only an air 
carrier-issued identification. 

 
• Military Identification: Members of NANG may be unescorted on the AOA if they are in 

uniform and if their identification has been verified by NANG personnel.  
• Federal Government Identification: Federal government employees may be unescorted on 

the AOA if on official business. Their identity and identification must be verified by an 
RTAA Airport Duty Manager. The RTAA Airport Duty Manager must escort them to/from 
the AOA area in which they will work if access to that area is through the SIDA. 

• FAA Form 110A: Aviation Safety Inspector’s Credential is recognized as authorizing FAA 
Aviation Safety Inspectors unescorted presence in all Restricted Areas of the Airport when 
conducting their assigned duties. 

 
7.4  AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES  
 
The Transportation Security Administration requires that individuals authorized to sign for RNO 
Security Access Badges or IDs for their employees or tenants be designated as “Authorized 
Signatories.” To become an Authorized Signatory (AS) an individual must: 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 52 of 79 

• Be employed by a company sponsored by an RTAA department or employee 
• Be so designated on their company’s Authorized Signatory Form 
• Undergo and pass a fingerprint based criminal history records check 
• Undergo and pass a DHS Security Threat Assessment 
• Successfully complete RNO Security Identification Display Area (SIDA) Training (if 

signing for SIDA badges) 
• On an annual basis, successfully complete the interactive training course “Authorized 

Signatory Training” 
• Complete an Authorized Signatory Form and present it to the Badging Office to begin the 

process. 
 

The AS is responsible for ensuring the integrity of the badging process for their company.  Every 
AS must: 
 

• Verify the identity documents of any employee applying for a badge 
• Verify the need and level for employees to have unescorted access to Restricted Areas of 

the airport 
• Verify the need for employees to have escort and driving privileges 
• Verify the accuracy and legibility of employee’s Badge Application Forms 
• Provide immediate notification to the Airport Badge Office (or AIRCOM outside of regular 

business hours) when an employee is terminated or resigns 
• Ensure AIRCOM is immediately notified when an employee’s badge is lost or stolen 
• Return employee badges to the Airport Badging Office to avoid $150 per badge non-

returned fee 
• Notify the Airport Badging Office when an employee badge-holder is convicted of a 

disqualifying crime 
• Respond to all requests for information from the Airport Badging Office including 

participation in a federally required audit 
 
7.5 BADGE-HOLDER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Individuals issued an RNO Security Access badge are required to follow aviation security rules 
and regulations. Badge holders will learn more about these responsibilities at training that is 
required at the time of badge issuance. Failure to uphold these rules is considered an aviation 
security violation and may result in the issuance of a Notice of Violation (the level of which is 
dependent on the severity of the event – see Section 10 for more information). Some, but not all, 
important responsibilities are reviewed below. Failure to uphold these responsibilities could affect 
your ability to maintain an RNO Security Access Badge. 
 

• Badge Display: While in the Security Identification Display Area (SIDA) RNO Security 
Access Badges must be displayed above the waist on the outermost garment.  

• No Piggybacking: As an RNO Security Access Badge holder, you may only access 
Restricted Areas of the airport by using your own badge. You should never follow another 
badge holder through an access-controlled door or let anyone else follow you through a 
door (unless you are escorting them – see 7.7 for more on Escorting). 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 53 of 79 

• Use Your Badge Only: Never give your RNO Security Access Badge to anyone else to use 
and never use anyone else’s RNO Security Access Badge – ever. 

• Lost or Stolen Badges: Immediately report a lost or stolen RNO Security Access Badge to 
Aircom. Aircom’s phone number can be found on the back of all RNO Security Access 
Badges.  

• Return Your Badge: All RNO Security Access Badge are the property of the Reno-Tahoe 
Airport Authority (RTAA) and are issued to to facilitate work at the airport. It must be 
returned the RTAA to avoid a $150 fee assessed on non-returned badges. 

• Screening: Badge holders are subject to searches and screening at any airport access-
controlled door or gate.    

• No Prohibited Items in Secured Area, SIDA, or Sterile Area: Badge holder may not bring 
most prohibited items into the Secured Area, SIDA, or Sterile Area. See 7.8 Prohibited 
Items for more detailed information on this subject. 

• Challenge: Badge holders are expected to remain alert while in the Restricted Areas. In 
particular, challenge any person seen in the Secured Area/SIDA who is not properly 
displaying their RNO Security Access Badge. Report offenders immediately to Aircom. 
Aircom’s phone number can be found on the back of all RNO Security Access Badges.  

  
7.6  ACCESS CONTROL PROCEDURES 
 
The following are pertinent rules to follow regarding door, belts and gates that lead to Restricted 
Areas: 
 

• Door Use: When using an access-controlled door, always ensure the door closes fully. This 
is especially important during high wind days when strong gusts can hold doors open. 
Never assume a door has closed fully, always check. 

• Door/Gate Alarms: If an audible alarm is sounding from a door or gate, secure the door or 
gate and contact Aircom so they can initiate an investigation.  Be alert for suspicious 
activity or people in the vicinity. 

• Open Doors/Gates: Open doors or gates are a security risk.  If a door/gate is found open, 
stand by and contact Aircom so they can initiate an investigation.  Be alert for suspicious 
activity or people in the vicinity. 

• Unattended Bag Belts: If a bag belt, either in ticketing or in bag claim, is found running 
without a badge holder in the vicinity, stand by and contact Aircom so they can initiate an 
investigation.  

• Vehicle Gates: When accessing Restricted Areas through a vehicle gate, the badge holder 
must remain in the gate’s pathway until the gate fully closes.  If the gate does not close, 
contact Aircom for assistance. 

• AOA Facilities: FBOs are responsible for access control in their leased spaces, associated 
hangars and vehicle gates. 
 

7.7  ESCORTING PROCEDURES 
 
The following are pertinent rules to follow regarding escort in Restricted Areas: 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 54 of 79 

• “E” on Badge: In order to provide escort into a Restricted Area, the badge holder’s 
company must designate the badge holder as needing escort authority for the purposes of 
employment. Once designated, an “E” will be added to the badge holder’s badge.  

• Permitted Escort: Escort authority allows a badge holder to escort individuals who do not 
have an RNO security access badge into Restricted Areas. A badge holder should have their 
company’s approval for any escort conducted. Never escort another badge holder into a 
Restricted Area. 

• Control: While there is no limitation on the number of individuals a single badge holder 
can escort, a badge holder must be able to exert and maintain positive control over anyone 
you are escorting. Escorts must always be able to see those being escorted. 

• Vehicle Escort: A badge holder must have both escort and driving authority to escort a 
Motor Vehicle into Restricted Areas. Escorted Motor Vehicles must have a company 
placard on both sides of their Motor Vehicle and the Driver must have a valid U.S. Driver’s 
License.  

  
7.8  PROHIBITED ITEMS 
 
The following items are PROHIBITED in the Secured Area, the Security Identification Display 
Area, and the Sterile Area, unless otherwise permitted by applicable law, for example the 
possession of firearms by LEOs and active members of the United States Military. This list is 
illustrative only and not all inclusive. Possessing any of these items, unless needed in the conduct 
of one’s job, when entering the Secured Area, the Security Identification Display Area, and the 
Sterile Area may be grounds for a security violation which could result in the loss of your RNO 
Security Access Badge as well as potential civil enforcement action by the Transportation Security 
Administration (TSA).   
  

• Any knife except for common plastic cutlery and non-serrated butter knives except for 
items which are reasonably justified as operationally necessary such as tools of the trade 
needed for your job, etc.;  

• Unauthorized firearms or weapon (including materials or components thereof) designed or 
intended to propel a projectile/missile of any kind (i.e. rifles, pistols, shotguns, stun guns, 
BB guns, spears, air guns, flares, replicas, pellet guns, starter pistols, magazines/clips, parts 
of guns);  

• Unauthorized Explosives including materials or components (ammunition / gun powder, 
fireworks, flares, grenades, replicas, detonators, blasting caps, etc.);  

• Axes, hatchets, swords, sabers, switchblade knife, ballistic knife, razor, slingshot, spring 
stick, metal knuckles, blackjack, sand club, sandbag, bow and arrow;  

• Bats (baseball, cricket), sticks (hockey, lacrosse, pool), golf clubs;  
• Chemical Self-defense sprays (Mace), Tasers, Stun gun devices;  
• Martial arts and close-combat styled weapons or any flailing instrument consisting of two 

or more rigid parts connected in such a manner as to allow them to swing freely (i.e. nun 
chahka, nun chuck, nun cacao, shuriken, fighting chain, night sticks, throwing stars, nun 
chucks, batons, brass knuckles, cat eyes, Billy club, black jacks, etc.);  

• Alcohol, illicit drugs or paraphernalia;  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 55 of 79 

• Fuels (including cooking fuels and any Flammable Liquid fuel) except items which are 
reasonably justified as operationally necessary such as tools of the trade needed for your 
job, etc.  

  
When in doubt, consult TSA’s Prohibited Items list https://www.tsa.gov/travel/security-
screening/whatcanibring/all-list    
 
7.9  SECURITY VIOLATION PENALTIES 
 
The following matrix classifies security violations into categories. The RTAA reserves the right to 
assign violation level to any violation not listed. Investigations, assigned penalties and the appeal 
process are further explained in Section 10.  
  

Security Violations Matrix 
VIOLATIONS 

Failure to respond to an audible alarm sounding at a door by securing the door and then 
contacting AIRCOM 
Failure to secure any SIDA door or gate by leaving it open, propped, unsecured or 
unattended. 
Failure to challenge individuals who are not displaying authorized security badges.  (The 
badge challenge should include verifying the picture and expiration date on the badge.) 
Failure to display badge at all times above the waist on the outermost garment while in 
SIDA 
Failure to be cooperative and immediately present security badge when challenged. 
Failure to obey directions of an Airport Duty Manager, RTAA Police Officer or Airport 
Operations Specialist 
Failure to immediately report any and all security violations or suspicious activity to 
AIRCOM 
Failure to continuously monitor all persons for whom they are providing an escort 
Failure, if escorting, to transfer escort authority to another authorized badge holder who 
acknowledges and assumes responsibility for the escort 
Escorting an individual who holds an access badge that provides them access to the area 
in which escort is being conducted 
Failure to ensure that any doors or gates they open are securely closed behind them 
without allowing anyone else to enter. (Following behind a person who has swiped their 
badge is known as piggybacking) 
Failure to immediately report a lost or stolen badge to AIRCOM 

MAJOR VIOLATIONS 
Bypassing TSA security checkpoint when traveling on a commercial airline flight 
(except for authorized air carrier employees) 
Willful introduction of a prohibited item into the Secured Area, the Security 
Identification Display Area, or the Sterile Area of the Airport.  

https://www.tsa.gov/travel/security-screening/whatcanibring/all-list
https://www.tsa.gov/travel/security-screening/whatcanibring/all-list


 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 56 of 79 

Escorting anyone in a manner that bypasses the TSA checkpoint process when the person 
being escorted is traveling on a commercial flight (except for authorized air carrier 
employees) 
Tampering with or attempting to bypass any security system, measure or procedure 
(including willful avoidance of TSA or RTAA employee screening) 

 
SECTION 8  FIRE SAFETY AND INSPECTIONS 
 
8.1  FIRE INSPECTIONS 
 
The fire inspection policy for all hangars at RNO is as follows: 
 
Commercial Aeronautical Operators  
Tenant is responsible for complying with all provisions of its lease or any other agreement with 
the RTAA, including but not limited to providing, maintaining, and adhering to all IFC and NFPA 
Code 407 requirements and prevention-related items. This may include, but is not limited to NFPA 
approved fire extinguishers, annual inspections, fire extinguisher testing, IFC rated oily rag 
containers, drip pans and metal garbage cans. 
 
All RTAA tenants are required to give permission and right of entry to fire code officials. Tenants 
will be subject to all guidelines set forth in Chapter 20 of the IFC, as it may be amended from time 
to time, with or without notification to tenants. 
 
Non-Commercial Hangar Tenants  
 
Non-commercial hangars are those hangars that are privately owned (located at RNO) or hangars 
leased by the RTAA intended solely for the purpose of personal and private Aircraft use and storage 
and not used for Commercial Aeronautical Activity. 
 
Tenants are responsible for providing, maintaining, and adhering to all IFC and NFPA Code 407 
requirements and fire prevention-related items. This may include, but is not limited to NFPA 
approved fire extinguishers, approved 14-gage 50-foot extension cords, annual inspections, fire 
extinguisher testing, IFC rated oily rag containers, drip pans, metal garbage cans with lid, and No 
Smoking signs. 
 
Tenant hangars are subject to annual inspection as scheduled and conducted by ARFF. All RTAA 
tenants are required to give permission and right of entry to fire code officials. Tenants will be 
subject to guidelines set forth in Chapter 20 of the IFC, as it may be amended from time to time, 
with or without notification. 
 
Inspection and Right of Entry 
 
Per Section 106 of the IFC, fire code officials are authorized to enter and examine any building, 
structure, Motor Vehicle or premises for the purpose of enforcing the fire code. Each tenant will 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 57 of 79 

provide the RTAA with a key to access the building, structure, or premises at their own cost. If the 
lock is changed, the tenant must provide the RTAA with a new key. 
 
Per Section 104.3 of the IFC, whenever it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the 
provisions of that code, or whenever the fire code official has reasonable cause to believe that there 
exists in a building or upon any premises any conditions or violations of this code which make the 
building or premises unsafe, dangerous or hazardous, the fire code official shall have the authority 
to enter the building or premises at all reasonable times to inspect or to perform the duties imposed 
upon the fire code official by this code. If such building or premises is occupied, the fire code 
official shall present credentials to the occupant and request entry. If such building or premises is 
unoccupied, the fire code official shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the owner or other 
person having charge or control of the building or premises and request entry. If entry is refused, 
the fire code official has recourse to every remedy provided by law to secure entry. 
 
Per Section 104.3.1 of the IFC when the fire code official has first obtained a proper inspection 
warrant or other remedy provided by law to secure entry, an owner or occupant or person having 
charge, care or control of the building or premises shall not fail or neglect, after proper request is 
made to permit entry therein by the fire code official for the purpose of inspection and examination 
pursuant to this code. 
 
8.2  COMMON FIRE SAFETY HAZARDS  
 
Housekeeping: 
 

• No Smoking Signs clearly posted.  
• Combustible rubbish stored in non-combustible metal containers with lids. 
• Oily rags and such stored in approved closed containers with self closing lids. 
• Flammable and combustible liquids, when over 10 gallons must be stored in a liquid 

storage cabinet labeled “Flammable-Keep Fire Away”.  Doors must be well fitted, self 
closing, equipped with a latch and UL listed. 

• Provide drip pans under Aircraft for fuel/lubricant leaks.  
• Aircraft work is limited to the exchange of parts and maintenance; no open flame permitted. 
• List all items in storage boxes with content label affixed to the outside of the box. 
• Remove trash daily.  
• Keep hallways, corridors and aisles clear of storage and clutter.  
• Keep storage down 24″ from ceilings (18″ below fire sprinkler heads). 
• Combustible materials should not be stored within 36″ of a heat producing appliance (i.e. 

water heater). 
 
Electrical:  
 

• Extension cords shall not be used as a substitute for permanent wiring and only used with 
approved, portable appliances.  The amperage capacity shall not be less than the rated 
capacity of the portable appliance supplied by the cord. 

• Do not use multi-plug appliances that do not have built in circuit protection.  
• Do not run wiring through walls, doors or under carpet. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 58 of 79 

• Maintain 36″ of clear space in front of electrical panels and fire extinguishers. 
 
Exits: 
 

• Ensure exit signs are illuminated, where applicable. 
• Check that emergency egress lights are operational. 
• Keep EXIT doors clear. 

 
8.3.  FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS  
 
Built in fire protection systems (fire sprinklers, fire alarms) along with portable fire extinguishers 
are a first line of fire safety. These systems must be inspected and maintained to ensure their proper 
operation, in the event of a fire, all in accordance with NRS and IFC requirements.   
    
Fire Sprinklers: 
  

• Shall be inspected and tested annually by a Nevada-licensed fire sprinkler contractor.  
• Valves and shutoffs labeled and secured.  
• Fire Department Connections (FDC) clear and accessible, caps in place and secured.   

         
Fire Alarms: 
 

• Shall be inspected and tested annually by a Nevada-licensed fire alarm system contractor.  
            
Fire Extinguishers: 
 

• Fire extinguishers in approved areas and inspected and serviced yearly by a State of Nevada 
authorized fire extinguisher company. 

• Keep area around fire extinguisher free and clear and provide clear access.  Recommend a 
36″ red line/box showing clearance in front of fire extinguishers and electrical panels.  

• The minimum size fire extinguisher is one (1) 2A-10BC UL listed. Mounted 3′ to 5′ above 
the floor, near exits and no more than 30′ travel distance. 

• Serviced annually by a Nevada-licensed fire extinguisher service company.  
  
Fire Hydrants: 
 

• A 3-foot clear space shall be maintained around the circumference of fire hydrants. 
 
8.4  COMPLIANCE AND REPAIRS  
 
Upon written notification by the fire code official of any fire code violations, tenant will receive 
written notification of the time period in which to comply with or repair any violations. Should 
tenant not comply with any fire inspections or written requirement to comply or repair any 
violations within the stated time period, in addition to any other penalty provided by law and/or 
any lease remedy the RTAA may have, including lease termination, the tenant will be deemed to 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 59 of 79 

have committed a violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations, subject to enforcement in 
accordance with Section 10. 
 
8.5  HANDLING AND STORING OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES AND 
MATERIALS 
 
This section specifies controls and procedures to protect persons and property on the Airport during 
the handling and storing of hazardous substances and materials. These rules and regulations apply 
to articles defined by Title 49 CFR Parts 171-178. Generally, hazardous substances and materials 
refers to explosives, highly flammable items, pressurized gasses, and radiological and magnetized 
items. 
 
No person may, without prior permission of the President/CEO or designee, keep, transport, 
handle, or store at, in or upon the Airport any cargo of explosives or other hazardous articles which 
are barred from loading in, or for transportation by civil Aircraft in the United States under the 
current provisions of regulations promulgated by the United States Department of Transportation, 
the FAA or by any other applicable authority. Compliance with said regulations will not constitute 
or be construed to constitute a waiver of the required notice or an implied permission to keep, 
transport, handle or store such explosives or other dangerous articles at, in or upon the Airport. 
Advance notice of at least 24 hours must be given to the President/CEO or designee to permit full 
investigation and clearances for any operation requiring a waiver of these rules and regulations. 
 
No person may offer, and no person may knowingly accept, any hazardous article for shipment at 
the Airport unless the shipment is handled and stored in full compliance with current federal 
aviation regulations. 
 
Any person engaged in the transportation of hazardous articles must have designated personnel at 
the Airport authorized and responsible for receiving and handling such shipments in compliance 
with state and federal regulations. 
 
Any person engaged in the transportation of hazardous articles must provide storage facilities 
which reasonably ensure against unauthorized access or exposure to persons and against damage 
to shipments while at the Airport. 
 
8.6  STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT 
 
Unless otherwise provided for by a contractual agreement, no person will use any area of the 
Airport, including buildings, whether privately or publicly owned, for the storage of cargo or any 
other property or equipment without the prior written permission of the President/CEO or 
designee. The President/CEO or designee will have the authority to order the cargo or any other 
property removed and stored at the expense of the owner or consignee without responsibility or 
liability by the Authority. 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 60 of 79 

SECTION 9  LANDSIDE OPERATIONS 
 
The President/CEO has the authority to determine what steps are necessary and available to 
accommodate as many members of the travelling public desiring to park at RNO as possible. In 
addition, the President/CEO has the authority to offer free parking validation for individuals and 
groups to ensure easy access and participation by business partners, information sources, and those 
involved in RTAA community programs, on an as needed basis. The President/CEO has the 
authority to make immediate changes to the Public Parking Facilities and ground transportation 
rates and charges as necessary.  
 
9.1  LANDSIDE POLICY  
 
Scope 
 
This policy applies to all current and future Landside facilities of the RTAA including Public 
Parking Facilities, Tenant/Airline parking, Crew Member Parking, Employee Parking, Ground 
Transportation, and facilities used on a temporary basis in overflow situations.   
 
9.2 – PARKING AT RNO 
 
Parking Rates 
 
All parking rates for current and future Public Parking Facilities as well as employee parking rates 
are amended when necessary and can be found in the Master Fee Resolution which is updated 
annually. Parking rates for the public and employees working at the airport may be adjusted at the 
discretion of the RTAA. 
 
Stolen or Damaged Vehicles and/or Vehicle Contents 
 
RTAA is not responsible for the theft of or damage to any Motor Vehicles and or loss of Motor 
Vehicle contents parked within any parking facilities at the Airport.  
 
Validation 
 
Parking Ticket Validation (12 hour maximum) will be offered to: 
 

• Locksmith and Tow companies whose services have been requested by RTAA or 
Passengers. 

• Consultants and contractors conducting business on behalf of the RTAA  
 
Additionally, others doing business at RNO or with RTAA may, at the RTAA’s sole and absolute 
discretion, have their parking tickets validated for free parking on an individual basis if they have 
legitimate RTAA business interests or are involved in community programs associated with RNO 
or the RTAA that are best served by offering free parking.   
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 61 of 79 

Parking Validation is not permitted in the following circumstances: 
 

• Consultants and contractors conducting business on behalf of tenants of the RTAA are not 
permitted to receive parking validation. A Vendor parking area is available north of the 
Ground Transportation area for tenant consultants and contractors – no overnight parking 
is permitted. A tenant’s consultant parking in Public Parking Facilities must pay the full 
rate for the public lot in which they are parked. 

• Tenant employees who park in an area they are not designated to park in, e.g. Public 
Parking Facilities, are not permitted to receive parking validation and instead must pay the 
full rate for the public lot in which they parked.  

 
Special Event Parking 
 
For purposes of this section, “Special Events” are short duration RTAA scheduled events, such as 
on-airport functions and meetings, local school or non-profit performances, and promotional 
community events, where the Public Parking Facilities are used by individuals who would not be 
parking at the airport where it not for the special event.   
 
The President/CEO or their designee is authorized to determine which special events qualify for 
free short duration parking validation.   
 
Disabled Veterans and Ex-POWs  
 
It is the opinion of the RTAA Legal Counsel that the exemption in Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 
482.377 and 484.407, stating that Disabled Veterans and Ex-POWs are “exempt from the payment 
of any parking fees, including those collected through parking meters, charged by the State or any 
political subdivision or other public body within the State” does not apply to RTAA Public Parking 
Facilities. However, in spite of this legal determination the RTAA will continue to waive parking 
fees for disabled veterans and ex-POWs in recognition of their service and sacrifice as long as they 
display the appropriate Nevada license plates as defined in the NRS statutes referenced above. 
 
Handicapped/ADA Parking 
 
At a minimum the RTAA will provide handicapped parking spaces required to meet the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA), Standards for Accessible Design, 28 CFR Part 36, Section 208 – 
Parking Spaces. All handicapped parking spaces will be clearly identified, and the parking fee for 
use of handicapped parking spaces will match the current rate for the public parking lot in which 
they are located. The RTAA does not provide free parking to handicapped passengers unless they 
otherwise qualify for free parking pursuant to other provisions of this section. 
 
Oversized Vehicle Parking 
 
Oversized Motor Vehicles are currently prohibited from parking in the public parking due to 
increased parking demand. Any oversized Motor Vehicle will be charged a parking fee based on 
the number of parking spaces occupied by the Motor Vehicle at the established parking rate 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 62 of 79 

(minimum of two spaces). Signage is posted at the entrance to and at the exit of the Public Parking 
Facilities explaining this fee.  
 
Over-Capacity Events 
 
Over-Capacity Events are defined as day-long or multi-day high volume events such as holidays, 
winter and spring breaks, peak summer travel days, and occasional heavy travel weekends during 
which the Public Parking Facilities reach full capacity and require overflow areas.   
 
Over-Capacity events may trigger the need for temporary flat-rate charges as a direct result of a 
“surge” parking situation where parking capacity is reached in the Public Parking Facilities. In 
order to accommodate as many of those seeking parking as possible within RTAA-owned parking 
facilities, thereby maximizing revenue and providing the highest level of customer service, the 
RTAA, in its sole and absolute discretion, may undertake certain measures to provide sufficient 
parking on RTAA-owned property. Those measures may include relocating RTAA, Tenant, and 
TSA employee parking, providing shuttle services, and/or adjusting rates for extraordinary 
parking, such as a flat rate for parking in a vacated RTAA Employee Parking Lot.   
 
Rate Reductions 
 
The RTAA may consider parking rate reductions for customer service reasons. The three typical 
forms of rate reduction are a re-rate of the original parking ticket, a standard rate reduction, and 
refunds or parking rate adjustments due to a medical or National Emergency.  
 
A re-rate occurs when a parking ticket does not match the parking lot in which the Motor Vehicle 
is parked. For example, if the gate to the long-term surface parking lot was under repair, customers 
may have been limited to two more expensive gate choices (the long-term garage and short-term 
garage parking lots) despite access to and availability of spaces in the long-term surface parking 
lot. The Manager of Landside Operations has primary authority to determine whether a re-rate is 
warranted. 
 
A standard rate reduction occurs when the customer has paid for parking in full and then submits 
a written appeal to reduce the rate already paid. Rate appeals are reviewed by the Manager of 
Landside Operations, who examines the appeal, renders a decision, and notifies the appellant of 
the decision and reason(s) for the decision. If the customer appeals the Manager of Landside 
Operations’ decision, then it is reviewed by the Director of Airport Operations who then renders a 
final decision and notifies the appellant of the decision and the reasons for the decision.     
 
For refunds or parking adjustments due to a medical or National Emergency, the passenger must 
have sustained an injury, illness, or been unable to travel has due to a national emergency that will 
not allow a customer to return on their original return date. 
 
In the event of the foregoing circumstances, upon request, the RTAA may suspend a customer’s 
parking fee as of the original return date, provided the customer provides the required 
documentation. The customer must then retrieve their Motor Vehicle within fourteen days of their 
original return date. After fourteen days, their parking fees will resume. All customers at the end 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 63 of 79 

of the initial fourteen-day grace period will have the opportunity to request an extension for another 
fourteen days. The request for an extension must be made prior to the expiration of the original 
fourteen-day grace period. As in the initial request the customer will need to provide medical 
documentation to substantiate their request. If the customer is not able to retrieve their Motor 
Vehicle before the end of the grace period and any extension granted, the customer will be required 
to pay their parking fee for any time outside the grace period and any extension if granted. 
 
Requests for adjustments or refunds due to travel restrictions will require restrictions in the travel 
industry due to a national emergency. All customers requesting an adjustment or refund will be 
required to meet the criteria set forth in the Parking Passenger Refund and Adjustment Request 
Form and will have the same restrictions as stated in the previous paragraph. 
 
Abandoned Vehicles 
 
The RTAA will consider all Motor Vehicles left in the public parking facilities in excess of sixty 
(60) days as abandoned and such Motor Vehicles may be towed and/or disposed of at the discretion 
of RTAA. After the RTAA identifies an abandoned Motor Vehicle, the RTAA will provide notice 
to the registered owner by certified mail of RTAA’s intentions to remove, and if necessary, have 
the Motor Vehicle towed. Towing companies whose services have been requested by RTAA for 
such purposes will be offered free parking privileges in the process of removing the abandoned 
Motor Vehicles.   
 
Unauthorized Vehicles in Public Parking 
 
RTAA does not allow any commercial business to be conducted in the public parking lots, without 
the RTAA’s express authorization. This includes, but is not limited to Taxis, private car services, 
limousine and Peer-To-Peer Car Sharing companies(other than the designated spaces in the Blue 
Lot). If a Motor Vehicle/person is found to be in-violation the Motor Vehicle will be ticketed and/or 
towed at the owner’s expense.  
 
Airline Crew Member Parking 
 
Airline crew members who are Non-Domiciled Flight Crew (a flight crew member from a 
signatory airline serving RNO, but not based out of RNO) or a Domiciled Flight Crew (a flight 
crew member from a signatory airline serving RNO and based out of RNO) can request parking at 
a monthly rate. The monthly parking fee will be reviewed and approved by the RTAA’s Board of 
Trustees annually as part of the RTAA’s Master Fee Resolution. 
 
The RTAA offers two different options for crew member parking: 
 

• Tier-1 parking, located in the Long-Term Surface lot. Tier-1 has a maximum capacity of 
30 spots. 

• Tier-2 parking, located at the corner of Terminal Way and Plumb Lane. Tier-2 has a 
maximum capacity of 232 spots. 

 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 64 of 79 

Tenant/Airline Employee Parking 
 
The RTAA offers employee parking to Airline and Tenants operating at RNO. The RTAA will bill 
each Airline/Tenant for each employee that parks at the airport at the rate outlined in the Master 
Fee Resolution. The RTAA reviews and approves this rate annually. It is required for an authorized 
agent of the Airline/Tenant to approve parking for each individual employee requesting parking.  
The RTAA offers parking spaces for rent only on a calendar month basis, running from the first 
through the last day of the month. The RTAA is not liable for damage to, or theft of, Motor Vehicle 
under any circumstances at any time. When the RTAA supplies a parking lot entry card (“Prox 
card”), the card shall be used to enter and exit the parking facility. The RTAA only provides one 
Prox card per employee. The RTAA will charge the prevailing daily rate to the Motor Vehicle 
operator if the Prox card is not used as directed. Any attempt at manipulation of parking procedures 
may result in cancellation of monthly parking privileges and the RTAA charging a daily rate.  
 
Replacement cost for lost, stolen, damaged or unreturned Prox cards is outlined in the Master Fee 
Resolution. A replacement fee must be paid at the time a new card is issued at the parking office. 
No refunds/credits will be provided for Prox cards returned after 30 days from date of replacement 
or last day of employment.  
 
Alternate arrangements will be made for any employee requiring handicapped accessible parking. 
A DMV issued Authorization Letter must be presented to substantiate handicapped license plates 
and/or placards. 
 
Immediately notify the Landside Operations office if your Prox card has been lost or stolen. The 
Prox card has been issued in your name and is not to be shared with anyone, including family, 
friends or another employee. The Prox card is issued for work purposes only, not for use during 
vacations. 
 
Employees who violate the terms and conditions of the employee parking program risk the loss of 
parking privileges. If a loss of privileges occurs, the employee is responsible for finding alternate 
parking and will be responsible for any cost associated with that parking. In more severe instances, 
an employee may be permanently removed from program participation. Employees parking in 
employee lots 60 or more consecutive days are subject to towing at the Motor Vehicle owner’s 
expense. 
 
Violators are also responsible for payment of any parking fees associated with the misuse of 
parking privileges. For example, an employee who has been issued a Prox card and parks in any 
Public Parking Facilities is responsible for all fees accrued while parked in that lot.   
 
Employee Shuttle 
 
An employee shuttle is offered to employees assigned to the Purple Lot and that have a completed 
and approved parking application form. This shuttle service travels in both directions between the 
Purple Lot and the Terminal. The goal of the shuttle is to arrive and depart from each location 
every 15 minutes. This shuttle service is offered as a courtesy and may be adjusted or discontinued 
at any time at the sole discretion of the RTAA. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 65 of 79 

9.3 – GROUND TRANSPORTATION 
 
Ground Transportation – Permitting  
 
Every commercial operator wanting to conduct business at the Airport must obtain and maintain 
prior to initiation of operations at the Airport, and at all times during operation on Airport premises, 
a valid permit from the RTAA. Permits must be renewed through application to the Landside 
Operations Department on such forms as may be provided by the Landside Operations 
Department. Operators shall be bound to comply with these RNO Rules and Regulations and such 
other rules and regulations that are promulgated by the RTAA from time to time. 
 
No Operator is exempt from the fee or permit provisions, however, public entities or those carriers 
who operate exclusively under federal exclusion by the Americans with Disabilities Act may apply 
to the President/CEO for exemption from the permit or fee requirements or both. Additionally, 
carriers who are providing pre-arranged interstate ground transportation in compliance with the 
Real Interstate Drivers Equity Act of 2002 may apply to the President/CEO for exemption from 
the permit and fee requirements. 
 
Nothing contained herein shall prohibit the RTAA from charging other fees for use of the Airport 
facilities not otherwise covered herein, including parking fees, badging fees, advertising fees or 
charges, or other charges for services or facilities provided by the RTAA in connection with 
permitted commercial ground operations. 
 
Ground Transportation – Appeals  
 
If the RTAA denies an application for a permit or an exemption as described above, the Operator 
may appeal the decision. The Operator shall have five days from issuance of the recommended 
decision to request an appeal from the Director of Airport Operations. If no appeal is taken the 
recommended decision becomes a final decision. If an appeal is submitted to the Director of 
Airport Operations, their decision shall be final. Nothing contained herein shall prohibit the 
Manager of Landside Operations from immediately suspending a permit if injury or harm to any 
person or property is threatened. Such immediate suspension may be appealed directly to the 
Director of Airport Operations for a decision in accordance with this Section. 
 
Ground Transportation – Airport Taxi Operators 
 
Taxi companies are required to have a GT Permit and comply with the conditions outlined in the 
Permit to pick up passengers. 
 
Peer-To-Peer Car Sharing 
 
All Shared Vehicle Owners or operators of a Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing platform engaging in Peer-
to-Peer Car Sharing at RNO must have an appropriate contract with the RTAA. The RTAA will 
take immediate action to stop any unauthorized use of RTAA property, including denying access 
to RTAA property, towing, booting, and assessing fines against Motor Vehicles rented through 
Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing platforms on RTAA property without a contract.  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 66 of 79 

The RTAA only allows Peer-To-Peer Car Sharing in designated areas that are outlined in the 
contract with the RTAA. There are two types of such areas Key Exchange and Parking: 
 
Key Exchange Location Conditions - All Face-to-Face Key Exchanges must occur at this location. 
The area is also utilized by other ground transportation providers and vendors, therefore there are 
no designated parking spaces for Shared Vehicles. This area shall only be accessed by Shared 
Vehicles that have been pre-reserved on the Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing Program and the dwell time 
for Shared Vehicles in this area shall not exceed fifteen (15) minutes. Accordingly, Shared Vehicles 
shall not enter this area until the Shared Vehicle Owner and Shared Vehicle Driver are ready to 
conduct a Face-to-Face Key Exchange. 
 
Designated Parking Location - Shared Vehicles shall only park in those areas specifically identified 
by the RTAA for parking of Shared Vehicles (the “Designated Parking Spaces”). Shared Vehicle 
Owners should park no earlier than four hours before the scheduled trip start, and the Shared 
Vehicle Owners shall retrieve the Shared Vehicle no later than four hours after completion of the 
scheduled reservation. If all of the Designated Parking Spaces are occupied, Shared Vehicles may 
not utilize this area and must utilize the Face-to-Face Key Exchange Location. Any Shared 
Vehicles or other Vehicles parked outside of the Designated Parking Location are subject to tow at 
the owner’s expense, in addition to any other rights, remedies, or other provisions of this License.  
 
9.4 – LANDSIDE RULE ENFORCEMENT 
 
Landside Rules Violations 
 
Enforcement of the Landside Rules are treated separately from violations of the other provisions 
of the RNO Rules and Regulations. The Landside Violation Program consists of in-house citations 
used to identify violators of Landside Rules. Landside Shift Leaders, Landside Supervisors, the 
Manager of Landside and the Operations Department have the authority to issue Citations for 
violations of Landside Rules. Revenue from fines collected will be placed into the RTAA General 
Fund. LEOs may also issue citations pursuant to Nevada Law; however, tickets issued by LEOs 
for moving violations and parking violations are adjudicated by the City of Reno which receives 
and retains the fines collected. RTAA Citation fee values are published annually in the RTAA 
Master Fee Resolution.  
 
In addition to fees, the RTAA reserves the right to revoke permits. 
 
Citation Appeals 
 
Citation appeals for all violations of Landside Rules are reviewed by the Manager of Landside 
Operations. The Manager of Landside Operations examines the appeal, renders a decision, and 
notifies the appellant of the decision and reasons for the decision. An additional appeal may be 
made to the Director of Airport Operations, whose decision is final. 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 67 of 79 

SECTION 10  ENFORCEMENT 
 
10.1 ENFORCEMENT INTRODUCTION 
  
The RTAA is obligated under state and federal law to ensure the safe and efficient operation of 
RNO. Active enforcement of the RNO Rules and Regulations is an essential part of compliance. 
These enforcement provisions are designed to ensure the RTAA meets its legal obligations. 
  
Airports are complex, dynamic, and fluid operating environments. Accordingly, the RTAA will 
endeavor to maintain a flexible approach and may from time to time diverge from the general 
guidelines for enforcement set forth in this section. The intent of this section is to provide a general 
framework for the enforcement and appeals process.  
  
The RTAA shall have the sole authority to monitor compliance with and enforcement of all RNO 
Rules and Regulations. The RTAA reserves the right to suspend access/driving privileges, 
including, but not limited to revocation or suspension of RTAA-Issued Badges and/or removal 
from or denial of access to RTAA property through a trespass or cease and desist order for any 
violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations.  
 
For RTAA employees covered under a collective bargaining agreement or exclusively covered by 
the RTAA’s Civil Service Plan, any disciplinary proceeding, penalties, and subsequent appeal 
rights will be as set forth in that respective document and not in this Section 10.  
 
10.2  VIOLATIONS 
 
The RTAA considers any violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations to be serious in nature. 
However, some violations are deemed to be more impactful and are listed as “major” violations. 
Any violation specifically listed as a major violation in the RNO Rules and Regulations or that 
poses an immediate and substantial threat to the safety, security, or efficiency of operations at RNO 
is considered a major violation.   
  
Violations occur within the following categories of rules: 
  

• Security: Security Rules violations occur when there is a breach of any rule articulated in 
Section 7 or otherwise involves an activity that directly concerns the Security of RNO. 

• Airside Driving: Airside Driving Rules violations occur when there is a breach of any rule 
articulated in Section 6, or otherwise involves the unsafe operation of a Motor Vehicle 
Airside. 

• General: General Rules violations occur when there is a breach of any rule outside of the 
Security and Airside Driving categories, or any criminal act.  

 
 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 68 of 79 

10.3 VIOLATION PENALTIES 
 
Violations 
 
Violation penalties will progress for each subsequent violation generally under a “three strike 
policy”. Each violation will remain as a “strike” for a period of two (2) years from the date of the 
occurrence of the latest violation. For example, if a first violation occurs on July 1, 2023, and a 
second violation occurs on December 1, 2023, both violations will remain as strikes until 
December 1, 2025, at which point both strikes will be removed from the violator’s record. 
Violation strikes will be specific to the category of rules. For example, two violations of Airside 
Driving Rules and one violation of Security Rules will not constitute three strikes. The penalties 
for violations will depend on whether the violator is an individual or a group, organization, 
business, or the like. Penalties for a group, organization, business, or the like are hereafter referred 
to as “Group Penalties”. Generally, where a violation is personal in nature, it will be an individual 
penalty only and there will be no Group Penalty. 
 
Penalties for violations of the RNO Rules and Regulations may be in addition to penalties imposed 
by the violator’s employer, and/or local, state, and federal laws, rules, regulations, and the like, 
and the RNO Rules and Regulations are at all times subordinate to the requirements of local, state, 
and federal laws, rules, regulations, and the like. Where the RNO Rules and Regulations provide 
for a specific penalty for a specific violation, for example a specific monetary fine, that will be the 
sole penalty for violation of that particular rule/regulation. 
 
Individual Penalties  
 
The penalties for violations of the Security Rules are as follows: 
 
1st: Requirement to complete additional security training as set forth in Section 7. 
2nd: Suspension of Security Access Badge for 24 Hours and requirement to complete additional 
security training within 7 days. 
3rd: Suspension of Security Access Badge for five years. 
The penalties for violations of the Airside Driving Rules are as follows: 
 
1st: Requirement to complete additional driving training as set forth in Section 6. 
2nd: Suspension of AOA driving privileges for 24 Hours and requirement to complete additional 
driving training within 7 days. 
3rd: Suspension of AOA driving privileges for five years. 
  
The penalties for violations of the General Rules are as follows: 
 
1st: Written Warning. 
2nd: Final Written Warning 
3rd: Issued trespass notice and barred from RTAA property for five years. 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 69 of 79 

Group Penalties 
 
The Group penalties for violation of any subset of Rules are as follows: 
 
1st: Written Warning 
2nd: Final Written Warning 
3rd: $500 Fine 
4th: $1,000 Fine 
5th and beyond: $5,000 Fine per violation 
 
Major Violations 
 
The RTAA considers the following to be major violations and may, in its sole and absolute 
discretion, suspend Airside driving or RNO Security Access Badge privileges for any alleged 
major violation, while pending further review.   
  

• A Criminal Act under any State, Local, or Federal Law. 
• Failure to yield to Right of Way of Aircraft. 
• Failure to obey a command of an LEO, ARFF, Airport Duty Manager, Airport Operation 

Specialist, or Airport Operations Supervisor. 
• Suspicion of being intoxicated. 
• Vehicle/Pedestrian Deviation (Entry into the movement area without permission) 
• Runway Incursion (Any incorrect presence of a person or Motor Vehicle on a runway.) 
• Level 3 security violations. 
• Operating a Motor Vehicle, Aircraft, or equipment in willful or reckless disregard of the 

safety of persons or property. 
 
For Individuals: 
 
The penalty for major violations of the Security Rules is suspension of the RTAA-Issued Badge 
for five years.  
  
The penalty for major violations of the Driving Rules is suspension of AOA driving privileges for 
five years. 
 
The penalty for major violations of the General Rules is issuance of a trespass notice and being 
barred from RTAA property for five years. 
  
For Group: 
 
The penalty for a major violation of any category of the RNO Rules and Regulations is a $5,000 
fine. 
 
The RTAA reserves the right to immediately suspend Security Access Badge and/or AOA driving 
privileges, upon an arrest for any criminal act. 
  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 70 of 79 

10.3 PROCESS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS 
 
Regulation Observers 
 
The RTAA’s President/CEO, at his or her, sole and absolute discretion, may designate, and 
thereafter change designations, of which RTAA employees have the authority to initiate 
enforcement actions for violations of RNO Rules and Regulations. Currently, RTAA Airport Duty 
Managers, Manager of Airport Operations, Manager of Aviation Compliance, Airport Operations 
Specialists, Airport Operations Supervisors, and RTAA Police Officers (collectively, “Regulation 
Observers”) may initiate enforcement actions. Regulation Observers may initiate enforcement 
actions against any person on RTAA property that in the judgment of the Regulation Observer is 
violating any provision of the RNO Rules and Regulations by issuing a Notice of Alleged 
Violation.  
 
Notice of Alleged Violation (NAV) 
 
A Notice of Alleged Violation (NAV) serves as notice to the violator that a Regulation Observer 
believes a violation has occurred. The NAV will include the time and date of the alleged violation, 
the name of the person allegedly violating the RNO Rules and Regulations, the specific Rule or 
Regulation the person allegedly violated, a brief of description of the conduct that constituted an 
alleged violation, and the level of the alleged violation. 
  
Violation Review  
 
After the issuance of a NAV, the RTAA will begin a review of relevant information to determine 
whether a violation occurred (Violation Review). If the RTAA does not substantiate the alleged 
violation after the Violation Review, the RTAA will rescind the NAV. If the RTAA confirms the 
violation, the RTAA will issue a Letter of Violation (LOV).  
  
For NAVs issued for alleged major violations, the RTAA will seek to complete the Violation 
Review within ten (10) calendar days. The results of the Violation Review will then be presented 
to the RTAA’s Rules and Regulations Committee (RRC) for consideration. A quorum of at least 
three (3) members of the RRC will meet within ten (10) calendar days of the issuance of the NAV 
to determine whether a violation occurred. If the alleged violation is not substantiated after the 
RRC review, the NAV will be rescinded. If the violation is confirmed, a Letter of Violation (LOV) 
will be issued.  
 
Letter of Violation (LOV) 
 
A Letter of Violation (LOV) is issued to a violator if a Violation Review substantiates the violation 
set forth in an NAV. The LOV will provide information on the conducted review and resulting 
penalty and will be provided to the alleged violator and to the Authorized Signatory who authorized 
the alleged violator’s RTAA-Issued badge.   
  
The appeal rights described in 10.4, and the associated deadlines, begin on the date the LOV is 
issued.   



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 71 of 79 

10.4 CITATIONS APPEAL PROCESS 
 
Any person issued a LOV may appeal the determination set forth in the LOV by completing and 
submitting the Appeal Form (Appendix H) to the RTAA as a .pdf via email 
(rulescommittee@renoairport.com) within five (5) calendar days of the LOV’s issue date. RTAA’s 
Rules and Regulations Committee will consider the appeal at its next regularly scheduled meeting 
or at such other time as determined by the RRC. The appellant and a single representative may 
present a statement in person in support of the appeal. The Regulation Observer or another RTAA 
employee may also present a statement in support of upholding the violation and/or proposed 
penalty. The RRC then convene without the appellant or Regulation Observer present to conduct 
a majority vote on whether to accept the appeal. The RRC will then notify the appellant via email 
of its decision. 
  
Final Appeal 
 
The appellant may make a final appeal of the RRC’s decision by completing and submitting the 
Final Appeal Form (Appendix I) to the RTAA as a .pdf via email 
(rulescommittee@renoairport.com) within ten (10) calendar days of the RRC’s decision. The 
RTAA’s Chief Legal Officer, or such other RTAA employee designated by the RTAA’s 
President/CEO, will review the Final Appeal Form and issue a final determination on the matter.   
  
Permanent Dismissal of Appeal 
 
Any rude or combative behavior during any portion of the appeals process shall result in an 
immediate and permanent dismissal of the appeal. Any attempt to subvert the integrity of the 
appeals process or to use violence, threats, aggressive behavior, or the like, to coerce, harass, 
annoy, or intimidate the Regulation Observer or any RTAA employee or Board Member shall be a 
major violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations. 
 
Crucial Compliance Period 
 
The RRC, when considering initial appeals, may choose to place the violator in a Crucial 
Compliance Period rather than subject them to the defined penalties for a major violation. The 
Crucial Compliance Period will require the violator’s continuous strict compliance with the 
category of rules in which the major violation occurred (i.e. for a major violation of Security Rules, 
strict compliance with the Security Rules) for a period of twenty-four (24) months from the date 
the major violation occurred. If any violation occurs, within the same category of rules within that 
period, subject to the appeal rights described herein, the violator will be given the applicable 
penalties listed below for major violations. 
  
 
 
 
 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 72 of 79 

10.5  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
Cease and Desist Orders 
 
The President/CEO or designee and RTAA Police Officers may order any person to cease and 
desist any activities or conduct that is noncompliant with the RNO Rules and Regulations, policies, 
standard procedures or directives. 
 
Removal from of Denial of Access to Airport 
 
The President/CEO or Chief of Operations and Public Safety Officer when designated, may deny 
access to or order any person removed from RNO who knowingly fails to comply with a trespass 
or cease and desist order. Such order will set forth the reasons and dates on which removal or 
denial of access will begin and end. Additionally, all law enforcement officers may remove a 
person from RTAA property if they are known to have committed a crime or violated the RNO 
Rules and Regulations. This suggests that an officer will need a written order from the CEO or 
COPSO in order to remove someone from the property. Currently the policy is that the CEO has 
designated authority to any airport LEO to remove a person from the property, i.e. trespass, if they 
are known to have committed a crime or serious violation of rules and regulations. 
 
Procedure for Removal 
 
In addition to any penalties provided by RTAA resolutions, RNO Rules and Regulations, state and 
federal law, the Federal Aviation Regulations, or any other applicable law, rule, or regulation, any 
person violating these rules and regulations may be promptly removed or ejected from RNO for a 
reasonable amount of time by or under the authority of the President/CEO or the RTAA Police 
Department. Furthermore, upon the order of the President/CEO, such person may be deprived of 
the further use of RNO and its facilities. 
  
In contingencies not specifically covered by the RNO Rules and Regulations, the President/CEO 
is authorized to make such decisions according to the circumstances then existing.   
 
Removal of Property 
 
The RTAA may remove or cause to be removed from any restricted or reserved areas, any roadway 
or Right-of-Way, Ramp, runway, taxiway, or any other unauthorized area or structure at RNO, any 
property which is disabled, abandoned or unattended which creates an operations problem, 
nuisance, security or safety hazard, or which otherwise is placed in an illegal, improper or 
unauthorized manner. Any such property may be removed or caused to be removed by the RTAA 
to an impound area or such other area designated by the RTAA. 
  
Any property impounded by the RTAA will be released to the owner or operator thereof, upon 
proper identification of the property, provided that the person claiming it pays any towing, removal 
or storage charges and any other accrued fees. The RTAA will not be liable for any damage which 
may be caused to the property or loss or diminution of value which may be caused by the act of 
removal. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 73 of 79 

Severability  
 
The provisions of the RNO Rules and Regulations will be severable, and if any of the provisions 
hereof will be held to be unconstitutional or invalid, such determinations will not affect the 
constitutionality or validity of any of the remaining provisions of these rules and regulations. 
  
It is hereby declared to be the RTAA’s intent that such remaining provisions would have been 
adopted had such unconstitutional or invalid provision or provisions not been included herein. 
 
Posting of Rule and Regulations  
 
The RNO Rules and Regulations are available to all applicants and interested parties on the RNO 
public website http://www.renoairport.com.   
 
Changing and Revising of Rules and Regulations  
 
The RNO Rules and Regulations may be updated as may be deemed necessary by the 
President/CEO providing that the changes do not conflict with the general policy of the RTAA 
Board of Trustees.  
 
SECTION 11  DEFINITIONS 
 
As used in these RNO Airport Rules and Regulations, unless the context otherwise requires, the 
words and terms defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the section specified herein. 
 
Aircom – Incident Command staff during an emergency. 
 
Aircraft – A device that is used or intended to be used for flight in the air. (AC No. 140/5210-20 
Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
 
Airside – Areas of an airport that support Aircraft activities. (AC No. 150/5210-20 Ground Vehicle 
Operations on Airports) 
 
Airport or RNO – The Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO) owned and operated by the Reno-
Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) including all of the real property and easements, improvements 
and appurtenances, structures, buildings, fixtures, machinery and other tangible personal property 
or interest in any of the foregoing, now owned or hereafter leased or acquired by the RTAA and 
operated within the exterior boundaries as now exist on the Airport Layout Plan or Exhibits, or as 
it may hereinafter be extended, enlarged or modified. 
 
Airport Emergency Plan (AEP) – Plan that provides guidelines for how to respond in an 
emergency including, but not limited to accidents, disabled Aircraft, Terminal Evacuation. 
 
Air Operations Area (AOA) – Those movement and Non-Movement Areas (FAA, Airport 
Vehicle Operator Safety Study Guide) of the Airport designed and constructed for the landing and 
takeoff, taxiing, parking, operating and other operations of Aircraft as they now exist or hereafter 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 74 of 79 

may be developed, extended or improved from time to time including areas designated for Aircraft 
storage, and all restricted ground areas of the Airport including Taxiways, runways, Ramps, 
parking areas and everything inside the perimeter fence. 
  
Airport Police – The RTAA’s Police Department. 
  
Airport Police Officer – All duly sworn officers of the Airport Police.  
 
Airport Security Program (ASP) – Those facilities and procedures adopted and put into use by 
the RTAA pursuant to the requirements of 49 CFR Part 1542 designed to prevent and deter persons 
and Motor Vehicles from unauthorized access to the AOA. 
 
Airport Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) – A service provided by the FAA to control the movement 
of Aircraft, Motor Vehicles and Pedestrians in the Movement Area. Air Traffic Controllers are 
responsible for the safe, orderly, and expeditious flow of air traffic. (AC No. 150/5210-20 Ground 
Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
  
Airport Duty Manager – Those individuals responsible for and authorized to enforce FAA 14 
CFR Part 139 Certification of Airports, RNO Airport Rules & Regulations and 49 CFR Part 1542 
Airport Security to ensure the safety, security and efficient flow of Aircraft and passengers at RNO.  
 
Apron or Ramp – A defined paved area on an airport intended to accommodate Aircraft for the 
purposes of loading or unloading passengers or cargo, refueling, parking or maintenance.  (AC No. 
150/5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
  
ARFF – All Aircraft Rescue Firefighters, which includes members of any agency, responsible for 
providing rescue and firefighting services at the Airport 
 
Commercial Aeronautical Activity – Any activity conducted at RNO which involves, makes 
possible or is required for the operation of Aircraft or which contributes to or is required for the 
safety of such operations. These activities include, but are not limited to, air taxi and charter 
operations, pilot training, Aircraft rental, sightseeing, crop dusting, aerial advertising, aerial 
surveying, air carrier operations, skydiving, ultra-light operations, Aircraft sales and service, sale 
of aviation petroleum products, repair and maintenance of Aircraft, sale of Aircraft parts and 
Aircraft storage. 
 
Commercial Aeronautical Operating Agreement – A long-term (greater than 1-year in duration) 
agreement between the RTAA and a Commercial Aeronautical Operator that allows the 
Commercial Aeronautical Operator to conduct one or more Commercial Aeronautical Activities 
on the Airport. 
 
Commercial Aeronautical Operator (Operator) – Any person or entity conducting Commercial 
Aeronautical Activities on the Airport and includes, but is not limited to, employees, agents or 
invitees of Operator and/or its contractors, suppliers and material men. 
  
Crew Member Parking – Parking areas dedicated for members of airline flight crews. 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 75 of 79 

Department of Transportation or D.O.T. – the United States’ government agency created by the 
Department of Transportation Act or any successor agency. 
 
Drive Lane – A portion of the non-movement area, loading Ramps and parking areas designated 
and marked by the Airport for Motor Vehicle traffic. 
  
Driver – Every person who drives or is in actual physical control of a vehicle. (NRS 484A.080) 
  
Driver’s License – Any license or permit to drive a Motor Vehicle issued under the laws of Nevada 
including any temporary license or instruction permit; the privilege of any person to drive a Motor 
Vehicle whether or not such person holds a valid license, or any nonresident’s driving privilege 
and means the same as “License to drive a motor vehicle”. (NRS 484C.060) 
 
Employee Parking – Those areas at the Airport dedicated for parking by employees of the RTAA 
and Airport tenants. 
 
Environmental Program Manager – Person designated by the RTAA to review plans, permits 
and compliance. 
  
Face-to-Face Key Exchange – The in person exchange of keys for a Shared Vehicle between a 
Shared Vehicle Owner and a Shared Vehicle Driver. 
 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) – The federal agency charged with the administration 
and operation of the federal airport system pursuant to the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as 
amended, and its successor(s) in function, if any. 
  
Fixed-Based Operator (FBO) – A person, firm, or organization engaged in a business that 
provides a range of basic services to general aviation,  (AC No. 150/5210-20 Ground Vehicle 
Operations on Airports), and as more particularly defined in the RNO General Aviation 
Commercial Minimum Standards. 
  
Flammable Liquid – Any liquid which has a flash point at or below 100 degrees Fahrenheit, as 
determined by a Tagliabue or equivalent closed-cup test device and shall include any other 
combustible liquids currently used for Aircraft fuels.  
  
Foreign Object Debris (FOD) – Debris that can cause damage to Aircraft engines, tires, or skin 
from rocks, trash, or the actual debris found on runways, Taxiways, and Aprons.  (AC No. 
150/5210-20 Ground Vehicles Operations on Airports) 
  
Fueling – All fuel transfer activities, such as fueling, defueling, and draining of Aircraft fueling 
vehicles, fuel storage tanks and Motor Vehicles. 
  
Fuel Truck or Fueler – A tank vehicle, including tank truck, fuel trailer tank and semi-trailer tank, 
designed for and employed in the transportation and transfer of Flammable Liquids into or from 
an Aircraft or motor vehicle. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 76 of 79 

Ground Transportation – Various forms of passenger transportation to and from the Airport, 
including Taxis, buses, private cars, limousines, and TNCs.  
 
Ground Transportation Areas – Those areas at the Airport designated for Ground Transportation 
operations.  
  
IFC - IFC means the International Fire Code, which establishes minimum requirements for fire 
prevention and fire protection systems.  
 
Incident Command – Incident Command refers to the leadership and management system utilized 
during emergency response operations. It involves a structured hierarchy led by an Incident 
Commander (IC) who has overall authority and responsibility for managing the incident. The 
Incident Commander, along with designated command and general staff, coordinates and directs 
all aspects of the response, ensuring that resources, personnel, and communications are effectively 
managed. 
 
Incursion – Any occurrence at the Airport involving an Aircraft, Motor Vehicle, person, or object 
on the ground that creates a collision hazard or results in loss separation with an Aircraft taking 
off, intending to take off, landing, or intending to land. (AC No. 150/5210-20 Ground Vehicles 
Operations on Airports) 
  
Landside – Those areas of the Airport outside the AOA, including the perimeter loop road, Public 
Parking Facilities, Crew Member Parking, Employee Parking, and Ground Transportation areas. 
 
Law Enforcement Officer (LEO) – Any person vested with police power of arrest under federal, 
state, county, or city authority and identifiable by uniform, badge and other indication of authority. 
(AC No. 150/5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports)  
  
Light Gun – Is a hand-held, directional light-signaling device that emits a bright narrow beam of 
white, green, or red light, as selected by the tower controller. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle 
Operations on Airports) 
  
Movement Area – The runways, Taxiways, and other areas of the Airport that Aircraft use for 
taxiing, takeoff, and landing, and under the control of the Air Traffic Control Tower. (AC No. 150-
5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
  
Motorcycle – Every Motor Vehicle equipped with a seat or saddle for the use of the driver and 
designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground, excluding an electric 
bicycle, a tractor or a moped. (NRS 484A.135) 
  
Motor Vehicle – Every vehicle which is self-propelled but not operated upon rails.   
 
NFPA – Refers to the National Fire Protection Association codes and standards related to fire, 
electrical, and building safety. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 77 of 79 

Night – The time between the end of evening civil twilight and the beginning of morning civil 
twilight, as published in the American Air Almanac, converted to local time. 
  
Non-Movement Area – The Taxiways, Aprons, and other areas not under the control of the ATCT 
or at airports without an operating control tower. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations 
on Airports) 
  
Operator – Any person who is in actual physical control of an Aircraft or a Motor Vehicle. (AC 
No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
  
Owner – A person who holds the legal title of an Aircraft or a Motor Vehicle. ((AC No. 150-5210-
20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports and NRS 484.091) 
  
Pedestrian – A person afoot, a person in a manual or motorized wheelchair, or a person on an 
electric personal assistive mobility device is defined in NRS 482.029. (NRS 484A.165) 
 
Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing – The sharing the use of a Motor Vehicle through a platform that 
connects Shared Vehicle Owners with Shared Vehicle Drivers to enable the sharing of Motor 
Vehicles in exchange for money. 
 
President/CEO – The person under the administrative direction of the Board of Trustees, who is 
responsible for the safe, efficient, and profitable development and operation of the Reno-Tahoe 
International Airport and the Reno-Stead Airport. 
 
Public Parking Facilities – Those designated areas at the Airport provided and maintained by the 
RTAA for members of the travelling public to park Motor Vehicles in connection with the air travel, 
visiting the Airport terminal, or conducting business at the Airport. 
 
Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) – The owner/operator of the Reno-Tahoe International 
Airport and Reno-Stead Airport, a quasi-municipal corporation organized under Chapter 474, 
Statutes of Nevada 1977, as amended, with its principal office at Reno-Tahoe International Airport, 
2001 East Plumb Lane, Reno, Nevada 89502. 
  
Restricted Area – The areas of the Airport posted to prohibit or limit entry or access by the general 
public. All areas other than public areas. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on 
Airports) 
 
Right-of-Way – The right of an Aircraft, Motor Vehicle, or Pedestrian to proceed in a lawful 
manner in preference to another Aircraft, Motor Vehicle, or Pedestrian approaching under such 
circumstances of direction, speed, and proximity as to give rise to danger of collision unless one 
party grants precedence to the other. (NRS 484A. 210) 
  
RNO Security Access Badge – Identification credential issued by the Reno-Tahoe Airport 
Authority that verifies identity and grants unescorted access to Restricted Areas of the airport to 
individuals that meet federally mandated criteria. 
 



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 78 of 79 

Roadway – That portion of a highway which is improved and ordinarily used for vehicular traffic, 
exclusive of the shoulder. (NRS 484A.220) 
  
Runway – A defined rectangular area on a land airport prepared for the landing and takeoff run of 
Aircraft along its length. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
  
Runway Safety Area – A defined surface surrounding the Runway prepared or suitable for 
reducing the risk of damage to airplanes in the event of an undershoot, overshoot, or excursion 
from the Runway. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
 
Secured Area – The portion of the Airport, in which certain security measures specified in 49 CFR 
Part 1542 are carried out. This area is where Aircraft Operators and foreign Aircraft Operators that 
have a security program under Parts 1544 or 1546 of this section enplane and deplane passengers 
and sort and load baggage and any adjacent areas that are not separated by adequate security 
systems, measures, or procedures.  
 
Security Identification Display Area (SIDA) – A portion of an airport, in which security 
measures specified in 49 CFR Part 1542 are carried out. Display of the RNO Security Access 
Badge is required while in the SIDA. This area includes the Secured Area and may include other 
areas of the Airport. 
 
Shared Vehicle – A Motor Vehicle that is shared or available for sharing through Peer-to-Peer Car 
Sharing. 
 
Shared Vehicle Driver – A person who has been authorized to drive a Shared Vehicle by the 
Shared Vehicle Owner pursuant to the terms of a Peer-to-Peer Car Sharing agreement. 
 
Shared Vehicle Owner – The registered owner of a Shared Vehicle or a person who is authorized 
by the registered owner to make a Motor Vehicle available for sharing through Peer-to-Peer Car 
Sharing. 
 
Sterile Area –  A portion of the Airport that provides passengers access to boarding aircraft and to 
which the access generally is controlled by TSA, or by an aircraft operator under Part 1544 or 
foreign air carrier under Part 1546 through the screening of persons and property. 
 
Taxiways – Those parts of the Airside designated for the surface maneuvering of Aircraft to and 
from the Runways and Aircraft parking areas. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations 
on Airports) 
 
Tenant Improvement Permit – RTAA permit required prior to any construction or improvements 
on the Airport for the benefit of any person or entity other than the RTAA. 
 
Transportation Network Companies (TNCs) –  means an entity that uses a digital network or 
software application service to connect a passenger to a driver or monitored autonomous vehicle 
provider who can provide transportation services to the passenger. 
  



 DRAFT COPY – NOT YET ADOPTED 
 

Page 79 of 79 

Vehicle Service Road (VSR) – A designated Roadway for Motor Vehicles in the Non-Movement 
Area. (AC No. 150-5210-20 Ground Vehicle Operations on Airports) 
 
Very High Frequency (VHF) – The range of radio waves that have frequencies between 30 and 
300 megahertz (MHz) 
 
  
 
 
 



APPENDIX A – RTAA Organizational Chart 



President/CEO
Daren Griffin

Chief Operations & 
Public Safety Officer

Cris Jensen

Chief Finance & 
Administration Officer

Randy Carlton

Director of IT/Chief 
Information Officer

Art Rempp

Budget Manager
Renée Miller 

Chief of Airport Police
Ricardo Duarte

Director Of 
Operations
Graham Ritz

Chief Legal Officer
Jenn Ewan

Mgr of Safety Mgmt 
Systems

Oren Fallon

Mgr of Aviation 

Compliance 
Romona Agena

 Mgr of Airport 

Communications &

 Special Projects

Ben Carpenter

Accounting Manger
Tracy Caster 

Mgr of  IT 
Shane Imsdahl

 Mgr of IT Security
Edgar Sierra 

Director of Contracts 
& Procurement  

Kayleen Mahlberg

Mgr Engineering & 
Construction
Derek Starkey

Chief People, 
Culture, & Equity 

Officer
Emily Ellison

Mgr of Labor 
Relations & Benefits

Julie Blevins

 Manager of People 
Operations

Christy Wheeler

Police Assistant Chief
Mark Jongsma

Mgr of Terminal 
Operations

Janelle Conine

Mgr of Reno-Stead 
Airport

Scott Gordon

Mgr of Landside 
Operations 

Brandon Mikoleit

Mgr of Airside 
Operations

Vacant

Chief Commercial 
Officer

Mark Berg

Mgr of Airport Economic 
Development

Aurora Ritter

Mgr of Properties 
Brad Erger

Concessions Mgr
Shawna Carpenter

Mgr Air Service & Cargo 
Business Development

Hasaan Azam, 
Manager

Air Service Specialist
 Garrett Hintze

Chief Marketing &          
Public Affairs Officer

Natalie Brown

Director of 
Marketing

April Conway

Director of 
Government Affairs

Lindsay Anderson

Mgr of Community 
Relations & Cultural 

Engagement
Annie Turner

Chief Planning & 
Infrastructure Officer

 Gary Probert

 Director Facilities & 
Maintenance 

Chris Cobb

Building Maintenance 
& Services 

Superintendent
George Lanyon

Airfield Maintenance 
Superintendent

Dave Derie

Mgr of Planning & 
Environmental Services

Lissa Butterfield

Chief Air Service 
Development Officer 

Tina Iftiger

MoreRNO Program 
Director

 Jackie Caulk

More RNO Liaison 
Manager

 Trish Tucker

More RNO Program 
Controls Director

 Holly Luna

Senior Airport Project 
Manager

Amanda Twitchell

Mgr of Public Affairs
Nicolle Staten

Associate General 
Counsel 

Tom Luria



APPENDIX B – CBP Map/FIS Envelope



CUSTOMS & BORDER PROTECTION FEDERAL INSPECTION STATION (CBP FIS):  Please read and review this slide carefully.      It 

contains important informa�on when DRIVING or WALKING on the north ramp (between the C Concourse and Cargo buildings).   

Failure to follow the direc�ons presented can result in fines of up to $10,000 to you and/or your company.                                   

Please ask the Badging Office or your supervisor for clarifica�on if anything is unclear. 

C CONCOURSE 

Gate  

155 

CBP 

FIS 

• Red lines painted 

on the pavement 

around N1 pad and 

the area in front of 

the CBP FIS is    

designated a 

“PROHIBITED 

ZONE” 

• When CBP is pro-

cessing an interna-

�onal flight, the 

PROHIBITED ZONE 

may not be 

breached either on 

foot or in a vehicle. 

• BARRIERS with 

signage placed on 

the vehicle service 

road (blue on map) 

are visual cues that 

the PROHIBITED 

ZONE is in effect 

and no one may 

enter the area 

without prior     

authoriza�on from 

the CBP Port      

Director. 

PLEASE NOTE that fines have been levied against 

both individuals and companies for failing to 

abide by this procedure. 



APPENDIX C – RTAA Lost and Found Policy and 
Procedures



 
 

P.O. Box 12490, Reno, NV 89510 | 775-328-6400 | www.RenoAirport.com 
 

 
  

Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport 
 

 
August 2023 
 

Lost and Found Policy and Procedures for  
Reno-Tahoe International Airport  

 
In accordance with RTAA Lost and Found Policy Number 100-030 and Board Resolution 531 
 
Handling Voluntarily Abandoned Property (VAP) at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO) 
is a complex task due to security concerns and limited resources of the Reno-Tahoe Airport 
Authority (RTAA). The above-mentioned policy dated January 12, 2017, states that all VAP found 
by employees, tenants, or the general public is to be turned into the RTAA Administrative Front 
Desk. 
 
As per the Memorandum of Agreement, dated September 4, 2014, between the Transportation 
Security Administration (TSA), the TSA will collect items of personal property lost at the security 
checkpoint and baggage screening areas. The TSA will provide an itemized list indicating the 
date and location in which the items were found. The property will then be picked up by an 
RTAA Airport Operations Specialist (AOS) by 10:00 a.m. (Monday through Friday, excluding 
holidays) and delivered to the RTAA Administrative Front Desk. 
 
Lost and found items may not be taken, given, borrowed, or used for any business or personal 
use. All items will be returned to their owner at the owner’s expense, disposed of, or donated to 
local non-profit organizations. The main objective of the Lost and Found Policy is to provide the 
owner of the lost property an opportunity to claim their item. The following information details 
the procedures required to ensure the policy is adhered to.   
 
For questions about lost and found procedures, contact the Lost and Found Office at 
775.328.6400. 
 
Discovering an Item   
A lost and found item may be discovered at any time; it is important that everyone is familiar 
with the process of how to deliver the item to Lost & Found. 
 
If an employee or tenant reports an unattended bag/item, a canine team, if available, can be 
dispatched to sweep the bag/item prior to the employee/tenant moving it to lost and found.  
Airport Police will only seize/hold items of evidentiary value related to a criminal investigation. 
 
If an item is found when RTAA offices are open (7:30 a.m-11:30a.m., 12:30 p.m.-4:30 p.m. 
Monday through Friday, excluding holidays), it should be brought to the RTAA Administrative 



 
 
 

 
 

 
Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport                   

 

Front Desk. If RTAA offices are closed, tenants should call Airport Communications at 
775.328.6600 and an AOS will be dispatched to assist. The AOS should then:  
 

• Follow the found item instructions at the Front Desk 
• Use RTAA iPad to take a picture of item 
• Place item in the after-hours plastic bin located behind the Front Desk 
• The Front Desk staff will record these items in the database on the next business day 

 
Air Comm may attempt to page the property’s owner if there is identity information on the 
item. If the property’s owner responds to Air Comm’s page and is already past the TSA Security 
Checkpoint (post-security), but the lost item is pre-security, the owner/passenger must exit the 
sterile area to retrieve their property.  Lost items may never be taken into the sterile area 
without that item being screened at the TSA Checkpoint.   
 
If the property owner is already post-security and their item is also post-security, they can be 
given their item without having to go back through security.   
 
Items with a known owner (i.e., a passenger calls soon after a found item has been placed in 
lost and found and claims it as theirs but says they will pick it up upon their return), must still be 
logged into the Lost and Found software.     
 
Accepting and Logging Items 
Lost or abandoned items may be turned into the RTAA Administrative Front Desk by any 
passenger, employee, or tenant.  The Front Desk Receptionist should wear protective covering 
(gloves, mask covering, etc.) when handling suspicious lost and found items, going through 
purses/ bags, or handling any kind of medication.  
 
Due to liability issues, RTAA does not store items for passengers or airport guests, including 
vehicle keys. (This includes holding them for another person to pick them up.)     
 
Unless otherwise indicated, the below items must be disposed of.  These items may not be 
logged.    

• Any item that may have been in contact with bodily fluid. 
• Alcoholic Beverages, such as liquor and wine.   
• Perishable or moldy items.   
• Any Burning Man items that are not clean and/or safe (i.e., clothing, bedrolls, hygiene 

articles, camping gear).  
• Any container that holds inhalers, toothbrushes, shaving kits, makeup kits, curling irons, 

water bottles, hairbrushes.  
• Body piercing items of any kind. (excludes earrings) 
• Any/all tobacco products including E-cigarettes. 
• Knives 



 
 
 

 
 

 
Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport                   

 

• Personal clothing that is worn close to the skin (i.e., shorts, pants, under garments, 
pajamas, hats).   

• Pillows, neck pillows, children’s dirty blankets, chair pads. 
• CPAP breathing machine tubing must be disposed of by Maintenance per Hazmat 

procedures.  The breathing machine itself will be held in Lost and Found, if it can be 
tracked to a specific passenger/has identifiable ID on the equipment.  

  
Note:  If a found item is one that a reasonable person believes should not be stored, such as 
suspicion of infestation, the item has an odor, or similar problem, then dispose of it properly.  
The description (including any serial numbers, model numbers or identification), the area where 
found, and the date the item was found must still be logged, along with the disposal method 
and the reason for the disposal.  RTAA supervisors and managers, as well as Front Desk 
personnel may use their personal discretion to determine which items to dispose of and which 
items to keep.   
 
 
Special Items 
 
The following items should be handled as specified below: 
 

• Diabetic blood testing kits will be kept for 60 days.  After 60 days, these must be 
disposed of by Maintenance per Hazmat procedures.  (Gloves must be worn when 
handling these items.) 

• Prescription medication can be kept if it has a name associated with it but must be kept 
in a plastic bag.  If there isn’t a name, contact Airport Police to destroy.    

• Marijuana Non-RX – Contact Airport Police to collect and destroy.  
• Earbuds placed inside the ear (without case) will be automatically donated (excludes 

external headphones). 
 
Lost or abandoned items will be recorded by the Front Desk Receptionist, in the Lost and Found 
software.  
 
The following groups have access to the Lost and Found software: 

• Front Desk Receptionist 
• Customer Experience Team 
• Airport Operation Specialists  
• Police Management/Officers  
• Internal Audit  

 
Items of apparent high value, such as jewelry, wallets or purses with money, debit, credit cards, 
etc. will be secured until claimed, donated or disposed of in accordance with this policy. Secure 
storage areas include the safe in the Lost and Found closet near the Front Desk.  
 



 
 
 

 
 

 
Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport                   

 

On a daily basis, the Front Desk administrative staff is responsible to compare the found list with 
the lost list, in order to connect owners to their lost property as quickly as possible. Address, 
phone numbers, or other identifying information attached to the item may and should be used 
by the Receptionist to notify an owner of a found item.  
 
Logging Lost Items 
When the RTAA Front Desk Receptionist receives a call, email, or in-person request from anyone 
searching for a lost item that has the potential to be turned in to the RTAA Lost & Found (i.e., 
not items known to be left on an aircraft OR items known to be in possession of an airline), staff 
should first search the Lost and Found software.  
 
Returning Items Identified as Lost 
Any RTAA staff member who returns an item to its owner, from the Lost and Found inventory, 
must have the owner sign electronically through the Lost and Found software on the iPad 
located at the Front Desk.  If an item is returned from another location in person, it should be 
reported to the Front Desk Receptionist or an AOS and updated in the Lost and Found software.  
 
Owners who make a claim for a lost item are required to provide a reasonable item description, 
the date the item was lost, and a form of identification from which the Front Desk Receptionist 
can record their name and address. If the item being returned is of high value, the front desk 
receptionist must take a picture of the ID belonging to the person retrieving the item. 
 
Unless there are special circumstances, RTAA will encourage owners of lost & found property to 
claim their item(s) during normal business hours (Monday through Friday, 7:30am-11:30am-
12:30pm to 4:30pm, excluding most holidays).  For special circumstances, the Front Desk 
Receptionist may schedule a time for Airport Police or an Airport Operations Specialist to meet 
a passenger at the Front Desk to return an item. 
 
Items are returned to their owner at the owner’s sole cost and expense. No item will be shipped 
to its owner at the RTAA’s expense without approval by the Manager of Terminal Operations, as 
program costs are borne by that department.  (The Front Desk has specific shipping procedures 
that must be followed.)    
 
Unclaimed Item Disposition 
Unclaimed items are kept in the storage closet at the Administrative Front Desk for 30 days 
(storage room permitting). After that time, the items are sent to RTAA’s warehouse for storage 
for an additional 30 days.  
 
Before sending items to the storage unit(s), the Front Desk Receptionist must: 

• Check call-in list vs. lost item list/storage closet one last time to determine if any 
matches can be made 



 
 
 

 
 

 
Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport                   

 

• TWO front desk staff members will work together to check-off the items going to 
storage, with one person in the database adding the “item location” as “storage 
warehouse”. 

• Ensure ALL bags (backpacks, luggage, etc.) have been looked through (this should be 
done as soon as we get them if possible) and that a memo listing its contents stored in 
the Lost and Found software.  Do not separate contents from the bag (unless perishable 
items).  

• When boxing items to place into storage: 
o All boxes are to be identified as to the items in box, along with month and year 

found, i.e., “Lost and Found jewelry – July 2023”.   
 Only store one full month at a time in a box.  (Do not split months, i.e. 

April/May.) 
 Type information in bold on paper at about a 35-point font and tape to 

box 
• Note on box when the 60-day hold period expires 

o Identification tags MUST be kept attached. This is the only way to go back into 
the computer and log an item’s disposition/ “item location” after 60 days.   

o Try to box items based on donation destination grouping (items going to the 
same typical donation center). Separate sunglasses and prescription eyeglasses 
as they go to separate donation sites. 

o High priced items, at the discretion of the Front Desk Receptionist (money, 
debit/credit cards, gift cards, jewelry etc.), should be placed into a separate box. 
 

After items being held for 30 days in the front desk lost and found closet, Front Desk staff will 
contact Maintenance to schedule pick-up and delivery on the last week of each month. Before 
items are moved to longer term storage, the Front Desk Staff will send APD all information for 
items with an estimated value of over $1000.00 excluding electronics. APD will check if these 
items have been reported as stolen.  

 
Items not claimed within 60 days will be disposed of by Front Desk staff using these methods: 

• All tags must be pulled off items, collected, and returned to the Front Desk staff, so that 
an UPDATED disposition/ “item location” can be typed in the Lost & Found database   

• Pull all electronics with storage capabilities (i.e., laptops, tablets, cell phones, smart 
watches, cameras) and give to the designated charity. 

• Separate contents of bags (backpacks, luggage, etc.) into the respective donation 
groups. 

• Debit/credit cards are shredded. 



 
 
 

 
 

 
Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport                   

 

• Any cash (this includes casino tokens or foreign currency) and/or gift cards that may or 
may not still have value must be given directly to one of the RTAA’s designated charities. 
The Manager of Terminal Operations will work with the RTAA Caring Campaign 
Committee to donate said cash/gift cards.   

 
There is one Lost and Found storage unit that will be organized by each month. 

• 60+ day items must be disseminated to the respective charities, etc. prior to moving 
fresh items from the Front Desk storage closet to the warehouse.   

o Maintenance will deliver donations and return paperwork to the Front Desk.   
• This will be scheduled to take place during the last week of every month.     
• When the Front Desk storage closet items are moved to the warehouse: 

 
Disposition of specific items after 60 days will be as follows: 
Cash or Gift Card(s): Donated to RTAA designated charity (via RTAA Caring Campaign 
Committee) 
 
High Value Items: Donated to RTAA designated charity   
 
Eyeglasses: Donated to local Lions Club 
 
Bicycles: Donated to local Kiwanis Club bicycle program 
 
Clothing/Shoes/Purses/Belts/Clothing Accessories: Donated to RTAA designated charity 
 
Ambulatory Devices (Canes/Walkers/Crutches/etc.): Donated to Care Chest of Sierra Nevada 
 
Cell Phones, flash drives, and Electronics: Items will be donated to RTAA designated charity  
 
Luggage: Donated to RTAA designated charity or to RTAA Police K9 Team for training as needed 
 
Sporting Goods: Donated to RTAA designated charity 
 
The Front Desk Receptionist will sign off on the donation sheet as will the Manager of Terminal 
Operations. The donation sheet will then be given to the head of the Caring Campaign to be 
delivered to the charity.  All organizations receiving donations will be asked to sign a receipt for 
the items accepted. The Head of the Caring Campaign will return the donation sheet to the 
Front Desk Receptionist. 
 
Miscellaneous 
All other goods are donated to the RTAA charities of the year. 
Charities will be contacted annually to determine if they are still the appropriate place for the 
listed donation items. 



 
 
 

 
 

 
Reno-Tahoe International Airport | Reno-Stead Airport                   

 

 
*Note:  As per the RTAA President/CEO, or his/her designee, both High Sierra Industries and the 
Good Shepard’s Clothes Closet are also acceptable charities.  
 
 
 



APPENDIX D – RNO Area Map 



BBQ Areas  

Customs Ramp N-1 

Terminal Ramp 

North Transient Ramp 

South Transient Ramp 

Appendix B 



APPENDIX E – RNO Gate Rules and Procedures



1 

 

 

 

 
 

GATE RULES AND PROCEDURES 
RENO-TAHOE INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 

 
PURPOSE: The availability of Gates at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport (Airport) is limited 
and requires frequent coordination between the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (Authority) and the 
Airlines operating at the Airport to ensure Gates are available to accommodate all operations of 
Airlines and ensure a safe, fair, and competitive environment at Airport.  Furthermore, during periods 
of construction, the Authority and the Airlines operating at the Airport (or seeking to operate at the 
Airport) will be required to accommodate operations in a manner to make the most efficient and 
flexible use of scarce resources and that permits the Authority to accommodate the operations of all 
Airlines, to the greatest extent feasible. The Authority has established the following Gate Rules and 
Procedures (“Procedures”) to govern the scheduling of Airline use of all Gates and Hardstand 
positions and the assignment of aircraft to those Gates and Hardstands. 
 
OPERATING PRINCIPLES AND GOALS: The Authority does not permit the exclusive use of 
any Gates at Airport, and all Gates are either Common Use Gates or Preferential Use Gates. The 
Authority will generally follow these Procedures but reserves the right to deviate from the Procedures 
when doing so is required to ensure safe, fair, and/or competitive use of Gates. 
 
The mutual goal of the Authority and the Airlines serving the Airport is to provide for the optimal 
utilization of Gates at the Airport by: 
 

• Ensuring safe and efficient use of all Gates and Hardstands at the Airport; 
• Ensuring all Airlines have access to the facilities at Airport; 
• Providing support for new entrant Airlines to operate at Airport and for incumbent Airlines to 

expand air service at Airport; 
• Maximizing the ability to accommodate an Airline’s operations during construction at one or 

more of its leased Preferential Use Gates;  
• Providing reasonable certainty of Gate availability to facilitate the Airlines’ schedules; and 
• Providing reasonable consistency for Gate assignments to support efficient Airline operations 

and limit unnecessary movement of equipment and personnel 
 
APPLICABILITY: The Procedures apply to all Airlines operating at the Howard W. Cannon 
Terminal and adjacent Hardstand positions at the Airport. 
 
DEFINITIONS: The following words, terms and phrases, whenever used herein, shall have   the 
following meaning: 
 



2 

 

 

 
Advance Schedule – a schedule submitted by an Airline to the Authority at least sixty (60) days before 
operations pursuant to such schedule commence.  
 
Affiliate Airline – an Airline that is (i) a parent or subsidiary of an Airline; or (ii) shares an 
International Air Transport Association (IATA) code with an Airline at the Airport (code-sharing 
partner); or (iii) otherwise operates under essentially the same trade name as an Airline at the Airport 
and uses essentially the same livery as an Airline; and (iv) in each case, has been designated as an 
Affiliate pursuant to an active Signatory Airline Agreement or Non-Signatory Airline Agreement. 
 
Airline – a company engaged in the business of commercial air transportation of persons, property, 
cargo, and mail as a scheduled or unscheduled air carrier and is certificated or otherwise authorized 
by the United States Government to engage in such business.  An Airline shall include Charter Airline. 
 
Aircraft Gauge – collectively, the length, wingspan, and quantity of seats on an aircraft; with a change 
in any one of such characteristics that would impact a Gate assignment, including altering the 
applicable Period of Use, being considered a change in Aircraft Gauge.  
 
Airport Operations – a representative or designee of the President and CEO responsible for enforcing 
the Authority’s Airport rules and regulations and responsible for Gate Assignments and other 
activities relating to airside, landside and terminal activities. 
 
Authority – the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority, a quasi-municipal corporation organized under 
Chapter 474, Statutes of Nevada 1977, as amended. The Authority is the owner and operator of 
Airport. 
 
Charter Airline – the on-demand or commercial Airline whose entire aircraft is hired by a  third party 
for carrying passengers. 
 
Common Use Gate – Gates controlled by the Authority and not leased to any Airline; Gates made 
available for common use by multiple Airlines. Common Use facilities may be converted to 
Preferential Use at the Authority’s sole discretion to accommodate the space requirements for an 
Airline to meet the terms of a Signatory Airline Agreement. 
 
Common Use Ticket Counter – Ticket counter controlled by the Authority and not leased to any 
Airline; each ticket counter includes two operation positions. 
 
Existing Scheduled Service – a flight which is currently operated by a specific Airline at a specific 
time of day consisting of the Period of Use and the Buffer Period. Changes of less than 30 minutes to 
Existing Scheduled Service will not be considered a change to Existing Scheduled Service, as long as 
the change does not conflict with another Airline’s Existing Scheduled Service including Buffer 
Periods assigned to the same Gate. 
 
Gate – those portions of the terminal comprised of a passenger loading bridge, if any, a passenger hold 
room and the associated portion of ramp area appurtenant to such hold room. 
 
Gate Assignment – the privilege of having access to a specific Gate at a given time on a specific day 
or days of the week for a scheduled operation, as designated by Airport Operations. 



3 

 

 

 
Gate Requesting Airline – an Airline, including any Airline seeking to expand its service or an Airline 
seeking entry into the Airport, that is in need of space or facilities at the Airport which cannot be met 
by use of then unleased premises or Common Use Facilities in proximate location to its existing 
Airline Premises, if any. 
 
Hardstand – an area of the ramp shown on Exhibit __ to which an aircraft may be towed when 
deplaning at a Gate has been completed and at which an aircraft may be directed to remain overnight.   
 
IATA – the International Air Transport Association, a trade association of the world’s airlines that is 
currently headquartered in Montreal, Quebec, Canada with executive offices in Geneva, Switzerland. 

Maximum Gate Occupancy Time – the maximum period of time that an Airline may use an assigned 
Gate for an operation, as further detailed in Section II.A; provided, however, that the Authority will 
not generally enforce such maximum period unless necessary to accommodate another Scheduled 
Operation or irregular operation. 
 
Non-Preferential Gate User – an Airline that is assigned the use of a Gate that it does not lease, 
including a Common Use Gate or the Preferential Use Gate leased to another Airline. 
 
Non-Signatory Airline – an Airline that has not entered into a Signatory Airline Agreement with the 
Authority. 
 
Non-Signatory Airline Agreement – the month-to-month Airline Operating Agreement between the 
Authority and a Non-Signatory Airline. 
 
Period of Use – the period that an aircraft may occupy a Gate, from the later of (x) the aircraft touching 
down at the Airport and (y) commencement of use of the Gate by Airline’s personnel or Ground 
Handler at arrival to the later of the time (a) the aircraft is unblocked at departure and (b) use of the 
Gate by Airline’s personnel or Ground Handler ceases, which period may not exceed the applicable 
Maximum Gate Occupancy Time. 
 
President and CEO – the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Authority or his/her designee. 
 
Preferential Use Gate – A Gate that an Airline leases from the Authority pursuant to a Signatory 
Airline Agreement and which the leasing Airline has preference in its right to use the Gate compared 
to any other Airline, subject to the Signatory Airline Agreement and these Procedures. 
 
Schedule Submission – an Airline’s flight schedule and other information consistent with the Schedule 
Submission Protocols.   

Schedule Submission Date – sixty (60) days before the date that the requested schedule is to become 
effective. 

Schedule Submission Protocols – protocols for all Airlines which include schedule requirements, 
formats, reporting, and deadline of submissions as such requirements may be adopted and modified 
by the Authority from time to time by written notice to the Airlines. All Schedule Submissions and 
proposed changes thereto shall be provided in electronic format readable in IATA Standard Schedules 
Information Manual (SSIM) Chapter 6 or 7 format or other form acceptable to the Authority to allow 



4 

 

 

the information to be processed by the Authority’s gate management software. The Initial Schedule 
Submissions shall specify, for each flight: 

o The flight number;  

o Scheduled dates, flight arrival, and departure times; 

o Number of seats and aircraft equipment type; and  

o Origination City /Destination City Flight links/turns between arrival and departure flight 
segments. 

Scheduled Operation – a commercial flight operated by an Airline or its Affiliate to or from the Airport 
and published in the OAG or a similar third-party publication by the Schedule Submission Date.  

Seasonal Service - any scheduled service, one or more times per week, that upon announcement is not 
operated on a published schedule pattern within every month of the year (January through December) 
but is operated for a period of more than 90 days, but less than 365 days, in one calendar year. 
 
Signatory Airline – an Airline that has entered into a Signatory Airline Agreement with the Authority 
that remains in effect. 
 
Signatory Airline Agreement – a long-term Airline-Airport Use and Lease Agreement between the 
Authority and a Signatory Airline that is in substantially the same form as all such agreements. 
 
Turn – an inbound and outbound flight operation.   

 
PROCEDURES: 
 

I. FLIGHT SCHEDULE REVIEW AND GATE ASSIGNMENT 
 

A. The Authority utilizes gate management software for assignments of Common Use Gates and, 
if necessary, assignment of available Periods of Use of Preferential Use Premises to Gate 
Requesting Airlines. An Airline leasing one or more Preferential Use Gates shall be required 
to operate from its Preferential Use Gates unless there is a Scheduled Operation already at the 
same Period of Use at each such leased Gate. Each Airline wishing to use Common Use Gates 
must submit Schedule Submissions via the Authority’s then current gate management 
software. Upon submission, Common Use Gates are marked as pending until approved by 
Airport Operations.  The Schedule Submission shall document the requested schedule of all 
flights to be operated by the Airline and any Affiliate Airline on Common Use Gates by day 
of the week and time of day for the entirety of the year in accordance with the Schedule 
Submission Protocols, and Airline must hold all necessary approvals from the FAA and the 
Authority to operate the requested schedule of flights. 
  

B. The Authority will view Schedule Submissions by two distinct timeframes: 
 

1. Advance Planning Process: Schedule Submissions submitted to the Authority by an 
Airline by the Schedule Submission Date preceding the month of the flight. Requests to 



5 

 

 

operate Scheduled Operations submitted on or before the Schedule Submission Date will 
have priority for use of Common Use Gates and open Periods of Use on Preferential Use 
Gates over those submitted after the Schedule Submission Date, as described below. 
 

2. Ad hoc Planning Process: Schedule Submissions submitted at any time after the Schedule 
Submission Date shall be considered “Ad Hoc Scheduled” and will be accommodated on 
Common Use Gates and open Periods of Use on Preferential Use Gates to the extent 
practicable after accommodating all Advanced Scheduled flights, as described below. 

 
C. The Authority reserves the right to assign a Gate Requesting Airline to a Preferential Use Gate 

leased by another Airline in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Signatory Airline 
Agreement.  

 
If an Airline desires to initiate new service at a Common Use Gate during the period covered 
by a prior Schedule Submission, it shall make an additional Schedule Submission and 
coordinate with the Authority to operate on Common Use Facilities to the extent there are 
Common Use Facilities available.  The Authority will review the availability of a Period of 
Use at a Common Use Gate for the requested time and day(s) for the new service.  If there is 
availability, the Authority will update its database and allocate the necessary Gate and other 
Common Use Facilities.  If there is not availability at the time and day(s) requested, the 
Authority will propose alternative Period(s) of Use to the Airline, which may include the 
identification of Periods of Use available on a Signatory Airline’s Preferential Use Gate.  If 
the Airline accepts an alternative Period of Use on a Common Use Facility, then the Authority 
will update its database and allocate the necessary Gate.  If the Airline desires the use of a 
Period of Use on a Signatory Airline’s Preferential Use Gate, the Airline may submit a request 
to the Signatory Airline for voluntary accommodation or submit a request for accommodation 
to the President and CEO demonstrating: (i) the Gate Requesting Airline has contacted all 
Signatory Airlines, and has used reasonable efforts to find reasonable accommodation for its 
proposed operations and the space or facilities it needs; (ii) the Gate Requesting Airline 
requires the requested space or facilities to accommodate passengers or aircraft; and (iii) 
suitable Common Use Facilities to serve the Gate Requesting Airline’s operations are not 
reasonably available. 

If an Airline requests changes to an already submitted Schedule Submission for flights it seeks 
to operate on Common Use Gates, the provisions regarding Ad Hoc Schedule submissions 
shall apply to flight(s) for which there is a change in Aircraft Gauge that impacts Gate 
assignments, either at the assigned Gate or at adjacent Gates, or a change to the scheduled 
arrival or departure time that would cause the scheduled Period of Use between such flights 
and the preceding or succeeding flights at the assigned Gate to be increased to more than the 
Maximum Gate Occupancy Times. 

If an Airline modifies any flight scheduled on a Common Use Gate, the Airline shall send 
written updates to the Authority as soon as possible before such modification will take effect 
and such updates shall comply with the requirements for Schedule Submission Protocols.  

D. The Authority shall use the following factors, in the following order, with each level of 
preference being satisfied before operations at the next level of preference are accommodated, 
to determine the preference for assigning use of Common Use Gates: 
 



6 

 

 

1. Type of Operation:  
 

a) International operations (scheduled and unscheduled) requiring FIS facilities 
b) Domestic or precleared Scheduled Operations 
c) Domestic or precleared unscheduled (charter) operations 

 
2. Signatory and Schedule Submission Factors: 

 
1 

Highest 
Priority 

Signatory Airline with Advance Scheduled service, if its leased 
Preferential Use Gate is unavailable due to construction.  
 

2 Signatory Airline that is continuing Advance Scheduled year-round 
service on a Common Use Gate at substantially the same time period. 
(Substantially = +/- 30 minutes) 
 

3 Signatory Airline that is continuing Advance Scheduled Seasonal 
Service on a Common Use Gate at substantially the same time period.  
 

4 Non-Signatory Airline continuing Advance Scheduled year-round 
service on a Common Use Gate at substantially the same time period. 
 

5 Non-Signatory Airline that is continuing Advance Scheduled Seasonal 
Service on a Common Use Gate at substantially the same time period. 
 

6 Signatory Airline with Advance Scheduled service for a new operation 
(or up-gauged aircraft or substantially changed time) that cannot be 
accommodated at its leased Preferential Use Gate(s). 

7 Non-Signatory Airline with Advance Scheduled service for a new 
operation (or up-gauged aircraft or substantially changed time). 
 

8 Signatory Airline operation that is Ad Hoc Scheduled, flight cannot be 
accommodated on leased Preferential Use Gate. 
 

9 
Lowest 
Priority 

Non-Signatory Airline operation that is Ad Hoc Scheduled. 
 

 
 

3. Aircraft size, from most demanding Aircraft Design Group to least. 
 

4. Passenger capacity of aircraft, by number of available seats.   
 

5. Number of days per week flight (route) will operate, with preference given to daily 
operations and then to lower frequencies in order. 
 

6. Distance of flight. 
 

E. For purposes of these Procedures, an Affiliate Airline shall be treated the same as the Airline 



7 

 

 

for which it is operating.  
 

F. Emergency landings, diverted flights and irregular operations are not subject to the foregoing 
criteria.  The Authority will work with the Airlines to accommodate irregular operations and 
reserves the right to assign Gates in its sole discretion to accommodate operational 
requirements; provided, however, that the Authority shall use commercially reasonable efforts 
to accommodate Signatory Airlines at their leased Preferential Use Gates.   

 
G. The Authority will use reasonable efforts to assign each Airline Gate(s) in close proximity to 

the Airline’s operating space. 
 

H. The Authority will use reasonable efforts to assign a Gate Requesting Airline to the same 
Gate(s) on a regular and consistent basis. 

 
I. Any Airline that occupies a Gate longer than the Maximum Gate Occupancy Time (including 

an RON aircraft) may be directed to tow the aircraft to a Hardstand position.  The Authority 
may assess a fine of $250 per 15-minute period exceeding the initial 15 minutes after being 
directed to tow the aircraft to a Hardstand position.  The Authority will typically only require 
towing and/or fine an Airline when the occupation of a Gate for a period longer than the 
Maximum Gate Occupancy Time interferes with another Scheduled Operation or the Gate is 
required to accommodate irregular operations. 

 
J. Notwithstanding any provision of these Procedures to the contrary, in the event that Airport 

gate capacity is temporarily reduced as a result of Terminal expansion, rehabilitation, or repair, 
compliance with federal regulation, or other Airport operating exigencies, the CEO or 
designee may in his or her discretion modify or waive any or all of the foregoing criteria to 
meet operational requirements on a temporary basis.  

 
II. GATE USE RULES 

 
A. Maximum Gate Occupancy Times shall be no longer than the Periods of Use set forth in the 

table below, based on the number of seats in the aircraft, not inclusive of a buffer of ten minutes 
before and ten minutes after each operation: 
 

 Aircraft 
with 

> 250 seats 

Aircraft with 
200-250 seats 

Aircraft with 
100-199 seats 

Aircraft 
with 50-99 

seats 

Aircraft with 
less than 50 

seats 
Turn 
(minutes) 

120 100 90 60 60 

Arrival 75 65 60 45 45 

Departure 75 65 60 45 45 

 
 

B. Each Period of Use shall include use of the associated Holdroom and check-in podium, 
Passenger Loading Bridge and appurtenant apron area (including GSE staging areas).  Non-
Preferential Gate Users shall promptly vacate the Gate upon the conclusion of the flight 
operation, unless the Non-Preferential Gate Users has the next scheduled operation on such 



8 

 

 

Gate.   
 

C. For all Non-Signatory Airlines, each Period of Use shall also include use of one Common Use 
Ticket Counter from a period of two and one half (2.5) hours to twenty (20) minutes prior to 
the scheduled departure time.  The Authority may, in its sole discretion, make additional 
Common Use Ticket Counters available or extend the permissible occupancy time thereof, 
upon request by the Non-Signatory Airline.  Non-Preferential Gate Users shall promptly 
vacate the Common Ticket Counter(s) following their designated period of use. 

 
D. Non-Preferential Gate Users shall have reasonable access to the assigned Gate including 

adequate area for ground support equipment. If requested by Airport Operations, all ground 
support equipment, tools, vehicles, and other support equipment associated with a Non-
Preferential Gate User’s use of the Gate shall be removed within ten minutes after the 
removal/departure of the aircraft. 
 

E. Airlines must notify Airport Operations any time a scheduled departure or arrival will be 
delayed.  In the case of frequent delays or repeated failure to notify Airport Operations which 
interfere with Scheduled Operations or the Authority’s Schedule Submission Protocols, 
Airport Operations shall consult with the Airline responsible for such delays or failures prior 
to its next Schedule Submission.  An Airline’s failure to modify its Schedule Submission or 
take other good faith actions to reduce such delays or failures may, in the Authority’s exercise 
of reasonable discretion, result in a lower priority for future Gate assignments than set forth 
herein. 

 
The Authority reserves the right to ensure assigned Common Use Gates and Preferential Use 
Gates are operated in a manner consistent with these Procedures and in a way that maximizes 
utilization of available capacity.  The Authority may monitor on an ongoing basis, the 
performance of all Airlines and, for compliance purposes, the published schedules of all 
Airlines using the Airport to ensure that actual performance relative to scheduled activity 
warrants the allocation of Common Use Gates provided in conjunction with the scheduling 
process.  

F. Early/Late Arrivals – Flights operating in advance of scheduled arrival time must, at the 
direction of Airport Operations, either hold for the assigned Gate in a designated area if the 
Gate is occupied or use another assigned Gate. Flights arriving later than scheduled arrival 
time may be assigned to another Gate (if available) at the discretion of Airport Operations 
depending on the remaining Maximum Gate Occupancy Time on the original Gate 
Assignment.  A Signatory Airline’s scheduled use of a Preferential Use Gate leased by such 
Signatory Airline shall have priority over all other use, unless not operationally feasible. 

 
Airlines operating off-schedule shall make every attempt to minimize the occupancy time on 
the Gate to avoid impacting other Scheduled Operations. In the event Airport Operations 
determines that such delay will affect a subsequent user of the Gate,  Airport Operations may 
require that the Airline tow the delayed aircraft from the Gate, and where operationally 
possible, a Signatory Airline will be given operational preference at its leased Preferential Use 
Gates; however, Airport Operations will make every reasonable effort to accommodate either 
the delayed aircraft or subsequent aircraft on another Gate. 

 



9 

 

 

G. An active aircraft Gate operation (arrival or departure) has priority over an aircraft that is 
occupying the Gate longer than the Maximum Gate Occupancy Time.   

 
H. In the event a Gate is not available to accommodate an active operation in accordance with 

these Procedures, the Authority may require an Airline to operate from a Hardstand at the 
discretion of Airport Operations, including ground loading or unloading of passengers.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Airline may elect to wait for an available Gate if Airport 
Operations determines waiting would not interfere with the operation of the Airport or other 
Airline operations.  The Authority reserves the right to assign Hardstand operations to smaller 
aircraft where there is conflicting use of the same Gate, although that will generally be the 
Authority’s last option for accommodating an operation. 

 
III. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

A. Cleaning of all debris, trash and/or spills resulting from minor maintenance or normal 
operations will be the responsibilities of the aircraft owner/operator. 

 
B. All Airlines (Signatory or Non-Signatory) that utilize a Common Use Gate or Preferential Use 

Gate must have towing capability and crews (or contract for same) for all aircraft that the 
Airline operates at the Airport.  
 

C. Routine aircraft maintenance of the type generally performed at a Gate shall be permitted at 
Common Use Gates and Preferential Use Gates; provided, however, that if such maintenance 
could cause an Airline to exceed its Maximum Gate Occupancy Time, the Airline shall notify 
Airport Operations before commencing such maintenance.  Airport Operations shall inform 
the Airline of the next Scheduled Operation at the Gate and reserves the right to (i) deny the 
Airline the right to conduct such maintenance at the Gate or (ii) direct the Airline to tow the 
aircraft to a Hardstand position, if the Gate is or is expected to be required to accommodate 
another Scheduled Operation. 

 
D. The Authority may deny or restrict access to the Gates and facilities for an Airline’s breach or 

non- compliance of any of the procedures herein. 
 

E. All Airlines with international operations at the Airport will be responsible for proper disposal 
of their regulated trash. 

 
F. Airlines may only use a ground handling company which has an active agreement with the 

Authority to provide the services sought by Airline. The contracting Airline shall be 
responsible for its contractors. 

 
IV. MODIFICATIONS, ALTERATION, ADDITIONS FOR DELETIONS FROM 

PROCEDURES 
 
The foregoing operating procedures will remain in effect until and unless modified,  altered, added to, 
or deleted by the President and CEO, following consultation with the Airlines operating at the Airport. 
 
 



APPENDIX F – RTAA Snow and Ice Control Plan



    
 

 
 

Snow and Ice Control Plan 
 
 
 

Reno-Tahoe International Airport 
 RNO 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



    
 

 

The intent of this plan is to provide a guide for snow removal and ice control for all persons 

engaged in this function at Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO). It should not be construed as 

being mandatory or the only means of controlling snow and ice. Due to the many variables 

involved in snow and ice control, it is impossible to set forth with any degree of accuracy, a 

textbook-type or step-by-step method of instruction for this type of work. It is suggested that 

persons using this guide be completely familiar with all physical aspects of the airport, adjacent 

areas and the equipment to be used. For further information on snow and ice control refer to 14 

CFR 139, Advisory Circulars 150/5200-30, “Airport Winter Safety Operations.” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
 i 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
Chapter 1 – Pre-Season Preparation        1 
         
1.1 Introduction          1 
1.2 Division Responsibilities          1 
  1.2.1 Airport Operations          1 
  1.2.2 Airfield Maintenance          1 
  1.2.3 Facilities Maintenance         2 
  1.2.4 Airport Communications        2 
  1.2.5 Purchasing and Materials Management       2 
  1.2.6 Marketing and Public Affairs         2 
1.3 Snow Removal Equipment and Vehicle Preparation      2 
1.4 Training            3 
 
Chapter 2 – Post Snow Event/Season Responsibilities      5 
 
2.1 Post Snow Event              5 
2.2 Post Snow Season          5 
 
Chapter 3 – Snow Event Preparation/ Removal Plan Implementation   6 
 
3.1 Snow Event Preparation Responsibilities       6 
   3.1.1 Airport Operations         6 
   3.1.2 Airfield Maintenance         7 
   3.1.3 Facilities Maintenance        8  
   3.1.4 Landside Operations         8 
   3.1.5 Manager of Airport Operations       8 
   3.1.6 Airport Police / Terminal Operations       8 

3.1.7 Manager of Purchasing and Materials Management     9 
   3.1.8 Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) Employees      9 
3.2 Snow Removal Teams Standby Schedules Procedures      9 
3.3 Snow Removal Responsibilities         9  
   3.3.1 Airport Operations         10 
   3.3.2 Airfield Maintenance          11 
   3.3.3 Facilities Maintenance         11 
   3.3.4 Landside Operations          12 
   3.3.5 Airport Communications        12 
   3.3.6 Marketing and Public Affairs        13 
   3.3.7 Airport Police Department         13 
   3.3.8 Airport Fire Department         13 
   3.3.9 Airfield Tenants          13 
3.4 Snow Team Call-Out Procedures         13 
3.5 Breaks and Meals           14 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
 ii 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Chapter 4 – Airside/Landside Snow Removal and Ice Control Guidelines   15 
 
4.1 Airside Introduction          15 
   4.1.1 Snow Removal Equipment         16 
   4.1.2 Priority Areas           16 
   4.1.3 Snow Removal Operations         17 
      4.1.3.1 Movement Areas          17 
      4.1.3.2 Terminal Ramp Areas         17 
   4.1.4 Inspections           18 
   4.1.5 Ice Control           18 
   4.1.6 Clean-up           19 
   4.1.7 Contractors           19 
4.2 Landside Introduction          19 
   4.2.1 Snow Removal Equipment         20 
   4.2.2 Snow Removal Responsibilities        20 
       4.2.2.1 Facilities Maintenance         20 
       4.2.2.2 Custodial           20 
       4.2.2.3 Landside Operations         21 
   4.2.3 Clean-up           21 
   4.2.4 Snow Removal Equipment         21 
   4.2.5 Ice Control           21 
 
Chapter 5 – Surface Assessment and Reporting        22 
 
5.1 Introduction           22 
5.2 Runway Condition Assessments         22 
5.3 Runway Condition Code (RCC)         22 
 

Appendix 

1. Airfield Snow Removal Equipment        23 

2. Airfield Condition Report (ACR)        24 

3. Airfield Snow Removal Priority Map        25 

4. Landside Snow Removal Priority Map        26 

5. Aircraft Deicing Locations Map         27 

6. Runway Condition Assessment Matrix (RCAM)       28 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
1 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

      CHAPTER 1 

PRE-SEASON PREPARATION 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
As with preparing for any large-scale event, various tasks must be accomplished to cover all 
aspects of that event. The following discussion covers the responsibilities of all divisions directly 
and indirectly affected by snow removal activities at the Reno-Tahoe International Airport (RNO). 
It should be noted that this list is not limited but will vary with respect to the complexity and ever-
changing nature of snow removal preparation. 
 
1.2 DIVISION RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

1.2.1 AIRPORT OPERATIONS 
The Airport Duty Manager (ADM) will conduct meetings with snow removal crews to discuss 
needed revisions to snow removal procedures, snow removal supplies such as chemical, sand 
and other necessary mechanical parts and supplies. 
 
Conduct annual preseason meeting with all Airside Tenant Managers and Tower Supervisors 
to discuss snow removal operations. 
 
Ensure Snow and Ice Control Plan is current and applicable divisions have and understand any 
revisions to snow plan. 
 
Review and revise as necessary “Snow Removal Operations” as stated in the Letter of 
Agreement (LOA) with the RNO Air Traffic Control Tower (ATCT). 

 
1.2.2 AIRFIELD MAINTENANCE 
Attend pre-season snow meetings as assigned; Superintendent to ensure snow crews 
understand the snow plan. 
 
Confirm snow teams and current phone numbers. 
 
Ensure all snow removal equipment has been/or is on a summer rehabilitation program. 
 
Ensure that all deice products meet manufacturer specifications requirements for viscosity. 
 
Prepare schedules for mounting plows and sanders. 
 
Establish routine maintenance for snow equipment during snow season between snowstorms, 
including provisions for immediate repair of broken-down equipment during snow events. 
 
Establish appropriate work orders for snow preparation and removal, etc. 
 
Have all equipment and supplies in stock prior to snow season.  

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
2 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Complete training of all snow team members in the operation of snow removal equipment prior 
to snow season. 
 
1.2.3 FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 
Attend pre-season snow meetings as assigned; Facilities Superintendent to ensure snow crews 
understand snow plan. 
 
Confirm snow teams and current phone numbers. 
 
Ensure all equipment and supplies are in stock prior to snow season. 
 
Complete training of all snow team members in the operation of snow removal equipment prior 
to snow season 
 
Coordinate with Airfield Maintenance Superintendent for routine maintenance of snow 
equipment and mounting of plows and sanders. 
 
1.2.4 AIRPORT COMMUNICATIONS  
Attend annual pre-season snow meetings as assigned; brief Airport Communications 
Specialists on their respective duties during snow removal operations. 
 
Confirm current phone contact names and numbers for contract snow removal. 
 
1.2.5 PURCHASING AND MATERIALS MANAGEMENT  
Attend annual pre-season meetings to understand contract, supply requirements, and hotel 
room block program for the upcoming snow season. 
 
Procure agreements and contact names and phone numbers for contract snow removal, supplies 
and food.  Disseminate this information to the following Division Managers prior to snow 
season: 

 Airport Operations  
 Airfield Maintenance 
 Facilities Maintenance 
 Airport Communications 
 

1.2.6 MARKETING AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS  
Invited to attend annual pre-season snow meetings to understand the use and importance of Snow 
Desk. 
 
Ensure that Public Affairs staff is familiar with procedures to update the Reno-Tahoe Airport 
Authority (RTAA) web site and respective social media sites. 
 

1.3 SNOW REMOVAL EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLE PREPARATION 
 
To withstand the rigors of snow and ice control operations, it is imperative that all vehicles and 
equipment be in the best mechanical condition.  See Appendix #1 for list of airfield snow removal 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
4 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

equipment.  Equipment must be thoroughly inspected, repaired, properly stored, and readily 
available for use well in advance of each winter’s operation.  Adequately heated storage must be 
available for snow removal equipment and Airport Operations vehicles during the winter season. 
 
The following procedures for preparing equipment are: 

 All snow removal and ice control vehicles operating in the Movement Area must be 
equipped with a two-way radio or be escorted by a vehicle with such radios. Radios must 
be capable of monitoring the Ground Control and Tower frequencies at all times. 

 All vehicles must be equipped with the necessary lights and warning signals for night 
operation in accordance with the current version of AC 150/5210-5, “Painting, Marking 
and Lighting of Vehicles Used on an Airport.” 

 Halliday RT3 shall be winterized prior to snow season. 

 Vericom brake meters will be calibrated and tested and ready prior to snow season. 

 Dry runs and inspection of snow removal equipment will be completed by doing following:
  

o Mount snowplow frames and sanders and make sure that parts are available for 
mounting plows and operators are trained to make proper adjustments. 

o Operate all equipment long enough to make sure that the equipment is in 
satisfactory operating condition. 

o Ensure all broom heads are mounted and adjusted properly; ensure replacement 
“brushes” are in inventory for immediate replacement as needed.   

o Ensure de-ice equipment is operational and has been adjusted for proper application 
rates. 

 

1.4 TRAINING 
 
Training of personnel in equipment operation and snow and ice control procedures shall be the 
responsibility of the Facilities Maintenance and Airfield Maintenance Superintendents.  Such 
training may include classroom instruction and "hands-on" training. 
 
Facilities Maintenance and Airfield Maintenance Superintendents will establish training 
guidelines for each piece of snow and ice control equipment to include course contents.  This will 
include initial and refresher training.  To maximize the training process, classes may be scheduled 
on each piece of equipment.  It shall be the employee's responsibility to arrange attendance at such 
classes. 
 
All personnel operating motorized snow and ice control equipment shall become proficient in the 
use of this equipment. All personnel operating snow removal equipment on the airfield shall also 
become proficient in aircraft radio procedures and phraseology. 
 
All training shall be completed prior to snow season and training records shall be forwarded to 
Aviation Compliance. Airfield and Facilities Superintendents will be responsible for having 
trained personnel available for snow removal operations. Any employee not completing the 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
4 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

required training for motorized snow removal equipment shall be utilized as support staff for snow 
removal and ice control operations. 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
5 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

CHAPTER 2 

POST SNOW EVENT/SEASON RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
2.1 POST SNOW EVENT 
 
The Airport Duty Manager will cancel any NOTAMs, update Airfield Condition Report (ACR) 
and Daily Operations Log as necessary. 
 
The Airfield and Facilities Maintenance Superintendents will ensure all equipment is cleaned, 
refueled and repaired as necessary. Facilities Maintenance personnel will arrange for all 
chemicals/sand barrels to be replenished. 
 
The Manager of Airport Operations or designee will schedule a snow debrief, if necessary, for 
timely discussion of the snow event with the RTAA employees. The meeting will include the 
Airport Duty Manager on duty during the snow event, all involved divisions superintendents and 
supervisors, and any available snow team members. The meeting will cover topics such as weather, 
chronological timeline of the snow removal operation and discuss solutions to problems that arose 
during the snow removal event. 
 
 
2.2 POST SNOW SEASON 
 
The Manager of Airport Operations or designee will be responsible for conducting Post Snow 
season meetings with the RTAA snow crews and tenants to discuss snow season events and overall 
implementation procedures of snow removal plan. 
 
Discussions may include, but are not limited to: 
 

 Any improvements to the Snow and Ice Control plan 
 Requests from division superintendents for new equipment 
 Modifications of any snow removal procedures 

 
Airfield and Facilities Maintenance Superintendents will review equipment and personnel issues 
and discuss with the Director of Facilities and Maintenance. 
 
Airport Operations Staff will revise and distribute any changes to Snow and Ice Control Plan to 
RTAA employees. Airport Operations will also review the Letter of Agreement (LOA) with 
ATCT. The LOA with ATCT is located in Exhibit #3 of the approved Airport Certification 
Manual.    
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
6 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

CHAPTER 3 
SNOW EVENT PREPARATION AND SNOW REMOVAL PLAN 

 

3.1 SNOW EVENT PREPARATION RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Each division has various responsibilities when preparing for forecasted snow events.  Their 
respective duties are as follows: 
 

3.1.1   AIRPORT OPERATIONS  
Review the National Weather Service (NWS) weather forecasts each afternoon and early 
morning.  NWS issues forecasted weather at approximately 0300 and 1530. Forecasts may be 
amended at other times during the day or will be amended if there is a significant change to 
local weather.  
  
If snow is forecasted to the valley floor, place respective teams on standby, and notify the 
following: 
 
 Manager of Airport Operations  
 Airfield Maintenance Supervisors 
 Facilities Maintenance Supervisors 
 Airport Communications  
 
Coordinate with Maintenance Superintendents and/or Supervisors which snow teams will be 
placed on standby and notify AIRCOM of snow team availability. 
 
Ensure that Airport Operations is adequately staffed for all snow events per Airport 
Certification Manual (ACM).  
 
ADM’s will verify with AIRCOM that an Everbridge notification for standby status has been 
sent to the following:  
 
 Manager of Airport Operations  
 Director of Airport Operations 
 Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer 
 Director of Facilities and Maintenance 
 Airfield Maintenance Superintendent 
 Airfield Maintenance Supervisors 
 Facilities Maintenance Superintendents  
 Facilities Maintenance Supervisors 
 RNO Air Traffic Control Tower 
 Contract companies 
 Airline Operations/Station Managers

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
7 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Ensure all Airport Operations vehicles are in proper working order including radios, cell 
phones, rugged laptops, RFT tablet and lighting equipment.  All deficiencies shall be reported 
for immediate repair or replacement.  
 
Ensure the Aviation Sentry Online, Vaisala Navigator, and AeroSimple are all in working 
order. 
 
Place an ADM on standby. 
 
Standby and activation of Snow Team status will be logged in the daily Operations Log, for 
tracking of personnel and equipment used during snow event preparation and actual snow 
removal.   
 
In the event of a severe full-scale snow event, it may become necessary to activate the Airport 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). This will be at the discretion of the Manager of Airport 
Operations, Director of Airport Operations or Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer. 
 
In the event of a severe full-scale snow event, if possible and when deemed appropriate, ensure 
an airline station manager is also in attendance for airline coordination. 
 
In the event of a severe full-scale snow event, if possible and when deemed appropriate, ensure 
a FBO manager is also in attendance for coordination of aircraft de-icing activities. 
 
3.1.2   AIRFIELD MAINTENANCE 
Ensure adequate equipment, materials, and personnel are provided for the implementation of 
the Snow and Ice Control Plan. 
 
Prepare snow removal equipment for use by checking fuel, oil and batteries, plows and brooms 
mounted, and radios in each vehicle are in working order.  All vehicles must have working 
two-way air to ground radios to maintain contact with ATCT and/or to monitor air traffic. 
 
Review standby schedule with operators so they are familiar with their respective snow teams 
and the standby schedules.  Each snow team will have one mechanic and one plow operator 
who will be designated as the "Snow Team Crew Leader". 
 
Every afternoon prior to a weekend or holiday, snow removal equipment and snow teams will 
be prepared as listed above. 
 
Have minimum stock levels of parts to support snow and ice control vehicles and equipment 
including 72-hour supply of gasoline and diesel fuel be available in the event of a prolonged 
snow event. 
 
Notify ADM on-duty of any equipment outages and time of anticipated repair. 
 
Notify ADM on-duty of individuals who are assigned or scheduled to be “Snow Team Crew 
Lead” for each individual snow event.  

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
8 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Stock an adequate supply of de-ice chemical for anticipated snow removal event. 
 
3.1.3   FACILITIES MAINTENANCE  
Ensure adequate equipment, materials, and personnel are provided for the implementation of 
the snow and ice control plan.  
 
Review standby schedule with plow operators so they are familiar with their respective snow 
teams and the standby scheduled. Each snow team will have one plow operator who will be 
designated as the "Snow Team Captain". 
 
Notify ADM on-duty of individuals who are assigned or scheduled to be “Snow Team Captain” 
for each individual snow event.  
 
Stock an adequate supply of de-ice chemical for anticipated snow removal event.  If more 
chemicals or sand is needed, coordinate with the Facilities Maintenance Superintendent for the 
delivery of additional supplies. 
 
Fill ice-melt buckets around ramp doors, and re-supply after each snow event.  
 
Every afternoon prior to a weekend or holiday, snow removal equipment and snow teams will 
be prepared as listed above. 
 
Notify ADMs of any equipment outages and time of anticipated repair. 
 
3.1.4   LANDSIDE OPERATIONS 
Ensure adequate de-ice chemical supplies are stocked to treat the sidewalks at the Landside 
Parking Plaza Building for anticipated snow removal events.   
 
3.1.5 MANAGER OF AIRPORT OPERATIONS 
Ensure that Airport Operations is adequately staffed for all snow events per Airport 
Certification Manual (ACM).  
 
In the event of a severe full-scale snow event, it may become necessary to activate the Airport 
Emergency Operations Center (EOC). This will be at the discretion of the Manager of Airport 
Operations, Director of Airport Operations or Chief Operations and Public Safety Officer. 
 
In the event of a severe full-scale snow event, if possible and when deemed appropriate, ensure 
an airline station manager is also in attendance for airline coordination. 
 
In the event of a severe full-scale snow event, if possible and when deemed appropriate, ensure 
a FBO manager is also in attendance for coordination of aircraft de-icing activities. 
 
3.1.6   AIRPORT POLICE / TERMINAL OPERATIONS  
Brief all on-duty Police Officers and Airport Operations Specialists of the importance of 
assisting Facilities Maintenance with traffic control during landside snow removal operations. 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
9 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

3.1.7 PURCHASING AND MATERIALS MANAGEMENT  
Have snow removal contracts set up and ensure ADM’s and AIRCOM are aware of contact phone 
numbers. 
 
Have all required materials on hand and procedures in place for timely delivery of replacement 
supplies. 
 
Coordinate block of hotel rooms with local hotels.  
 
3.1.8 RENO-TAHOE AIRPORT AUTHORITY (RTAA) EMPLOYEES 
Be aware of forecasted snow events. 
 
Be aware of and understand the standby schedules prior to departure from work in the evening 
or before weekends or holidays. 
 
Ensure RTAA issued cellphones are in working order. If they are not, notify immediate 
Supervisor for repair or replacement. 
 
Understand respective roles in the snow removal operation. 

 
3.2 SNOW REMOVAL TEAMS STANDBY SCHEDULE PROCEDURES 
 
Airside and Landside snow removal teams are divided up to provide adequate personnel for snow 
removal and to maintain normal operations during the winter months.  There are two Snow Teams; 
Team A and Team B.  Standby schedules and Standby pay shall be in accordance with the current 
union contract. 
 
It is the responsibility of the ADM to request the Airfield and Facilities Supervisors to place 
personnel on standby.  Every effort will be made to make a determination in placing personnel on 
standby in a timely manner with adequate warning. When personnel are placed on standby, this 
will satisfy the union contract requirement for approval of overtime by the appropriate supervisor. 
 
The ADM on-duty will place Snow Team personnel and a second ADM on standby whenever the 
NWS forecast calls for "snow to the valley floor" regardless of accumulations or temperatures or 
when, in the opinion of the ADM, it is deemed necessary.  
 
3.3 SNOW REMOVAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
As each division has various responsibilities when preparing for snow removal operations, it 
should be kept in mind that the goal of a coordinated operation is timeliness and effectiveness.  
Reno-Tahoe International Airport fosters the concept of operating as a team to meet this goal while 
ensuring the following responsibilities are met: 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
10 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

3.3.1 AIRPORT OPERATIONS 
The ADM on-duty will determine when appropriate to activate the Snow Desk.  Upon 
activating the Snow Desk position the ADM on-duty will assign a snow desk operator.   
 
The ADM is responsible for the overall operation of the Snow Desk.  
 
Notify ATCT of Snow Team activation. 
 
When partial or full-scale snow removal operations are required, notify Airfield and Facilities 
Maintenance Supervisors to call the standby snow teams for snow removal duty.  
 
Optimum ADM staffing will consist of two Airport Duty Managers.  If necessary, call in the 
standby ADM. 
 
Maintain operational control over airfield snow removal crews via the respective Snow Crew 
Lead for the duration of all airfield snow removal activities. 
 
Maintain situational awareness and coordination of landside snow removal activities via the 
Facilities Maintenance Supervisors for the duration of all landside snow removal activities. 
 
Coordinate active airfield snow removal activities through Snow Crew Leads.   
 
Coordinate all facilities snow removal activities through Facilities Supervisors. 
 
ADM will determine what areas are to be cleared and Snow Team Crew Lead will determine 
the method to be used to accomplish the task. 
 
Coordinate with Airlines for mutually agreeable time frames for snow removal in priority areas 
to ensure minimal interruption of service.  Maintain an awareness of the actual operating 
schedules for Air Carrier and Cargo aircraft. 
 
Coordinate snow removal activities within the NAVAID snow clearance areas with Airway 
Facilities Sector Field Office (AFSFO) and the ATCT. 
 
Advise ATCT and AIRCOM of snow removal commencement and update as necessary. 
 
Prepare for measuring friction coefficient of runways. 
 
If extensive snow removal operations are anticipated, advise AIRCOM to contact the Airfield 
and Facilities Maintenance Supervisors to coordinate a second crew to be placed on standby; 
notify AIRCOM of additional standby crews. 
 
Approve any changes in snow removal priorities. 
 
Any time that a shift change occurs between Airfield Maintenance Supervisors or Airport Duty 
Managers, a shift briefing will be held with the above personnel to pass on priorities for 
continuing snow removal operations.

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
11 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Verify Airfield Maintenance has assigned a mechanic, through Snow Crew Lead, to assist with 
clearing access roads (fire access roads, etc.) if he is not otherwise occupied. 
 
Release employees from snow removal duty and standby upon completion of snow removal 
on all surfaces or at the discretion of the ADM.  
 
3.3.2 AIRFIELD MAINTENANCE 
On duty airfield maintenance personnel will prepare snow removal equipment.  This will 
include checking fuel levels, checking oil levels and batteries, starting equipment, and ensuring 
radios and lights are operational. 
 
On duty personnel will begin snow removal on RWY 17R/35L or at specific locations as 
directed by the Airport Duty Manager as soon as snow begins to accumulate. 
 
Standby crews will report to the Airfield Maintenance building when arriving for snow 
removal duty.  All snow team members will advise the appropriate Airfield Maintenance 
Supervisor of their arrival to the airport. 
 
The Airfield Maintenance Supervisor will advice the ADM of staffing upon arrival of team. 
 
The mechanic on duty will be responsible for repairs on malfunctioning or broken equipment 
and servicing the oil. If not otherwise occupied, the mechanic can be used to open access roads. 
 
Each equipment operator is responsible for servicing fuel and sand supplies for their respective 
piece of equipment. This is usually accomplished prior to each weather event, following each 
event, and as needed during the event. 
 
Any time that a shift change occurs between Airfield Maintenance Supervisors or Airport Duty 
Managers, a shift briefing will be held with the above personnel to pass on priorities for 
continuing snow removal operations. 
 
The ADM will determine what areas are to be cleared and Snow Team Crew Lead will 
determine the method to be used to accomplish the task. 
 
3.3.3 FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 
Prepare equipment as directed by the ADM, or Facilities Supervisor. 
 
Begin snow removal on Landside areas as soon as snow begins to accumulate. 
 
Coordinate and monitor contractor snow removal operations. 
 
Apply de-ice chemicals to reduce icing hazards to all walkways in front of the terminal. 
Standby crews will report to their respective department areas when arriving for snow removal 
duty.  All snow team members will advise the appropriate Facilities Maintenance Supervisor 
of their arrival to the airport. 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
12 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Any time that a shift change occurs between Facilities Maintenance Supervisors or ADM, a 
shift briefing will be held with the above personnel to pass on priorities for continuing snow 
removal operations. 
 
Facilities Supervisors will determine what areas are to be cleared and will also determine the 
method used to accomplish the task. 
 
Facilities Supervisors shall be responsible to monitor snow buildup on the ticket lobby canopy.   
 
Facilities Supervisors will be responsible to initiate contract snow removal on the canopy when 
necessary.  If conditions warrant closure of the front curb area, the decision will be made jointly 
with the Facilities Maintenance Supervisor and the ADM on-duty.   
 
3.3.4 LANDSIDE OPERATIONS 
Begin snow removal on Landside areas as soon as snow begins to accumulate. 
 
Apply de-ice chemicals to reduce icing hazards to all Parking Plaza booths and sidewalk areas. 
 
3.3.5 AIRPORT COMMUNICATIONS  
Open AeroSimple using “rtaacommunications” log on. 
 
When notified by ADM that the Snow Teams are placed on standby, notify Airlines via 
ringdown and send out Everbridge notification using “Snow Team Standby” template.  
 
When notified by ADM that Snow Teams are activated, notify Airlines via ringdown and send 
out Everbridge notification using “Snow Team Standby” template. 
 
Notify ATCT via Ops channel when Snow Team activated. 
 
Create a “Snow Event” Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) call and enter the time Everbridge 
notifications were made. 
 
Log start time of snow removal operations as reported by the ADM in CAD.  
 
Send ACRs as directed by the ADM on-duty.  
 
When ADM advises Snow Teams activation, send Everbridge message with the information 
provided by the ADM. 
 
Make other notifications directed by the ADM.  
 
Lock down Gate 167 and advise Airport Operations Specialists that the gate is locked. 
 
Monitor flights using Flight Information Display System (FIDS) or Flightaware. 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
13 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

3.3.6 MARKETING AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS  
Monitor Everbridge notifications, Airfield Condition Reports (ACR’s) and contact AIRCOM 
if additional information is needed.  
 
Update public and media as necessary. 
 
3.3.7 AIRPORT POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Assist Airport Operations Specialists with monitoring curbside areas for unattended-parked 
vehicles. 
 
Provide traffic control in support of snow removal activities, when requested. 
 
Advise AIRCOM of any observed safety concerns. 
 
3.3.8 AIRPORT FIRE DEPARTMENT 
Continuously monitor fire hydrants, ingress/egress accessibility to fire house and other safety 
equipment for accessibility during snow removal operations. 
 
Report any discrepancies to AIRCOM for immediate attention. 
 
3.3.9 AIRFIELD TENANTS 
All Fixed Base Operators and Tenants will be responsible for snow removal and ice control on 
their designated leasehold areas. 

 
 
3.4 SNOW TEAM CALL-OUT PROCEDURES 
 
The ADM will make the determination to call-out standby Snow Teams to begin snow and ice 
control operations.   He/she will direct the call-out of snow and ice control teams whenever: 
 

 In his/her opinion, snow or ice accumulation may exceed 1/8" on paved surfaces based on 
forecasted conditions.  Forecasted accumulations on the valley floor do not necessarily 
mean snow and/or ice will accumulate on paved surfaces. 

 
 Anytime unforecasted snow or ice begins accumulation and, in the ADM's opinion, snow 

or ice accumulation may exceed 1/8" on paved surfaces. 
 

 Anytime the ADM or higher authority considers it to be in the best interest of the Airport. 
 
At the discretion of the Facilities Supervisor or Manager of Landside Operations together with the 
ADM, contract personnel may be contacted to supplement available snow and ice control 
resources.  
 
Once the ADM has determined that standby Snow Team members will be called out, the ADM 
will advise AIRCOM, who will ensure that an Everbridge message has been sent using the Snow 
Team Activation template. The ADM will notify Airfield and Facilities Supervisor directly to 
insure call out procedures are implemented.

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
14 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

3.5   BREAKS AND MEALS 
 
Though snow and ice are common to RNO, snow and ice control will be considered non-routine 
in nature and treated as a potential emergency situation.  Therefore, breaks will be rotated based 
on the need for continuous snow and ice control operations. Breaks and meals will be taken in 
accordance with the union contract and shall not be taken at the same time unless coordinated with 
Airfield and Facilities Supervisors and the ADM to insure adequate field coverage. 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
15 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

 CHAPTER 4 

AIRSIDE/LANDSIDE SNOW REMOVAL AND ICE CONTROL 

GUIDELINES 
 
4.1 AIRSIDE INTRODUCTION 
 
The Snow and Ice Control Plan has been prepared to comply with Title 14 CFR Part 139 and 
Advisory Circular 150/5200-30.  Safety is, and always will be, the primary consideration in snow 
removal operations conducted at RNO.  The ADM will ensure snow removal operations are 
conducted in accordance with the Letter of Agreement (LOA) with the RNO ATCT. The ADM 
has the authority to deviate from stated guidelines in the interest of safety and the efficiency of 
snow removal up to and including closing any or all paved movement areas. 
 
 
The primary goal of the Snow and Ice Control Plan is to safely keep instrument RWY 17R/35L 
and parallel TWY ALPHA open during snow and icing conditions as well as returning the airport 
to full operational status as soon as possible. If the Instrument Landing System (ILS) Runway 
17R/35L is closed due to snow or icing conditions, all efforts will be made to reopen it when safety 
permits. 
 
The following principles regarding snow removal shall be adhered to in maintaining safe operating 
conditions on Airport Operations Areas (AOA): 
 

 Drifted or piled snow shall be promptly removed off usable runway, taxiway and aircraft 
ramp surfaces. 

 In the event of measurable snow accumulation, snow berms shall be located off usable, full 
strength runway, taxiway and aircraft ramp surfaces. 

 Snow berms shall be placed no higher than regulated to ensure proper clearance of all 
aircraft propellers, engine pods and wing tips. 

 All full strength pavements shall remain clear of snow as not to impact aircraft wheel and 
landing gear systems. 

In the event that the snow removal crew is unable to comply promptly with the requirements stated 
above, the ADM shall utilize the NOTAM system to describe the existing conditions. The ADM 
shall promptly update the ACR to provide timely notification to Air Carrier Operations, ATCT, 
and other Airport Tenants. 
 
The Snow and Ice Control Plan will be implemented at the discretion of the ADM on-duty based 
upon his/her judgment of the following conditions: 
 

 Weather forecasts 
 Rate of snowfall and accumulation of snow 
 Air and pavement temperatures

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
16 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

 Winds 
 Physical characteristics of the snow 
 Runway friction coefficient 

 
Snow removal operations are to commence when snow begins to accumulate on the Movement 
Area surface.  A runway will be closed for aircraft use when there is more than ½" of slush, 2" of 
dry snow, or when the ADM determines that usage of a runway would be unsafe. 
 
The following discussion is to be used only as a guideline for removing snow from paved surfaces 
on the AOA. The ADM may, if operational needs dictate, authorize a deviation from the 
established priorities.  Snow Team Crew Leads and Airfield/Facilities Supervisors will be 
responsible for following the ADM’s direction. 
 

4.1.1 SNOW REMOVAL EQUIPMENT 
The ADM shall dispatch airside snow removal equipment in the following manner: 
 Brooms shall be the initial equipment used on Priority #1 areas with the goal of keeping 

the centerline clear of slush or snow. 

 When total snow accumulation reaches ¾" on paved surfaces, displacement plows may be 
used on lower priority areas.  Displacement plows shall be used to move snow when the 
brooms become ineffective, or when necessary, to remove snow cast off by the brooms and 
create a windrow.  Brooms will follow behind displacement plows to ensure the cleanest 
possible surface. 

 Rotary plows will be utilized to cast the snow beyond the edge lights. 

 Front loaders will be used to remove snow piles and assist with the clearing of taxiway 
intersections. 

 Bobcats and pick-ups with plows can be used in and around the Air Carrier Passenger 
Loading Bridges (PLB).  These will be used to assist the airside snow removal equipment 
assigned to the ramp areas at the discretion of the Snow Team Crew Lead or the on ADM. 

The ADM will determine areas to be cleared and the Snow Team Crew Lead shall determine 
the method to be used to accomplish the task. 
 
4.1.2 PRIORITY AREAS 
 
To maintain continuous operations, priority areas have been established in order of importance.  
The ADM has the authority to change the order of each area in the interest of safety and the 
efficient use of personnel and equipment.  Snow removal priorities are illustrated on Appendix 
#3.   
 
When necessary, under the direction of the ADM on-duty, clear access points and confirm gate 
operability at ARFF mutual aid access Gates 100, 160, 245, 275, 285, 350, and 465.   
 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
17 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

4.1.3 SNOW REMOVAL OPERATIONS 
 

4.1.3.1 MOVEMENT AREAS 
After the decision is made to initiate snow removal operations, the ADM will be responsible 
to contact the ATCT Cab Supervisor and inform him/her of closure times and, if possible, 
estimated reopening times. While keeping safety a priority, every effort will be made to avoid 
conflicts with arriving aircraft on ILS RWY 17R/35L. 
 
Runway closures will be at the discretion of the ADM and based upon runway surface 
conditions. Efforts will be made to keep closures times at 30 minutes; this estimated time is 
for planning purposes only and will not limit the time needed for complete snow removal or 
ice control to provide an acceptable runway surface.  The ADM will determine when the 
runway is available and clear of equipment prior to reopening. 
 
To reduce runway closure times, all snow removal equipment will be staged at the end of the 
runway prior to runway closure. 
 
Normal snow removal procedures will be to plow runways and taxiways with equipment in 
tandem, or "conga line," working parallel to the runway and taxiway centerlines by moving 
snow full width to both sides for removal by a high-speed blower. 
 
All equipment operators shall exercise caution to prevent damage to or burying of the runway 
and taxiway edge lights or signage. 
 
The ADM will continuously monitor the condition of RWY 17R/35L.  If snow continues to 
fall, work in all other areas will be suspended and all necessary equipment diverted to 
maintaining this runway. 
 
After snow has been removed from Priority 1 areas, snow removal operations will commence 
in other areas based upon their priority and at the discretion of the ADM. 
 
4.1.3.2 TERMINAL RAMP AREAS 
Snow removal shall commence on taxi lane and aircraft parking areas when 1 ½" of snow 
has accumulated. 
 
Airfield and Facilities Maintenance crews shall clear snow from the terminal building to the 
open ramp for pickup by heavy plows. 
 
Initial terminal ramp snow removal will allow for the operation of aircraft based on gate 
usage and airline schedules and will be coordinated by the ADM. 
 
Continual snow removal will begin on the “B” and "C" concourses when 1 ½” of snow has 
accumulated.  Snow piles shall be placed as to cause no interference with aircraft propellers, 
engine pods and wing tips. 
 
Each gate lead-in line will be cleared with a width of 15 feet as equipment size allows. 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
18 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

Berms or windrows will be removed promptly to reduce interference with aircraft operations 
in the gate area. 
 
When gate areas are not in use, it is expected that the tenant will have all equipment staged 
in an area that will allow for efficient snow removal operations.  

   
4.1.4 INSPECTIONS 
During snow removal activities, the ADM will inspect the Movement Areas in accordance with 
the Airport Self-Inspection Program. Special attention will be paid to the following: 
 
 Snow bank heights shall not exceed the maximum allowable snow bank height. 

 Signs and lights shall be frequently inspected for visibility and be cleared as appropriate. 

 The glide slope snow clearance area for the "capture-effect" antenna configuration should 
be evaluated and cleared when necessary.  Contact shall be made with the Reno System 
Support Center (SSC) Manager or their designee and ATCT before moving equipment into 
the ILS critical area. 

 If the tower reports the ILS is out of service, both the ADM and the ATCT will contact the 
SSC Manager to arrange for immediate repair of the ILS system. 

 Runway condition codes (RCC) and Pilots Report's (PIREP).   

These conditions will be reported to the ATCT for relay to arriving/departing aircraft.  
 

4.1.5 ICE CONTROL 
Icing conditions occur most frequently at air temperatures between 28F and 34F, though 
there have been instances as low as 5F and as high as 40F.  The ADM shall monitor the 
National Weather Service and the Vaisala Surface Sensor information when the air temperature 
falls in the most probable icing range.  The Vaisala Surface Sensor information contains 
runway and taxiway pavement sensors that record pavement temperatures and assist with 
determining when icing conditions may occur. 
 
Ice control measures shall be as follows: 
 
 Liquid deicing chemicals meeting the SAE specifications AMS 1435 may be applied as an 

anti-icing treatment to Priority 1 Movement Areas as directed by the ADM when the 
pavement surfaces are wet and the pavement temperature is close to 32F.  

 Friction measuring equipment may be used as a part of the ice control monitoring 
procedure. 

 The NOTAM system shall be utilized to advise airport users of icing conditions.   

 The priorities previously discussed for snow removal shall be followed for ice control. 

 In the event that ice forms on Movement Areas, a mixture of sand and de-ice chemical may 
be applied. 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
19 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

4.1.6 CLEANUP 
After snow has stopped falling and all priority areas are cleaned, the ADM will ensure the 
following items are completed; 
 
 All snow windrows and snow piles must be removed as soon as possible after a storm ends 

and prior to a thaw-freeze cycle. 

 Sand will be removed from Movement Areas and vehicle service roadways as soon as the 
surface is dry and braking action has been restored. 

The airfield should be checked for broken or damaged lights and signs and initiate appropriate 
repairs. 
 
4.1.7 CONTRACTORS 
The Landside and/or Facilities Maintenance Supervisors will approve the call out of the 
contractors to assist with landside snow removal.  All outside contractors employed for snow 
and ice control operations will be subject to relevant RNO Rules and Regulations.  They will 
operate under the supervision of the Landside and/or Facilities Supervisor, ADM or a 
designated representative. 
 
The RTAA does not commonly use contractors on the AOA, in the event they are used, prior 
to  contractors working on the terminal ramp areas, the ADM will conduct a briefing session 
outlining areas of responsibilities, safety rules and general operating procedures.  At no time 
will contractors be permitted to operate equipment beyond the limits of the ramp areas without 
being cleared by appropriate authorities and without being accompanied by a radio-equipped 
vehicle. 
 
Snow removed from ramps will be moved to the Northwest corner of the airfield along the 
Northwest fence line, parking spaces S1 and S2 on the South overflow ramp, or in a location 
approved by the ADM. 

 
4.2 LANDSIDE INTRODUCTION 
 
Facilities Maintenance crews shall be called in for snow removal on the Landside Areas of the 
airport when snow begins to accumulate (see Appendix #4). 
 
The following discussion is to be used only as a guideline for removing snow from paved surfaces 
on the Landside properties.  The ADM along with the Landside and/or Facilities Supervisor, may, 
if operational needs dictate, authorize a deviation from the established priorities.  
 
In general terms, Airport Landside Snow Teams and/or contract personnel shall remove snow to 
allow pedestrian access to the terminal building.  This includes roadways, sidewalks, crosswalks, 
and walkways leading to the parking areas. 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
20 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

When snow accumulation reaches ¾" Airport Landside Snow Teams and/or contractor personnel 
shall begin snow removal from the public parking lots, ground transportation area, landside 
roadway system, employee parking lots and air cargo parking lot.  Contract personnel shall begin 
snow removal as directed by the Landside and/or Facilities Supervisor. 
 

4.2.1 SNOW REMOVAL EQUIPMENT 
The Bobcats and snow blowers will be used to clear the front sidewalks, the median island, 
and all crosswalks.  Snow shovels, squeegees and brooms will be used on all other areas where 
the Bobcats or snow blowers cannot reach. 
 
4.2.2 SNOW REMOVAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

4.2.2.1 FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 
Facilities Maintenance shall be responsible for the following areas: 
 
 Terminal sidewalks, crosswalks and ADA access walks, TSA parking lot sidewalk, 

Long Term Parking walkway 
 North and South connector exterior stairwells. Ongoing thru snow event (Can be done by 

Custodial) 
 North Ground Transportation area, walkways, and roadways 
 TSA yellow painted walkway airside behind Baggage Handling System (BHS), and the 

bag makeup entrance areas 
 Parking structure towers 1st floor, elevators entrances, stairs and landings (Can be done by 

Custodial)Loop roads  
 Customs passenger walkway (airside during scheduled arrivals) 
 Parking structure ramps, entrances, and third floor main roadways (electric vehicle charging 

station) 
 Perimeter Gates 155, 165, and 170, airside access roads for emergency services 
 AVA 3 (AIRCOM) access and parking areas 
 Manager and Employee lots, gates, and walkways 
 Bag claim alleyway (airside)  
 Benches on the curbs (Custodial) 
 Long term parking lot roadways 
 Taxi staging area 
 Old Air Cargo building parking lot 
 Third floor parking garage detail clean up 

4.2.2.2 CUSTODIAL 
Custodial personnel may be requested to assist clearing front sidewalks, median islands, and 
cross walks, monitoring the front sidewalks for water, slick spots and the application of ice 
control materials as necessary.  Custodial personnel will also be responsible for cleaning up 
of any snow or ice control chemical that is tracked into the building. 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
21 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

4.2.2.3 LANDSIDE OPERATIONS 
Landside Operations personnel and/or their contracted personnel will be responsible for 
clearing the sidewalk and pay booth areas near the Parking Plaza as well as the following 
areas: 
 West Crew Lot 
 Cell Phone Lot 

4.2.3 CLEAN UP 
After snow has stopped falling and all priority areas are cleaned, the ADM will ensure the 
following items are accomplished: 
 
 All snow windrows and snow piles must be removed as soon as possible after a storm ends 

and prior to a thaw-freeze cycle, if possible. 

 Sand will be removed from landside roadways and sidewalks as soon as the surface is dry 
and braking action has been restored. 

 The Landside area should be checked for broken or damaged signs and initiate appropriate 
repairs. 

 Inspect all building entrance floor mats and tile for residual sand. 

 Check third floor of Parking Structure for additional snow removal and make necessary 
assignments for completion. 

 Snow Team Captains shall determine the methods to accomplish these tasks. 

 
4.2.4 SNOW REMOVAL EQUIPMENT 
Facilities Maintenance crews will have the following pieces of equipment available for use.  
The equipment will be assigned as deemed necessary by the Facilities Supervisor. 
 
 Pickups with front mounted snowplows equipped with sand spreaders in the pickup beds 

 Bobcats with front mounted snowplows 

 Snow blowers 

 Hand sand spreaders 

 
4.2.5 ICE CONTROL 
Ice control procedures shall begin on the Landside areas of the Airport when requested by the 
ADM, Landside or the Facilities Supervisor. 

 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
22 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

CHAPTER 5 

SURFACE ASSESSMENT AND REPORTING 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
To comply with § 139.339, RNO will utilize the NOTAM system as the primary method for 
collection and dissemination of airport information to Air Carriers and other airport users. 
 
Continuous Friction Measuring Equipment is used to conduct runway friction surveys on frozen 
contaminated surfaces.  The Airport Operations department currently utilizes a Halliday RT3 
Runway Friction Tester (RFT). RT3 uses a side force friction test method. 
 
The data obtained from runway friction surveys is considered to be reliable only when the 
surfaces are contaminated under any of the following conditions:  
 

 Ice or wet ice. Ice that is melting or ice with a layer of water (any depth) on top. The 
liquid water film depth of .04 inches (1 mm) or less is insufficient to cause hydroplaning.  

 Compacted snow at any depth.  
 Dry snow 1 inch (25.4 mm) or less.  
 Wet snow or slush 1/8 inch (3.2 mm) or less.  

 
It is no longer acceptable to report or disseminate friction (Mu) values via NOTAMs. Friction 
(Mu) values have been replaced by Runway Condition Codes, which must be included in the 
Field Condition (FICON) NOTAM.  
 
5.2 RUNWAY CONDITION ASSESSMENTS 
 
Runway Condition Assessment Matrix (RCAM) (see Appendix #6). The RCAM is the method 
by which an Airport Operator reports a runway surface assessment when contaminants are 
present.   Once an assessment has been performed, the RCAM defines the format for which the 
Airport Operator reports and receives a runway condition “Code” via the NOTAM System. 
 
5.3 RUNWAY CONDITION CODE (RCC) 
 
Runway Condition Codes (Format: X/X/X) represent the runway condition description based on 
defined terms and increments. Use of these codes harmonizes with International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) Annex 14, providing a standardized “shorthand” format for reporting RCC 
(which replaces Mu values), and are used by pilots to determine landing performance parameters 
when applicable. Runway Condition Codes are disseminated via the following methods:  
 

 Federal NOTAM System, preferably through NOTAM Manager or equivalent system(s) 
 Airport Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) (as applicable) 
 RNO Airfield Condition Report (local dissemination) 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
23 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

APPENDIX #1 
 

AIRFIELD SNOW 

REMOVAL EQUIPMENT 

      

COMMON  EQ  NUMBER DESCRIPTION 

NAME     

PLOW  1 EQ772 2011 OSHKOSH / MB 20’ SNOW BROOM 

PLOW  2 EH194 1996 OSHKOSH 20’ SNOW BROOM 

PLOW  3 EH200 1997 OSHKOSH 20’ SNOW BROOM 

PLOW  4 EQ834 2017 LARUE 22’ SNOW BROOM 

PLOW  5 EQ835 2017 LARUE 22’ SNOW BROOM 

PLOW 6 EQ836 2017 LARUE 22’ SNOW BROOM 

PLOW 7 EQ869 2019 LARUE SNOW BLOWER - 7500 TON/HR 

PLOW 8 EQ713 2006 LARUE SNOW BLOWER – 5000 TON/HR 

PLOW 9 EQ835 2016 LARUE SNOW BLOWER – 7500 TON/HR 

PLOW 10 EQ832 2014 OSHKOSH 22’ PLOW TRUCK W/SANDER 

PLOW 11 EQ831 2014 OSHKOSH 22’ PLOW TRUCK W/SANDER 

PLOW 12 EQ797 2012 OSHKOSH 22’ PLOW TRUCK W/SANDER 

PLOW 14  EH231 2006 KENWORTH DUMP TRUCK W/22' PLOW 

PLOW 16 VL242 2020 FORD F-550 TRUCK W/ 8’ PLOW AND SANDER 

PLOW 17 EH208 1999 INTERNATIONAL DUMP TRUCK W/22’ PLOW 

PLOW 18 EQ738 2007 BOSCHUNG JET BROOM 

PLOW 19 EQ878 2020 WESTERN STAR DUMP TRUCK W/22’ PLOW 

PLOW 20 EQ740 2008 JOHN DEERE SKID STEER LOADER 

PLOW 24 EQ821 2014 CATERPILLAR LOADER W/26’ WINGED PLOW 

PLOW 25 EQ871 2019 JOHN DEERE LOADER W/26’ WINGED PLOW 

PLOW 26 EQ715 2007 JOHN DEERE LOADER W/20’ BOX PLOW 

PLOW 27 EH174 1994 CATERPILLAR LOADER W/20’ BOX PLOW 

PLOW 29 EH205 1997 JOHN DEERE BACKHOE LOADER 

PLOW 31 EQ876 2019 WAUSAU FORCED AIR BLOWER 

PLOW 32  EQ712 2006 HAGIE 90’ BOOM DEICER/EDGE LIGHT PLOW 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
24 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

APPENDIX #2 
Airfield Condition Report Sample 

 

 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
25 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

APPENDIX #3 
Airfield Snow Removal Priority Map 

 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
26 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

APPENDIX #4 
Landside Snow Removal Priority Map 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
27 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

APPENDIX #5 
Aircraft Deicing Locations 

Aircraft deicing locations and procedures may be found in the RNO Rules & Regulations. 
 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



Snow and Ice Control Plan – Reno-Tahoe International Airport  
 

 
28 

Original Date: September 11, 2024   
Revision Date:  

APPENDIX #6 
Runway Condition Assessment Matrix (RCAM) 

 

 

Charlotte Jones
Custom Stamp



APPENDIX G – RNO Idle Thrust Areas



Idle Thrust Engine Runs 

Above Idle Engine Runs 

 



APPENDIX H – LOV Appeal Form



Letter of Violation Appeal Form 
Violations may be appealed within five (5) calendar days from the date of issuance of a Letter 
of Violation. RTAA’s Rules and Regulations Committee (RRC) will consider the appeal at 
its next regularly scheduled meeting or at such other time as determined by the RRC. Once 
the meeting to consider the appeal is set the RRC will provide notice via email of the time 
and date of the meeting. The appellant and a single representative may present a statement 
in person in support of the appeal. The Regulation Observer or another RTAA employee 
may also present a statement in support of upholding the violation and/or proposed penalty. 
The RRC then convene without the appellant or Regulation Observer present to conduct a 
majority vote on whether to accept the appeal. The RRC will then notify the appellant via 
email of its decision.  

In order to initiate the appeals process, you must completely fill out this form and sign and 
date in the space provided below. 

Appellant Information 

First and last name: 

Email address: 

Phone:  

Mailing address: 

City, state, and zip: 

Employer (if employed at 
RNO): 

Letter of Violation Issue Date: 



Letter of Violation Appeal Form (con’t) 

Please explain the reason for your appeal, being as descriptive as possible. Use additional 
pages as necessary:   

By signing below, I agree that I understand and acknowledge that any rude or combative 
behavior during any portion of the appeals process shall result in an immediate and permanent 
dismissal of the appeal. Any attempt to subvert the integrity of the appeals process or to use 
violence, threats, aggressive behavior, or the like, to coerce, harass, annoy, or intimidate the 
Regulation Observer or any RTAA employee or Board Member shall separately be a major 
violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations subject to additional enforcement measures. 

Print Name: 

Signature: 

Date:  



APPENDIX I – Final Appeal Form 



 
 
Letter of Violation Final Appeal Form 
Decisions of the RTAA’s Rules and Regulations Committee (RRC) may be appealed by 
completing this form and submitting the completed form to 
rulescommittee@renoairport.com. The completed form must be submitted within ten (10) 
calendar days of the RRC’s decision.  
 
In order to initiate the final appeals process, you must completely fill out this form and sign 
and date in the space provided below. 

Appellant Information 
 
First and last name: 
 

 

Email address: 
 

 

Phone:  
 

 

Mailing address: 
 

 

City, state, and zip: 
 

 

Employer (if employed 
at RTAA) 
 

 

RRC Decision Date: 
 

 

 

  

  
 

 
 
 

mailto:rulescommittee@renoairport.com


Letter of Violation Final Appeal Form (con’t) 
Please explain the reason for your appeal of the RRC’s decision, being as descriptive as 
possible.  Use additional pages as necessary:   

By signing below, I agree that I understand and acknowledge that any rude or combative 
behavior during any portion of the appeals process shall result in an immediate and permanent 
dismissal of the appeal. Any attempt to subvert the integrity of the appeals process or to use 
violence, threats, aggressive behavior, or the like, to coerce, harass, annoy, or intimidate the 
Regulation Observer or any RTAA employee or Board Member shall separately be a major 
violation of the RNO Rules and Regulations subject to additional enforcement measures. 

Print Name: 

Signature: 

Date: 

 



Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-32 

In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 

Subject:  Consideration of a three-year collective bargaining agreement between the Reno-
Tahoe Airport Authority and the Airport Authority Police Officers Protective 
Association (AAPOPA) for July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2028 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below. 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 

BACKGROUND 
The Airport Authority Police Officers Protective Association (AAPOPA) bargaining unit 
represents 19 Airport Police Officers at the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority. The proposed 
Agreement will cover working conditions for these employees for the period of July 1, 2025, 
through June 30, 2028. 

DISCUSSION 
Bargaining for a successor Agreement began in March 2025. The RTAA and the AAPOPA held a 
total of five bargaining sessions. The parties were able to reach final tentative agreement on May 
7, 2025.   AAPOPA members ratified the Agreement on May 7, 2025.  

The new Agreement includes all the language of the previous Agreement except for the following 
significant changes: 

• Effective July 1, 2025, the salary schedule will be increased by 1%, with all officers receiving
a corresponding increase on this date.  The salary schedule and officer pay will also increase
2% on July 1, 2026, and 2% on July 1, 2027.

• Effective July 1, 2025, officers will receive a 4.375% wage increase which is equal to the
reduction in their wages due to the Nevada PERS increase.

• Added language that caps future Nevada PERS share for officers at 3% if the total increase is
greater than 6%.

• Added one additional step to the salary schedule effective July 1, 2026, and another on July
1, 2027.

• Added jurisdictional language clarifying where AAPOPA performs its primary duties.



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
• Added language defining a fiscal emergency and providing the RTAA the right to reopen 

negotiations in cases of fiscal emergency. 
• Removed CEO from Step 3 grievance procedure and replaced with Chief Operations and 

Public Safety Officer (COPSO). 
• Incorporated prior Memorandum of Understanding regarding SWAT specialty pay. 
• Changed Leave without Pay approval from COPSO to Chief of Police (COP). 
• Increased tuition reimbursement from $1,500 to $2,500. 
• Increased on the job injury paid leave time from 30 days to 90 days. 
• Added eligibility for a floating holiday. 
• Changed 50% participation to 40% participation required for fitness monies and expedited 

payment date. 
• Removed ambiguous and redundant language regarding drug/alcohol testing after vehicle 

accident and added language requiring testing upon returning to work after a previous positive 
test. 

• Added a $20k payment to beneficiary if an officer is killed in the line of duty. 
• Agreed to a ratification bonus of $2,000 (paid in FY 24/25). 

 
A copy of the draft Agreement between the RTAA and AAPOPA which includes all changes is 
attached. Language that has been deleted is shown in red strikeout and language that has been 
added or moved from another section of the agreement is shown in green underline. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
• Increasing officers’ salaries effective July 1, 2025, will cost approximately $117,400 

(including PERS and other incentive costs calculated as a percentage of pay).  
• Paid leave in the event of an on-the-job injury, assuming backfill on overtime for 1 employee 

will cost approximately $22,000. 
• Adding a floating holiday will cost approximately $6,600. 
• Tuition reimbursement: $1,000. 
• Ratification bonus will cost $36,000 (will be paid in FY 24/25). 

 
The total estimated cost increase for FY 2025-26 is $147,000. The FY 2025-26 budget currently 
includes funding for these changes. 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
None 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a three-year collective bargaining agreement 
between the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority and the Airport Authority Police Officers Protective 
Association (AAPOPA) for July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2028.” 
 
 



AGREEMENT 
between 

RTAA AIRPORT AUTHORITY POLICE OFFICERS’ 
PROTECTIVE ASSOCIATION 

and 
RENO-TAHOE AIRPORT AUTHORITY  

 
Fiscal Years 2022-2023, 2023-2024,  

and 2024-2025  
2025-2026, 2026-2027, and 2027-2028 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE            PAGE 
 
AGREEMENT  ........................................................................................................... 1 
 

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................... 2 
 

ARTICLE 2 INTENT .............................................................................................. 4 
   

ARTICLE 3 RECOGNITION  ................................................................................. 5 
 

ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ................................................................... 6 
  

ARTICLE 5 NO STRIKE CLAUSE ........................................................................ 7 
   

ARTICLE 6 NON-DISCRIMINATION .................................................................... 8 
  

ARTICLE 7 DUES DEDUCTION ........................................................................... 9 
 

ARTICLE 8 AAPOPA ACTIVITIES ..................................................................... 10 
 

ARTICLE 9 CONSOLIDATION  .......................................................................... 11 
 

ARTICLE 10 PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES ..................................................... 12 
 

  A.  Demotions ................................................................................ 12 
 

ARTICLE 11 OUT OF CLASS ASSIGNMENTS ................................................... 13 
  

ARTICLE 12 REDUCTION IN FORCE/LAYOFF ................................................... 15 
 

ARTICLE 13 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE  ........................................................... 17 
 

ARTICLE 14 COUNSELING AND DISCIPLINE  ................................................... 22 
  

ARTICLE 15 INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION  ..................................................... 25 
 

ARTICLE 16 SAFETY ........................................................................................... 27 
 

ARTICLE 17 SPECIAL ASSIGNMENTS  .............................................................. 28 
 

ARTICLE 18 UNIFORMS ...................................................................................... 31 
 

ARTICLE 19 LEAVES OF ABSENCE ................................................................... 32 
  A.  Leaves of Absence With Pay  ................................................... 32 
  B.  Leaves of Absence Without Pay ............................................... 32 
  C.  Effect of Leaves of Absence Without Pay on Benefits ............. 34 
  D.  Procedures and Responsibilities  ............................................. 35 
   

ARTICLE 20 EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT ............................................... 36 
 

ARTICLE 21 POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN ........................................... 38 
 

ARTICLE 22 HUMAN RESOURCES INFORMATION .......................................... 39 
 

ARTICLE 23 MISCELLANEOUS BENEFITS ........................................................ 40 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page ii 

ARTICLE               PAGE 
 
 

ARTICLE 24 COMPENSATION ............................................................................ 41 
  A.  Annual Increases In Individual Officers’ Pay ............................ 41 
  B.  Overtime ................................................................................... 42 
  C.  Compensatory Time ................................................................. 42 
  D.  Patrol Standby Duty ................................................................. 43 
  E.  Call Back .................................................................................. 44 
  F.  Court Subpoenas ...................................................................... 44 
  G.  Overnight Travel ...................................................................... 44 
  H.  Pyramiding ............................................................................... 44 
  I.      Shift Differential ........................................................................ 44 
  J.   Time Card Changes .................................................................. 45 
  K.  Ratification Bonus .................................................................... 45 
  L.  Daylight Savings Time .............................................................. 45 
 

ARTICLE 25 RETIREMENT .................................................................................. 46 
. 

ARTICLE 26 GROUP INSURANCE ...................................................................... 47 
 

ARTICLE 27 ON THE JOB INJURY ..................................................................... 49 
 

ARTICLE 28 HOURS OF WORK .......................................................................... 50 
 

ARTICLE 29 VACATIONS DEMOTIONS .............................................................. 51 
 

ARTICLE 30 HOLIDAYS ....................................................................................... 53 
 

ARTICLE 31 COMMUNICABLE DISEASE ........................................................... 55 
 

ARTICLE 32 SHIFT BIDDING ............................................................................... 56 
 

ARTICLE 33 SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT ........................................................ 57 
 

ARTICLE 34 LEGAL REPRESENTATION ........................................................... 58 
 

ARTICLE 35 EXERCISE ROOM/PHYSICAL FITNESS ........................................ 59 
 

ARTICLE 36 ALCOHOL, DRUG & CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE ABUSE 
 TESTING PROGRAM/FITNESS FOR DUTY ................................... 60 
 

ARTICLE 37 CREATE NEW POSITION OR DIMINISH RESPONSIBILITIES ...... 64 
 

ARTICLE 38 SAVINGS CLAUSE.......................................................................... 65 
 

ARTICLE 39 LONGEVITY PAY ............................................................................ 65 
 

ARTICLE 40 DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT................................................. 66 
 

SIGNATURES  AAPOPA AND RTAA ...................................................................... 66 
 

APPENDIX 1 SALARY SCHEDULE ...................................................................... 67  

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 1 

 

AGREEMENT 
 

 
This AGREEMENT is by and between the RENO-TAHOE RTAA, hereinafter called the 
“RTAA,” and AIRPORT AUTHORITY POLICE OFFICERS’ PROTECTIVE 
ASSOCIATION, hereinafter called the “AAPOPA.”  The RTAA is a body corporate, and 
politic, and a quasi-municipal corporation, established to provide service to the public 
and must remain open and operational at all times. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 2 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
 
Anniversary Date: The date an officer begins employment (date of hire) as a newly sworn 
RTAA Police Officer.  
 

Base Rate of Pay: The amount of pay the officer is designated to receive for the officer's 
job classification, excluding any additional types of pay. 
 

Benefits: As defined in this Agreement shall mean: unemployment contribution, Workers' 
Compensation insurance, annual (vacation) leave, sick leave, Public Employees Retirement 
System contribution, holidays, health insurance, vision insurance, dental insurance, tuition 
reimbursement, Life Insurance, Accidental Death and Dismemberment insurance, and Long 
Term Disability (All benefits are subject to any limitations, reductions or exclusions based on 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and insurance company policies in effect at the 
time benefits are disbursed). 
 

Excused Absence: An absence before which an officer notifies their Supervisor (or 
appropriate authority) and for which the Supervisor grants permission to the officer to be 
absent. 
 

Insubordination: Failure to follow or carry out any reasonable order by management or a 
management representative, including refusal to work on jobs assigned by the supervisor 
which are consistent with RTAA Police department job duties. 
 

Manager: For purposes of this Agreement, any Captain or Chief, other than the officer’s 
assigned first-line supervisor. 
 

Operational Necessity:  A modification to the approved shift schedule by the Police Chief 
or their designee for the purposes of maintaining continuity and efficient operations. 
Examples of situations where a modification may occur are: emergencies/disasters, either 
man made or natural; training needs; discipline.  The duration of the modification will be 
determined by the Police Chief or their designee. 
 

Position: A specific office or employment, whether occupied or vacant, carrying certain 
duties by an individual. 
 

President/CEO: The Chief Executive Officer of the RTAA. As used herein, includes any 
Department Director or Chief Officer to whom the President/CEO may from time-to-time 
explicitly or implicitly delegate the authority conferred by Section 29, Chapter 474, Statutes 
of Nevada, as amended. 
 

Probationary Employee: An employee who is undergoing a working test period during 
which the employee is required to demonstrate their ability to carry out the duties for the 
position to which appointed, transferred, or promoted. In the case of Police Officers, this 
period normally lasts for 12 months. Probationary periods will not be extended. 
 

Supervisor: An officer’s assigned first-line Supervisor/Sergeant. 
 

Unexcused Absence: Defined as the officer not notifying their immediate Supervisor (or 
appropriate authority) of a planned absence or failing to obtain the required permission for 
an absence, or both. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 3 

ARTICLE 2 - INTENT 
 
WHEREAS, the RTAA is a body corporate and politic, and a quasi-municipal 
corporation established to provide services to the public and must remain open and 
operational at all times, and is the owner and operator of Reno-Tahoe International 
Airport and Reno Stead Airport (hereinafter collectively referred to as “RTAA”); and 
 
WHEREAS, the AAPOPA is the exclusive representative of all officers covered by this 
Agreement pursuant to NRS 288: and 
 
WHEREAS, the parties desire to assure sound and mutually beneficial economic and 
employment relations between the parties hereto; to provide a respectful, orderly and 
peaceful means of conducting negotiations, exchanging communications and points of 
view, and have as their purpose the promotion of a responsible, mutually co-operative 
labor relations policy and the establishment of procedures to orderly and equitably 
resolve misunderstandings, grievances and complaints; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is the desire and intent of the RTAA and the AAPOPA to enter into an 
Agreement which shall reflect the requirements and intent of Chapter 288 of the Nevada 
Revised Statutes and all other applicable laws. 
 
WHEREAS, RTAA encourages promoting AAPOPA officers into the rank of police 
sergeant or higher.  However, all promotions are at the sole discretion of RTAA.  
RTAA’s encouragement of promoting from within this bargaining group does not alter 
management rights under Article 4, nor does it make promotions or hiring a mandatory 
subject of negotiation.   
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 4 

ARTICLE 3 – RECOGNITION 
 

A. The RTAA hereby recognizes the AAPOPA as the exclusive collective bargaining 
agent for all regular officers employed by the RTAA in the job classification of Police 
Officer. This recognition is granted for the period during which the AAPOPA qualifies 
as the exclusive representative of those officers under the provisions of NRS 288. 

 
B. The parties recognize that RTAA Police Officers are the primary law enforcement 

provider for the RTAA and it is their primary responsibility to patrol and respond to 
calls for service within the jurisdictional boundaries of 2001 E. Plumb Lane and 
properties butting up to (referred to as “the Airport”).  The parties also agree that 
staffing levels are determined solely by the RTAA.  Should staffing levels permit and 
as approved by the Chief of Airport Police or their designee, Police Officers may 
respond to RTAA properties outside of “the Airport”, which includes the Reno-Stead 
Airport.  

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 5 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
A. Pursuant to NRS 288.150, the RTAA has the right and is entitled without negotiation 

to: 
 

1. Hire, direct, promote, transfer, or assign an officer, but excluding the right to 
assign or transfer an officer as a form of discipline. 

 
2. Suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against any officer 

for just cause. 
 

3. Lay off any officer because of lack of work or lack of funds, per the provisions of 
Article 12. 

 
4. Determine staffing levels, work performance standards, the content of the 

workday, and workload factors except for safety considerations. 
 

5. Determine the quality and quantity of services to be offered to the public and the 
methods and means by which its operations are to be conducted. 

 
6. Maintain the efficiency of its governmental operations Manage its operation in the 

most efficient manner consistent with the best interests of members of the public 
and its employees.  

 
7. Take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out its responsibilities in 

emergency situations, such as riot, military action, natural disaster, or civil 
disorder. These actions may include suspension of any collective bargaining 
agreement for the duration of the emergency.  An emergency associated with an 
accident of an aircraft using the airport is not an emergency as it relates to this 
section. 

 
8. Reopen this collective bargaining agreement for additional, further, new, or 

supplementary negotiations relating to compensation or monetary benefits during 
a period of fiscal emergency. 

 
 For the purposes of this section, a fiscal emergency shall be deemed to exist if 

the amount of revenue received by the RTAA during the last preceding fiscal 
year from all sources, except any nonrecurring source, declined by 5% or more in 
the current fiscal year from the amount of revenue received from all sources, 
except any nonrecurring source. 

 
B. Unless specifically modified by this Agreement, all rights and responsibilities of the 

RTAA shall remain the functions of the RTAA. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 6 

ARTICLE 5 - NO STRIKE CLAUSE 
 
A. The AAPOPA, its agent and its membership, individually and collectively, will not 

promote, sponsor or engage in any strike against the RTAA, slow down, or 
interruption of operations, concentrated stoppage of work, absence for work upon 
any pretext or excuse such as illness, which is not founded in fact; or any other 
intentional interruption of the operations of the RTAA, regardless of the reason for so 
doing, and will use its best efforts to induce all officers covered by this Agreement to 
comply with this pledge. 

 
B. The RTAA will not lock out any officers during the term of this Agreement as a result 

of a labor dispute with the AAPOPA. 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 7 

ARTICLE 6 - NON-DISCRIMINATION 
 
A. The parties agree to abide by and to be bound by all applicable provisions of the 

Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 288 including subsection 288.270, as from time 
to time amended. 

 
B. In accordance with applicable laws, no officer shall be unlawfully discriminated 

against by either the RTAA or the AAPOPA because of lawful AAPOPA activities or 
based on any state or federally protected category.  Any complaint alleging a violation 
of this subsection shall first any state or federally protected category may be 
submitted to People Operations and if not resolved, and/or to the appropriate 
administrative agencies having responsibility for enforcing state or federal laws 
governing non-discrimination in employment. Discrimination complaints of any state 
or federally protected category are not subject to the grievance procedure in this 
Agreement. 

 
C. Any complaint alleging unlawful discrimination due to lawful AAPOPA activities may 

also be submitted for processing through the grievance procedure in this Agreement. 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 8 

ARTICLE 7 - DUES DEDUCTION 
 
A. Upon receipt of a written authorization from each officer so desiring, the RTAA shall 

make payroll deductions in an amount sufficient to provide the payment of regular 
dues established by the AAPOPA. Upon receipt of the written authorization 
referenced above, the RTAA will begin dues deductions in a timely manner, but not 
later than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of such authorization. The AAPOPA 
shall give the RTAA thirty (30) calendar days written notice prior to any change of 
dues. 

 
B. The RTAA will abide by the AAPOPA Bylaws regarding enrollment and withdrawal 

periods for dues deductions. 
 
C. The AAPOPA shall indemnify and hold the RTAA harmless against any and all 

claims, demands, suits and all other forms of liability which shall arise out of or by 
reason of action taken or not taken by the RTAA under the provisions of this Article 
and at the request of the AAPOPA pursuant to this Article. 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 9 

ARTICLE 8 - AAPOPA ACTIVITIES 
 
A. The RTAA shall allow up to one hundred and twenty (120) hours collectively a fiscal 

year with pay for duly elected AAPOPA Officers to conduct AAPOPA related 
business. The officer will provide prior notification, in writing, as soon as possible to 
their Supervisor when it is necessary to attend to AAPOPA activities. AAPOPA 
Officers may only use AAPOPA business leave during regularly scheduled work 
hours and will not receive compensation when performing any AAPOPA related 
business outside of regularly scheduled work hours nor will this time count against 
the yearly AAPOPA Officers leave bank.  The AAPOPA will notify the RTAA, in 
writing, of current AAPOPA Officers within thirty (30) days after elections or as 
changes occur. 

 
B. The RTAA agrees to allow AAPOPA meetings to be held on RTAA property with 

prior approval from the Chief of Police or designee. Meetings shall not exceed one 
and one half (1.5) hour’s duration. Officers shall not receive any compensation for 
meetings held beyond their regularly scheduled work hours.  Based on operational 
needs, officers may be called out of these meetings to perform duties as assigned. 

 
C. In no instance shall release time of AAPOPA members for officer representation 

result in payment of overtime by the RTAA. 
 
D. From time to time RTAA management may request a meeting with the duly elected 

Officers of the AAPOPA.  There shall be no loss of pay for any AAPOPA Officers 
involved in these meetings, this meeting time shall not be deducted from the 
allowance stated in Section A, above, and shall be mutually agreed upon. 

 
E. Officers who are parties of interest and/or witnesses in matters relating to officer 

grievance hearings or meetings, officer disciplinary meetings, and officer termination 
meetings may be required to attend meetings with RTAA management.  Officers will 
be compensated for any time spent in these meetings. 

 
F. Four (4) officers designated by the AAPOPA shall be allowed to attend all collective 

bargaining sessions with pay. 
 
G. The AAPOPA will be allowed a bulletin board and a file cabinet to be located in a 

common area of the Police department.  These items may be used to store, post 
and view related news and issues; however, no materials may be posted which are 
obscene, defamatory, or impair the operation of the department. 

 
H. Pursuant to Section 1 of SB 241 as signed by the Governor on 6/1/15, the parties 

have bargained over the paid time described above.  During the negotiations for this 
collective bargaining agreement, the AAPOPA made concessions, the value of 
which offsets the paid time described above for the period as defined in Article 39 – 
Duration. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 10 

ARTICLE 9 - CONSOLIDATION 
 
The RTAA agrees to negotiate, including binding arbitration, with AAPOPA over the 
impact and effect on represented employees on any decision to consolidate, contract, 
subcontract, etc. with any law enforcement department/agency to the extent it 
implicates any mandatory subjects of bargaining under NRS 288.150(2).   

 
 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 11 

ARTICLE 10 - PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES 
 
Probationary employees are covered under the terms of this Agreement and may be 
represented by the AAPOPA once they have completed their Police Training Officer / 
Field Training Officer program.  
 
The initial twelve (12) month probationary period will not be extended. An employee not 
recommended for continued employment during their probationary period may be 
immediately terminated without recourse to the Grievance, Discipline or Involuntary 
Termination procedures set forth in Articles 13, 14 and 15 of this Agreement.  
 
Demotions. If an RTAA Police Sergeant elects to demote/is involuntarily demoted from 
Sergeant back to their former RTAA Police Officer position, the following provisions will 
apply. Sergeants hired from outside the RTAA, will not be eligible for these “bump back” 
rights. 

 
1. The RTAA Police Officer personnel complement will be maintained in an over-

complement status until a new Sergeant is promoted into the vacated Sergeant 
position from within the RTAA Police Officer ranks. 

 
2. The officer returning to their former RTAA Police Officer position will be credited with 

all RTAA service time accumulated in both their RTAA Police Officer and Sergeant 
positions for purposes where seniority is a factor, e.g., shift bidding, layoff, etc. 

 
3. Upon demotion, the officer’s pay will be reduced to their previous RTAA Police 

Officer rate of pay prior to their promotion, plus any increases they would have been 
entitled to absent the promotion.   

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 12 

ARTICLE 11 - OUT OF CLASS ASSIGNMENT 
 
A. The parties recognize the RTAA right to assign and direct its officers. However, the 

RTAA will endeavor to keep officers working within their respective classifications. In 
the event that there is a permanent assignment of duties which the officer believes 
alters the classification of their position, the officer may request to have their position 
studied by the People Operations department. If the officer or the AAPOPA 
disagrees with the results of the study, the matter may be appealed through the 
Grievance Procedure, Article 13, starting at Step 1. An appeal processed through 
the Grievance Procedure shall be the exclusive remedy for these matters. 

 
B. In the event there is a temporary assignment to a higher classification, the officer 

shall be compensated according to the following policies and procedures: 
 

1. Pay for work in a higher classification is a short term remedy in those instances 
where temporary replacement is required for an incumbent of a position who is 
not available to perform the duties of the position.  

 
2. If an absence of an incumbent requires assignment of another officer to duties 

which may qualify for pay for work in a higher classification, the Chief of Police 
shall decide which officer will be assigned.  

 
a. The nature of the departmental assignment must be such that the officer 

assuming the position becomes responsible for the full duties of the higher 
position.  

 
b. Pay for work in a higher classification shall not be utilized as a substitute for 

regular merit promotional procedures and may not be utilized in lieu of 
permanently filling a vacancy through normal hiring procedures. 

 
3. The officer is not eligible for additional pay until the new position assignment 

exceeds forty (40) consecutive worked hours. The officer will be paid the 
additional pay upon completion of forty (40) consecutive worked hours 
retroactive to assignment to the new position. 

 
4. The rate of pay for the assignment shall be at least five percent (5%) above the 

current salary of the selected officer or the minimum of the salary range for the 
particular job classification, whichever is greater. 

 
5. Holidays not worked, vacation, sick or other similar leave when the officer is not 

working, will be paid at the officer’s regular base rate of pay. 
 
6. The officer's status in their regular classification continues and their anniversary 

and salary review dates are determined by their regular classification. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 13 

7. Overtime pay will be affected on the basis of the adjusted hourly rate. 
 
8. Authorization for higher pay assignments shall be for a specified period but not 

for more than six (6) months. There may be extensions of such periods upon 
submission and approval of a new request. 

 
9. If pay for work in a higher classification is approved, and if the assignment is 

terminated and later reactivated for the same officer within thirty (30) calendar 
days, no additional waiting period is required. 

 
10. The People Operations department shall be notified immediately when a higher 

pay assignment is initiated and terminated. 
 
11. Emergencies. Notwithstanding the above positions, the Chief of Police may 

submit a request for higher pay for an officer(s) when an emergency 
necessitates. Emergencies shall be defined as those listed in NRS 288.150 
paragraph 4.  

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 14 

ARTICLE 12 - REDUCTION IN FORCE/LAYOFF 
 
A. All layoffs will be carried out in strict compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations. 
 
B. Whenever it is necessary for the RTAA to reduce the number of positions under the 

jurisdiction of this Agreement due to lack of work or lack of funds pursuant to NRS 
288.150, probationary employees in that position shall be laid off first and regular 
full-time officers in that position shall be laid off last.  Regular full-time officers shall 
be laid off in inverse order of their length of service in a budgeted officer position. 

 
C. Bumping Rights. Should the RTAA reduce in force/layoff a Police Sergeant, the 

Sergeant with the least seniority in the Sergeant position, will be returned to their 
former RTAA Police Officer position. If the Sergeant with the least seniority was not 
promoted from an RTAA Police Officer position, but rather hired from outside the 
RTAA, they will not be eligible for these return “bump back” rights. 

 
1. The Police Sergeant bumping back to a Police Officer position will be credited 

with all RTAA service time accumulated in both their Police Officer and their 
Sergeant positions for purposes where seniority is a factor, e.g., shift bidding, 
layoff, etc. 

 
2. Upon return to their former Police Officer position, their officer rate of pay will be 

a 5% reduction of their Sergeant pay and the 10% on-call differential pay will be 
discontinued. Should this reduced pay be greater than the maximum of the 
Police Officer salary schedule, that employee’s officer’s rate of pay will be frozen 
(including not being eligible for lump sum over max payments) until such time as 
the Police Officer salary schedule increases to that employee’s officer’s pay rate. 
That employee officer will then be eligible for any applicable increases or lump 
sum over max payment from that point forward.  

 
3. Upon return to their former Police Officer position, all benefits and terms and 

conditions of employment will be based upon the AAPOPA collective bargaining 
agreement in effect at that time and not upon the Police Sergeant collective 
bargaining agreement.  

 
34.It may then be necessary to reduce in force/layoff a Police Officer in accordance with 
the provisions of this Article. 
 
D. Prior to implementation of any layoffs, the RTAA agrees to meet with the AAPOPA 

to discuss and consider the AAPOPA's recommended alternatives to any layoff. 
Such alternatives may include, for example, but are not limited to: readjustment of 
personnel through transfer to other positions, reduction in workweek, leave of 
absence, voluntary layoff, job sharing and/or other methods of staffing which may 
minimize mandatory layoffs. 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 15 

E. For each position, the People Operations department shall maintain a general rehire 
list consisting of names of officers, in order of seniority in a budgeted officer position, 
who have been separated from service by layoff. Such officers shall be given the 
opportunity to be rehired before any new officers are hired in that position. Individual 
names shall remain on the rehire list for a period of two (2) years unless such time is 
extended by the President/CEO. Officers who have been laid off may also apply for 
any other open recruitment for which they are qualified. 

 
F. The RTAA will notify the AAPOPA of any proposed reduction in force/layoff at least 

five (5) working days prior to the official notification of officers affected thereby.  
Such notification will include the reasons for the layoffs and the number and types of 
positions affected. The AAPOPA will then make its views and recommendations 
known to the RTAA regarding the implementation of such proposed layoffs. It is 
incumbent upon the AAPOPA to keep all information related to the reduction in 
force/layoff confidential until the RTAA gives notice to the affected employees. 

 
G. The RTAA shall give officers affected ninety (90) days prior written notice of layoff. 
 
H. The RTAA will cooperate with any officer who is laid off as a result of a reduction in 

force/layoff and the State Employment Service (or equivalent agency) in determining 
the rights to be afforded such officer and will inform such officer of the method and 
procedures to follow in applying for any available benefits. 

 
I. Any officer separated from service by reduction in force/layoff shall receive: 
  

1. Payment of six (6) months of COBRA coverage for existing medical, dental, and 
vision insurance for the officer and their dependents already covered by the plan 
on the date of reduction in force/layoff. 

 
2. Two (2) weeks’ pay for each full year of service. Any partial year of service will 

be pro-rated at the same rate. 
 
3. All accrued vacation time as a lump sum payment. 
 
4. All accrued sick time paid at 100% of the officer’s current hourly rate as a lump 

sum payment. 
 
5. All eligible education reimbursement for those officers currently enrolled in an 

approved education reimbursement class. 
 
6. Any officer separated from service by reduction in force/layoff shall be 

responsible for all applicable taxes associated with payments referenced in this 
paragraph, sections 2 through 6. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 16 

ARTICLE 13 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 

A. Definition of Grievance:  For purposes of this Agreement, a grievance is defined as 
a written and filed dispute between AAPOPA, on behalf of an employee(s) covered 
by the collective bargaining agreement or an individual officer, and representatives 
of the RTAA over the interpretation and/or application of the express terms of this 
agreement or a dispute over the issuance of discipline as defined herein. 
 
A grievance shall not be defined to include any matter or action taken by the RTAA 
or its representatives for which the Nevada Equal Rights Commission has 
jurisdiction, or any matter specifically excluded from grievance and arbitration by 
other provisions of this Agreement.  Disputes specifically excluded from the 
grievance procedures in other Articles of this Agreement shall not be construed as to 
be within the purview of this Article.  
 

B. Definition of Discipline: Discipline has the meaning ascribed to it as set forth in 
Article 14 of this Agreement. 

 
C. Time Limit for Filing a Formal Grievance.  For the purpose of this Article, a "day" 

is defined as any calendar day except Saturdays, Sundays or holidays. Grievances 
shall be filed within ten (10) days of the date the grievant knew, or reasonably should 
have known, of the event giving rise to the grievance. 

If mutually agreed, either party may request, in writing, a waiver of the time limits set 
forth in this Article at any step of the grievance process. A grievance shall be 
considered abandoned if not filed and processed by APPOPA on behalf of the 
officer(s) or by an individual officer in accordance with the time limitations indicated 
in this Article. Any failure on the part of the RTAA or its representatives to respond to 
a grievance in accordance with the time limits set forth in this Article shall result in 
the grievance advancing to the next step of the procedure as indicated in this Article.  

D. Documentation of a Formal Grievance.  A grievance must be reduced to writing 
and submitted by the AAPOPA or an individual officer to the Chief of Police or their 
designee. The Chief of Police or their designee shall provide a date and time 
stamped copy of the grievance to the person submitting the grievance and the Chief 
People, Equity, and Culture Officer. 

 
The written grievance must include: 1) a list of the article(s) allegedly violated, 2) a 
statement of the facts causing the alleged violation(s) and 3) the remedy(s) to 
resolve the grievance. 
 
The AAPOPA is the only party with the authority to advance a grievance to 
mediation or arbitration.   
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 17 

E. Full Disclosure.  For the purposes of resolving grievances at the earliest possible 
point in time, both parties shall make full disclosure of the facts and evidence which 
bear on the grievance, including but not limited to furnishing copies of evidence, 
documents, reports, written statements and witnesses relied upon to support the 
basis of actions taken. 

 
With respect to non-discipline grievances, both parties agree to share a summary of 
such facts and evidence at least one (1) working day prior to the meeting indicated 
in Step 2 of the grievance process, below.  

 
With respect to discipline grievances, the RTAA and its representatives shall comply 
with the provisions of Nevada law, including, but not limited to NRS 289, in providing 
AAPOPA and/or its members with documentation relating to the charges and 
findings. An arbitrator shall not consider any evidence from a party who willfully 
failed to produce such evidence in support of their position. Information obtained 
from conducting a Title VII investigation is exempt from this provision.  

 
F. Procedure for Adjusting Grievances.  Both the AAPOPA and the RTAA agree that 

it is in the party’s best interest to resolve disputes at the lowest level and that this 
should be done within the ten (10) day time frame stated in Section C, above. 

 
AAPOPA recognizes that a supervisor or the operations commander do not have the 
authority to overturn any discipline handed down by the Chief of Police, policy 
directives or long standing practices approved by the Chief of Police and any 
attempts to resolve such grievances informally must begin with the Chief of Police.   

 
The purpose of the Grievance Procedure shall be to settle all grievances between 
the RTAA and AAPOPA or an individual officer as quickly as possible to ensure 
efficiency and promote employee morale.  

 
All grievances shall be resolved exclusively in the following manner: 
 
Step 1 - AAPOPA Review: All grievances must be filed in writing and submitted to 
the AAPOPA Grievance Committee and the Chief of Police or designee. The 
AAPOPA Grievance Committee will consist of three (3) AAPOPA Board members in 
good standing who are not involved with the allegations or the original incident.  The 
committee will review the grievance allegations within the time limits indicated in 
Section C, above, to determine if a grievance exists. 
 
If, in the opinion of the AAPOPA Grievance Committee a grievance does not exist, 
the AAPOPA will not pursue the grievance further.  The Grievance Committee shall 
reduce the opinion of the committee to writing (Statement of Review), which shall 
also include the names of all committee members involved.  
 
When the Grievance Committee has elected not to pursue the grievance further, an 
individual officer may choose to pursue their own grievance. Under these 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 18 

circumstances, the individual officer may only pursue the grievance through Step 3, 
as AAPOPA is the only party with the authority to advance a grievance to mediation 
or arbitration.  An individual officer pursuing their own grievance must still observe all 
time frames as indicated in this Article.  
 
If the opinion of the Grievance Committee is that a grievance does exist they shall 
reduce the opinion to writing as a Statement of Review. The Statement of Review 
shall then be submitted to the AAPOPA President or designee and the Chief of 
Police within ten (10) days of receipt of the original grievance requesting a meeting 
with the Chief of Police or designee indicating the need for a hearing based on the 
allegations in the grievance. If the committee fails to submit the Statement of Review 
within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance (or an individual officer pursuing their 
own grievance fails to submit the grievance within this timeframe), the grievance will 
not proceed to Step 2 and shall be considered to be waived and abandoned by 
AAPOPA or the individual officer.  
 
In all cases, the officer or complainant is entitled to a copy of the Grievance 
Committee statement. 
 
Step 2 - Chief’s Hearing: If the AAPOPA Grievance Committee determines that a 
grievance exists and submits the Statement of Review to the Chief of Police or 
designee within the appropriate time limits indicated in Section C, above (or an 
individual officer pursuing their own grievance submits the grievance within the 
appropriate time limits), then the Chief of Police or designee shall arrange for a 
meeting or meetings with the AAPOPA President or designee (or with an individual 
officer) to review any investigations or facts relevant to the matter. If no investigation 
has taken place, discussions will be held to determine if an investigation should be 
initiated to resolve the matter. Additional attendees at the initial meeting with the 
Chief of Police shall be indicated in writing and the grieved party may or may not be 
in attendance, but in all cases the AAPOPA President or designee shall attend. If 
outside legal counsel will be present then such should be indicated.  
 
The Chief of Police or designee shall respond to the grievance, in writing, to the 
AAPOPA President or designee (or an individual officer pursuing their own 
grievance) within ten (10) days of the completion of all meetings/investigatory 
actions. If the Chief of Police or designee fails to respond within this time limit, the 
grievance shall automatically move to Step 3.  
  
Step 3 – President/CEO Appeal Chief Operations & Public Safety Officer’s 
Hearing: If a mutually satisfactory settlement cannot be reached at Step 2, within 
ten (10) days from the receipt of the written response from the Chief of Police or 
designee, the AAPOPA President or designee (or an individual officer pursuing their 
own grievance) shall present the grievance, in writing, to the RTAA President/CEO, 
through the Chief People, Equity, and Culture Officer may submit the grievance to 
Step 3 by presenting the grievance, in writing, to the Manager of Labor Relations & 
Benefits. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 19 

The President/CEO Chief Operations & Public Safety Officer or designee may make 
a decision on the grievance based on information already obtained through the 
grievance process or may request an evidentiary/fact finding hearing. If the hearing 
is requested, proceedings shall include at least one representative from the Airport 
Police Department management team as well as any other RTAA representative the 
President/CEO Chief Operations & Public Safety Officer or designee deems 
necessary. AAPOPA shall be represented by the AAPOPA President or designee, 
the grieved party (if an individual), and outside counsel, if requested. 
 
Evidence, facts, and witness statements offered will be narrowly related to the 
allegations in the grievance. Any statements offered which are proven to be false or 
simply malicious in nature or any evidence that has been tampered with or altered in 
any way shall be considered for possible disciplinary proceedings when the 
grievance has reached final closure.  
 
The President/CEO Chief Operations & Public Safety Officer or designee shall 
respond to the grievance, in writing, to the AAPOPA President or designee within ten 
(10) days of receipt of the grievance or the completion of the evidentiary/fact finding 
hearing, whichever is later.  
 
Mediation.  If a mutually satisfactory settlement cannot be reached at Step 3, within 
ten (10) days from the receipt of the written response from the President/CEO Chief 
Operations & Public Safety Officer or designee, the parties agree to submit the 
grievance to mandatory mediation with the Federal Mediation and Conciliation 
Service (FMCS).  A request for mediation does not toll or change the parties’ 
requirements under the Arbitration paragraph, below. 
 
Arbitration. If a mutually satisfactory settlement cannot be reached at Step 3, the 
AAPOPA President or designee shall have the right to refer the matter to a mutually 
agreed upon arbitrator for final determination. The RTAA may also request that a 
grievance move forward to arbitration if they believe it is in their interest to do so.  
 
The party seeking to move the grievance to an arbitrator for final determination shall 
notify the other party within ten (10) days of the written decision made by the 
President/CEO Chief Operations & Public Safety Officer or designee in Step 3.  
 
If there is no request to arbitrate the issue the grievance shall be deemed withdrawn.  
The AAPOPA and RTAA shall request a panel of seven (7) arbitrators from the 
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS).  
 
The parties shall make alternate strikes from the FMCS panel, and the dispute will 
be submitted to the final arbitrator remaining.  The party who shall strike first shall be 
decided by coin-toss.  Once the arbitrator is selected, a change in the date of the 
hearing shall not affect the arbitrator’s selection by the parties. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 20 

The arbitrator shall be notified in writing of their selection, and shall have no 
authority, jurisdiction or power to amend, modify, nullify or add to the provisions of 
this Agreement. 
 
Arbitrations shall be limited to a single grievance for a single officer, unless the 
RTAA and AAPOPA mutually agree to the contrary. 
 
Nothing in this Agreement changes the discharged officer’s obligation to mitigate his 
or her damages.  The award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the 
RTAA, the AAPOPA, and the officer(s) involved.   
 
The fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the RTAA and 
the AAPOPA.  Each party shall bear the expense of preparing its case and shall 
make arrangements for the expense of its own witnesses or others selected or 
called by a party to attend or appear before the arbitrator. 
 
Unless agreed otherwise, a court reporter will be used in all arbitration hearings.  The 
cost of a court reporter shall be shared equally between both the AAPOPA and the 
RTAA with one copy given to each party and the arbitrator.  Any other party desiring a 
copy will pay for the copy.   

 
G. Grievance information or testimony must be treated in a most discrete and 

confidential manner by all persons involved but must be available for use at all steps 
of the proceedings including appeals there from. 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 21 

ARTICLE 14 - COUNSELING AND DISCIPLINE 
 

A. Non-Disciplinary Actions. It is agreed upon that the RTAA and its representative 
management staff in the Airport Police Department have the right and duty to 
maintain discipline and good order at the RTAA and to ensure that officers are 
compliant with all lawful orders, policies and procedures which are necessary for an 
efficient and effective organization. Non-disciplinary actions taken in the furtherance 
of this objective include, but are not limited to: documented training, documented 
warnings, and documented counselings, as well as any coaching, orders, or 
instructions given during the normal course of duties by a supervisor or manager of 
the department. Non-disciplinary actions are not subject to grievance proceedings as 
indicated in Article 13 of this Agreement. 

1. Documented training is narrowly focused on improving officers’ skills and abilities 
which are required to be effective peace officers and carry out the prescribed 
duties of their classification, this includes documented remedial training. Failure 
to respond to training may result in disciplinary action being taken when 
performance does not improve.  

2. Coaching, counseling, and warnings are given when an officer’s observed 
conduct or performance is of a less serious nature and no pattern of problems is 
detected. Use of coaching, counseling, or warnings are used when officer 
conduct or performance is not meeting the minimum standards of conduct set 
forth in the oath, values, mission, policies, procedures, or training guidelines set 
forth by the Airport Police Department or the RTAA.  

 

B. Discipline. It is agreed that the RTAA has the right to discipline or discharge its 
employees for just cause in accordance with AIRPORT AUTHORTY RTAA Policies 
and Procedures, Airport Police Department Policies and Procedures, and NRS 289.  

 
The Airport Police Department will investigate all matters that could potentially lead 
to disciplinary action and make recommendations to the Chief of Police and the 
RTAA President/CEO or designee consistent with the Airport Police Department 
disciplinary matrix.  
 
Discipline shall be subject to the Grievance Procedures as described in Article 13 of 
this Agreement and/or Article 15 if involuntary termination is part of the disciplinary 
process. The AAPOPA President or designee shall receive a copy of any disciplinary 
action taken against its members if the member requests.  
 
Any matters for which the Nevada Equal Rights Commission has jurisdiction or 
where sexual harassment is involved will be handled by the People, Equity, and 
Culture Officer under a separate set of procedures outlined under RTAA policies and 
procedures. However, serious police conduct complaints will not be held but may run 
concurrent with any such investigations.   



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 22 

Discipline includes the following: 
 
1. Verbal Reprimands are documented to indicate that officer conduct or 

performance as observed in a specific incident or over a period of time is not 
improving and is of such a nature that the officer needs to be placed on notice to 
correct the deficiencies immediately.  Sergeants and above may issue Verbal 
Reprimands.  

  
2. Written Reprimand – a formal reprimand placed in the officer’s personnel file 

indicating poor performance, policy violations, or poor conduct observed in a 
specific incident or observed over a period of time. Only the Police Captain and 
above may issue Written Reprimands.  
 

3. Suspension without pay – An officer may be suspended without pay as a 
disciplinary measure when a specific incident cited is serious in nature or when 
conduct or performance does not improve over a period of time.  Only the Chief 
of Police may issue a Suspension without pay after a formal Internal Affairs (IA) 
investigation has concluded.  
 

4. Termination – An officer may be terminated as a result of disciplinary action. 
Termination will be carried out in accordance with the provisions of Article 15 of 
this Agreement.  Only the Chief of Police may issue a Termination after a formal 
Internal Affairs (IA) investigation has concluded. 
 

Reprimands/Suspension documentation will expire as indicated below, provided no 
successive discipline is issued that is the same or similar to the original reprimand or 
suspension. The reprimand or suspension will be removed from an officer’s 
personnel file upon expiration of the timeline outlined below that runs from the date 
of issuance of the reprimand or suspension. If successive discipline is issued, the 
original reprimand or suspension will remain in the officer’s personnel file until the 
successive discipline expires. 
 
1. Verbal Reprimands: 12 months 

2. Written Reprimands: 18 months 

3. Suspension without Pay: 5 years 

 
C. Rebuttal Documentation. Officers will be allowed to write a rebuttal to non-

disciplinary actions as well as disciplinary actions.  
 

1. The Airport Police Department utilizes a software program designed to be an 
early warning and intervention mechanism. The use of the system is mandated 
as a best practice for accreditation and is not used for disciplinary actions. 
Documentation in the early warning and intervention system are non-disciplinary 
actions and not subject to Article 13 procedures. Though non-disciplinary in 
nature, the officer may, after notification of an entry into the system, submit a 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 23 

rebuttal in writing within the system in accordance with rights outlined in NRS 
289. Such rebuttals must be restricted to the specific warning, admonishment, or 
counseling in question and not be used as a way to complain generally about 
perceived problems in the Airport Police Department.  
 
After an officer’s annual evaluation cycle, any entries prior to the evaluation date 
will no longer be valid for evaluation purposes. 
 

2. Upon written request of the officer to the RTAA Chief People, Equity, and Culture 
Officer or designee, the officer shall have the right to review and copy items in 
their personnel file. The officer may provide rebuttal comments to be attached to 
original documents where the officer believes it is appropriate. Such rebuttals 
must be restricted to the document in question.  Officers shall be entitled to all 
the provisions of NRS 289, Rights of a Peace Officer, regarding discipline and 
the right to submit documentation based on those provisions.  
 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 24 

ARTICLE 15 - INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION 
 
A. The RTAA shall not involuntarily terminate a regular officer covered under this 

Agreement without just cause. An officer being terminated shall have the right to 
legal counsel at their own expense and/or representation by the AAPOPA. In no 
case shall the representative appear instead of the officer nor shall the 
representative answer questions for the officer. The officer shall have the right to 
respond to all charges. The officer's response shall be confined to the specific 
charge(s). The officer shall be allowed to consult with the AAPOPA representative 
before responding to any question(s). 

 
B.  PROCEDURES FOR DISCHARGE 
 

1. Upon recommending termination, the Chief of Police will review the facts 
regarding previous misconduct and or performance issues with the Chief People, 
Equity, and Culture Officer or their designee. 

 
2. If termination is supported, People Operations will notify the officer of the date 

and time of a pre-termination hearing. At the pre-termination hearing, the RTAA 
will provide the officer with a written statement as to the reasons, including acts 
or omissions and grounds upon which the termination is based.  The officer may 
request copies of materials upon which the termination is based.  
 
a. Present at the pre-termination hearing will be the Chief of Police, the Chief of 

Ops/Public Safety Officer, the Chief People, Equity, and Culture Officer or 
any of their designees and the officer. The officer may also bring 
representation to the hearing.  

 
b. At the conclusion of the hearing, the officer may be placed on administrative 

leave with pay pending a final decision.  
 

3. After the pre-termination hearing, the RTAA will issue a written decision, within 
ten (10) calendar days to notify the officer of the findings.   
 
a. If the findings support a termination, any administrative pay will be ended, 

and the officer will be terminated.   
 
b. Alternatively and depending on the circumstances, the RTAA may offer an 

officer a Last Chance Agreement (LCA) in lieu of termination.  Any offered 
LCA will include a specified expiration date, as determined by the Chief of 
Airport Police. 

 
If the RTAA makes an LCA offer, the officer will have five (5) calendar days 
to decide if they will accept the offer via written notification to the Chief of 
Police. 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 25 

If the officer rejects the LCA offer, any administrative pay will be ended, and 
the officer will be terminated. 
 
If the officer accepts the LCA, any subsequent termination for violation of the 
LCA will not be subject to the grievance or arbitration provisions of this 
Agreement nor will a pre-termination hearing take place. 
 

4. The officer or the AAPOPA has five (5) calendar days to appeal the termination, 
in writing, to the President/CEO. 

 
5. If there is no appeal from the officer or AAPOPA within the time allowed, the 

officer and the AAPOPA shall be deemed to have waived the right to protest or 
appeal the termination.  

 
6. If the officer appeals the termination in writing within the time allotted, the parties 

agree to immediate and final binding arbitration of the termination decision by a 
local arbitrator that is mutually acceptable to both parties or through the use of 
the expedited arbitration processes and procedures (Western Region) of the 
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service. Both parties agree that the intent of 
this procedure is to complete the final appeal process within sixty (60) days of the 
notice to terminate. The cost of the arbitrator will be borne by the party that loses 
the case as determined by the arbitrator or Nevada court.  

 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 26 

ARTICLE 16 - SAFETY 
 
A. Joint Safety Committee.  The RTAA and the AAPOPA will cooperate in the 

continuing objective of eliminating employee safety and health hazards from the 
workplace by establishing and participating in an organizational-wide Joint Safety 
Committee.   

 
 The Joint Safety Committee will meet quarterly or more often as mutually agreed or 

as required to evaluate or investigate instances of unsafe or unhealthy working 
conditions or to discuss other safety related items, as needed.   

 
 The Committee shall include one (1) AAPOPA representative, one (1) or more 

representatives of the RTAA and may include representatives from other 
groups/associations within the organization.  Time spent during committee meetings 
for the AAPOPA representative participating in the Joint Safety Committee will be 
considered work time for the purposes of compensation. 

 
B. The RTAA shall provide annual hearing examinations on a voluntary basis for any 

officer represented by the AAPOPA. The RTAA, at their discretion, may schedule 
examinations at Reno-Tahoe International Airport or may designate a qualified 
practitioner. 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 27 

ARTICLE 17 - SPECIAL ASSIGNMENTS 
 
A. Defined: Special assignments are designations outside normal patrol functions that 

assist the RTAA Police department and save the department time and money by 
having an officer on site perform the task instead of outsourcing.  These tasks 
require the officer to be removed from patrol to perform the tasks and require 
specialized training. The specialized training will typically require an officer to attend 
a training class or be certified to perform the duties of that designation.  The 
designation may also require the officer to be re-certified after a specified timeframe 
to maintain that special assignment designation.  Any expenses incurred related to 
this training or certification will be paid by the RTAA. 

 
B. The RTAA will pay officers assigned to a special assignment by the Chief of Police 

or his designee in accordance with this Article.  This entire Article is effective upon 
signing of the Agreement by the parties. 

 
To receive special assignment pay, an officer must accurately record on their time 
sheet all time spent in the special assignment, to the nearest quarter hour.  In 
addition, an officer may not receive more than two special assignment pays special 
assignment pay at any one time for the same hours.   

 
The following are considered special assignments: 

 
 

1. Police Training Officer / Field Training Officer (PTO/FTO) – responsible for the 
training and oversite of all probationary officers or remedial training of existing 
officers as directed by the Chief of Police or their designee. 

 
 Up to four (4) officers certified and assigned as a PTO/FTO will be paid an 

additional eight percent (8%) of the officer’s hourly base rate of pay for all hours 
worked.  Paid time not worked, such as vacation, sick, non-worked holidays, 
funeral and standby will not be eligible for the additional 8% premium pay.  

 
 Additional officers certified and assigned as PTO/FTO outside of the 4 “all hours 

worked” officers will be paid an additional eight percent (8%) of the officer’s hourly 
base rate of pay for time spent engaged in PTO/FTO related activities. 

 
2. Instructor - responsible for teaching various police-related training classes as 

directed by the Chief of Police or his designee. 
 
 Officers assigned as an Instructor will be paid an additional eight percent (8%) of 

the officer’s hourly base rate of pay for time spent engaged in teaching activities, 
to include time spent in lesson preparation. 

 
3. TAC Officer – responsible for administration of the system, training, and oversight 

of the National Crime Computers. In the event the officer performing this special 
assignment is not available (on sick, vacation, etc.), the ATAC will assume the 
duties of the TAC. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 28 

 Officers certified and assigned as the TAC Officer will be paid an additional eight 
percent (8%) of the officer’s hourly base rate of pay for all hours worked.  Paid 
time not worked, such as vacation, sick, non-worked holidays, funeral and 
standby will not be eligible for the additional 8% premium pay. 

 
4. Police Investigator – responsible for all criminal investigations requiring special 

investigatory skills and a more in-depth investigation as directed by the Chief or 
Police or his designee. 

 
 Officers assigned as an Investigator will be paid an additional eight percent (8%) 

of the officer’s hourly base rate of pay for all hours worked.  Paid time not worked, 
such as vacation, sick, non-worked holidays, funeral and standby will not be 
eligible for the additional 8% premium pay. 

 
5. Armorer – responsible for inspecting, maintaining and repairing department 

owned firearms (handgun, shotgun and rifle).  
 
 Officers assigned as Armorer will be paid an additional eight percent (8%) of the 

officer’s hourly base rate of pay for time spent engaged in Armorer related 
activities. 

 
6. Explosive Detection Canine Handler Officer (Canine Handler) - responsible for 

handling, training and caring for explosive detection canine and for performing 
Canine Handler duties.   

 
 Officers assigned as a Canine Handler will be paid an additional eight percent 

(8%) of the officer’s hourly base rate of pay for all hours worked.  Paid time not 
worked, such as vacation, sick, non-worked holidays, funeral and standby will not 
be eligible for the additional 8% premium pay. 

 
 An officer assigned as a Canine Handler will record one half (.50) hours of paid 

time on their time sheet for each day that the Canine Handler performs at-home 
care, grooming, transportation and feeding of one or more canines.   

 
 Canine Handlers will be required to work their full scheduled shift and will not be 

released early for the at-home care, grooming, transportation and feeding of one 
or more canine. 

 
 Canine Handlers will be placed on standby duty for rotational periods as 

determined by the Chief of Police or their designee. For each hour of assigned 
standby, Canine Handlers will be compensated 5% of their base rate of pay. 
Canine Handlers are not eligible to receive standby pay during any hours worked 
due to call back.   

 
 Canine Handlers on standby status must: 1) remain fit for duty, 2) immediately 

answer a phone call from the RTAA to return to work, and 3) return to work within 
forty-five (45) minutes of the initial call.  Canine Handlers called back to work will 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 29 

be paid in accordance with the Overtime and Call Back provisions. 
 
7. Rapid Response/SWAT Team Member - responsible for responding to 

emergency situations on RTAA property that require personnel with higher of 
technical expertise and tactical training.  May additionally respond with other 
tactical teams in the community on major events or emergencies.   

 
 Officers certified and assigned as a Rapid Response/SWAT Team Member will 

be paid an additional eight percent (8%) of the officer’s hourly base rate of pay 
for time spent engaged in Rapid Response/SWAT Team Member events and 
related activities. 

 
AAPOPA agrees that any sworn officer employed by the RTAA Police 
Department may be assigned to this team, upon completion of certification. This 
includes officers who have promoted into positions outside of the AAPOPA. 

 
C.  Should the Chief of Police or their designee elect to create additional special 

assignments (e.g. rapid response/SWAT), the RTAA agrees to meet with AAPOPA 
and negotiate any required mandatory subjects of bargaining per NRS 288. 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 30 

ARTICLE 18 - UNIFORMS 
 
A. The RTAA will provide uniforms and approved duty accessories to officers; to 

include a minimum of ten (10) short or long sleeved shirts (or combination thereof) 
and five (5) pants.  The police department maintains a uniform manual which all 
officers must adhere to and may be amended by the Chief of Police or his designee.   

 
B. All costs for equipment replacement due to normal wear and tear, uniform 

maintenance, dry cleaning, alterations and/or repair shall be assumed by the RTAA 
in lieu of uniform allowance.  Any damage or replacement of equipment determined 
to be due to negligence or misuse shall be at the officer's expense. 

 
The RTAA shall contract with a cleaning service to perform cleaning and 
maintenance. 

 
C. The RTAA shall provide officers with semi-automatic duty weapons as approved by 

the Chief of Police on the date of issuance. Upon separation, officers shall return to 
the RTAA duty weapons issued to them.  Officers may, with the approval of the 
Chief of Police, purchase and use their own handgun(s) duty weapon(s) of their 
choice while on duty. 

 
D. The RTAA shall provide officers with required duty gear, necessary protective 

equipment, as well as protective vests. These vests are mandatory safety equipment 
and will be worn at all times while on duty.   



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 31 

ARTICLE 19 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 
A. To the extent available, leave granted under this Agreement shall run concurrently 

with the leave granted under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA). To the extent 
any provisions of this Agreement and the FMLA conflict, the provisions set forth in 
the FMLA shall control. If a dispute arises concerning the application of the FMLA, 
the parties agree to resolve said disputes through the procedures set forth in Article 
13. 

 
B.  LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY.  Time off the job is essential for the well-being 

of officers. To ensure that business needs are met, planned time off will be 
scheduled by the Chief of Police or their designee. 

 
1. VACATION LEAVE 

 
a. Rate of Accrual. Any officer who has been continuously employed in full-time 

status by the RTAA shall be credited vacation hours for the following:  
 

 Less than 5 years 5 hours for each full pay period 
 5 years but less than 10 years 6 hours for each full pay period 
 10 years but less than 15 years  7 hours for each full pay period 
 15 years or more 8 hours for each full pay period 
 

Continuous service shall be defined as a period of employment which has not 
been interrupted by more than thirty (30) calendar days at any one time, 
except by authorized leave of absence with pay, sick leave, vacation, or 
military leave of absence.  
 

b. Eligibility Provisions 
 

1) Officers earn vacation hours from date of employment and will be eligible 
to use any accrued paid vacation immediately. 

 
2) If a designated holiday is observed during an officer's vacation period, the 

officer will not be charged for vacation time on that day but will code 
holiday on their time card and receive holiday pay in lieu of vacation pay. 

 
3) Vacation will not be accrued during any unpaid Leave of Absence of thirty 

(30) calendar days or more unless required by law. 
 
4) An officer will not convert vacation time to sick time off due to illness or 

disability occurring while on vacation. 
 
5) Termination. An officer who terminates employment with the RTAA for 

any reason will be paid for unused accrued vacation time. 
 

c. Vacation Scheduling. Vacations will be scheduled by the Supervisor through 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 32 

the Chief of Police with due consideration given to staffing requirements, 
officer's length of service, and officer preferences, in the order listed. 
However, officers who schedule their vacation at the beginning of the 
calendar year and receive approval will be given priority over the officers with 
seniority who do not schedule at the beginning of the calendar year. 

 
d. Vacation Pay / Cash Out Option 

 
1) Vacation pay will be computed by multiplying the officer's current base 

rate of pay by the number of vacation hours taken. 
 
2) In February and August of each year, the RTAA shall pay accrued 

vacation time to those officers that have provided written notice of their 
intent to “cash out” accrued hours. Officers must provide this written 
notification to Payroll during the month of January and July each year.  
Only those officers with over one hundred twenty (120) vacation hours on 
the books as of the last pay period in January or June of each year can 
take advantage of this “cash out” option.  Officers must “cash out” their 
accrued vacation time in lots of forty (40) hours at a time and must 
maintain a balance of at least forty (40) accrued hours.  The RTAA shall 
make this payment to participating officers on the first payday in February 
or August of each year. 

 
e. Accumulation of Vacation. An officer's unused vacation hours may not 

exceed, at any time, the number of vacation hours accruable in fifty-two (52) 
pay periods. No additional vacation hours will be accrued until the unused 
vacation hour balance is reduced below the maximum allowable level. 

 
1. Military Leave. This section applies to an officer who is an active member of the 

Nevada National Guard or any reserve component of the United States Armed 
Forces and presents military orders to serve on active duty. Any officer who is an 
active member of the Nevada National Guard, or any reserve component of the 
United States Armed Forces, shall be relieved from duties upon presentation of 
orders from their military unit to serve on training duty without loss of regular 
compensation for a period not to exceed three (3) calendar weeks or 120 hours 
in any one (1) calendar year. These do not have to be consecutive weeks or 
hours. The RTAA shall not deduct such time from the officer's accrued vacation 
(as prescribed in the NRS). 

 
2. Sick Leave. Full-time officers shall earn 4.6 hours sick leave per pay period from 

the date of employment and may use hours as they are accrued.  Sick leave 
accrual is not subject to any maximum accrual amount. 

 

a. Sick leave shall be granted when the officer is incapacitated due to illness, 
injury, pregnancy, childbirth or adoption. Sick leave shall also be granted 
when the officer is quarantined, receiving required medical or dental services 
or examinations, or upon need to provide care due to injury or illness of an 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 33 

officer's spouse, siblings, children/step children, parents, stepparents, father-
in-law, mother-in-law, grandparents, other legal dependents, or any person 
living in the officer's home for sixty (60) days or more. A doctor's statement 
may be required if circumstances so justify. 

 
b. An officer may request vacation leave to care for any family member not 

identified in a, above. This time off will be considered by the officer’s 
Supervisor on a case-by-case basis. 

 
c. Sick leave shall be charged on the basis of actual time used to the nearest 

quarter hour. Holidays occurring during sick leave periods shall not be 
counted as sick leave time.  Sick leave must be approved by an officer’s 
Supervisor prior to payment of any accrued sick time. 

 
d. If a designated holiday is observed during an officer’s period of sick leave, the 

officer will not be charged for sick time on that day but will code holiday on 
their time card and receive holiday pay in lieu of sick pay. 

 
de. In no case will sick leave be granted in lieu of vacation time. If an officer is 

absent from work in excess of three (3) consecutive days for any of the 
reasons listed above, the RTAA will consider such absence a medical leave 
of absence and may require the officer to provide a doctor’s statement of their 
condition. Upon exhausting accrued sick leave, an officer may request a 
medical leave of absence without pay, which request shall not be 
unreasonably denied by the RTAA. 

 
ef. Sick Payout at Separation.  Effective July 1, 2022, an officer who terminates 

employment with the RTAA will be paid for all accrued sick leave on the 
books at the time of separation based on the following: 

 
Years of Continuous RTAA Service Sick Leave Payout Rate of Pay 

 
Less than 5 years 0¢ on the dollar 
5 years but less than 10 years 12.5¢ on the dollar 
10 years but less than 20 years  25¢ on the dollar  
20 years or more 50¢ on the dollar  
 

3. Military Leave. This section applies to an officer who is an active member of the 
Nevada National Guard or any reserve component of the United States Armed 
Forces and presents military orders to serve on active duty. Any officer who is an 
active member of the Nevada National Guard, or any reserve component of the 
United States Armed Forces, shall be relieved from duties upon presentation of 
orders from their military unit to serve on training duty without loss of regular 
compensation for a period not to exceed three (3) calendar weeks or 120 hours 
in any one (1) calendar year. These do not have to be consecutive weeks or 
hours. The RTAA shall not deduct such time from the officer's accrued vacation 
(as prescribed in the NRS). 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 34 

34. Bereavement Leave. When a death occurs in an officer’s immediately family, an 
officer may request up to three (3) days of sick leave to be used within six (6) 
months of the date of death to arrange and attend a funeral and/or to see to the 
affairs of the deceased’s estate. This leave may be taken consecutively or non-
consecutively.  An officer’s immediate family includes the officer’s spouse, 
parents, stepparents, siblings, children, stepchildren, aunts, uncles, 
grandparents, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-
law, daughter-in-law, grandchild, or any person living in the officer's home for 
sixty (60) days or more. Under special circumstances, the officer’s Supervisor 
may approve additional vacation leave or unpaid time off if vacation is not 
available. 
 
An officer may request vacation leave to attend the funeral of any family member 
not identified above. This time off will be considered by the officer’s Supervisor on 
a case-by-case basis. 

 
45. Jury Duty. Any officer receiving notice of jury duty shall submit a copy of the 

notice to their Supervisor promptly and shall work as much of their regularly 
scheduled shift as such jury duty permits. Combined time on jury duty and at 
work shall not exceed the total hours of the workday.  

 
Officers appearing for jury duty shall receive their regular pay for the period of 
absence caused by jury duty and may also keep all checks received from the 
court for jury duty. 

 
a. Officers shall exercise their jury duty preemption if it is available. 
 

b6. Court Leave. Officers appearing as witnesses in court shall receive overtime pay 
unless they appear during scheduled duty hours. The officer may keep all checks 
received from the court. If an officer who is appearing as a witness in court is 
released early while serving as a witness, they shall report back to their division 
to resume work for the remainder of their shift. 

 
C.  LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY 
 

1. Leaves of absence without pay are available to accommodate the compelling 
medical/disability or personal needs of officers when other forms of allowable 
absence are not available. The impact of such leaves of absence on the  
department shall be a major consideration in the approval process. 

 
2. Unpaid Leaves of absences without pay will not be granted until all appropriate 

paid leave is exhausted. 
 
3. Leaves of absence of up to five (5) days without pay may be granted by the Chief 

of Police or their designee only be requested for a continuous period of time and 
will not be granted for intermittent leave. 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 35 

4. Leaves of absence without pay in excess of five (5) days and up to a total of 180 
days per incident may be granted by the Chief Operations & Public Safety Officer 
or their designee. In no case will leaves without pay be approved for more than a 
total of 180 days per Agreement term. 

 
5. Failure or inability to report for resumption of job duties at the expiration of the 

medical or personal approved leave without pay shall be considered as a 
voluntary resignation. 
 

6. Leaves required by law will not be subject to the above but will instead be based 
on the requirements under that law (i.e. FMLA). 

 
D7.EFFECT OF LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY ON OFFICER BENEFITS 

 
1a. Time spent on an unpaid leave of absence of over thirty (30) calendar days 

will not be counted as time employed in determining an officer's eligibility for 
benefits that accrue on the basis of length of employment unless required by 
law. 

 
2b. An officer on an unpaid leave of absence will not accrue vacation or sick 

leave during the leave of absence. 
 
3c. An officer who is on an unpaid leave is not eligible for pay for any holiday that 

occurs during the unpaid leave. 
 
4d. An officer on an unpaid leave of absence of over thirty (30) calendar days 

shall not be entitled to receive RTAA paid group insurance premiums, unless 
required by law (i.e. FMLA), but is entitled to assume the premium payments 
if the insurance policy allows. The officer will contact the People Operations 
department to determine the procedure for continuation of medical insurance 
while they is are on an unpaid leave of absence. If the officer elects to let the 
insurance lapse, reinstatement of insurance coverage shall be based on 
insurance carrier provisions. 

 
5e. Upon notifying the RTAA of their intention to return to employment, an officer 

shall be reinstated to their specific assignment or an equivalent position. For 
officers on a medical leave of absence, a fitness for duty certification must be 
presented before reinstatement will occur. 

 
6f. Upon return from any unpaid leave of absence over thirty (30) calendar days, 

the officer's anniversary date will be adjusted by one (1) day for each day in 
excess of thirty (30) days out of pay status. 

 
E8.  UNPAID LEAVE OF ABSENCE PROCEDURES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
1a. Officer.  Officers seeking an unpaid leave of absence are required to: 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 36 

a.1) Notify Provide a written request to their Supervisor as far as possible in 
advance of the need for a leave of absence at least two (2) weeks before 
the anticipated start of the leave. 

 
b. Obtain and complete the appropriate request form and submit it for review 

and recommendation to their Supervisor (forms available from the People 
Operations department or the officer's Supervisor). 

 
c.2) Provide support documentation such as a physician's written statement, 

military orders, adoption paper, etc. 
 
d.3) As appropriate, maintain contact with their Supervisor or the People 

Operations department regarding prognosis and/or possible return date. 
Notify their Supervisor at earliest possible date of intent/date of return. For 
officers on an unpaid medical leave of absence, provide a fitness for duty 
certification upon intent to return to work. 

 
e.4) If an extension of the unpaid leave of absence becomes necessary, a 

written request must be submitted to the Supervisor prior to the expiration 
of the leave of absence. 

 
2b. The Chief of Police (leaves up to 5 days) or the Chief Operations & Public 

Safety Officer (leaves over 5 days) or their designees will review and act upon 
a request for leave of absence without pay in consideration of the following 
factors: 

 
1) The purpose for which the leave is requested; 

2) The length of time the officer will be away; and  

3) The effect the leave will have on the ability of the department to carry out 
its responsibilities. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 37 

ARTICLE 20 - EDUCATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
A. Upon completion of the 12 month probationary period, full-time officers are eligible 

for reimbursement for educational courses that are related to the required skills or 
education for the officer’s current position or to a logical career path with the 
AIRORT AUTHORITY RTAA. 

 
B. The officer must submit application for approval for tuition reimbursement through 

their supervisor to the Chief of Police or the Chief’s designee to the Chief People, 
Culture and Equity Officer prior to the start of the educational course. Final approval 
for tuition reimbursement will be made by the Chief People, Culture and Equity 
Officer; any denials will be for articulable, written reasons. Requests will be denied if 
the RTAA determines that the educational course does not meet the requirements of 
section A, above, or if the RTAA’s fiscal year Tuition Reimbursement budget limit 
has already been reached based on requests previously submitted and approved. 

 
C. Full-time officers will be reimbursed for no more than $1,500.00 $2,500 per fiscal 

year for those courses begun in that fiscal year. There will be no reimbursement if 
the cost is assumed by any other institution, scholarship or grant-in-aid. 

 
D. Reimbursable expenses shall include tuition, course fees, books and consumable 

materials. While courses shall normally be taken on the officer's own time, 
exceptions may be granted by the Chief of Police or the Chief’s designee, in which 
case hours from work must be deducted from earned vacation or be recorded as an 
unpaid excused absence. 

 
E. Reimbursement will be made upon presentation of receipts for covered costs and 

grade notices substantiating a grade of C or better, PASS in a pass/fail course or 
certificate of completion. 

 
F. Education & POST Incentive.  Effective July 1, 2022, educational/POST incentives 

shall be paid as follows: 
 

1. Nevada Intermediate POST certificate:  1.5% 
2. 30 credit hours or more from an accredited college or university:  1.5% 
3. Nevada Advanced POST certificate:  3% 
4. Associate’s degree from an accredited college or university: 3% 
5. Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university:  5% 

 
1. Any officer who has earned a Nevada Intermediate POST certificate will receive 

an additional payment in the amount of 1% of their base pay, payable biweekly.  
 
2. Any officer who has obtained any Associate’s degree from an accredited college 

or university or a Nevada Advanced POST Certificate will receive 3% of their 
base pay, payable biweekly. 

 
3. Any officer who has obtained a Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 38 

university will receive 5% of their base pay, payable biweekly. 
 

a. No officer will receive compensation for more than one of the above 
subsections during any fiscal year.  

 
b. Incentive pay will be paid as a percentage of an officer’s base pay, payable 

biweekly. 
 

c. An officer requesting educational or POST incentive pay shall be required to 
provide a certified transcript or a copy of the POST certificate to People 
Operations. For officers receiving the degree or certification after July 1, 
2022, the An officer will receive the incentive pay beginning the first day of the 
first full pay period following the date the transcript or certification is dated 
received by People Operations. 
 

d. Probationary officers will be eligible for incentive pay after satisfactory 
completion of their probationary period beginning the first day of the first full 
pay period following the date the transcript or certification is received by 
People Operations. 

 
G. Officers shall be eligible for bilingual pay consistent with the RTAA’s Bilingual Pay 

Policy as may be modified or revised by the RTAA during the term of this 
Agreement. 

 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 39 

ARTICLE 21 - POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN 
 
A. The RTAA and the AAPOPA have agreed to establish an Internal Revenue Code 

501(c) 9 plan to resolve the issue of post-employment health care. This plan is 
designed to supplement PERS retirement and Deferred Compensation benefits. The 
plan provides each member with an individual account to provide for post-
employment health benefits through the following funding formulas.  This Article is 
effective upon signing of the Agreement by the parties: 

 
1. An amount equal to $31.00 of each regular officer’s salary per pay period shall 

be contributed into their plan account. 
 
2. Once a member has accumulated eighty (80) one hundred and twenty (120) 

hours of compensatory time, the RTAA shall contribute 100% of that member’s 
compensatory time in excess of eighty (80) one hundred and twenty (120) hours 
into their plan account at 100% of their base pay. 

 
3. If a member has accumulated 880 hours of sick accrual as of the last pay period 

in October of any year, the RTAA shall contribute annually in December 100% of 
that member’s sick accrual in excess of 880 hours into their plan account at 
100% of their base pay. 

 
4. On the first pay period each December, the RTAA shall contribute forty (40) 

hours of each member’s accrued vacation time into their plan account at 100% of 
their base pay, provided the member’s vacation accrual balance is three hundred 
and forty (340) hours or more as of the last pay period in November. 

 
B. The RTAA recognizes that officers need to be encouraged to participate actively in 

their retirement planning and to prepare for the expense of retirement, (i.e. health 
insurance, etc.). To that end, the RTAA will reimburse officers up to a maximum of 
$300 for the services of a certified financial planner to assist the officer with the 
monetary aspects of their retirement. This reimbursement is available to officers 
within the twelve (12) months prior to retirement into the PERS system. 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 40 

ARTICLE 22 - HUMAN RESOURCES INFORMATION 
 
A. The RTAA maintains one (1) official personnel file which contains only appropriate 

information, and that file is held and maintained by the People Operations 
department. The RTAA will provide access to an officer’s official personnel file only 
to the officer, their designated (in writing) representative, RTAA legal counsel, and 
those management personnel in the officer’s chain of command, from Supervisor to 
the President/CEO, unless the officer has authorized (in writing) for another 
individual to have access to their personnel files. 

 
1. Officer Access to Their Own Records.  An officer shall be entitled to view their  

personnel file upon request during normal business hours, i.e., Monday through 
Friday -- 0800 to 1700, except RTAA holidays. An officer who feels that the 
contents of their personnel file is not accurate, timely, or complete may submit 
pertinent comments in writing to the Chief People, Equity, and Culture Officer for 
inclusion in their personnel file. An officer may not remove any document from 
their file but may request removal through their Supervisor, Chief of Police and 
Chief Officer to the Chief People, Equity, and Culture Officer. 

 
2. Officer Designated Representative Access to Officer File.  An officer may 

notify the People Operations department, in writing, that their designated 
representative may be allowed access to the officer's personnel file. This 
notification shall be recognized for a period of one (1) week unless stipulated 
otherwise. 

 
The officer’s designated representative will be responsible for the protection and 
security of information provided and will assume any liability which may result 
from any improper disclosure or use of the information provided. 

 
3. Officer Request for Copy of Material.  An officer shall be entitled, upon 

request, to a copy of any material in their personnel file if it is to be used in 
connection with a grievance or personnel hearing. 

 
4. Adverse Material.  No adverse material will be placed in an officer's personnel 

file unless a copy of the same is provided to the officer. The officer shall be given 
the opportunity to submit explanatory remarks for the record. 

 
 
 
      

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 41 

ARTICLE 23 - MISCELLANEOUS BENEFITS 
 
A. In accordance with NRS 281.155, the designated beneficiary of an officer who 

becomes deceased while actively employed by the RTAA will be entitled to all 
wages, reimbursements and accrued leave payouts the officer would have been 
entitled to had the officer separated for any other reason (e.g. vacation, sick, 
compensatory time). If the deceased officer had not provided People Operations 
with a designated beneficiary, the final payment will be considered part of the 
officer’s personal estate. 

 
1. If an officer is killed in the lie of duty, in addition to the above, all accrued sick 

leave will be paid to the designated beneficiary, regardless of eligibly under 
Article 19, section B.2.e. 

 
B. The RTAA agrees to continue coverage and pay the full premium for the health 

insurance benefits for the spouse and dependents children (if any) of an officer killed 
in the line of duty through no fault of their own through the COBRA continuation of 
coverage provisions. The coverage provided will be the same as the officer had 
selected that benefit year for the spouse and dependent children under the plan 
offered by the RTAA. Coverage will be continued and paid for by the RTAA for a 
period of three (3) years after the officer’s death. 

 
1. If the RTAA Police Officers become covered under NRS 617, health insurance 

coverage for the spouse and dependent children (if any) of an officer killed in the 
line of duty through no fault of their own will be provided as required under NRS 
287.021 will be provided until the spouse reaches the age of sixty-five (65) or 
their remarriage, whichever occurs first (as provided for in NRS 287.021). In 
addition, the dependent child(ren) will be covered under the same or a 
replacement benefit plan available to other dependents of officers as allowed 
under the current plan provisions for dependent coverage.   

 
C. If an officer is killed in the line of duty, the RTAA will provide a lump sum payment in 

the amount of $20,000 to the officer’s designated beneficiary to assist in memorial, 
funeral, internment and/or other incurred expenses. This payment is in addition to 
any RTAA provided life insurance benefits the designated beneficiary may be 
eligible for. If the deceased officer had not provided People Operations with a 
designated beneficiary, the final payment will be considered part of the officer’s 
personal estate.   

  
  



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 42 

ARTICLE 24 - COMPENSATION 
 
A.  ANNUAL INCREASES IN INDIVIDUAL OFFICERS’ PAY 
 

1. Wages: Effective July 1, 2025, the RTAA will increase each officer’s regular base 
pay in an amount equal to 4.375% which is equal to the reduction made to the 
officer’s regular base pay due to the Nevada PERS increase. This is in addition 
to the salary adjustments agreed upon below and as reflected in Appendix 1. 

 
12. Salary Schedule. Effective on July 1, 2022, the steps on the salary schedule will 

be changed to those reflected in Appendix 1.  In addition, effective on the below 
dates, the salary schedule steps shall be increased as indicated and as reflected 
in Appendix 1. Each officer will receive a like adjustment on these dates as well:  

 
July 1, 2022: 6.5% 
July 1, 2023: 4% 
July 1, 2024: 3.5% 

 
 Effective on the below dates, the salary schedule steps shall be increased as 

indicated and as reflected in Appendix 1. Each officer will receive a like 
adjustment on these dates as well: 

 
July 1, 2025:  1% 
July 1, 2026:  2% 
July 1, 2027:  2% 
 

Effective on July 1, 2026, an additional Step 8 shall be added to the top of the 
salary schedule as reflected in Appendix 1.  
 
Effective on July 1, 2027, the bottom step of the salary schedule will be 
eliminated, and a new Step 8 shall be calculated at 5% above the current Step 8, 
as reflected in Appendix 1.  Effective on July 1, 2027, officers will be placed into 
this salary schedule at one step lower than their step as of June 30, 2026. 

 
23. Step Increases. During the term of this Agreement, an officer’s performance will 

be reviewed on their anniversary date through a performance appraisal 
completed by the officer’s Supervisor based on the officer’s demonstrated 
performance in the previous twelve (12) month period. The purpose of the 
performance appraisal is to annually assess an officer’s performance and, if 
needed, to provide a tool for performance improvement.   

 
The officer’s Supervisor will meet with the officer and review the officer’s 
performance appraisal.  From the date of the Supervisor’s review with the officer, 
the officer will have thirty (30) calendar days to provide written comments on their 
performance appraisal, which will be delivered to the People Operations 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 43 

department, attached to the performance appraisal and  placed in the officer’s 
personnel file.   
 
Upon receipt of a “Contributor” “Successful” or higher performance appraisal 
rating on the officer’s performance appraisal, an officer will be moved to the next 
salary step on the Salary Schedule, as indicated in Appendix 1, effective on the 
officer’s anniversary date until they reach the maximum of the Salary Schedule.  
An officer who has reached the maximum step on the Salary Schedule, shall 
receive five percent (5%) of their current hourly base wage, paid to the employee 
in a lump sum, less normal deductions. 

 
34. In the event an officer receives a performance evaluation that the officer believes 

is inaccurate, incomplete, less than warranted, and/or does not adequately 
represent their true performance, the officer may within ten (10) calendar days 
request a meeting with the Chief of Police or his designee to discuss the 
performance appraisal. The review will be held within ten (10) calendar days of 
the written request by the officer.  The Chief of Police will respond to the officer 
within ten (10) calendar days.  Within five (5) calendar days of the Chief of 
Police’s response, an “Unsatisfactory” or “Approaching/Developing” performance 
appraisal rating may be appealed to a panel made up of one (1) employee from 
the People Operations department, one (1) RTAA management employee and 
two (2) officers selected by the AAPOPA.  The ruling of the panel shall be final 
with any tie decided in favor of the RTAA. 

 
45. If an officer’s performance is assessed as an “Unsatisfactory” or “Approaching/ 

Developing”, that officer will be placed on a performance improvement plan and 
given ninety (90) calendar days to improve their performance to at least a 
“Contributor” “Successful”.  At the end of this ninety (90) calendar days, the 
officer’s immediate Supervisor will re-assess the officer’s performance.  If the 
performance has been improved to at least a “Contributor” “Successful”, the 
officer will be moved to the next salary step on the Salary Schedule (if the officer 
is not already at max), effective on the date of this re-assessment.  Failure to 
achieve at least a “Contributor” “Successful” rating at the end of this ninety (90) 
calendar day period, will result in disciplinary action, which may be grieved 
through Article 13, Grievance Procedure. 

 
56. The Chief of Police or his designee may extend the performance improvement 

period from ninety (90) calendar days up to one hundred and eighty (180) 
calendar days. 

 
B. OVERTIME 
 

Eligibility. Overtime eligibility shall be in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards 
Act (FLSA).  All overtime eligible officers covered under this Agreement will receive 
overtime pay for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours of work in a 
workweek, except that all paid vacation, sick leave and compensatory time will be 
considered hours worked for the purposes of overtime eligibility.   



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 44 

Overtime Pay.  Overtime will be paid at the rate of one and one half (1½) times the 
officer’s regular rate of pay and will be calculated based on a workweek basis.  
Overtime is earned and paid based on rounding to the nearest quarter hour. 
 
With the exception of all paid vacation, sick leave and compensatory time, paid time 
not worked, such as unworked holidays, military leave, jury leave, funeral leave, 
standby and other similar paid time not worked, will not be considered hours worked 
for the purpose of computing weekly overtime.  

 
C. COMPENSATORY TIME 
 
 Officers may choose to elect compensatory time in lieu of overtime pay.  

Compensatory time will be earned at one and one half (1½) times for each hour of 
overtime worked. 

 
1. Use of Compensatory Time:  An officer may request compensatory time off in 

lieu of vacation leave. An officer may request compensatory time off by 
submitting an absence request form indicating the use of compensatory time.  
Approval of compensatory time off shall rest with the Supervisor. 

 
2. Option to Cash Out Compensatory Time:  An officer wishing to be paid for any 

accrued compensatory time will indicate the number of hours they wish to cash 
out on their bi-weekly timecard.  Payment for compensatory time shall be 
included in the officer’s bi-weekly payroll check.  Compensatory time shall be 
paid at the officer’s current base rate of pay. 

3. Maximum Accruals and Required Cash Out: The accrual of compensatory 
time shall not exceed one hundred and twenty (120) hours. In the event that an 
officer does not use/cash out the compensatory time in excess of one hundred 
and twenty (120) hours, the compensatory time shall be paid to the officer per the 
guidelines of Article 21 – Post Employment Health Plan, item B.2. 

 
4. Termination: An officer who terminates employment with the RTAA for any 

reason will be paid for all compensatory time on the books at the time of 
separation. 

 
D. PATROL STANDBY DUTY. From time to time the Chief of Police or their designee 

may have an articulable reason to place officers on patrol standby duty. Patrol 
standby duty is a period of time during which the assigned officer is to be 
responsible for responding to any emergency or other necessary duty call without 
delay during other than their normally scheduled working hours.  

 
1. A standby list will be posted for officers to voluntarily sign up. If not enough 

officers volunteer, the Chief of Police or their designee may mandate officers to 
be placed on standby.  Mandatory standby assignments shall be enacted from 
the bottom of the seniority list each time standby is mandated. 

   



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 45 

2. Officers will be compensated for all time on standby duty based on the following: 
 
a. At 5% of their regular base pay if the standby list is posted at least 1 week in 

advance of the standby dates. 
 

b. At 10% of their regular base pay if the standby list is posted less than 1 week 
in advance of the standby dates. 
 

3. Patrol standby duty will be assigned for a minimum of four (4) hours up to a 
maximum of twenty-four (24) hours.  
 

4. Officers placed on standby duty must: 
 

a. Remain fit for duty, and 
 

b. Immediately answer a phone call/text from the RTAA to return to work, and 
 
c. Return to work within 60 minutes of the initial call, unless extraordinary 

circumstances arise.  
 

5. Officers placed on standby and subsequently called back will be paid in 
accordance with the Call Back provisions of this this Article.   

 
Nothing in this section restricts the Chief of Airport Police or their designee from 
recalling officers back to duty during an emergency.  
 

E. CALL BACK.  When an officer has completed their regularly scheduled workday 
and has been released from duty and is then directed by the RTAA to return to work 
or to report to work prior to the beginning of their next scheduled shift, the officer 
shall be paid at the rate of one and one half (1½) times their base rate of pay if an 
officer is on standby or if they are called back to work with more than 12 hours’ 
notice.  However, an officer will be paid at two (2) times the officer’s regular rate of 
pay if they are called back to work with less than 12 hours’ notice and are not on 
standby.   

 
Call back pay will only be paid for hours worked outside of the officer’s regularly 
scheduled shift and will begin when an officer actually reports to work and not at the 
time they are called to return to work.  Upon the start of the officer’s regularly 
scheduled shift, the officer will be paid at their base rate of pay.  However, the RTAA 
will pay an officer called back for work a minimum of two (2) hours call back pay. 

 
Eligibility for PERS contributions on call back wages is determined by PERS 
regulations and applicable state statutes. 

 
F. COURT SUBPOENAS.  Officers who are subpoenaed to report to court related to 

an RTAA matter will be paid at an overtime rate for all hours spent at court outside of 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 46 

their scheduled shift, with a minimum of three (3) hours of overtime pay. In situations 
where the court time runs into or is right after an officer’s scheduled shift, the 3-hour 
minimum will not apply and the officer will only be paid overtime for the time outside 
of their scheduled shift. 

 
G. OVERNIGHT TRAVEL.  Officers who travel overnight out of the area to attend 

training or for other similar purposes will have their schedule changed to match the 
needed travel dates, with days off scheduled before and after the travel.  Officers will 
be paid based on their regularly assigned number of hours on these travel and 
training days, regardless of the actual time spent engaged in travel/training (unless 
the travel/training exceeds those hours and then they will be paid per the overtime 
provisions of this Article). 

 
H. PYRAMIDING.  Overtime pay or other premium pay such as holiday worked pay and 

call back pay will not be pyramided, except as provided for in Article 17.  For the 
purposes of this Agreement, the term “pyramiding” means the payment of overtime 
or other premium pay paid more than once for the same hours. 

 
I. SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL 
 
 Officers shall be eligible for shift differential pay for any working hours that occur 

between the hours of 5:00 pm to 7:00 am.   
 

Officers eligible for shift differential pay shall be paid and additional $3.00 per hour 
for all hours worked between the hours indicated above.   

 
Shift differential will not be paid when an employee is on sick, vacation, holiday, 
worker’s compensation or other types of paid time not worked. 

 
J. TIME CARD CHANGES 

 
 Occasionally, management must change the entries made to a time card completed 

by an officer.  When this occurs, the affected officer will be notified. 
 
K. RATIFICATION BONUS. Officers employed as of the date of AAPOPA ratification of 

this Agreement shall be paid a $6,000 bonus after this Agreement’s approval, but no 
later than June 30, 2022.  If AAPOPA ratification of this Agreement occurs on or 
before May 9, 2025, officers employed as of the date of that ratification shall be paid 
a $2,000 bonus after this Agreement’s approval, but no later than June 30, 2025. If 
AAPOPA ratification of this Agreement occurs after May 9, 2025, the bonus shall be 
reduced to $1,000 per officer. If AAPOPA ratification of this Agreement does not 
occur by June 30, 2025, there shall be no ratification bonus paid. If a ratification 
bonus is paid, all negotiation members representing AAPOPA, identified in writing 
during the ground rules meeting, which was provided to the RTAA negotiation team, 
will receive the above ratification bonus regardless of AAPOPA membership and/or 
affiliation status. These AAPOPA negotiation team members are as follows: LaRoy 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 47 

Hutchinson (AAPOPA President- Chief Negotiator), Quan Tran (AAPOPA Vice-
President), Matt Lietz (AAPOPA member), and Brandon Randall (AAPOPA 
member).  

 
L. DAYLIGHT SAVINGS TIME.  If an officer is working at 2:00 a.m. on the day on 

which Daylight Savings Time begins (typically in March) when the clock moves 
forward an hour, the officer will be paid for the extra “phantom” 2:00 a.m. to 3:00 
a.m. hour to ensure officers receive pay for their regularly scheduled shift, even 
though they are working one hour less.  



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 48 

ARTICLE 25 - RETIREMENT 
 
A. The RTAA participates in the Nevada Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) 

under the Employer Pay Contribution Plan.   
 
B. Eligibility for membership in Nevada PERS and PERSable wage contributions are 

determined by PERS and applicable state statutes.  
 
C. Public Employment Retirement (PERS) Contributions  

 
1. Nevada PERS regulations and applicable state statutes require any increase in 

the PERS retirement rate contribution to be equally divided between the RTAA 
and the officer. Effective January 1, 2014, and beyond, any required PERS 
contribution increases or decreases will be implemented by direct salary 
reduction or increase in the amount indicated by PERS.  
 

2. Effective January 1, 2027, and beyond, if Nevada PERS takes action to increase 
the total contribution rate in any single year in an amount equal to or less than  
six percent (6%) during the term of this Agreement, the RTAA will pay one-half of 
the increase, and the officer’s regular base pay, as well as the salary schedule, 
will be reduced by one-half of the increase.  
 

3. Effective January 1, 2027, and beyond, if Nevada PERS takes any action to 
increase the total contribution rate in any single year in an amount greater than 
six percent (6%) during the term of this Agreement, the RTAA will pay one-half of 
the increase, and the officer’s regular base pay, as well as the salary schedule, 
will be reduced by one-half of the increase. However, the RTAA will increase the 
officer’s regular base pay, as well as the salary schedule, by the amount of the 
reduction that exceeds three percent (3%) on the effective date of the reduction 
(For example: if the overall PERS increase = 8%, RTAA pays 4% and the 
officer’s wage is decreased by 4%.  The officer’s wage  and the salary schedule 
is then subsequently increased by 1%).  

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 49 

ARTICLE 26 - GROUP INSURANCE 
 
A. The RTAA shall offer the following insurance benefits to officers and their 

dependents: 
 

1. Medical Insurance 
2. Dental Insurance 
3. Vision Insurance 
4. Life Insurance 
5. Long Term Disability (officer coverage only) 
6. Such other insurance benefits as may be mutually agreed upon by the RTAA and 

AAPOPA. 
 

Officers are eligible for the above insurance benefits on the first day of the next 
month after their hire date with the RTAA. 

 
B. Effective upon the signing of this Agreement, The RTAA shall pay officers premiums 

for the coverages listed in subparagraphs A.1. through A.6., subject to the following 
limitations: 

 
 Officer only coverage 100% per month 
 Child coverage 85% per month 
 Spouse coverage 85% per month 
 Family coverage 85% per month 
 

Officers, who elect the lower $750/$1,500 individual/family annual deductible 
“Copay” plan, will be responsible for paying the additional cost for this more 
expensive plan.  The additional cost will be the amount above what the RTAA pays 
towards the officer and dependent premiums for the $1,500/$3,000 individual/family 
annual deductible “Copay” plan. 

 
Dependent Eligibility. Insurance plan provisions require that dependents must 
meet certain eligibility requirements to be eligible for coverage under the RTAA’s 
plan.  Employees are responsible for notifying People Operations in writing within 
forty-five (45) thirty (30) days of any family status change that may make their 
dependents ineligible for continued coverage.  Failure to notify People Operations of 
a change within this timeframe may result in: (1) the employee being required to pay 
premiums for coverage that a dependent does not have until the next open 
enrollment period and (2) the employee being responsible for expenses incurred by 
dependents who are no longer eligible for coverage. 

 
C. Insurance Committee. The RTAA and AAPOPA will cooperate in the continuing 

objective of obtaining the highest level of employee group insurance benefits within 
reasonable and realistic budgetary constraints. The Insurance Committee shall be 
the exclusive representative of management and employees to research, analyze, 
and formulate final recommendations to the President/CEO involving all matters 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 50 

regarding group insurance programs (e.g. modifications to existing or 
implementation of new programs) for presentation to the RTAA Board of Trustees. 
Such Committee shall be comprised of four (4) representatives of the RTAA, two (2) 
representatives of the Teamsters Local 533, one (1) representative of the Airport 
Authority Police Sergeants Protective Association, and one (1) representative of the 
AAPOPA, which representatives shall establish ground rules governing the conduct 
of business by the Insurance Committee. 

 
D. AAPOPA agrees to abide by all recommendations of the Insurance Committee and 

the recommendations of the Insurance Committee will not be subject to grievance by 
individual officers.  

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 51 

ARTICLE 27 - ON THE JOB INJURY 
 
A. All officers shall be covered by a Worker’s Compensation Program. This program 

will conform to all provisions of the NRS and provide for payment of industrial 
accident benefits and compensation for partial and total disability arising from 
industrial injuries, illnesses, and occupational diseases. 

 
1. In the event an officer is absent from work due to a job related injury, illness, or 

occupational disease, which is accepted by the Worker's Compensation Carrier 
under NRS 616 and/or 617, the RTAA shall pay that officer the difference 
between awarded temporary total disability (TTD) payments and their full salary 
for a period of 30 90 calendar days unless the following provisions apply: 1) they 
are able to perform their normal duties; 2) they are able to perform modified 
duties; 3) the RTAA is able to provide work in accordance with Nevada 
Administrative Code 616; or 4) they becomes qualified to receive permanent 
disability compensation, whichever event occurs first. The RTAA will make every 
reasonable effort to return an officer back to work at the RTAA. The 
supplemental compensation will start from the first day of absence or illness, 
during such period the officer will accrue sick and vacation benefits as if they 
were in full pay status. Further, during such period the RTAA will continue its full 
contribution toward the officer's group medical insurance coverage. The parties 
recognize that contractual obligations with the insurance carrier may require that 
an officer be in pay status for a minimum number of hours in order to be eligible 
for medical insurance coverage. In that event, the officer may remain in pay 
status by endorsing their Worker's Compensation TTD check over to the RTAA. 
The RTAA will then pay the officer their full salary. If the officer elects not to 
remain in pay status, they may be required to pay the full amount of their medical 
insurance premiums. If they do not pay such premiums and allows medical 
insurance coverage to lapse, reinstatement of such coverage will be subject to 
the requirements of the insurance carrier. 

 
2. In addition, if the officer is temporarily disabled for a period longer than 30 90 

days and they desires to remain in full pay status, they may use accrued sick or 
vacation time in conjunction with TTD payments. They may then elect to endorse 
their TTD check over to the RTAA in exchange for their full paycheck as set forth 
above. 

 
3. If the officer has exhausted pay continuance, they may apply for a medical leave 

of absence under Article 19, Leaves of Absence, for additional time off of work. 
 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 52 

ARTICLE 28 - HOURS OF WORK 
 
A. The workday begins at 0001 and ends at 2400 the same day.  The workweek begins 

at 0001 Monday and ends at 2400 (midnight) on the following Sunday. 
 
B. The scheduling of work shifts and the beginning and ending days and times shall be 

as directed by the Chief of Police or his designee.  All officers will be scheduled for 
consecutive days off. 

 
C. The Chief of Airport Police or his designee may schedule and assign regular officers 

covered by this Agreement to work any combination of: 
 

 Five (5) eight (8) hour shifts per workweek 
 Four (4) ten (10) hour shifts per workweek 
 Twelve (12) hour shifts per workweek  
 Four (4) nine (9) hour shifts per workweek, to include one (1) additional 8 hour 

shift every other workweek 
 Twenty-four (24) hour shifts 
 And any other work shift as agreed upon by the RTAA and AAPOPA. 

 
D. The Chief of Police or his designee may reassign officers for operational necessity.  
 
E. A regular officer who is placed on administrative leave with pay shall be removed 

from their regular work shift and be available on administrative workdays/times. 
 
F. This Article shall not be construed to guarantee any number of hours of work either 

per shift or per week. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 53 

ARTICLE 29 – VACATIONS DEMOTIONS 
 
A. Time off the job is essential for the well-being of officers. To assure that business 

needs are met, planned time off will be scheduled by the Chief of Police or the 
Chief’s designee. 

 
B. VACATION 
 

1. Rate of Accrual. Any AAPOPA officer who has been continuously employed in 
full-time status by the RTAA shall be credited vacation hours for the following:  

 

 Less than 5 years 5 hours for each full pay period 
 5 years but less than 10 years 6 hours for each full pay period 
 10 years but less than 15 years  7 hours for each full pay period 
 15 years or more 8 hours for each full pay period 
 
Vacation time allowed under this Article shall be at the officer's current base rate 
of pay. Continuous service shall be defined as a period of employment which 
has not been interrupted by more than thirty (30) calendar days at any one time, 
except by authorized leave of absence with pay, sick leave, vacation, or military 
leave of absence.  
 
Officers earn vacation hours from date of employment and will be eligible to use 
any accrued paid vacation immediately.  

 
2.Eligibility Provisions 

 
a. Termination. An officer who terminates employment with the RTAA for any 

reason will be paid for unused accrued vacation time. 
 
b. If a designated holiday is observed during an officer's vacation period, the 

officer will not be charged for vacation time on that day but will code holiday 
on their time card and receive holiday pay in lieu of vacation pay. 

 
c. Vacation will not be accrued during any unpaid Leave of Absence of thirty 

(30) calendar days or more unless required by law. 
 
d. An officer will not convert vacation time to sick time off due to illness or 

disability occurring while on vacation. 
 

3.Vacation Pay/Cash Out Option 
 

a.Vacation pay will be computed by multiplying the officer's current base rate of 
pay by the number of hours of vacation allowance taken. 
 
b.In February and August of each year, the RTAA shall pay accrued vacation 
time to those officers that have provided written notice of their intent to “cash out” 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 54 

accrued hours. Officers must provide this written notification to Payroll during the 
month of January and July each year.  Only those officers with over two hundred 
(200) vacation hours on the books as of the last pay period in January or June of 
each year can take advantage of this “cash out” option.  Officers must “cash out” 
their accrued vacation time in lots of forty (40) hours at a time and must maintain 
a balance of at least forty (40) accrued hours.  The RTAA shall make this 
payment to participating officers on the first payday in February or August of 
each year. 
 

4.Vacation Scheduling. Vacations will be scheduled by the Supervisor through the 
Chief of Police with due consideration given to staffing requirements, officer's length 
of service, and officer preferences, in the order listed. However, officers who 
schedule their vacation at the beginning of the calendar year and receive approval 
will be given priority over the officers with seniority who do not schedule at the 
beginning of the calendar year. 

 
5.Accumulation of Vacation. An officer's unused vacation hours may not exceed, 
at any time, the number of vacation hours accruable in fifty-two (52) pay periods. No 
additional vacation hours will be accrued until the unused vacation hour balance is 
reduced below the maximum allowable level. 

 
Demotions. If an RTAA Police Sergeant elects to demote/is involuntarily demoted from 
Sergeant back to their former RTAA Police Officer position, the following provisions will 
apply. Sergeants hired from outside the RTAA, will not be eligible for these “bump back” 
rights. 
 
1. The RTAA Police Officer personnel complement will be maintained in an over-

complement status until a new Sergeant is promoted into the vacated Sergeant 
position from within the RTAA Police Officer ranks. 

 
2. The officer returning to their former RTAA Police Officer position will be credited with 

all RTAA service time accumulated in both their RTAA Police Officer and Sergeant 
positions for purposes where seniority is a factor, e.g., shift bidding, layoff, etc. 

 
3. Upon demotion, the officer’s pay will be reduced to their previous RTAA Police 

Officer rate of pay prior to their promotion, plus any increases they would have been 
entitled to absent the promotion.   



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 55 

ARTICLE 30 - HOLIDAYS 
 
A. Regular paid holidays are: 

 
 January 1 New Year’s Day  
 Third Monday in January Martin Luther King Jr. Day 
 Third Monday in February Presidents’ Day 
 Last Monday in May Memorial Day 
 June 19th Juneteenth  
 July 4 Independence Day 
 First Monday in September Labor Day 
 Last Friday in October Nevada Day Observed 
 November 11 Veterans Day 
 Fourth Thursday in November Thanksgiving Day 
 Friday Following Thanksgiving Family Day 
 December 24 Christmas Eve 
 December 25 Christmas Day 
 Floating Holiday 
 

and any other day declared a holiday by the RTAA. 
 
1. Holiday Pay 
 

a. Officers not working a holiday on their regularly scheduled work day: 
Officers will receive the same number of hours of holiday pay at their base 
rate on the date the holiday actually occurs based on the number of hours 
they are regularly scheduled to work. This includes officers that have 
requested the day off as well as officers that for any reason are unable to 
work their regularly scheduled work day on the holiday. These hours are 
excluded from time worked for the purposes of overtime eligibility.  

 
b. Holidays falling on an Officer’s day off: Officers will receive eight (8) hours 

of holiday pay at their base rate on the date the holiday actually occurs 
regardless of the number of hours they regularly work. These hours are 
excluded from time worked for the purposes of overtime eligibility and may 
not be eligible for PERS contributions .  

 
c. Officers who work on the date the holiday actually occurs as listed in A., 

above, will be paid two and one half (2½) times their base salary for all time 
actually worked on the holiday.  The premium portion of this pay (1.5x) may 
not be eligible for PERS contributions based on the definition of an official 
holiday as defined by NRS 236.015. 

 
d. If an officer desires time off to observe a holiday not listed above, such time 

off may be granted by the Chief of Police or the Chief’s designee, subject to 
operational needs and staffing requirements of the department. Officers may 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 56 

request vacation for this time off. 
 
e. Officers who have not taken the Floating Holiday listed in A, above, by the 

last paycheck in June of any given year, will receive eight (8) hours of holiday 
pay at their base rate of pay on the last paycheck in June of that year. These 
hours are excluded from overtime. 

 
2. Eligibility Requirements 

 
a. Holiday pay benefits apply to all full-time officers.   
 
b. An officer who is on paid leave of absence will be eligible for holiday pay on 

the day the holiday actually occurs during the paid leave of absence 
(including those officers receiving donated leave).  An officer who is on an 
unpaid leave is not eligible for pay for any holiday that occurs during the 
unpaid leave. 

 
c. Holiday Not Worked.  An officer not scheduled to work on the day the 

holiday actually occurs must work their entire scheduled shift immediately 
prior to and after the day the holiday actually occurs (unless an officer is sent 
home from work by their supervisor/manager) or have previously approved 
leave in order to receive holiday pay.  Leave must be scheduled and 
approved at least 24 hours in advance.  

 
d. It is understood that in some cases an officer’s “scheduled shift” may not be 

the actual day before or after the day the holiday actually occurs because of 
scheduled days off.   

 
 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 57 

ARTICLE 31 - COMMUNICABLE DISEASE 
 
A. In the event an officer covered under this Agreement or their Supervisor suspects 

that, as a result of the course of duty, they have been exposed to, or is the carrier of 
a serious communicable disease; the officer may be relieved of duty without the loss 
of any pay or sick leave and shall be taken immediately to a local emergency 
hospital or an appropriate treatment facility for diagnosis and treatment. It shall be 
the responsibility of the Chief of Police or his designee to determine if or when the 
officer is permitted to leave duty for this purpose. 

 
B. The officer shall be provided with preventive measures designed to protect the 

officer against communicable diseases. These measures shall include, but are not 
limited to, medical procedures such as hepatitis and other vaccines and blood tests, 
and medical equipment such as, gloves, masks, and other products, equipment, and 
procedures that are intended to detect, prevent, or impede communicable disease.  

 
 The use of protective equipment may be required by a Supervisor if it appears the 

non-use of this equipment may endanger the officer or another officer. Participation 
in any medical procedures, such as vaccination and testing, shall be at the discretion 
of the officer, and the RTAA shall not be held responsible for any consequences to 
the officer as a result of the officer having or not having received any vaccinations or 
tests.  This does not waive the officer's rights under worker’s compensation. 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 58 

ARTICLE 32 - SHIFT BIDDING 
 

A. Regular officers shall be permitted to bid for shifts/days off on the basis of seniority 
in classification. Until regular status is achieved and prior to the next shift bid, a 
probationary employee will be assigned to shifts by the Chief of Police or his 
designee. 

 
B. There will be three (3) schedule changes/shift bidding per year. The changes to 

become effective beginning on the first day of the first full pay period of May, 
September and January. The AAPOPA recognizes that the RTAA retains the right to 
assign shifts based on the operational needs and staffing requirements of the 
department.  It shall be the intent of the RTAA not to require mandatory shift 
rotations. 

  
C. The shift schedule shall be posted not less than ten (10) twenty-one (21) days prior 

to the effective date of the shift change. 
 
D. An officer’s shift bid may be denied by the Chief of Police for operational needs or 

staffing requirements of the department.   
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 59 

ARTICLE 33 - SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT 
 
Officers may obtain secondary employment as outlined in the Police department’s 
Secondary Employment policy.  Any changes to this departmental policy will only be 
made upon mutual agreement of the RTAA and the AAPOPA. 
 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 60 

ARTICLE 34 - LEGAL REPRESENTATION 
 
As long as an officer is performing their prescribed and authorized duties at for the 
RTAA, the RTAA shall: 
 
1. In the event that a civil and/or criminal action is served upon any such member of 

the AAPOPA, provide legal representation against such action. 
 
2. Representation will not be limited to that of attorney fees, but to those efforts that 

provide adequate defense measures for the officer(s). 
 
3. Officer(s) shall be in regular pay or overtime status during meetings, interviews, 

depositions, court hearing or other duties affiliated with the defense process as it 
applies to this Article. 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 61 

ARTICLE 35 - EXERCISE ROOM/PHYSICAL FITNESS 
 
A. The parties agree that the exercise room and all exercise equipment located 

adjacent to the Police offices is the property of the RTAA. 
 
 Officers may use the exercise room under the provisions of the Police department’s 

policies, except as indicated in item B.5., below. 
 
B. Parties agree to a voluntary physical agility testing program to be administered 

annually each May using a testing/scoring standard established by POST. 
 

1. If at least 5040% of all eligible officers participate in the testing program, then 
officers that attain a passing score will receive a $1,000 payment. 

 
2. This payment will be made on the first payday in July within two (2) pay periods 

after all annual testing is completed. 
 
3. Officers participating in the voluntary physical agility test shall be in full pay status 

during testing. 
 
4. There will be no reprisal or punitive action taken against any officer scoring less 

than the passing score on the test. 
 
5. Effective May 2018, officers not participating in the voluntary physical agility test 

will not be allowed to utilize the RTAA workout room during on duty hours. 
 
6.  An officer will be allowed to utilize the gym while on duty, in accordance with the 

means and methods of utilizing the gym determined by the Chief of Police, and if 
staffing and operational needs allow, for one (1) hour in paid status. This one (1) 
hour will be considered the officer’s break/meal periods for that day.  Any officer 
using the gym must sign an RTAA waiver.   

  
a. There shall be an annual meeting at the request of either AAPOPA or the 

Chief of Police between the Chief of Police and AAPOPA to discuss the Chief 
of Police’s means and methods by which an officer may utilize the gym.  

 
 
 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 62 

ARTICLE 36 – ALCOHOL, DRUG AND CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE 
TESTING PROGRAM/FITNESS FOR DUTY 

 
A. Physical Fitness for Duty.  Each officer must maintain a minimum level of physical 

fitness in order to be capable of performing his or her duties to protect the public and 
one another. No officer may report for duty physically impaired, injured, or ill to the 
point they cannot perform the essential and critical functions of their job duties as 
assigned (this does not apply to work related injuries where a physician has 
approved an officer to work in a modified duty capacity). 

 
1. An officer who has been advised by their physician to limit their duties or not to 

return to duty, shall notify a supervisor immediately. Any officer who attempts to 
work without notifying a supervisor or should reasonably know they are not fit for 
duty may be subject to discipline. 

   
2. If any supervisor observes behavior, actions, inactions or functional physical 

limitations that would bring into question the officer’s ability to carry out the 
physical requirements of their job, that supervisor may recommend that the 
officer be evaluated for fitness for duty. If People Operations and the Chief of 
Police or his designee concurs, the officer may be referred for a physical exam 
to determine if they are fit for duty. The nature of the observations may also 
require a referral for a psychological exam in conjunction with the physical exam 
(see Psychological Fitness for Duty, below).   

 
3. The fitness for duty physical exam will be done by an RTAA selected physician 

who is familiar with medical screenings for employment as a Police Officer. The 
RTAA  will pay for the exam and the officer will be paid for their time to perform 
the exam. 

 
4. If, in the opinion of the physician, the officer has a limited ability or is unable to 

carry out the essential duties and functions of an Airport Police Officer, that 
officer will be placed on sick leave until such time as the officer is found to be fit 
for duty by a qualified health care professional.  

 
B. Psychological Fitness for Duty. It is required that all Airport Police Officers 

maintain a reasonable mental and emotional health status. If it is believed that an 
officer’s mental and/or emotional health status is compromised, a fitness for duty 
evaluation may be performed as indicated below.   

 
1. Referrals. An officer may be referred for a fitness for duty evaluation whenever 

there is reason to believe the officer’s behavior and/or conduct is such that the 
officer’s psychological fitness to perform his or her duties is questioned (e.g. 
emotional problems, difficulty handling stress, etc.). This also includes possible 
associated medical issues identified by either the officer or the RTAA which may 
affect the officer’s ability to perform his or her assigned duties (see Physical 
Fitness for Duty, above).   



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 63 

a. A fitness for duty evaluation may be conducted upon recommendation by an 
officer’s supervisor and is not part of the RTAA Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP). The officer’s supervisor shall make such recommendation 
to the Chief of Police or designee; providing written documentation detailing 
the reasons for the recommendation. The Chief of Police will approve or 
deny the referral based on a review of the documentation and after 
consultation with the Chief People, Equity, and Culture Officer.   

 
b. If approved, the officer will be advised of the evaluation and the Chief of 

Police or designee will contact the Chief People, Equity, and Culture Officer 
to coordinate scheduling. Only a licensed Forensic Psychologist with 
experience in consulting with law enforcement shall be used to conduct the 
evaluation.  

 
c. Upon scheduling of the evaluation, the officer’s participation is mandatory. 

The officer will be expected to cooperate fully, including signing release 
forms for the evaluator to obtain any relevant records (including medical and 
mental health records). In addition, the officer will cooperate with the 
evaluator in obtaining any additional relevant information. Any officer who 
refuses to participate or who fails to cooperate with the evaluator shall be 
subject to disciplinary action.  

 
2. Evaluation. Fitness for duty evaluations will include but are not limited to: clinical 

interviewing of the officer, relevant psychological testing, physical examination, 
and other recommended testing.   
 
The RTAA will provide the evaluator with relevant information which may include 
but is not limited to: observations, notes in the early warning/intervention system, 
the supervisor’s recommendation documentation, performance evaluations, prior 
disciplinary actions, etc.   
 
a. In any fitness for duty evaluation, the following factors may be reviewed along 

with any other relevant issues to include but not limited to the following: the 
officer’s cognitive flexibility, emotional control, lawful behavior, ability to 
command respect, judgment, interpersonal skills, communication skills, and 
the officer’s physical and/or mental ability to perform their assigned duties.  

 
b. The evaluator shall retain the original file of the evaluation. Any evaluation 

documentation received by the RTAA will only be reviewed and shared as is 
necessary to determine the officer’s fitness for duty. Evaluation 
documentation received shall be kept in the officer’s confidential medical file 
in People Operations.   

 
c. The officer may request a second opinion evaluation.  This evaluation will 

also need to be scheduled with a licensed Forensic Psychologist with 
experience in consulting with law enforcement.  The RTAA, AAPOPA and the 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 64 

officer will select an appropriate evaluator. The second evaluation shall be at 
the RTAA expense, but on the officer’s own time.   

 
d. In the event of conflicting opinions between the first and second evaluations, 

a third evaluator will be selected by the RTAA and AAPOPA. The costs of this 
evaluation will be shared equally by the RTAA and AAPOPA and will also be 
conducted on the officer’s own time.  

 
e. The RTAA will review the/all evaluations and determine if the officer is fit or 

unfit for duty based on the recommendations and opinions documented by 
the evaluator(s).  

 
3. Final Decision.  Any officer determined to be psychologically fit for duty, will be 

returned to work.  Any officer determined to be psychologically unfit for duty will 
not be returned to full police duties until such time as the officer is found to be fit 
for duty by the evaluator. Long term inability to perform the duties of the position 
may result in a no fault termination from the position.    

 
C. Alcohol, Drugs, and Controlled Substances. The misuse or abuse of alcohol, 

drugs and controlled substances poses a serious threat to the RTAA, its employees, 
and the public. It is beyond dispute that the public has an overriding interest in 
assuring that officers of the law perform their duties free from legal or illegal 
controlled substances that create a threat to the safety and health of any employee 
or member of the public and that officers should not work if under the influence of 
alcohol or impaired in any way by the use of legal or illegal controlled substances.  

 
An officer shall be subject to disciplinary action if the officer’s ability to perform 
required job duties and job functions has been compromised by the officer’s use of 
alcohol or any legal or illegal controlled substances.  

  
1. The consumption of alcohol or other intoxicants is prohibited immediately before 

or after commencing duties as it may potentially impair an officer’s abilities to 
perform their job duties.  Officers shall arrive to work fit for duty and remain fit for 
duty throughout their shift. 
 

2. The use at any time of recreational or medicinal marijuana (THC) in any form or 
any other federally identified schedule 1 substance is grounds for termination.   
 

3. The RTAA shall implement and carry out an alcohol, drug, and controlled 
substance screening program that will deter any irresponsible use of alcohol, 
legal or illegal controlled substances in the workplace. 
 
Officers may be requested to submit to testing for alcohol and/or drug use under 
the following circumstances:  
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 65 

a. Randomly up to 3 officers will be selected for screening up to twice per year.  
Officers will be in a paid status when testing;  

 
b. During any physical or psychological exam for fitness for duty;  
 
c. Upon establishment of reasonable suspicion that an officer may be under the 

influence of alcohol, drugs or controlled substances while working; and  
 
d. Upon return to duty following a positive alcohol and/or drug test. 
 
d. When an officer is involved in a significant traffic accident with an RTAA 

vehicle while on duty. 
 

4. To ensure random testing is truly random, the RTAA will work with a third party 
who will employ a random selection system to determine who will be selected for 
testing.  This method will provide an equal chance for each officer to be selected 
each time random selection occurs.  Random selection, by its very nature, may 
result in officers being selected in successive selections or more than once in a 
calendar year. Alternatively, some officers may not be selected in a calendar 
year.  Random selections will be unannounced and spread reasonably 
throughout the year.  
 

5. People Operations shall then notify the Chief of Police Chief or designee of the 
officers to be tested, as well as the location and date of testing.  A supervisor will 
escort officers to the testing facility. If an officer cannot be served notice in a 
timely manner, another officer will be randomly selected for testing in the manner 
described above. 
 

6. Officers who refuse to cooperate during the testing will be subject to discipline. 
Any officer who attempts to alter or cheat the screening process in any manner 
will be subject to termination proceedings for conduct violations.  
 

7. For purposes of this Article, alcohol and/or drug testing shall utilize a split urine 
sample. The second half of the sample shall only be used to validate a positive 
test on the first half of the sample.  
 
a. Because there is no rapid test available for urine alcohol testing, when an 

officer is tested for alcohol for any reason other than the bi-annual random 
testing, the officer will be relieved from duty and will remain off work until the 
testing facility can return the results, which may take 24–72 hours. 

 
b. During the period when the officer is relieved from duty, they will be placed on 

admin leave with pay until the results are received by People Operations. 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 66 

8. A positive result on the alcohol and/or drug test may be cause for termination 
pending an investigation.  If the RTAA requests an officer be tested the RTAA 
shall pay for the cost of the test(s).  
 

9. Officers who are required to take any medication with side effects which might 
impair their ability to fully and safely perform all the job requirements of the 
position, shall report the need for such medication to their immediate supervisor 
prior to commencing on-duty status. No officer shall be permitted to work while 
taking medications potentially impairing their ability to carry out their assigned job 
duties without a written release from their physician. 

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 67 

ARTICLE 37 - CREATE NEW POSITION OR DIMINISH RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Prior to the decision of the RTAA to create any new position or utilize any existing 
positions to supplant or diminish the responsibilities of the Airport Police Officer, the 
RTAA will meet and consult with the AAPOPA regarding the impact of such actions.  

 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 68 

ARTICLE 38 - SAVINGS CLAUSE 
 
A. This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties.  The parties acknowledge that 

they have fully bargained with respect to all terms and conditions of employment and 
have settled them for the duration of this Agreement. 

 
B. Should any of the provisions of the Agreement become invalid under any State or 

Federal Law, said provisions shall be modified to comply with said law. However, the 
remainder of this Agreement shall at all times remain in full force and effect and shall 
be binding upon the parties signatory hereto. 

 
C. Attached hereto as Appendix 2 are the following side letters, MOUs or similar 

documents which contain all of the prior agreements, past practices and other 
understandings which are not otherwise covered by the express terms of this 
Agreement: 

 
 None 

 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 69 

ARTICLE 39 - DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT LONGEVITY PAY 
 
1. Each officer who has completed five (5) years of service with the RTAA will be 

eligible for longevity pay in addition to their regular salary, beginning the first day of 
the first full pay period after the officer reaches five (5) years of service with the 
RTAA 

 
2. Officers will earn longevity pay at the rate of one half of one percent (0.5%) for each 

year of service with the RTAA, up to a maximum payment cap of 12.5%.   
 
3. Years of service for calculation of longevity pay shall include full time service with 

the RTAA, excluding time for temporary employment, leave of absence, or lapse of 
service. For the purposes of longevity pay, an officer’s rehire date will be used to 
determine length of service if an officer terminates and is then rehired. 

 
4. Eligible officers will receive longevity pay based on their current base pay, payable 

biweekly.  
 
5. Increases to an officer’s longevity percentage, will begin the first day of the first full 

pay period after the officer’s RTAA anniversary date. 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 70 

ARTICLE 39 40 - DURATION OF THE AGREEMENT 
 
This Agreement shall be effective the 1st day of July 1, 2022 2025, and shall remain in 
full force and effect through the 30th day of June 2025 2028 and year to year thereafter 
unless modified as provided for herein, except that if negotiations are in process and a 
new Agreement has not been reached by June 30, 2025 2028, the provisions of this 
Agreement (except for any wage increase provisions) shall continue in full force and 
effect until settlement is reached.  
 
A. By February 1, 2025 2028, the RTAA and AAPOPA shall submit written notice to 

each other of their intent to begin negotiations over changes in any one or more of 
the provisions contained in this Agreement.  

 
B. The provisions of this Agreement are subject to re-negotiation at any time with the 

mutual consent of both parties. 
 
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement. 

 
 

        AIRPORT AUTHORITY POLICE RENO-TAHOE 
OFFICERS’ PROTECTIVE ASSOCIATION AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
 
 
By:_____________________________        By:_____________________________ 
                President          President/CEO 

 

Date:___________________________ Date:___________________________ 

 

ATTEST: 

 
By:____________________________ By:_____________________________ 
             Vice President             Chief People Officer 
 
 
Date:___________________________ Date:___________________________ 
 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 71 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

SALARY SCHEDULES 
 

 
Effective July 1, 2022 

(reflects a 6.5% increase) 
 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 

$32.39 $34.02 $35.73 $37.54 $39.46 $41.43 $43.50 

 
 

Effective July 1, 2023 
(reflects 1% increase: 4% minus 3% due to PERS contribution increase) 

 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 

$32.71 $34.36 $36.09 $37.92 $39.85 $41.84 $43.94 

 
 

Effective July 1, 2024 
(reflects a 3.5% increase) 

 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 

$33.85 $35.56 $37.35 $39.25 $41.24 $43.30 $45.48 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 

RTAA/AAPOPA Agreement 
FY 2022-23 thru 2024-25  2025-26 thru 2027-28 Page 72 

APPENDIX 1 
 

SALARY SCHEDULES 
 

 
Effective July 1, 2025 

(reflects 1% increase: 5.375% minus 4.375% due to PERS contribution increase) 
 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 

$34.19 $35.92 $37.72 $39.64 $41.65 $43.73 $45.93 

 
 
 

Effective July 1, 2026 
(reflects a 2% increase) 

 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 

$34.87 $36.64 $38.47 $40.43 $42.48 $44.60 $46.85 $49.19 

 
 
 

Effective July 1, 2027 
(reflects a 2% increase) 

 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 

$37.37 $39.24 $41.24 $43.33 $45.49 $47.79 $50.17 $52.68 

 
 

 
 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-33 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 
 
Subject:  Adoption of Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Fiscal Year 2025-26 Property, Liability 

and Workers’ Compensation Insurance Program and approval of premiums thereof in 
the amount not to exceed $1,437,099 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below. 
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Financial Stewardship 
 
BACKGROUND 
RTAA has insurance policies to mitigate the fiscal risk associated with work-related injuries, 
property and liability incidents associated with operating the Reno-Tahoe International Airport 
(RNO) and the Reno-Stead Airport (RTS) airports. The policies provide insurance protection in 
the following areas:  
 

1. Property - RTAA purchases insurance to protect against most risks to property, such as 
fire, theft, seismic and weather events. RTAA’s property insurance includes coverage 
related to the following: (a) damage to real property (buildings, equipment, runways); (b) 
fire and associated risks; (c) windstorm/earthquake; (d) flood; (e) commercial crime; and 
(f) course of construction - damage to buildings under construction. In addition, RTAA 
obtains national flood insurance, and property insurance for potential damage to RTAA 
equipment (inland marine) and business autos.  

 
2. Liability - RTAA purchases insurance to protect from the risk of being sued and held 

legally liable for activities associated with operating RNO and RTS. Liability insurance is 
designed to offer specific protection against third party insurance claims, (i.e., payment is 
not typically made to the insured, but rather to someone suffering a loss who is not a party 
to the insurance contract). Liability insurance also covers (a) general airport 
owners/operators; (b) cyber security; (c) public officials including employment practices; 
and (d) law enforcement.  
 

3. Workers’ Compensation – Pays for all reasonable and necessary medical treatment 
required to treat the injury or illness. If an employee is unable to work due to a workplace 
injury or illness, workers’ compensation provides compensation for a portion of lost wages 



Page 2 of 5 
 

 
during the recovery period. Other benefits available include rehabilitation services, 
vocational training, disability benefits and death benefits.  

 
Within the insurance categories above, RTAA has thirteen individual policies recommended for 
approval for July 1, 2025, through June 30, 2026 (Fiscal Year 2025-2026). These insurance 
renewals and new policies were obtained by a competitive process facilitated by RTAA’s 
insurance broker of record, Alliant Insurance Services. Alliant also assisted RTAA staff with 
evaluating current insurance terms, levels of coverage, deductibles and marketed RTAA’s 
requirements to a broad range of insurance providers. Additionally, Alliant negotiated renewals 
with existing carriers and ensured that proposed terms and pricing are competitive. According to 
Alliant, RTAA will obtain the most cost-efficient rates by developing long-term partnerships rather 
than hard bidding new policies each renewal year. 
 
Insurance broker services are an integral part of RTAA’s risk management program. Services 
provided by Alliant include the following: 
 

• Analyze RTAA’s current insurance coverages and risk profile. 
• Identify potential gaps in coverage and recommend appropriate liability insurance 

solutions. 
• Researching and presenting options for property, airport liability and workers’ 

compensation insurance policies from various carriers. 
• Negotiating with insurance carriers to obtain competitive rates and favorable terms for the 

benefit of RTAA. 
• Assisting with claims management and advocacy when needed. 
• Monitoring and advising on applicable pending and new legislation related to the insurance 

industry. 
• Providing claims data analysis and discussing utilization trends and mitigation 

recommendations. 
• Facilitating and supporting workers’ compensation claims in collaboration with the 

insurance carrier. 
 
On February 13, 2025, RTAA approved a professional services contract with Alliant to serve as 
its Broker of Record. Alliant is headquartered in Irvine, California and employs more than 13,000 
people in North America in over 130 office locations nationally, including Reno, Nevada. RTAA’s 
primary point of contact is Karen Caterino, Senior Vice President, who resides in Reno. Ms. 
Caterino has over 20 years of experience in risk management and insurance services, including 
several commercial airports in the U.S. She is also the former State Risk Manager for the State of 
Nevada. Alliant is a leading broker for the public sector with over 10,000 clients across the country, 
including 125 airports. The Alliant public entity practice was established in 1977 and currently has 
over $900 billion of insured assets.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The property and casualty commercial insurance marketplace in 2025 is characterized by a mix of 
stabilization and volatility, with softening rates for well-managed risks but ongoing challenges for 
catastrophe-exposed accounts. Technological innovation and evolving risk landscapes are 
reshaping underwriting and distribution, while climate-related risks and cost pressures remain 



Page 3 of 5 
 

 
central concerns. The market is expected to continue growing, adapting to both economic 
expansion and the increasing complexity of global risks.  
 
The casualty commercial insurance marketplace in 2025 is defined by ongoing premium increases, 
driven by claim severity and unfavorable verdicts, but the pace of those increases is moderating as 
competition and capacity return to the market. Buyers with favorable risk profiles are best 
positioned to benefit from these evolving conditions. A description of each policy and related 
market commentary is as follows: 
 
Property rates have softened slightly in 2025, continuing the trend from 2024. Rate changes vary 
significantly, with benign portfolios seeing changes from -5% to +5% and riskier portfolios 
ranging from -10% to +10%. The U.S. casualty commercial insurance marketplace in 2025 is 
characterized by rising premiums, tightening capacity, and increased underwriting scrutiny. While 
overall commercial insurance rates declined by 1% in Q1 2025, casualty lines bucked this trend, 
with rates rising 8%—an increase from 7% in Q4 2024, though lower than the 10% hikes seen in 
Q3 2024. This marks the 30th consecutive quarter of premium increases across all account sizes, 
though the pace of increases has slowed compared to previous quarters. 
 
The aviation liability insurance marketplace in 2025 is characterized by abundant capacity and a 
competitive environment, especially in the first half of the year. This surplus of capacity has been 
maintained despite recent high-profile accidents and ongoing legal disputes, allowing insurers to 
remain open to negotiation and keeping the market from hardening. Early reinsurance renewals in 
late 2024 provided stability, and most direct insurers have been able to secure favorable terms, 
supporting continued market flexibility into 2025.  
 
Due to Alliant’s market relationships, in-depth review of RTAA’s current insurance schedule, 
softening property market, and their public entity expertise in placing other airport coverages, 
Alliant was able to achieve significant premium savings for RTAA over its expiring schedule of 
insurance. By leveraging their knowledge of existing markets and capabilities, Alliant successfully 
negotiated favorable terms, including a 2-year policy renewal for Airport Operation Liability at 
a flat rate; achieved a property rate reduction of 27% resulting in 23% premium savings; and 
achieved a 45% rate reduction on the DIC (excess flood) coverage resulting in 45% premium 
savings. 
 
The auto liability insurance market—both commercial and personal—remains in a prolonged 
hard market in 2025, marked by persistent underwriting losses, premium hikes, and capacity 
constraints. Commercial auto premiums saw some of the highest increases among all insurance 
lines in 2024, with rates rising between 9% and 9.8% in the first half of the year, and this upward 
trend is expected to continue throughout 2025. Insurers have reported combined loss ratios above 
100% for 12 of the past 13 years, meaning claims and expenses have consistently outpaced 
premium income. 
 
The commercial cyber insurance marketplace in 2025 is marked by robust growth, driven by 
rising cyber threats, evolving regulatory requirements, and increasing digitalization. The market is 
maturing, with insurers focusing on risk modeling, enhanced underwriting, and closing the 
protection gap as cyber risks become more complex and pervasive. Premiums continue to decline 



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
as more markets offer coverage. Improving conditions resulted in a competitive cyber bid process, 
achieving a 45% premium reduction. 
 
Standalone terrorism insurance is specifically designed to protect businesses against the 
unpredictable nature of terrorist attacks, which can be large or small, targeted or indiscriminate, 
and can happen anywhere at any time. This includes not only high-profile incidents but also 
smaller-scale attacks, active assailant events, and politically motivated violence that may not meet 
the strict criteria for government-certified terrorism programs. Alliant recommended RTAA to 
consider purchasing terrorism coverage as the airport currently does not have any terrorism 
coverage, either in its property program or as a standalone policy. Alliant recommended a 
standalone policy over including in its property program for its broader, more flexible coverage 
(does not require a property peril to have occurred), absence of government certification 
requirements for claims, ability to cover a wider range of risks and locations, competitive pricing 
and access to specialized claims and risk management services.  
 
Finding markets offering a guaranteed cost program for Workers’ Compensation insurance 
continues to be more difficult, especially in the airport industry. However, Alliant was able to 
secure coverage with the current carrier who provides good claims management services and has 
built a solid relationship with RTAA. The premium decreased in part is due to the recent transfer 
of 24 full-time RTAA fire department positions to the City of Reno in March 2025 as well as a 
lower experience modification (e-mod) factor. The premium reduction from the decrease in 
positions and the lower e-mod factor, however, was offset by increases due to two large claim 
losses in the current policy period.  
 

FY 2025-26 Insurance Program 
 

 
 
Separate from the above list of insurance policies are two flood insurance policies covering the 
RTAA terminal building and parking garage. Those policies are purchased separately and expire 

Type of Coverage Policy Limit FY2024-25 FY2025-26 $ Change % Change
Property $ 400,000,000 825,000 634,000 -191,000 -23%
Difference in Conditions (excess flood) 15,000,000 234,979 129,875 -105,104 -45%
Inland Marine (heavy equipment) 12,512,429 14,799 15,809 1,010 7%
Airport Operations Liability 250,000,000 89,775 89,775 0 0%
Auto Coverage 1,000,000 161,763 184,060 22,297 14%
Cyber Liability 5,000,000 71,327 38,963 -32,364 -45%
Crime Liability 5,000,000 16,715 15,037 -1,678 -10%
Fiduciary Liability 2,000,000 4,000 4,000 0 0%
Public Officials Liability 5,000,000 64,415 67,280 2,865 4%
Public Officials Liability Excess 5,000,000 26,508 27,298 790 3%
Law Enforcement Liability 5,000,000 37,971 39,440 1,469 4%
Workers' Compensation 1,000,000 149,180 146,760 -2,420 -2%
Total Current Coverages 706,512,429 1,696,432 1,392,297 -304,135 -18%
Terrorism (new) 100,000,000 0 16,624 16,624 N/A
RTAA 2% Contingency N/A 0 28,178 28,178 N/A
Total w/ Terrorism Coverage $ 806,512,429 1,696,432 1,437,099 -259,333 -15%



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
on February 28, 2026. The policies provide a combined coverage of $1.0 million for the two 
buildings and $691,000 coverage for contents at a total annual premium of $24,637.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
FY 2025-26 estimated insurance renewal premiums outlined above for Property, Liability and 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Program total $1,437,099, a decrease of 15% from the FY 
2024-25 program. This amount includes a 2% RTAA contingency to address any premium price 
fluctuations that may occur between the time of Board action and final policy documentation. The 
RTAA FY 2025-26 adopted budget includes adequate funding for this expense.  
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Finance and Business Development Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to approve the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Property, Liability and Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance Program and authorizes the President/CEO, or his designee, to bind the coverages and 
pay the FY 2025-26 premiums in the amount not to exceed $1,437,099.” 
 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
06/2025-34 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025 
 
Subject:   Authorization to execute a multi-year Professional Services Agreement for 

Construction Manager at Risk Pre-construction Services with McCarthy Building 
Companies, Inc. for the New Gen A&B Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport in 
the not-to-exceed amount of $2,004,500, and authorize a time and materials 
investigation allowance of $458,500 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the Proposed Motion stated below.   
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
Safety and Security 
People 
Facilities for the Future  
Air Service and Cargo 
Customer Experience 
Sustainability 
 
BACKGROUND 
In February of this year, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) terminated its Construction 
Manager at Risk (CMAR) contract on New Gen A&B and readvertised for these services in 
March. Because the design is not complete and sub-contractor outreach will be needed in 
preparation for bidding, the CMAR solicitation included pre-construction and investigation 
services, in addition to construction services, contingent upon successful Guaranteed Maximum 
Prices (GMPs). 
 
The purpose of CMAR Pre-construction Services is for the CMAR to work hand-in-hand with the 
Architect (Gensler) in finalizing the design phase of the New Gen A&B project, to utilize work 
completed to date for budget and schedule verification, and to conduct sub-contractor coordination 
prior to bidding.  
 
The selection process was as follows: 

• A Contract Outreach Event was held in advance of advertisement on March 10, 2025. 
• A formal request for proposal (RFP) was released March 17, 2025 and a pre-proposal 

meeting held on site with interested parties on April 1, 2025. 
• Proposals were due April 17, 2025 and RTAA received 6 proposals from qualified firms. 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
• Proposals were reviewed by the selection committee and 4 firms were shortlisted for 

interview. 
• Interviews were conducted on May 5, 2025 and May 6, 2025.  
• The selection committee consisted of 3 RTAA employees, 1 Board of Trustees Member 

and the AAAC Representative.  
• One firm was unanimously selected as the most responsive and best qualified. 

 
 
DISCUSSION 
The pre-construction services contract is to engage the CMAR to work hand-in-hand with RTAA 
and Gensler to finalize the design phase of the New Gen A&B project, to assist in verification of 
budget, schedule, and procurement needs, and to engage subcontractor community prior to the 
bidding, with a goal to ultimately provide multiple Guaranteed Maximum Prices (GMPs) 
amendments for the actual construction costs. 
 
As noted above, the period of time for pre-construction services represents finalizing design and 
early construction phases of the New Gen A&B project.  
 
The scope of work in this pre-construction phase is for the CMAR to provide the following 
services: 

• Phasing of construction, working closely with the architect to plan out the most efficient, 
least disruptive means of building the components. 

• Constructability reviews of documents as design is finalized 
• Construction cost estimating and validation or reconciliation of budgets 
• Enhancing strategic procurement plan 
• Subcontractor outreach and education  
• Value engineering 
• Critical path scheduling  
• Providing regular updates and report to RTAA 

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The successful CMAR submitted a pre-construction services cost proposal in the amount of 
$2,004,500, and a time and materials investigation allowance of $458,500. These services will be 
funded by RTAA issued Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) Bonds.   
 
The table on the next page reflects how this fits in the estimated overall New Gen A&B program 
costs.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
Table 1 – Updated New Gen A&B Estimate at Completion 

 
Category Description Cost 

Soft Costs - $138,000,000 

A/E Design   Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $46,884,417 

Pre-Construction Services  Holder Q&D, a Joint Venture $2,745,000 

Pre-Construction Services  McCarthy Building Companies, Inc.  $2,463,000 

Construction Admin (Estimated) Gensler Architecture Design & Planning $14,401,356 

Construction Management (Estimated) Construction Materials Engineering $15,806,037 

PMO / SMEs  Multiple $29,096,794 

Miscellaneous Other  Art / FF&E / Moving $9,176,750 

Owner’s Contingency TBD $17,426,646 

Hard Costs - $512,000,000 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – Long Lead 
Equipment ACCO & Cupertino $10,993,418 

S. RON Apron Expansion Q&D Construction $8,134,000 

Concourse Enabling Packages Q&D Construction $572,868 

Concourse – Long Lead Equipment Nelson Electric $6,012,400 

Concourse Common Use Enabling Q&D Construction $781,264 

Central Utility Plant (CUP) – 
(Estimated) Clark/Sullivan $57,506,050 

New Gen A&B – (Estimated) TBD $428,000,000 

Total Estimate at Completion - $650,000,000 

 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
Planning and Construction Committee 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to authorize the President/CEO to execute a multi-year Professional Services Agreement 
for Construction Manager at Risk Pre-construction Services with McCarthy Building Companies, 
Inc. for the New Gen A&B Project at Reno-Tahoe International Airport in the not-to-exceed 
amount of $2,004,500, and authorize a time and materials investigation allowance of $458,500.” 



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-35 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025  
 
Subject:  Submittal of Trustee names to the Reno-Sparks Convention and Visitors Authority 

(RSCVA) for appointment to serve the remainder of Richard Jay’s term, set to expire 
on June 30, 2026 

 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Pursuant to NRS244A.601, as amended, the RSCVA is governed by a nine-member Board of 
Directors representing: gaming establishments, tourism or other commercial interests or the resort 
hotel business, air service, other business or commercial interests, cities of Sparks and Reno, and 
Washoe County.  The Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Board nominates members for RSCVA’s 
consideration as the air service representative on the RSCVA Board. The RSCVA has requested 
that at least two names be forwarded for consideration.  
 
The purpose of this action is to approve the submittal of Trustee names to the Reno-Sparks 
Convention and Visitors Authority (RSCVA) Board to serve the remainder of Richard Jay’s term, 
set to expire on June 30, 2026.  Trustees for consideration are Cortney Young and Shaun Carey.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to approve that the names of Trustees Cortney Young and Shaun Carey be submitted to the 
Reno-Sparks Convention and Visitors Authority (RSCVA) Board for consideration to serve the 
remainder of Richard Jay’s term, set to expire June 30, 2026 and fill the Air Service Representative 
seat.”   



 
 
 

Board Memorandum 
  06/2025-36 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 13, 2024   
 
Subject:  Approval of the Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Board of 

Trustees regular meeting calendar 
 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board adopt the motion stated below.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The attached proposed calendar for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 outlines the Chair’s proposed dates for 
Committee and Board meetings subject to Board approval.   
 
Per RTAA Bylaw 9341 of the Board of Trustees, the Board shall meet monthly as determined by 
the Chair, with the approval of a quorum of the Board. The monthly Board meetings shall be on 
the second Thursday of each month unless such meeting date conflicts with a holiday as set forth 
in NRS 236.015, or such other conflict as the Chair may determine, with the approval of a quorum 
of the Board. 
 
Please note the following exception to the RTAA Bylaws: Per NRS 354.596 (4), the public hearing 
of the tentative budget must be held not sooner than the third Monday in May and not later than 
the last day in May. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 
 
COMMITTEE COORDINATION 
None 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
“Move to approve the Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority Board of Trustees 
regular meeting calendar.” 



COMMITTEE MEETINGS
BOARD MEETINGS
HOLIDAYS

* Not a normally scheduled date

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4
6 7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 5 6 7 8 9 10 11

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
20 21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
27 28 29 30 31 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 26 27 28 29 30 31

31  

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11 12 13 14
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 15 16 17 18 19 20 21

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25 26 27 28
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 28 29 30 31 25 26 27 28 29 30 31
30

 

S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4 1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19* 20 21* 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27
29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30

31

NOVEMBER 2025

MARCH 2026

OCTOBER 2025

2025-26
JULY 2025

BOARD MEETING CALENDAR

DECEMBER 2025 JANUARY 2026 FEBRUARY 2026

AUGUST 2025

APRIL 2026

SEPTEMBER 2025

MAY 2026 JUNE 2026



 
 
 

Board Memorandum        
  06/2025-37 

 
In Preparation for the Regular Board Meeting on June 12, 2025   
 
Subject:  Review and discussion of President/CEO Daren Griffin’s performance for Fiscal Year 

2024-25 and possible action on discretionary bonus for Fiscal Year 2024-25 and salary 
adjustment for Fiscal Year 2025-26   

 
  

BACKGROUND 
Pursuant to Daren Griffin’s contract (as amended on May 31, 2022), the Board is required to 
annually review Mr. Griffin’s performance. Following that review, Mr. Griffin is eligible for a 
discretionary, non-mandatory cash bonus based on the achievement of performance criteria and 
goals established by the Board. At that time, Mr. Griffin is also eligible for an annual salary 
increase at the discretion of the Board.  
 
The decision to award a bonus is at the Board’s sole discretion and shall be up to 20% of Mr. 
Griffin’s then applicable annual salary. The Board exercises its discretion when it sets the 
performance criteria and goals at the beginning of each fiscal year. The bonus, if any, is to be 
determined based on Mr. Griffin’s achievement of those performance criteria and goals established 
by the Board and the weights given to each of those goals by the Board. Mr. Griffin’s current 
salary is Three Hundred and Seventy-One Thousand, ($371,000.00). Twenty percent of that salary 
is Seventy-Four Thousand Two Hundred ($74,200.00).  
 
The Board adopted the performance goals and weights proposed by Mr. Griffin at its September 
19, 2024, meeting.  It is these goals against which Mr. Griffin’s performance for FY 2024-25 is 
measured for the purpose of considering a salary increase beginning July 1, 2025, and a bonus, if 
any.  A copy of the FY 2024-25 performance goals approved by the Board is included in the 
attached CEO Performance Evaluation Report.  
 
Mr. Griffin’s annual salary increases, when approved by the Board, have historically aligned to the 
annual salary increases available for RTAA Management employees (5%).  
 
DISCUSSION 
On September 19, 2024, the Board adopted the performance criteria and goals presented by 
President/CEO Griffin. The proposed performance criteria and goals reflected the organizational 
priorities received from the Board, a review of where time had been spent previously during Mr. 
Griffin’s tenure, a review of prior CEO goals, feedback from the Executive Team, research on 
CEO level goals for maximum organizational effectiveness, as well as a review of the Strategic 
Plan. 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
In addition to the information provided in this Memorandum, and in the reporting of progress 
made toward the identified performance criteria and goals, the Board may wish to consider 
additional information made available by staff including financial results, the results of the annual 
organizational culture survey, feedback regarding Mr. Griffin’s leadership provided by the 
Executive Team, and airport chief executive compensation at comparable airports, which staff has 
been provided in Attachment B.  
 
Information provided regarding chief executive compensation at comparable airports has been 
obtained utilizing a variety of sources including an annual airport authority compensation survey 
compiled by Korn Ferry and publicly available data sourced directly through authority websites 
and public records.  
 
The performance review process occurring on June 12, 2025, will include a presentation by Mr. 
Griffin detailing his achievement of previously set performance criteria and goals for FY 2024-25, 
a presentation of culture survey, Executive Team feedback, and comparable compensation 
information by Chief People Officer, Emily Ellison, performance feedback for Mr. Griffin from 
the Trustees, and a discussion among Trustees regarding the award of any discretionary bonus 
and/or salary increase per Mr. Griffin’s contract.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The maximum allowable bonus for the President/CEO is $74,200.  A 5% salary increase would be 
a $18,550 annual increase to his current salary of $371,000.  Funds are sufficient within the overall 
RTAA operating budget. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION 
It is recommended that the Board adopt a motion giving effect to the Board’s decision regarding a 
bonus and salary increase, if any, subject to the contractual provisions described above. A 
proposed form of motion is as follows: 
 
“It is hereby moved that the Board approve a discretionary Bonus to President/CEO Griffin in the 
amount of $_____, (not to exceed the amount of $74,200), and that the President/CEO receive an 
increase to his salary of $371,000 in an amount of $_____ (not to exceed 5%, or $18,550). 
 



 
 

CEO Annual Evaluation Report 
FY 2024-2025 

  

Presented to the RTAA Board of Trustees June 12, 2025 



 
 

 

 

GOAL #1: 
Develop and Maintain Airport Infrastructure to Meet Current and Future Demand 

Weight:  40%    Strategic Plan Initiatives Priority Nos. 3, 4, 5, 6 and 8 
1 New Gen A&B: Oversee the progress of the New Gen A&B element of MoreRNO. In particular, 

oversee the design effort of the new Central Utility Plant (CUP), and 90% design of the replacement of 
existing Concourses B and C (New Concourses A&B). Bid and begin construction on S. RON apron. 
Continue coordination efforts with AAAC and airline representatives. Lead the advocacy effort inside 
the FAA for an award of significant grant funding for the project. Align local, state and federal officials 
in visible support for this application. Implement Board Resolution 552 in the project and promote 
the value of public art in enhancing the airport environment.  
 
Update: On February 11, 2025, the Reno-Tahoe Airport Authority (RTAA) officially terminated its 
contract with Holder Q&D (HQD) for CMAR Preconstruction and Construction services. To keep the 
project on schedule, RTAA proceeded with bidding several enabling projects (including the S. RON 
apron expansion and the CUP), ensuring continuity despite the transition. Meanwhile, the MoreRNO 
team initiated preparations for a new Request for Proposals (RFP) to identify a replacement CMAR for 
the remaining Preconstruction services and the entirety of Construction services moving forward. 
Final design for New Gen A&B has continued, maintaining the design schedule. All coordination 
efforts with AAAC and airline representatives have resulted in support of decisions and project 
progress.  
 
RTAA was awarded a total of $6 million in Airport Terminal Program (ATP) grants during FY25 to 
support the MoreRNO Central Utility Plant. The original award of $3 million was supplemented with 
an additional $3 million after aggressive advocacy with FAA officials and Congressman 
Amodei. MoreRNO has been awarded a total of $13 million in ATP in total. 
 
Created a new Public Art Fund to streamline implementation of Resolution 552 (1% for art) now and 
over time. Issued RFQ for Loop Road art and actively visioning and planning for public art in HQ, New 
Gen A&B and GTC. 
 

2 The HQ: Oversee the 60% and final design efforts and successfully identify a project scope that is 
financially achievable. Coordinate timing and operational needs with New Gen A & B, and begin the 
construction phase in Spring, 2025. Implement Board Resolution 552 in the project and promote the 
value of public art in enhancing the airport environment.  
 
Update: Project scope has increased to include added components of the new Central Utility Plant 
(CUP) and the Main Technology Room (MTR) for New Gen A&B. Both project components are funded 
by New Gen A&B but logistical locations, construction access, operations, and the building code 
rating of the HQ made it a rational switch to add to the HQ project. Due to the changes and timing of 
program & design coordination, construction will begin in September of 2025. This aligns with 
schedule needs for New Gen A&B completion in 2028 and 2029, respectively.  
 

Performance Goals Results Review 



 
 

Created a new Public Art Fund to streamline implementation of Resolution 552 (1% for art) now and 
over time. Issued RFQ for Loop Road art and actively visioning and planning for public art in HQ, New 
Gen, A&B and GTC. 
 
 

3 The GTC: Advance the GTC to 100% design. Ensure construction progress for enabling projects and 
subsequent GTC components are in compliance with Master Ground Lease and Final Agreement. 
Implement Board Resolution 552 in the project and promote the value of art in enhancing the airport 
environment.  
 
Update: Enabling projects Building 12 (snow removal equipment and materials storage) and Building 
13 (Tenant Lease Space) are scheduled for completion in June and August of 2025. Taxi lot is 
substantially complete and in use. ConRAC Solutions continues to finalize permitting for the main 
facility with the City of Reno and is coordinating final design changes with RTAA staff.  
 
Working with ConRAC Solutions to support their plans for artistic elements on the GTC building and 
actively planning for an RFP for public art between the GTC and Baggage Claim buildings.  
 

4  Reno-Stead Airport (RTS) Land Development: In support of RTAA’s Strategic Priority to develop new 
infrastructure to address growing market demands in the region and to generate incremental revenue 
for the Authority, oversee the collaboration efforts with federal, state, and local authorities on 
opportunities to accelerate development of new facilities at RTS. 
 
Update: For Phase 2 of the master development, we partnered with Dermody on submission of FAA 
Section 743 review of their proposed development plan which currently includes two buildings and the 
extension of Moya Blvd through the Phase 2 footprint.   The RTAA and Dermody teams collaborated to 
address FAA feedback which led to the determination that further environmental action would only be 
required on the extension of Moya Blvd, not the buildings, as that is a connected action from Phase 1 and 
the location of the proposed buildings is outside of the Military Surplus land. In consultation with the RTAA 
team, the Dermody team is lead on conducting/assembling the required studies/information to submit for 
the FAA’s NEPA review and approval of the proposed Phase 2 improvements.     
  
Related to the proposed Lyten development, we partnered with Lyten, Dermody, and other stakeholders to 
identify paths forward to facilitate development of the proposed $1B gigafactory.  While the existing MDA 
didn’t contemplate a multi-party agreement as is being proposed for the gigafactory, RTAA continues its 
discussions with all parties to facilitate a land lease, and related development of the factory and Lemmon 
drive extension, as quickly as possible. 
  
To facilitate development of new hangars (the O Block area) to make use of the existing FAA funded 
taxilane infrastructure, the RTAA is moving forward with bringing necessary power and gas utility 
infrastructure for the site.  Bids for the construction work are due at the end of May with anticipated 
contract award in June. 
 

5 Reno-Stead Airport (RTS) Master Plan:  In preparation for an RTS Master Plan Study kick off in 
FY24/25, oversee the qualifications-based selection effort to hire a consultant team, achieve FAA 
agreement on a negotiated scope of work and fee, award maximum scope possible using federal 
funding sources and if necessary, award supplemental scope using airport revenues, based on RTAA 
strategic priorities. Consider community participation opportunities and alignment with other 



 
 

regional planning efforts connected to RTS and lead efforts to encourage and support meaningful 
engagement with community members, airport users, and partner agencies. 
 
Update:  A request for qualifications (RFQ) was advertised on August 9, 2024, seeking master plan 
consultant services in accordance with FAA requirements.  Seven (7) statements of qualification were 
received.  The Selection Committee shortlisted four (4) top firms to interview and unanimously 
selected Ardurra Group, Inc. as the most qualified team. 
  
A detailed scope of work was negotiated with Ardurra for $1,926,752. The FAA PHX ADO notified the 
RTAA that they had “found” additional AIP discretionary funds to fully fund the RTS Master Plan. The 
“found” money preserves some of our federal funds which were going to be used for this project for 
new projects starting next fiscal year. In addition, the 2024 FAA Reauthorization bill changed the 
airport sponsor share for Reno-Stead Airport from 6.25% to 5% which lowered the amount payable by 
the RTAA. The Ardurra PSA was approved at the Board of Trustees on May 22, 2025. The notice to 
proceed will be presented upon receipt of the grant. 
  
Initial steps in the master process include standing up a dedicated website for public and stakeholder 
engagement and creating a working group to include critical community and airport stakeholders. 
 

6 VALE Project (sustainability): Oversee the execution of the RNO FY25 VALE (Voluntary Airport Low 
Emissions) Project. This project consists of installing both pre-conditioned air (PCA) and gate 
electrification (electric ground power units or eGPUs) at the 23 gates at RNO. The new energy 
efficient equipment will significantly reduce jet fuel consumption and other greenhouse gases 
generated from parked aircraft’s onboard auxiliary power units. Ensure close collaboration with the 
airlines, airport duty managers, maintenance crews and the contractors. Complete this project by 
the end of FY25. 
 
Update: The VALE project consisting of replacing all 23 gate’s PCAs and GPUs was substantially 
completed on February 3, 2025. This is the start date for the 1-year warranty period. All punch list 
items have been completed. The project faced early equipment procurement delays but continued 
communication throughout the project with the vendor, airlines, duty managers, maintenance crews 
and the contractors were established to make sure everyone had the latest information. The 
contractor updated the construction schedule every time a delay occurred from the vendor and staff 
shared with the airlines and stakeholders at the earliest time available to reduce.  
 

  



 
 

GOAL #2: 
Maintain an Industry Leading Airport Operations and Public Safety Operation 

Weight:  30%    Strategic Plan Initiatives Priority Nos. 4, 6, 7 and 8 
1 Contract for Fire Services: Complete negotiations with the City of Reno for the contracting of all fire 

services.  If deemed appropriate, and approved by the board, execute the transition of all fire services to 
the City of Reno.  The plan will address the following: 

 Operational requirements – Must meet all FAR Part 139 and Uniform Fire Code requirements 
 Organizational challenges – Protect current staff and ensure a harmonious and seamless transfer 

to the City of Reno 
 
Update: This goal has been completed with all the above requirements achieved. 
 

2 Technology: Oversee the Implementation of state-of-the-art technologies to improve operational 
readiness, response and oversight through common use (SITA Airport Management System), airfield 
management (EASE) (Halliday Technologies) Continue to evaluate and implement where appropriate 
additional technologies to include ADSB and UAS detection systems. 
 
Update: We continue to improve the SITA Airport Management System, enhancing our operational 
readiness and oversight capabilities. The EASE dashboard has been integrated to share 
comprehensive airport operations information, including passenger traffic, departures and arrivals, 
parking status, and weather. In 2024, official communications (NOTAMS) were added to the EASE 
dashboard. Furthermore, the ADSB system has been installed and used by Airport Duty Managers 
and others to review airfield operations. We continue to evaluate and implement advanced 
technologies, including UAS detection systems to further enhance our operational efficiency and 
safety. 
 

3 
 
 

Safety Management Systems (SMS) and Airport Worker Screening (AWS) Federal Mandates: In response 
to federal mandates to stand up a Safety Management Systems program, and an Airport Worker Screening 
program, complete the reorganization of the Operations and Public Safety division without adding 
additional FTEs. 

 Convert Emergency Manager position to SMS/EM Manager 
o Begin implementation of the FAA approved SMS implementation plan. 

 Convert a portion of the Landside Staff to Airport Operations Specialist qualified front curb 
enforcement. 

 Implement additional required screening of airport workers. 
 
Update: An existing RTAA employee was promoted to SMS/EM Manager and started the new role in 
October 2024. Since that time, the SMS/EM Manager organized an SMS Working Group and wrote the 
initial Reno-Tahoe International Airport SMS Manual. The manual was submitted to the FAA for 
acceptance in early May 2025. Additional SMS implementation efforts are ongoing and include SMS 
training, software configuration, and promotion. The SMS is ahead of schedule to be fully 
implemented prior to the FAA regulated deadline of June 2027.    
 
In September 2024, the RTAA implemented the first phase of the TSA-mandated Aviation Worker 
Screening (AWS) program. Our Airport Operations Specialist (AOS) team were trained to conduct the 
required random, physical screening of aviation workers and their accessible property transiting 



 
 

through various portals of the terminal building.  The final phase of the AWS program will roll out 
during fiscal year 2026.  
 
To support the AWS requirement, our Landside Operations team were trained to assist with curb and 
traffic enforcement. Landside continues to assist with this duty during AWS and heavy peak periods. 
 

GOAL #3: 
Lead the Development of an Organizational Culture of High Performance and 

Inclusion 
Weight: 30%    Strategic Plan Initiatives Priority Nos. 7 and 8 

1 Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion: As we enter our DEI program year 2, continue to work with the Executive 
Team and a DEI facilitator on outcomes include the following:   

 Revise and expand information regarding DEI into our internal culture guide to complement 
initiatives undertaken last year. 

 Continue to expand DEI efforts in recruiting and onboarding new employees to include publishing a 
public-facing culture guide that highlights the RTAA’s efforts. 

 
Update:  President Trump issued Executive Orders 14151 ("Ending Radical and Wasteful Government DEI 
Programs and Preferences") and Executive Order 14173 ("Ending Illegal Discrimination and Restoring 
Merit-Based Opportunity"), effectively eliminating all Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) mandates across 
federal agencies and contractors. In response, the RTAA’s Legal, Marketing, and People Operations teams 
collaborated to revise policies, update the company website, and modify contracts to ensure compliance 
with the new grant assurances tied to federal funding and awards. These changes were necessary to align 
with the administration’s directive, which requires organizations receiving federal grants to certify that 
they do not engage in DEI-related hiring, training, or operational practices deemed unlawful under the new 
executive orders. What exactly is unlawful remains to be seen as there are a myriad of legal challenges 
happening across the country. 
 
Given these changes, we’ve worked to modify the culture guides detailed in this goal to reflect a focus on 
employee engagement and creating and maintaining a welcoming and supportive employee community.  
The internal culture guide is available to all employees and is provided at time of hire.  The public facing 
culture guide has been developed and is in the design stage with publishing expected before the end of the 
fiscal year.   
 

2 Performance Management: Continue the roll out of the various features of our new performance 
management system:  

 Conduct training for CSP & Management on self-appraisals, as well as how to write a “successful” 
review by May 2025.    

 Coordinate an additional training program that supports our new performance system and culture.  
 Provide CSP with an informational session on the “why” of performance management.  This will 

take place through June 30, 2025. 
 

 Leadership Development:  Spearhead the Leadership Development Program (formerly Succession 
Planning) and ensure that each critical role has a clear and executable plan. 

 
Update: Goals focused on the performance evaluation system and culture have been completed.  In 
addition to technical training in the self-appraisal process, training on the elements of a performance 



 
 

culture and the philosophy underlying all these changes has been provided.  Additionally, a guide to 
understanding our performance evaluation system, “Successful Is Success!” has been developed 
and distributed.  Versions are available for employees being evaluated and for evaluators and provide 
helpful insights about the changes being implemented and the “why” behind those changes.  The 
evaluator version also includes tools for evaluators to leverage the guide in providing performance 
evaluation feedback to employees. 
 
As it relates to Leadership Development (formerly succession planning), People Operations 
department roles and responsibilities have been reallocated by the new Chief People Officer to 
create human capital resources to support this work, and professional learning and organizational 
development more broadly, moving forward.  Leadership roles critically in need of a succession plan 
due to anticipated leadership changes have been identified and the creation of specific leadership 
development plans is underway and will continue into the next fiscal year.   
 

3 Air Service Development: To optimize RNO potential, oversee the development and execution of the 
FY 2025 Annual Air Service Strategic Roadmap which will be aligned with a robust marketing strategy 
to stimulate passenger demand and fill available seats. By partnering with local, regional, and state 
entities, we will pinpoint Northern Nevada's air service needs for economic growth and tourism. Lead 
regional air service development efforts, including the Regional Air Service Corporation (RASC) and 
Reno-Sparks Convention and Visitors Authority (RSCVA)’s. Cultivate strong airline relationships 
through active engagement at industry conferences, and host airline executives in the Reno-Tahoe 
area showcasing Northern Nevada's economic growth and tourism opportunities.  These 
opportunities will allow them to network with local leaders and gain insights into our region. 
Commercial Business and air service teams will collaborate with AFCO, developer selected to grow 
cargo through land development, to identify market demand and understand the cargo flow in and 
out of Northern Nevada. 
 
Update: The FY 2025 Annual Air Service Development (ASD) Strategic Roadmap was successfully 
developed and executed, which includes a robust marketing strategy to stimulate passenger demand and 
maximize seat occupancy (Load Factor). The ASD and Marketing & Public Affairs teams collaborated with 
local, regional and state entities: improved narrative to airlines detailing community-wide marketing 
support, obtained commitment from RASC for $300,000 in marketing funds for a new targeted flight, with 
additional funding promised for the next fiscal year. Through continued relationship-building efforts, RASC 
also approved $500,000 marketing support for another new target market upon its announcement. 
Additionally, the Air Service Development and Marketing & Public Affairs teams executed three Airline 
Incentive marketing campaigns totaling $200,000 designed to support new routes to/from RNO.  
  
In partnership with the RSCVA, strong relationships were cultivated by hosting the airline executives at the 
American Century Championship golf tournament in July 2024. This provided the airlines with insights into 
northern Nevada's economic vitality and tourism opportunities and facilitated valuable relationship 
building with community leaders.      
  
The ASD team proactively engaged with the Chamber, EDAWN, and local businesses, conducting two 
Business Travel Surveys to gather crucial data for airline business case presentations. Additionally, the 
team hosted Air Service 101 meetings with key leisure and business stakeholders across the region. These 
sessions raised awareness of existing air service and helped us understand community travel needs and 
patterns and route opportunities.  
  



 
 

In Fiscal Year 2025, ASD attended several Air Service Conferences and hosted many virtual Air Service 
meetings. These meetings aimed to build strong relationships and to discuss the retention, expansion, and 
attraction of air service at RNO. These near-monthly meetings also helped us identify route health to 
ensure we could pivot timely if needed.  
  
In collaboration with the Commercial team and master cargo developer AFCO, ASD attended an air cargo 
conference. The primary objective was to strengthen existing partnerships and explore new opportunities 
for expanding air cargo services at RNO.   
  
Geopolitical factors prompted major U.S. airlines to reduce their short-term growth and revise forecasts 
during in March/April 2025. Despite this, RNO observed continued expansion in seat capacity and 
passenger volume.  
 
RNO recorded its highest passenger numbers for the first 10 months of a fiscal year since 2009, 
accommodating 4,057,278 passengers during that period in Fiscal Year 2025. (May and June 2025 data is 
not available)  
 

  



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary 

 Operating revenues are on track to exceed the budget forecast by 3.5%. This favorable 
outcome is due to the region’s expanding economy, higher tourism demand and the recent 
return of Frontier airlines.  

 Operating expenses are expected to be 7% below budget expectations. Expenses have 
been eƯectively managed to achieve favorable results.  

 The Total Year Forecast includes two months of budget estimates with adjustments made 
for known variables and is representative of expected year end results.  

  

Financial Performance  



 
 

 

 

Introduction 

The annual RTAA Employee Culture Survey is an important tool for understanding the connection 
our employees feel to the organization’s culture and goals. 

The survey was open from April 15 – 29, 2025 and all RTAA employees were invited to take the 
survey via an email link sent from Denison Consulting, our survey partner. Employee submissions 
went directly to Denison so that data could be aggregated. To further protect employee privacy, 
Denison does not produce data for any department, employee group, or demographic with a 
sample size smaller than five (5) submissions. While Denison does track responses received by 
email addresses to which the survey was sent, individual employee responses are never available 
to the RTAA.  

 

Understanding How Results Are Presented 

The Denison survey does not produce employee satisfaction scores. Instead, the model, referred 
to as a “circumplex”, produces data that conveys how clear and aligned employees are:  

 in knowing where we’re going as an organization ( )  
 in understanding and utilizing the systems, structures, and processes we use to be 

successful ( )  
 in believing our employees have a high level of engagement ( )  
 in believing that we are responsive to our stakeholders and external conditions that might 

aƯect our future success ( ).   

The higher the number and more color shown, the more clarity and alignment that exists.  

 

What do the numbers represent? Percentages vs. Percentiles  

The numbers displayed do not represent percentages. For example, a 76 does not mean that 76% 
of respondents felt a particular way or that RTAA received a score of 76% out of 100% (a grade of C 
on a standard scale).  

The numbers do represent percentiles as compared to all the other organizations that utilize the 
Denison model. For example, 76 means that our ratings were higher than the ratings of 76% of the 
organizations that we are benchmarked against but were lower than 24% of the organizations who 
participated.  

Culture Survey Results 



 
 

In this model, a change of +10 or -10 is considered statistically significant and should be the focus 
of results review and action planning. 

 

How does the survey determine if we have clarity and alignment among employees in 
, , and ?   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The qualities listed in the outer ring are:  

Strategic Direction & Intent, Goals & Objectives, and Vision

Coordination & Integration, Agreement, and Core Values

Capability Development, Team Orientation, and Empowerment 

Creating Change, Customer Focus, and Organizational Learning 

 

 

 

 



 
 

What other information is depicted on the circumplex?  

RTAA Results - Year Over Year Comparison 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

RTAA Results Overview – 2024 vs. 2025  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Highlights  

 RTAA results increased or remained stable in every quality measured within , 
, and  

 Our most statistically significant gains were in (Agreement and 
Coordination & Integration) and (Customer Focus).  

 Our participation rate increased from 68% in 2024 to 76% in 2025. The number of survey 
takers increased by 4 employees year over year and was coupled with a decrease in the 
number of eligible survey takers given the transition of the fire department employees.  

 RTAA’s organizational culture score increased from 74 to 79. This indicates there is greater 
consistency and alignment among RTAA employees, across measures than at 79% of the 
organizations we are benchmarked against.  

 Opportunities for the future include:  
o Continued improvement in the 5 qualities in which our clarity and alignment is less 

than the 76th percentile.  
o Maintaining consistency and alignment among employees in those areas in which 

we are currently greater than the 76th percentile. 
o Working with departments and employees to create action plans for doing so.   

 



 
 

Highest and Lowest Scores – Question Specific  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Insights  

 There is a strong sense of camaraderie and teamwork within departments fostered by 
department leaders who “practice what they preach”.  

 There is clarity and alignment among employees about how to get things done between 
departments at RTAA.  

 There is strong organizational alignment regarding the vision for our future.  
 Despite leaders modeling expected behavior and “practicing what they preach”, there is 

less clarity about how others are held accountable and what they are held accountable for.  
 There is an opportunity to increase the engagement of employees at all levels in the 

strategic planning process, in understanding how their work contributes to accomplishing 
strategic plan goals, and how we are progressing toward the achievement of organizational 
goals.  

  There is an opportunity to provide greater visibility into the role internal and external 
customer input play in decision making.  

 

 



 
 

RTAA Employee Comments – Qualities to Preserve  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RTAA Employee Comments – Qualities to Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

RTAA Employee Comment Highlights  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Denison Insights – Overall RTAA Results  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 
 

 

 

Introduction 

While the Annual Culture Survey provides insights into Mr. GriƯin’s impact from an organizational 
perspective, some leadership dimensions are best reflected upon by those under his direct 
supervision. Accordingly, input on six (6) standards of leadership was gathered from the members 
of the Executive Team and is summarized below for consideration as a part of Mr. GriƯin’s overall 
performance.  

 

Standard 1 - Consistently models and holds others accountable for modeling THRIVE values. 

Mr. GriƯin is widely respected for his consistent demonstration of THRIVE values and his belief in 
the importance and power of organizational culture. He is a champion for the annual 
organizational culture survey and ensures that actionable plans are developed around the 
feedback, maintaining the elements of culture employees appreciate while working to improve 
upon areas of opportunity identified.  

His reputation for modeling the THRIVE values is reinforced through his approach to consistent 
transparent communication with individuals and the organization. With individuals, he is known 
for his “let’s be transparent and talk about it” approach. At the organizational level, Mr. GriƯin 
provides candid insights into matters of significance to airport employees through biannual, all-
employee Town Halls; quarterly Management Roundtable meetings; and weekly Executive Team 
group and one-to-one meetings. For example, during a particular period of regulatory and 
economic uncertainty, Mr. GriƯin convened a Management Roundtable to provide his industry 
perspective, field questions, and provide reassurance about his vision for the future. Reflective of 
his commitment to teamwork, innovation, and versatility, an area of opportunity for more targeted 
engagement and support for operational leaders was identified within the existing meeting and 
communication structure and, in partnership with the Chief People OƯicer, Mr. GriƯin will begin 
serving as an executive co-sponsor for a “direct report to chiefs” group launching in June 2025. 
This group will be focused on strengthening relationships, best practice sharing, and professional 
learning, among other things.  

Mr. GriƯin is consistent in his focus on enterprise leadership, which contributes to a strong sense 
of teamwork among executives, and he is clear about the expectation that members of his team 
engage with their teams in developing enterprise leadership throughout the organization.  

His “people first” approach to leadership is demonstrated in the way he listens to, respectfully 
communicates with, and develops meaningful connections with others. Notably, these qualities 

Executive Team Feedback 



 
 

were cited as significant factors in the decision to join the RTAA by several members of the 
Executive Team.  

Finally, his standards of conduct for himself and others are uncompromising. Behavior that is 
inconsistent with expectations is swiftly and directly addressed, providing opportunity for 
correction if appropriate but leaving no room for misunderstanding of future expectations. When 
faced with questions of moral ambiguity, he is unequivocal in his expectation that honesty, 
integrity and ethics provide the basis for decision making.  

 

Standard 2 - Articulates clear expectations and holds others accountable for delivering 
expected results.   

Mr. GriƯin’s approach to setting expectations is best characterized as “expectations with 
empowerment”. He is clear in conveying the “why” and the “what” of expectations but also relies 
heavily on the professional expertise of his team in determining how the expectation will be 
achieved. Consistent with the THRIVE values of innovation and versatility, he embraces new and 
creative approaches by usually focusing first on how we can make things happen, not why they 
won’t work.  

He solicits alternative perspectives and is more than willing to adjust expectations when 
warranted but he does not hesitate to hold his position when he feels it is in the best interests of 
the individual and/or organization to do so.  

Considering the rapidly changing dynamics of the industry, Mr. GriƯin is thoughtful about keeping 
the big picture in perspective and using that to inform his expectations, largely avoiding the need 
for employees to frequently change focus or react to every fluctuation.  

As it relates to expectations that impact more than one department, there is some opportunity for 
lack of clarity when individual conversations aren’t followed up by communication with everyone 
involved to ensure shared understanding among the group.  

Mr. GriƯin is consistent in following up on expectations set and when something is oƯ track, he is 
willing to provide resources and support to get it back on track while also ensuring the employees 
involved understand the larger implications of the miss. When expectations aren’t achieved, it is 
widely understood that taking responsibility for the outcomes and having a plan in place to 
prevent similar future outcomes is non-negotiable.  

 

 



 
 

Standard 3 - Provides regular, meaningful feedback and is open to, and thoughtfully 
considers, feedback provided by others. 

There is consensus among the Executive Team that this is one of Mr. GriƯin’s greatest strengths 
that can also be an area of opportunity at times.  

Mr. GriƯin has extensive experience and depth of knowledge in nearly every facet of our 
operations, which is an obvious strength in most situations. It positions him to provide insights 
and perspectives that might not otherwise be considered. He is a great “thought partner” to 
brainstorm with and employees appreciate the depth of conversation that is typical for time spent 
with him. He is comfortable providing candid, constructive feedback, formally and informally, and 
does so in a way that is thoughtful, informative, and fosters trust. As another example of his 
openness to feedback, it was Mr. GriƯin who sought the expansion of his performance evaluation 
to include feedback from his direct reports and the results of the organizational culture survey.  

His subject matter expertise represents an area of opportunity when it results in preconceived 
notions that might aƯect consideration of alternative perspectives. Feedback about being “quick 
to react” based on preconceived notions is something Mr. GriƯin has been previously provided, 
and it is evident that he is aware of the challenge and intentional about trying to overcome it. For 
example, even if he is “quick to react” and provide his thoughts on something, he is mindful to 
acknowledge the reaction, ensure others are still provided the opportunity to share their feedback, 
and encourages them to do so by listening intently and asking questions or engaging in the 
conversation in a way that demonstrates he is listening with an open mind. In group settings, he is 
usually the last to speak and only oƯers his thoughts and opinions after others have had a chance 
to contribute theirs.  

 

Standard 4 - Fosters a culture of continuous learning and professional growth. 

Mr. GriƯin’s commitment to a culture of continuous learning and professional growth is best 
exemplified through his own consistent participation in developmental opportunities. He models 
expectations through participation in conferences and other learning opportunities, as an 
attendee and presenter, and is part of a CEO leadership group that provides regular peer 
mentoring and executive coaching.   

He has encouraged organizational participation in continuous learning and professional growth by 
supporting increased allocation of resources (funding, time and meeting space) for employees to 
be able to do so. As an example, resources were provided for twenty (20) employees from across 
the organization to participate in the AAAE Certified Member training program this year. This 
program focuses on building airport operations knowledge and typically less than five (5) 
employees have participated per year. He has supported requests for professional coaching for 



 
 

individual leaders, and he supported the reorganization of the People Operations department to 
allow for reallocation of staƯ that will focus on expanding RTAA’s internal professional 
development catalog in the future.  

Mr. GriƯin regularly conveys deep concern about a workforce-wide lack of bench strength for key 
leadership roles and recognizes it as a significant challenge for the organization in the not-so-
distant future. In response, he has committed to providing the necessary resources and support 
for internal talent development and organizational succession planning.  

 

Standard 5 - Demonstrates eƯective and timely decision making. 

As it relates to decision making, Mr. GriƯin does not suƯer from “analysis paralysis” that highly 
visible leaders often do. He believes, and often reminds others, that “perfection is the enemy of 
great” and his approach to decision making is characterized by the Executive Team as pragmatic, 
informed, and decisive. He is willing to make and stand behind challenging and/or unpopular 
decisions that ultimately protect the best interests of the organization. Importantly, and as a 
further example of his character and integrity, Mr. GriƯin is quick to recognize, take ownership for, 
and take corrective action when a previous decision does not produce the intended results.  

 

Standard 6 - Develops and maintains the relationships necessary to be successful in role. 

This is also an area of simultaneous strength and opportunity for Mr. GriƯin. He is well connected 
and well respected within the aviation industry and has the support of our federal elected oƯicials. 
He has strong relationships with leaders at EDAWN, the RSCVA and members of the RTAA Board. 
He is highly regarded personally and professionally by members of his Executive Team. To connect 
with employees at other levels of the organization, Mr. GriƯin regularly participates in “skip level” 
meetings with interested employees and he makes consistent eƯort to be present for and engaged 
in employee activities whenever possible.  

Building and maintaining relationships with community leaders is a potential area of opportunity. 
Starting with RTAA during COVID put him at a disadvantage for the first couple of years as typical 
opportunities for networking and connection didn’t exist. Since then, Mr. GriƯin has been 
conscious of the need to pursue connections with local leaders and participates in professional 
and social activities that lend themselves to networking whenever possible. Moving forward and 
recognizing that many of these individuals desire a connection with the RTAA CEO, he may benefit 
from employing a more direct approach to targeted relationship building in a way that is 
comfortable for and authentic to him.  

 



 
 

 

 

The following discussion prompts are provided as suggestions for facilitating a performance 
review conversation among RTAA Trustees. Utilization of these questions is at the discretion of 
Trustees.  

 

1. Given the information shared and your own experience as an RTAA Trustee, what do you see 
as Mr. GriƯin’s leadership strengths in his role as CEO?  

2. What feedback would you provide for Mr. GriƯin regarding any areas of opportunity related 
to his leadership as CEO?  

3. In what areas of job performance do you believe Mr. GriƯin excels? 
4. Are there any areas of Mr. GriƯin’s job performance that you believe need improvement?  
5. Given consideration of RTAA’s strategic goals, are there particular areas that you believe Mr. 

GriƯin should focus on in the year ahead?  

 

  

Trustee Discussion 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary Analysis  

 Data reflects comparable airports based on annual enplanements and Airport Authority 
governance structure.  

 Data on catchment area population, airport size (in acres), annual passenger volume, 
average daily departures, amount of developable land, capital program expenditures, and 
estimated economic impact are provided as indicators of the overall complexity of airport 
operations. Source data citations are included in Appendix A.  

 RTAA CEO salary is 91% of the median salary of comparable airports with 2 years less CEO 
tenure than the median.  

 The median cost of living for comparable airports is 9% less than the cost of living in 
Reno/Sparks.  

 RNO average daily departures are consistent with the median for comparable airports 
while catchment area population, annual enplanements, annual passenger volume, RTAA 
land available and intended for development, and the size of the MoreRNO capital 
improvement program substantially exceeds the median data values and most individual 
airport values for other comparable airports.  

 

CEO Compensation History – Daren GriƯin  

 

 

 

 

 

Compensation Comparison  



 
 

Appendix A - Compensation Comparison Data Citations  

 

Cost of Living Comparison  

https://www.forbes.com/advisor/mortgages/real-estate/cost-of-living-calculator/ 

 

CEO Annual Base  
Korn Ferry Airport CEO Compensation Survey 2024 (Omaha, Memphis, Louisville, Tucson, Gerald 
Ford, Rhode Island) 
https://govsalaries.com/minkelshepard-kimberley-187612765 (BuƯalo Niagara) 
https://flysrq.com/sites/default/files/2024-
09/SMAA%20Position%20Rate%20Information%202024.pdf (Sarasota) 
https://adkexecutivesearch.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/GEG-CEO.pdf (Spokane) 
https://pbn.com/r-i-airport-corp-extends-ceos-contract-3-years/ (Rhode Island) 
 

CEO Tenure 
CEO tenure data was gathered utilizing a variety of sources including LinkedIn, airport websites, 
and news coverage regarding CEO appointments.  
 

Catchment Population, Airport Size, Land Development Opportunity, Capital Program 
Expense, and Estimated Economic Impact 
These data points were primarily obtained from airport websites; economic development 
authority websites and census information were utilized as necessary.  
 

Annual Enplanements 
https://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/passenger/cy23_com
mercial_service_enplanements 
Data for RNO reflects the previous twelve (12) months ending April 2025.  
 

 Annual Passenger Data 
Accessed via airport websites or most current news coverage.  
 

 

 



 
 

Korn Ferry Compensation Survey Data 

 

 

 

 

 


	06-12-2025 Board Agenda
	04-23-2025 Budget Workshop MINUTES
	05-22-2025 Board MINUTES
	06-2025 CEO Report
	#25 O Block Extension
	#26 New Gen A&B - Common Use Enabling_Q&D (Construction)
	#27 New Gen A&B - Common Use Enabling_CME Amendment #2 (CM Services)
	#28 New Gen A&B - Common Use Enabling_Gensler Consulting Amendment #5 (CA Services)
	#29 GTC - PM Support_Jacobs Amendment #3
	#30 MoreRNO - IT Liason Services_Barich Amendment #2
	#31 RNO Rules and Regs
	#31 RNO Rules and Regs_Att A
	SECTION 1  GENERAL PROVISIONS
	1.1  ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY
	1.2  OPERATIONAL LINES OF SUCCESSION
	1.3  ASSURANCES
	1.4  OPERATIONAL AREAS
	1.5  LOST AND FOUND
	1.6  COMMERCIAL ACTIVITIES
	1.7  ANIMALS
	1.8  FIREARMS
	1.9  EXPLOSIVES AND FLAMMABLE MATERIAL
	1.10  BARBEQUES (BBQs)
	1.11  WILDLIFE HAZARD MANAGEMENT
	1.12  SMOKING POLICY
	1.13  DESIGNATED SMOKING AREAS
	1.14  ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES
	1.15  ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION AND SANITATION
	1.16  STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION
	1.17 AOA CONSTRUCTION AND TENANT RAMP CONSTRUCTION
	1.18  EMERGENCY CONDITIONS
	1.19  PERSONAL CONDUCT
	1.20  PERSONAL CONVEYANCES
	1.21  PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC
	1.22  AUTHORITY’S RIGHT TO ENTER, INSPECT AND MAKE REPAIRS
	1.23  NO LODGING
	1.24  NO LOITERING
	1.25  MEDIA/PRESS
	1.26 MoreRNO Program

	SECTION 2  EXPRESSIVE ACTIVITIES
	2.1  OVERVIEW AND PURPOSE
	2.3  EXPRESSIVE ACTIVITY GUIDELINES

	SECTION 3  AIRCRAFT OPERATIONS
	3.1  GENERAL AERONAUTICAL POLICY
	3.2  PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC
	3.3  GATE USAGE/ASSIGNMENTS
	3.4  TERMINAL AND TRANSIENT RAMP PROCEDURES
	3.5  SAFETY ENVELOPES
	3.6  PUSH BACK OPERATIONS
	3.7  DISABLED AIRCRAFT
	3.8  RTAA-OWNED AIRCRAFT STORAGE HANGARS
	3.9.  AIRCRAFT DEICING
	3.10  FOREIGN OBJECT DEBRIS (FOD)
	3.11 ENGINE RUN REQUESTS AND LOCATIONS
	3.12 PRE-FLIGHT ENGINE RUN-UP PROCEDURES
	3.13 HELICOPTER OPERATIONS
	3.14 EQUIPMENT AND MOTOR VEHICLE PARKING IN THE AOA
	3.15 DANGEROUS ARTICLES
	3.16 LAVATORY CARTS
	3.17 UNMANNED AERIAL VEHICLES/DRONES/ROBOTS
	3.18 NON-COMMERCIAL FLYING CLUBS
	3.19 NON-COMMERCIAL AIRCRAFT STORAGE HANGARS

	SECTION 4  FUEL HANDLING
	4.1  FUEL HANDLING OVERVIEW
	4.2  RULES FOR AIRCRAFT FUEL AND FUELING OPERATIONS
	4.3  SUPERVISOR TRAINING
	4.4  PERSONNEL TRAINING
	4.5.  FUELERS AND FUEL FACILITIES INSPECTIONS
	4.6  FUEL SPILLS
	4.7  NON-COMMERCIAL SELF-FUELING
	4.8 OPERATION OF FUEL TRUCKS

	SECTION 5  GROUND EQUIPMENT FUELING OPERATIONS
	5.1  GENERAL GROUND EQUIPMENT FUELING RULES
	5.2  PERSONNEL TRAINING
	5.3  STORAGE AREAS
	5.4  FUELING EQUIPMENT INSPECTIONS
	5.5  FUEL SPILLS

	SECTION 6  AIRSIDE VEHICLE AND GROUND SERVICE EQUIPMENT OPERATIONS
	6.1  GENERAL
	6.2  AUTHORITY OF RTAA AIRPORT OPERATIONS AND AIRPORT POLICE
	6.3  VEHICLE OPERATIONS DIRECTLY RELATED TO AVIATION ACTIVITIES
	6.4  UNAUTHORIZED SIGNS, SIGNALS OR MARKINGS
	6.5  AIRFIELD LICENSE, PERMIT AND SAFETY REQUIREMENTS
	6.6. MOVEMENT AREA RULES
	6.7  NON-MOVEMENT AREA RULES
	6.8 VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES

	SECTION 7 AIRPORT SECURITY
	7.1  SECURITY OVERVIEW
	7.2  COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS
	7.3  RNO SECURITY ACCESS BADGES
	7.4  AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES
	7.5 BADGE-HOLDER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
	7.6  ACCESS CONTROL PROCEDURES
	7.7  ESCORTING PROCEDURES
	7.8  PROHIBITED ITEMS
	7.9  SECURITY VIOLATION PENALTIES

	SECTION 8  FIRE SAFETY AND INSPECTIONS
	8.1  FIRE INSPECTIONS
	8.2  COMMON FIRE SAFETY HAZARDS
	8.3.  FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS
	8.4  COMPLIANCE AND REPAIRS
	8.5  HANDLING AND STORING OF HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES AND MATERIALS
	8.6  STORAGE OF EQUIPMENT

	SECTION 9  LANDSIDE OPERATIONS
	9.1  LANDSIDE POLICY
	9.2 – PARKING AT RNO
	9.3 – Ground Transportation
	9.4 – Landside Rule Enforcement

	SECTION 10  ENFORCEMENT
	10.1 ENFORCEMENT INTRODUCTION
	10.2  VIOLATIONS
	10.3 VIOLATION PENALTIES
	10.3 PROCESS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS FOR VIOLATIONS
	10.4 CITATIONS APPEAL PROCESS
	10.5  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

	SECTION 11  DEFINITIONS
	Appendices.pdf
	NOV Final Appeal Form Fillable.pdf
	Appellant Information
	Letter of Violation Final Appeal Form (con’t)

	NOV Appeal Form Fillable.pdf
	Appellant Information
	Letter of Violation Appeal Form (con’t)



	#36 Board Meeting Calendar
	#36 Board Meeting Calendar_Att
	24-25

	#37 CEO Eval
	#37 CEO Eval_Att
	32-37.pdf
	#32 AAPOPA CBA
	#32 AAPOPA CBA_Att
	#33 Insurance Program
	#34 New Gen A&B - CMAR_McCarthy
	#35 RSCVA Appointment
	#36 Board Meeting Calendar
	#36 Board Meeting Calendar_Att
	24-25

	#37 CEO Eval
	#37 CEO Eval_Att


	Text1: 
	Text2: 
	Text3: 
	Text4: 
	Text5: 
	Text6: 
	Text7: 
	Text8: 
	Text9: 
	Text10: 
	Signature11_es_:signer:signature: 


